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RETURN TO POSITIVE CASH FLOW
FY24-FY25 QUARTERLY PROGRESSION
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Comtech’s Fiscal 2025
Accomplishments

Significantly improved Comtech’s financial health as evidenced by the removal of
the disclosures regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern

Produced positive operating cash flow of $2.3 million in Q3 and $11.4 million in Q4,
marking the first quarters of positive operating cash flow since fiscal 2023

Boosted total liquidity to $47 million - the highest level in recent history
Reduced accounts payable to $26 million - the lowest level in years
Improved gross margins from 12.5% in Q1 to 31.2% in Q4

Improved Adjusted EBITDA! from negative $31 million in Q1 to positive $13 million in
Q4

Achieved significant advancements in both operating segments as well as
Corporate including:

Our public safety business, rebranded as Allerium, has deepened its market
presence and introduced innovative new capabilities, while securing long-term
customer partn EI"Eh-pS

Our Satellite & Space business executed a successful turnaround, revitalizing the
business to address growing demand for secure, mission critical communications
with the launch of our next-generation platforms

- Secured new subordinated debt investments and amended credit
agreements providing increased financial flexibility and a covenant holiday through
January 31, 2027

- Reinvigorated the corporate culture emphasizing transparency, empowerment
and accountability which has enhanced morale, retention and performance
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Note: As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (" }-onn ]0-K"J. the terms "Camitech,” "we," "us,” "our" and "our Company™

mean Comtech T Corp, and its

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain information in this Form 10-K centeins, and oral statements made by our representatives from time lo tme may
contain, forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as: "anticipate," "believe,”
"continue,” "could,” "estimate,” "expect,” "future,” "goal.” "outlook,” "intend,” "likely," "may." "plan," “potential,” "predict,”
"project,” "seek,” “should,” “strategy,” “rarget,” "will." "would,” and similar references to future periods, or the negative of
those words nnd cxprca<mns. as well as statements in future tense. Forward-looking statements include, among others,
our Tor our 3[ml:g:( altematives process, our expectations for further portfolio-shaping
opportunities, our for other il , our fior further financing initiatives, our
future performance and financial condition, including our expecrations for, or guidance on, the performance and financial
condition for the fiscal quarer ended October 31, 2023, the plans and objectives of our and our
regarding such future performance, financial condition, and plans and ohjectives that involve certain significant known and
unknown risks and uneertainties and other factors not under our control which may cause our actual results, future performance
and financial condition, and achievement of our plans and objectives of our management to be materially different from the
results, performance or other expectations implied by these forward-leoking statemens. Forward-locking statements should not
be read as a guarantee of future performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at, or by
which, such performance or results will be achieved. Forward-lookis 15 based on ion available at the time
and/or our good faith beliel with respect to future events, and is subject to risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict and
many of which are cutside of our control. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations
include, among other 1hmgs. the outcome and effectiveness of the aforemeniioned strategic alienatives process, furiher
portfolio-sh . other iatives, and the ion of further financing activities; our ability to
access c.npul.ul aml hqmd:l), our abuhly to implement changes in our :xu.unv:: leadership; the possibility that the expected
henefits from our strategic activities will nat be fully realized, or will not be realized within the anticipated time periods: the
Tisk that acquired busi will not be |y, impacts fmm. and \mceﬂalmm regarding, future actions that
may be taken by activist kholders; the possibility of di ion from or i making it more difficult to
‘maintain business and operational relationships or retain key persormel; the risk that we will be unsuccessful in implementing a
tactical shift in our Satellite and Space Communications segment away from bidding on large commodity service contracts and
toward pursuing contracts for our niche products and solutions with higher margins; the nature and timing of our receipt of, and
our performance on, new or existing orders that can cause significant fluctuations in net sales and operating resulis; the timing
and funding of govemment contracts; the timing and amount of adjustments to gross ]'m:)ﬁls on long-term contracts; risks
with i sales; rapid change: evolving industry : new product and
enhancements or rebranding: changing clmmnm' demands and‘or procurement strategies and nur Ly 0 scale opportunities
and deliver solutions io curment and prosps i and political

changes and in p
conditions (including financial and capital market conditions), including as a result of military wnﬂlcts or any tariff, rade
Testrictions or similar matters; impact of government 5 ; changes 1o g practices; changes in the
price of oil in global markets: changes in prevailing interest rates and foreign currency exu.hange rates; risks associated with our
legal proceedings, customer claims for indemnification, and other similar matiers; risks associated with our obligations under
our credit facilities; risks associated with our large contracts; risks associated with supply chain disruptions; and other factors
described in this and our other filings with the Securitics and Exchange Commission ("SEC”). However, these risks arc not the
amly risks that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties, not currently known to us or that do not currently appear to be
material, may also materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results in the future. We
describe risks and uncertainties that could cause actual resulis and evenis to differ materially in the Risk Fociors (Part I, liem
1A of this Form 10-K), Management s Discussion and Aralvsis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (Part I1, ltem
7 of this Form 10-K) and Quanritative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk (Part 11, Item 7A of this Form 10-K). We
do not intend to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether because of new information, future events,
or otherwise, excepi as required by law.




PART 1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Faunded in 1967, we have a longstanding history of providing critical icati and solutions to
around the world. We serve two core end-markets: secure satellite and wireless communications via our Satellite and Space
Communications segment and public safety via our Allerium (formerly. our Terrestrial and Wireless Netwaorks) segment. In
both cases, we are at the forefront of the sechnologies that solve ily complex ications problems — whether it
isa Qi | call captured, routed and data-enhanced to optimize the public safety result in situations where every second matters, or
that ensures people, businesses and governments can conneet anywhere on earth,
nmjer any conditions cluding on the battlefield. We believe the demand for the communications solutions we provide is
growing since public safety professionals require the most effective and comprehensive systems to respond to emergencies; and
governments and enterprises are secking advanced, reliable secure wircless connectivity,

We are pleased to report that the transformation plan that we announced in January 2025 has contributed to our improved
operational and financial performance. as evidenced by a number of meaningful developments which have occurred in our
business. Most notably, we removed the substantial doubt regarding our ability 1o continue as a going concern, which had been
diselosed in our SEC filings for the previous seven fiseal quarters. Such positive development oceurred, in substantial part, due
to the following achievements in our business and operations: (i) positive operating cash flows of 52.3 million i the third
quarter of fiscal 2025, which was the first quarter of positive operating cash flows i eight quarters, followed by operating cash
flows of $11.4 million in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2025, (i) liquidity of $47.0 million at July 31, 2025, which improved from
approximately $18.0 million in December 2023; (iii) accounts payable have been paid down to §26.0 million as of July 31,
2025, a reduction from $66.5 million in October 2023; (iv) our Credit Facility was further amended, in March 2025 {to cure
covenant breaches that occurred for the period ended January 31, 2025 and provide a covenant holiday for two quariers) and
then again in July 2025 (when we were not in breach of any covenants, 1o provide a covenant holiday through January 31,
2027), thereby reducing total owstanding senior debt related 1o our Credit Facility from $202.9 million as of January 31, 2025
o $133.% million as of Tuly 31, 2025; (vip a 12.6% increase in net sales from the first quarter to the fourth quarter of fiscal
2025, despite the phasing out of low margin legacy contracts; (vii) gross profit, as a percentage of consolidated net sales,
improved sequentially throughout fiscal 2025 from 12.5% in the frst quarter. o 26.7% in the second quarter, to 30.7% in the
third quarter and 31.2% in the fourth quarter: (viii) Adjusted EBITDA improved sequentially throwghour fiscal 2025 from
negative $30.8 million in the first quarier, fo positive $2.9 million in the second quarter, to $12.6 million in the third quarter 2nd
$13.3 million in the fourth quarter; and (ix) secured long-term customer commitments, including a multi-year contract
extension with a top tier mobile network operator in the U.S.. valued in excess of $130.0 million.

While our iransformation plan has coniributed o improved i and financial pe . our business, financial
condition and/or operating resuhs in the future are subject to a number of risks and uncentainties, as further discussed
throughout this Form 10-K, mcluding in ftem 4. - Risk Factors, and other filings with the SEC.

Business Segments

We operate two core businesses: Satellite and Space Communications and Allerium, each of which we believe are serving end
markets themselves undergoing a period of I growth, and rapid change. Our Satellite and
Space Communications scgment is one of a limited number of U.S-based providers of satellite modems and high-power
amplifiers, o market leader in troposcatter technologies, and serves some of the world's largest defense contractors and allied
foreign govermments, as well as multiple U.3. povernment agencies, including branches of the U.S. Armed Forces, U.S.
Department of Defense (“DoD™) and U.S. Space Force (“USSF™), among others. Our Allerium segment is a leading provider of
next AT NG-9117) i and solutions for state and local governments and telecommunication carriers.

+ Satellite Modens and Amplifiers: A beading U S hased provider of
satedlite modems and high-power amplifiers, facilisating the
transmission of voice, video and duta over GEQ, MEO and LEO
satellite constellations

+ Treposcatter Techuologies: A plobul leader in froposcatler
technologies, capable of securely transmitimg digitired voice, video,
and data over distances up 10 200 miles, with strong market share in

Nett=Generation 911 Solutions: we provide emergency call muting,
Iocation vuliclation, network. policy-based routing rules, logging anc
security functionality to states and local governments

Global Carrier Lrntsllml and Messaging Servie oftware and
equipment for location-bused and tex! messaging services for cartiees,
inchuding for e aipertin o e neberpladention
wireless emergensy alens solutions far network operators

existing C-band and X-hand tropuscatter systems worldwide
+ Call-Handiing Solutons: we pravids compechiesig o1 | call handling
Cybersecurity Training (Formerly known as Government Services): applications for Public Saftty Answering Points
Provide ndvanced cyhersecurity training. suppart of L5,
Government and certain commercial and university customers t:amd an * Customers include state and local governments across the US., Canada
mature and proven training tools and programming and Awtnlin, and everl of e gt hsccmmmtcaions sompaics i1
the world (including Verizon, AT&T, Nokia and Vodafoney

5

+ Space Companents: Specislizes in delivering consponents for sniermos
and hagh-reliability eectronic components and engineering services for
space programs

+ Customers include the world's largest defensc contractors, alicd
furcign povernents, as well as muliigle U.S, governmen agencics
(neludimg all branches of the LS. Ammed Forees)

Financial information about our business segments is provided in Noves e Consolidated Financial Siatements - Note (13)
Segment Information included in Part i - Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.  The markets and key
technologies for each segment are further described below.,

Satellite and Space Communications Segment
Overview

Our Satellite and Space Communications segment operates in a market that has undergone a significant transformation in recent
years, driven by an increase in global defense spending, rising peopolitical tensions and rapid development of new satellite
systems, including commercial non-geostationary orbit ("NGS0") systems like Amazon Kuiper, SpaceX Starlink. Eutelsat
OneWeb and SES O3B mPower, These next-generation communications systems rely on the type of sophisticated
communications equipment this segment designs, manufactures and supports, including modems, amplifiers, frequency
converters and associated software. We are strategically positioned in this evolving landscape, with an innovative product
a strong UL.S.-based manufacturing presence and a proven track mmrd serving the US. government, a number of
international governments and a variety of i and emerging

The U.S. Space Force ("USSF”) Commercial Space Strategy and the U.S. Department of Defense ("DoD") Combined Joint All
Domain Command and Contral {"CJADC2") spproaches to prioritizing capabilities w! deliver innovation at the speed of
relevance align well with our Satellite and Space Cs i business” next digital solutions. Today, only a
limited number of companies, including Comtech, can serve the complex needs of the U.S. and other governmenis and mest
this demand,

The DoD’s satellite communications (“SATCOM™) strategy is also increasingly focused on integrating commercial innovation
into its architecture. This includes leveraging commercial capabilities for the majority of wideband communication needs, while
retaining government-owned, specialized systems for protected communications. This hybrid approach is supported by
increased funding, a new strategy and T through the C Satellite Ci

Office (“CSCO").




Comtech’s software-defined platforms, multi-orbit bilities and security-hardened solutions are well aligned with this
strategy. We believe our ahility to rapidly adapt to mission needs, in combination with our U.S.-based manufacturing, trasted
supply chain and proven track record, positions us as o key enabler of the DoD's shift toward & more flexible, resiliem and
it i SATCOM i £
L

In addition to aligning with evolving U.S. defense strategies, our Satellite and Space Communications segment benefits from a

ically balanced mix of and g We serve a diverse base that spans U.S, and international
defense agencies, global satellite operators and emerging commercial SATCOM ventures, This diversification across customer
types and geographies helps mitigate risk, enhances resilience to market uctuations, and positions the segment for sustained
growth. We believe this well-distributed customer portfolio strengthens our ability to scale inpovation, respond to dynamic
mission and capture ities in both ished and emerging global markets.

Our Satellite and Space C: cations segment is into four technology areas: satellite modem and amplifier
technologies. troposcatter technologies, cybersecurity training (Formerly, government services) and space components and
antennas.

Satedlite Modem and Amplifier Technologies

We believe we are a leading provider of satellite earth station modems, solid-state amplifiers ("SSPAs”), frequency converters
and traveling wave wbe amplifiers ("TWTAs™), Our product portfolio includes a wide range of advanced, software-defined
satellite modems and high-performance S8PAs and TWTAs and associated frequency conversion hardware, supported by
robust network management software. We hold strong positions in high-throughput modem markets, including cellular
backhaul, defense, commercial LEO and MEO satellite networks, as well as the nascent market to support 5G non-terrestrial
networks ("NTN") a sector that could grow in the coming vears,

In fiscal 2025, we announced the launch of our new Digital Common Ground (“IN'G") portfolio of modems, designed 1o
enable the LS. Dal} and coalition partners to move to digitized, hybrid satellite network architectures. Built on our proven
SATCDM miedem portfolio, DCG modems are designed and built at Comtech’s headquarters in Chandler. AZ and support both

and go satellite i on a common, softy defined platform that can be rapidly reconfigured 10
address evolving mission needs.

We believe our DCG portfolio is one of the first product Fines on the market today offering robust aceess 1o multi-orbit
capabilities across commercial and pumos&bmll networks. The DCG product line is also one of the fitst o be Digital

di Frequency y (“DIFI™) adhering to Dol and coalition communications standards o
cnable seamless information flow bc'lwccn serviees, a key tenet of CJIADC2. The DCG produet line offers industry leading
performance, through multi-gigabit throughput at launch. In addition, we incorporate modern cybersecurity design principles at
every level across our DCG product line, ranging from a trusted supply chain o a thoughtful software upgrade lifecycle,
including in-field updates. We believe the technologies incorporated into our DCG product line create a meaningful competitive
advantage for us.

We also provide ragged, highly efficient, and reliable high-r ificrs ("HPAS") for ial and military
around the world. These HPAs support mission-critical communications accross air, land and sea, including fixed traditional
and direct-io-home broadcast, mobile news gathering, transportable and flyaway systems, secure high data rate communications
and broadband SATCOM access. Our HPA portfolio includes configurations that are formally qualified for aircraft use,
currently supporting both retrofit and linefit installations. We offer solutions across GEQ, MEQ and LEC orbits and across a
range of frequency bands, including C, X, Ku, Ka. © and V bands, aligning with anticipated demand in higher, less crowded
frequencies.

Troposcarer Technologies

We believe we are a world leader in the design and supply of troposcatter equipment. We have designed, manufactured, and
delivered troposcatter systems for well over fifty years We have significantly advanced the capabilities of our Troposcatter
Famlly of Syswms (“FoS™), delivering a defined solution thar & thousand-fold performance
increase over prior generations of equipment,

Our next-generation Troposcatter terminals have been selected by the US. Army. the Marines and international defense
organizations to support the tactical communications needs. While our traditional customer base has been military and defense
ageneies, advances in mobility and performanee opened new commercial markets, including oil and gas, utilities, marine and
Tail sectors,

. the defense is evolving. For years, U.S. and allied forces mostly engaged in actions against
unconventional adversaries with less advanced technology, Today, the rise of state-based threats and near peer adversaries with
advanced technologies is reshaping defense strategics, This shift increases demand for sophisticated communications solutions
procured from trusted, domestic providers and ereates a natural upgrade cycle for legacy systems deployed globally, Our Multi-
Path Radio ("MPR") capability has enabled troposcatter to be deployed in compact, mobile systems, including unmanned
vehicles.

We're aplimistic about the long-term potential of our Troposcatter FoS, We believe we affer one of the most advanced and
capable solutions in the industry, with a set of newly-developing end markets that we anticipate will position us for sustained
growth.

Cybersecarity Training

‘We provide mission-eritical, high-security cyber training to U.S. government customers, both at customer sites and through our
in-house development capabilities, Our competitive advantages include propriciary methods for administration and student
management, & proven frack record through multiple renewal cycles on a key US, government program and deep, trusted
customer relationships.

‘We see expansion opporunities across multiple branches of the US. government, driven by a heightened focus on
evbersecurity threats and workforce readiness. We are also leveraging our extensive library of eybersecurity maining programs
1o serve siate and local governments, as well as privaic sector Ta enhance scalability and ibility, we are
expanding our student and administration portal capabilities through hosted Sa§ delivery models,

Space Components and Antennas

For over 45 years, we have been recognized as an indusiry leader and global supplier of high-reliability space components,
engineering services and supply chain selection of space-qualified parts for satellite and launch vehicle
tracking systems. Our solutions are geared toward critical ULS. National ics and Space ini jon ("NASA")

programs (such as Artemis) and several international space and defense agencies,

Our engincers are not anly invalved in product design, but alse collaborate closely with customers to develop and test electronic
parts specifications that ensure capability, reliability and radiation tolerance (o specific mission/project requirements. This
includes both individual component services and full Electrical, Electronic, and Electromechanical (“EEE™) part supply.

We also lead and conduct failure analysis ig assist with g and issuc at the source and
support teporting and sell-off processes with customers and their primes including the Japanese Space Exploration Agency
(“JTAXA") and NASA. Our quality engineering team assures that all products received from suppliers and test facilities are fully
compliant with mission specifications prior to shipment.

Ta further support our custemers’ m:cds we have expanded our service offerings to include kitting to customer bill of
materials, with direct shij w contract

Within the SATCOM market. we are a leading provider of components that support the mission requirements of LEO, MEO
and GEQ SATCOM and tracking requirements, offering a host of high-performance single-band and multi-band feed solution
‘We also supply maritime antenna solutions that are fielded by foreign governments. Our antenna portfolio includes a range of
apertures, including support for large systems and complex multi-band antenna and feed systems.




Satellite and Space Communications: Key Markets and Growth Drivers

As noted previously, the Satellite and Space Communications segment operates in large and expanding global markets,
supported by multiple long-term hmw\h drn- <. These include technology upgrade cycles, modernization initiatives and
and

increased demand for resilient infi fram both g ise customers. The depl
of new, large satellite the on of devices, persistent geopolitical tensions, and increased
government agency and defense spending are expected to drive sustained i in SATCOM . We believe

we are well-positioned to capitalize on this demand through sales of our market-leading next-generation satellite ground
infrastructure technelogies that can be used with the thousands of new LEO, MEO and large HTS satellites that are expected 1o
be deployed over the next several years, and our advanced troposcatter systems.

Examples of end-market applications that are driving long-term demand for cur communication technologies include:

*  Government and Mifitary Satellite Communications: Government users rely on high-speed connectivity in a
variety of conditiens througheut the world o provide real time mfurmalmn sharing, including S:ru'moml
d

A\»arencss (SA™), dlsﬁammal\on af Intelligence, Surveillance, and R (ISR i an

Our solutions provide command and control and satellite networking

capahilities that support US. and allied govemment imitiatives for assured and resilient communications
il as well as supy 8 ) L including CIADC2 objectives.

* New LEO, MEQ and HTS Savellites: Thousands of new satellites in orbit or scheduled for launch over the next
several years, according fa anmouncements by Amaran Kuiper, Futclsat OncWeb, SpaceX Starlink, Telesat
Lightspeed and Viasat, which we believe will ]:znd [ muﬂm.mbly complex satellite networks. As service
providers work 1o offer ity 1o these high-sp idth satellites and expand their networks 10
handle the demand for new LEO, MEO and HTS apphcanon; we believe our networking platforms, and our
solid-state amplificrs will ultimaiely be incorporated into many new installations and cquipment upgrades. We
continuc to provide modems and amplificrs to existing LED and MEO communications satcllite providers and
expect o see growth in imaging satellites alongside imaging including o tional,
thermal and hyperspectral.

* 535G NTN and Satellite-Based Cellular Demand for satellite-based cellular backhaul is anticipated to
continue to grow as next-generation cellular networks continue to deploy to developing regions of the world,
including those that are unserved or underserved by terrestrial infrastrucrure due to access or challenging

geography, We alse anticipate growth in demand for deploy of 3rd G ion T hip Project ("3GPP")
3G NTN capabilitics, which several of our next-generation products have been developed with the intention 1o
support,

«  Troposcarter Family of Systems: U.S. and allied defense strategies are shifting focus to threats from organized,
better equipped and higher iechnology adversaries, placing a premium on sophisticaied communications
technology from trusted, onshore providers. Comtech’s Troposcatter Family of Systems (“FoS™) delivers a next-
generation, software-defined solution that represents a thousand-fold performance increase over prior generations
of equipment. Further, constant innovation means Comtech’s latest gener:mon of equipment can be packed into
two small cases, offering signifi mobility img . Our terminals have been
chosen by the US. Amy, the US. Marines and defense organizations overseas to suppont the tactical
communications requirements of our allics. Additionally, we scc multiple opportunitics for non-defense
applications, including oil and gas, utilities, marine and rail industry use.

Satellite and Space Communications: Customer Base

Our eustomer base for the Satellite and Space Communications segment includes a diverse mix of government and commercial
organizations worldwide, with whom we have longstanding, trusted relationships. These include leading system and network
integrators in the global satellite, mobile cellular, defense, broadcast and aerospace industries, as well as the US. federal
eovernment {including the U.S. Army, Air Force, Marine Corps and Navy), U.S. state and local governments and allied foreign
governments, For fiscal 2025, approximately $5,1% of the segment’s sales are derived from LS, government and related
ageney contracts, Representative customer categories include:

*  The U.S. Army, U.S. Marine Corps, U5, Navy, prime contractors 1o the ULS. Armed Forces, NATO and foreign
governments (i.c., ministries of defense), as well as the U.S, Army Space and Missile Defense Command and NASA

*  Domestic and intemnational defense customers, as well as prime coniractors and system suppliers such as Airbus,
Lockheed Martin Corporation, L3Harris Technologies, Inc., Northrop Grumman Corporation, RTX Corp., Thales, The
Boeing Company and Viasa Inc,

*  Commercial end-customers include Bharat Electronies, Ditel, Kai Networks, Ovizon, JAXA, Mitsubishi Electric, SED
Systems (a division of Calian Ltd.), SES S.A, and Speedceast International Limited

= Satellite systems iniegmtors, wireless and other communication service providers, and broadcasters, such as
DIRECTV LLC

= Aviation industry, such as the Federal Aviarion Administration ("FAA") and system integrators such as Collins
Aerospace, an RTX Business

= 0l companics such as Shell Oif Company and PETRONAS

This well-diversified customer base across sectors and geographies enhances our resilience, reduces dependeney on any single
market and positions the segment for long-term growth.

Allerium Segment
Rebranding to Allerium

During fiscal 2025, we launched the rebranding of our Terrestrial and Wireless Networks segment to "Allerium,” a fusion of
“all” and “continuum,” Allerium is a name we believe symbolizes the seamless connection, collaboration, reliability and
empowerment that we arc focused on delivering to public safety professionals and essential service providers, Allerium reflects
a brand rooted in experience, driven by innavation and built for thase who prateet our communities. As the composition of this
reportable operating segment has not changed, this rebrand serves 1o clarify our go-to-market strategy under a single identity,
which we believe reaffirms our commitment o delivering successful outcomes when it matters most. The rebrand smengthens
market recognition, enhances customer trust and positions the business for sustained growth. Allerium underscores our focus on
long-term value creation by improving brand equity, expanding customer reach and enabling more efficient go-to-market
execution. It also increases visibility within key public safety and network markets, sectors defined by trust, reliability and
innovation. While the rebrand has changed. our mission has not: to serve those who protect our communities, with technology
that performs when every connection counts,




Overview

Our Allerium segment is a leading provider of next generation 911 (“NG-211") infrastructure and solutions for state and local
governments and carriers. From the moment a 911 call is made, Comtech provides highly reliable solutions that contribute 10
emergency calls being processed instantly, with proper routing to first responders. Our solutions include feature-rich data sets
(such as: precise location information, text messaging, photos, videos, real-time call transeription and transkation), putting first
responders in the best possible position 1o make decisions when every second counts, Owr customers are the businesses,
communities and governments that need o implement and improve 911 infrastructure in the U.S., as well as mebile network
operators {"MNOs") in the 1.5 and abroad that have a need 1o detenmine subscriber location within a network or o facilitate
messaging services. According to the 2024 Next Generation 911 report published by Frost & Sullivan, a leading third-party
research firm, we were the second leading NG-911 primary contract holder, with an estimated market share of 22.1% and a
population coverage of nearly 60 million, We have p'rlmary contracts with multiple slarcs and counties across the LS., which
we believe positions us as a leader in public safety and location tech

The Allerium segment is organized into three service arcas: next generation 911 and call delivery, call handling solutions and
trusted location and messaging solutions,

Next Genevation 911 and Call Delivery

In addition 1o 911 call routing, we provide systems i logation satellite and location
infrastructure terminals, and linkage 1o NG-911 Emergency Services IP Networks ("ESInet™), We also offer what we believe
arc best-in-class 911 call handling solutions. We believe state and lacal gavermments necd to upgrade existing legacy netwarks,
location technologies, and call handling systems to modern NG-911 systems infrastruciure, including 911 text messaging
services, advanced data. real-time photos, and other types of information sharing over IP networks.

As the LS., Canada and Ausl!al]a bmad!y adopi upgradﬂ:d MNG-911 and call handling solutions, we belicve that other countrics
will follow similar 2y Our public safety and location technology soltions
have been deployed since 2006 :md are utilized by domestic MNOs, as well as internationally, to provide reliable deviee
location determination for public safety and commercial applications. Many of our technologies, such as positioning. mapping
and text messaging are embedded in our public safety and location offerings to help address mapping, routing and geolocations,
Our solutions address Federal Communications Commission {("FCC") mandates for emergency serviees as they relate to
location defivery hy supporting precise caller location, Our text messaging platforms are used by wircless carriers 1o provide
short messaging services (“SMS”) 1o their end-customers, as well as being used to communicate with 911 public safety
answering poinis ("PSAP").

Call Handling Solutivns

Guardian is our state-of-the-art call handling solution, which provides an integrated call and text-to-and-from 911 solution on a
unified platform. The solution provides a flexible user interface, adapts 1o varying customer environments and preferences,
provides powerful call conferencing capabilitics, enhanced reporting capabilities and offers geospatial 911 location call display
dircetly from a customized map. Because of ity sdvanced features, it allows us 1o offer an immediate upgrade path o existing
and new customers and has expanded our presence in the public safety solutions market with more than 700 PSAPs and
emergency call centers installed in 5 countries.

The Guardian platform includcs an integrated cloud-based texting solution we call Guardian Messenger, which provides call
takers / dispatchers with the ability to collect, process and share p y live incident i such as text,
photos, and video via SMS and muliimedia messaging services (“MMS™), from one integrated deskiop. The Guardian platform
alse offers a cloud-based reporting and analytics solution we call Guardian Insights, designed to assist emergency call center
directors to know their operations, so they can better plan and manage resources and workloads.

We are investing in product enhuncements for our Guardian platform. which include developing Allerium Mir, our cloud-
based emergency call handling, analytics and cyber security solution that we are targeting for launch in fiscal 2026, We have
alse increased our "911-as-a-Service” offering, deploying hosted 911 call centers solutions across numerous states and regions
in the U8, and provinces in Canada, starting with locations where we have existing NG-911 networks.

Trusted Location and Messaging Solutions

We ]'med.c technologies that cnnblc mohile network operators (“MNOs") and government agencies o deliver accurate location

reliable text and geo-targeted public alerts. As MNOs continue their digital transformation, we believe
demand will increase for situational awareness capabilities built on advanced mapping and geo-services. Dur solutions support
device location, network ing and ions across 20 through SG environments, helping customers
meet regulatory requirements and maintain essential connccnvny services. For our installed base, we also provide ongoing
aperational support, including system i and services that
ensure performance and continuity.

Our SmartResponse® cloud-based solution offers a common operational picture to PSAPs and first responders, enabling an
effective data-driven response for security agencies and first responders by providing & holistic infermation envirenment for
them. This new solution offers streaming live feeds from fraffic cameras at and near incident locations, and accesses caller
information like past residences, criminal history or next-of-kin information at the tap of a button. Offering a bird's-eye view of

data, the Smar solution first o ensure iate resources are on the scene and to
‘better serve the public in emergency situations.

Allerium: Key Markets and Growth Drivers

‘We are a leading provider of medern public safety and location technologies. Our next generation solutions enable rich,

multimedia information to be delivered 911 calls and sitwai data. Also, our E-911 and NG-911 call
routing salutions allow global wircless carriers and voice over the Intemet ("VolP") carriers, as well as legacy
telecommunications carriers, to deliver emergency i andd rich data to public safety

emergency call centers nationwide. When someone atlempls an emergency communication, or a device or artificial inellizgence
{"AlI") technology detects an emergency, our technologies access the user or device's location information from wireless, VolP,
or satellite networks and location databases, and route the emergency details 10 Lhc assigned public safety jurisdiction. Today,
we provide public safety and lacation technal to many U.S carriers, the largest being Verizon (for
which we provide 911 call routing via cellular and wireline semce]. We believe we service a significant portion of the carrier
market for 911 cellular call routing applications, along with one other leading competitor. With the advent of new Al-powered
wearable devices, cameras and vehicle telematics, we beligve there will be increasing opporiunities to expand our service
offerings globally,

In additien to our growth in core 911 services, any expansion of 988 networks in the future across the U.S. could have a
positive impact on our business, 988 services provide free and confidential support for people in disiress, suicide prevention and
crisis resources, While the opportunities to expand into 988 services are evolving maore slowly than anticipated, we believe we
are uniquely positioned to expand our 911 services to mitigate some of the core challenges the 988 network is currently
experiencing with area code specific call routing. By connecting 988 services with our proven 911 infrastructure. we believe
that location services critical to dispatch personnel can be improved for 988 call responses.

Growth of 5G mctworks, new network-based positioning technologies, as well as Al are expected to create expanding
uppmumum for the dppllLZ\tlm’\ of our mobile location services, as multiple verticuls, including the Public Safety,
Ti I and Retail industries, advance in their respective digital transformations. As these
indusiries increasingly rely on data from connected devices, we expect our services can facilitaie their use of location
information in real-time to enhance existing business processes and outcomes, as well as end user experiences. We believe end-
market applications such as worker's safcty in high-risk arcas, smart manufacturing and autonomous driving would benefit
enommously from new precision-positioning technigues. Also, MNOs can now provide even more advanced location-based
services, in addition to existing connectivity solutions,

Examples of end-market applications that are driving long-term demand for our Allerium technologies include:

*  Emergency Communication Solution (“ECS™): Our ECS solution provides mobile, VoIP, landline, satellite and
other originating service providers ("OSP") a single, simplified interface to submit emergency service requests
from their users and devices. Qur ECS solution provides location verification services, address validation and
translation and next-step routing for emergency communications and texts as additional data useful for an
emergency responder. This solution provides a trusted, standards-compliant path to PSAPs that adheres to FCC
reporting and delivery requirements, taking this burden and complexity off of our OSP customers.




= Next Generatfon Core Services (“NGCS"): Our NGCS services implement and manage the NG-911 ESInet
istent with National Ei v Number Associ or NENA, i3 standards. We hold primary statewide
contracts in Arizona, lowa, Kentucky, Maine, Massachusents, Ohio, Pennsylvania, South Carolina and
Washington. We also hold direct contracts in counties in Texas (North Central Texas), lllinois (Northern Illinois
Next Generation Alliance) and Missouri (St Louis County). As such, we believe that we are a leader in public
safety and location

*  Mabile Lacation Center (“MLC™): Our location technology solutions are embedded in the networks of many
MNOs worldwide. We enable the determination of o mobile deviee's geospatial position in a variety of
environments, leveraging a wide range of signals including GPS. GNSS and multiple cellular positioning
technologies ranging from 2G through 5G mobile networks, For our installed base of sysiems, we provide
ongoing operational support, including inistration of system P system opti i
management and maintenance scrvices, including tracking customer support issues, troubleshooting and

ping and installing mui releases.

In addition, we are developing. and expect to launch in fiscal 2026, our Allerium Mira solution, a multi-renant, scalable, cloud-
agnostic service offering that is purpose-built for the future of public safery. This solution gives agencies a flexible and secure
alternative to traditional on-premise systems, with the sealability to grow as their needs evalve, Allerium Mira is being designed
to ensure responders can engage with the public on any channel. Its modern, microservices-hased design is intended to simplify

and ongoing for agencies. Paired with our NGCS solution, Allerium Mira is expected to enable
agencies 1o unlock more of the nerwork's potential, delivering smarter, faster, and more resilient emergency responses.

Alfevium: Customer Bave

Our Allerium segment serves numerous customers, primarily in Norh America and Australia, with whom we have cultivated
longstanding relationships, including state and local governmenis, and a number of the largest telecommunication companies in
the world, Representative customer categories include:

* 1.5 state and local governments, such as the C of the C of P I
the states of Arizona, lowa, Kentucky, Maine, Ohio, South Carolina, and Washingion, and North Central Texas
Emergency Communications District, the Northern Ilinois Next Generation Alliance and St. Louis County, Missouri.

*  Telecommunication companics, such as AT&T Inc., Bell Mobility, Inc., Comeast Corp., Nokia Corp., Rogers
Communications Canada Inc., TELUS Communications Inc., Venizon Communications Inc. and Vodafone Public
Limited Co.

*  Telephone ies and federal, provincial, and local
Zealand.

in Australia, Canada, Cayman [slands and New

More Information and Where to Find It

Our Internet website is www.comtech.com. at which you can find our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC"), including investor letters, press releases, annual reports, quarterly reports, current reports, and any amendments 1o
those filings, We also make announcements regarding company developments and financial and operating performance through
our blog, Signals, at www.comtech.com/signals. We also use our website to disseminate other material information to our
investors {on the Home Page and in the "Investor Relations” section). Among other things, we post on our website our press
releases and information about our public conference calls (including the scheduled dates, times and the methods by which
investors and others can listen to those calls), and we make available for replay webcasts of those calls and other presentations
for a limited time

We also use social media channels o communicate with customers and the public about our Company, our products, services,
and other issues, and we use social media and the Internet to communicate with investors, including information about our
stockholder meetings. Information and updates about our Annual Meetings will continue to be posted on our website at

www.comtech.com in the "Investors” section,

None of the information on our website, blog ar any other website identified herein i incorporated by reference in this Form

10-K and such information should not be considered a part of this Form 10-K.
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Transformation Plan

On January 13, 2025, we announced an expanded plan to transform our business (herein after referred to as our "transformation
plan”). Our transformation plan includes, but is not limited to, the initiatives set forth below:

*  improve corporate governance;

= strengthen executive leadership:

*  upgrade talent in key positions;

= reinvigorate corporate culture that i L emy and ility;
* align y the i

« optimize cash flow including disciplined working capital management;

*  investin next-peneration solutions for our customers’ expanding and emerging needs;

*  enhanee operational efficiency;

*  streamline product lines with a focus on strategic, higher operating margin products;

= improve production efficiency;

= reduce cost structures;

*  cahanee customer satisfaction;

*  improve contractual terms with customers and vendors;

* improve capital strueture through amended and improved terms with creditors and reduction of principal and interest

amounts due; and

= explore strategic altematives for our various businesses and product lines, including the potential sale er divestitre of
assets or business lines.

Elements of our transformation plan related to our eperations have resulted in;

= On ber 7, 2023, we leted the di of our solid RF mi high power ifiers and
control components product line, which was included in our Satellite and Space Communications segment, pursuant to
u stock sale agreement entered into on October 11, 2023 (the "PST Divestiture™). Net proceeds from the PST
Divestiture in fiscal 2024 were $33.2 million and used in part to repay a portion of our cutstanding debt at the time, as
well as o fund working capital needs,

+ We have undertaken u detailed evaluation of our Satellite and Space Communications segment’s product portfolio to
identify further opportunities to divest, separate andior rationalize businesses or facilities that are ol core o our go-
forward focus. Consistent with this effort, in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2024, we made the decision 1o exit our

d i ions i United Kingdom. Such tons were established in ion with the

fiscal 2020 acquisition of CGC Technology Limited. Taking into ideration the sigr ongoing , 85

well as unfavorable contract terms on prospective antenna sales, we concluded such operations would not generate an

attractive return on invested capital and made the decision to exit these operations. Furthermore, we conducted an
intensive review of our product porifolio o focus fulure investment on our mosi strategic, high-margin revenue
opportunitics within the Satellite and Space Communications segment. Upon completion of such review, we recorded

a non-cash charge of $11.4 million within Cost of Sales on our Conselidated of O . primarily

related to the write down of inventory during the first quarter of fiscal 2025 associated with approximately 70 products

within our satellite ground infrastructure product line that were discontinued.




- Weil d multiple ions in force our and in all our segments. Inclusive of actions
taken in August 2025 (i.e., the start of our fiscal 2026), such reductions approximated 23% of our workforce as of July
31, 2024, or approximately $47.0 million in annuslized labor costs. Related 1o these activities, in fiscal 2025, we
recorded $3.6 million of severance costs within Selling. General and Administrative expenses in our Consolidared
Statements of Operations.

+ In September 20235, we initinted 3 process to further optimize owr operations within our Saellite and Space
Communications segment. Such sctions include reducing our facility footprint and migrating the manufacturing of
certain products to our Chandler, Arizona facility. We expect these actions to take place primarily in the first half of
fiseal 2026 and result in approximately $3.0 million of annualized cost savings.

There can be no assurance that eur plans will result in acquisitions, divestituses or other strategic changes or outcomes. Also,
while anticipated to improve our profitability in future periods, such actions may result in near-term restructuring charges.

Sales, Marketing and Customer Support

‘hlc». and marketing strategies include direct sales through sales, and indirect sales through

dded resellers, and sales through a combination of the foregoing. We devole resources o
evaluating and respoudmg lc requests for proposals by governmental agencies around the world and, as needed. we employ the
use of specialized consultants to develop our proposals and bids,

We intend to continue to expand international marketing efforis, as needed, by engaging additional independent sales
representatives, distributors and value-added resellers and by establishing foreign sales offices. In addition, we expect 1o
leverage our i ips with larger ies (such as prime 1o the U.S. government and large mobile wirgless
operators) to market our technology solutions. In fiscal 2026, we expect to continue expanding our social media and Internet
presence and further developing an updated marketing and branding strategy, such as the transition of our Temestrial and
Wireless Networks segment (o the new Allerium brand.

We are pre-gualified as an approved vendor for ceriain governmeni coniracts. We collaborate in sales efforis under various
with integ Our ing efforts also include advertising, public relations, speaking engagements and
um:ndmg and sponsoring industry conferences.

Our management, technical and marketing personnel establish and mainiain relationships with customers. Our sales strategies
include a commitment to providing ongoing customer support for our systems and equipment. This support involves providing
direct access to enginecring staff or trained technical representatives to resolve technical or operational issues.

Our products and services in many of our product lines have long sales cycles. Once a product is designed into a system,
customers may be reluctant to change the incumbent supplier due to the extensive qualification process and potential redesign
required in using altemative sources, In addition, in recent years, we have found that overall sales cyeles for each of our product
lines have significantly increased. as we continue o support our eustomer's overall migration end upgrade to newer designs and
technologies.

Sales by geography and customer type, as a percentage of related net sales, are as follows:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023
Satellite and Space
C ications Allerium C i
U8, government 551 % 55.4 % 49.9 % 1.2 % 1.1 % 1.7 % 30.3 % 3BT % 33 %
Domestic 13.4 % 15.1 % 16.7 % 90.0 % £9.4 % 882 %  487% 448 % 44.7 %
Total LLS. 68.5%  T05% 666  912%  905% 09% 79.0% 7R5% 760 %

1 315 % 29.5%  334% B8 % 9.5 % 91% 210% 21.5% 240%

Total 100:0 % 1000 % _ 10L0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %% 100.0 % _ 100.0 % _ 1000 %

Sales to U.S. government customers include sales to the Dol intelligence and civilian agencies, as well as sales directly to or
through prime contractors.

Domestic sales include sales 1o commercial customers, as well as to U8, state and local governments. For fiscal 2025 and 2024,
except for the US. government, there were no customers that represented more than 10% of consolidated net sales. For fiscal
2023, included in domestic sales are sales to a top tier mobile network operator ("MNO"), which were 10.6% of consolidated
net sales,

Intermational sales for fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023 (which include sales to U.S. domestic companies for inclusion in products
that are sold to international customers) were $105.1 million, $115.9 million and $132.1 million, respectively. When we sell
internationally, we denominate most of our contracts in U.S, dollars. Some of our sales to international customers &re paid for
by lerters of credit or on an open account. From time to time, some of our intemational customers may require us w provide
performance guarantees.

Except for the U.S., no individual country {including sales to U.S. domestic companies for inclusion in products that are sold
a foreign country) represented more than 10% of consolidated net sales for fiseal 2023, 2024 and 2023,

Backlog

Our backlog as of July 31, 2025 was $672.1 million (of which $177.4 million was attributed 10 the Satellite and Space
Communications segment and $494.7 million was atributed to the Allerium segment), We estimate that a substantial portion of
the backlog as of July 31, 2025 will be recagnized as sales during the next twenty-four month periad, with the rest thereafter.
Such estimate could be impacted by our ion plan discussed this Form 10-K.

At July 31, 2025, 69.6% of our backlog consisted of orders for use by ULS. commercial customers, 12.1% consisted of U.S.
governmeni coniracis, subcontracts and government funded programs and 18.3% consisted of orders for wse by international
customers (including sales to LS. domestic companies for inclusion in products that will be sold to international customers).

Our backlog is defined as orders (sometimes also referred 1o herein as bookings) that we believe 1o be firm. Backlog that is
derived from U8, government onders relates to LS, government contracis that have been awarded, signed and funded, Backlog
for our US. government customers also includes amounts appropriated by Congress and allotted to the contract by the
procuring government agency. Such backlog does not include the value of options that may be exercised in the future on multi-
year contracts, nor does it include the value of additional purchase orders that we may receive under indefinite delivery/
indefiniie quantity ("IDIQ") coniracis or basic ordering agreemenis. In some cases, such as coniracts received from large U.S.
based telecommunication companies, our backlog may mclude the value of customer authorizations to proceed or may be
computed by multiplying the most recent month's contract or revenue by the months remaining under the existing long-term
agreements, which we consider 1o be the best available information for anticipating revenue under those agreements. When we
acquire a company with existing contracts, we only record bookings for those contracts that meet our definition, Almoe[ all of
the coniracts in our backlog (including firm orders previously received from the U8, gor '} are subject o i
cancellation at the convenience of the customer, or for default in the event that we are unablu to perform under the contract.

A significant pertion of the backlog from our U.S. commercial customers relates 1o large, mulli-year contracts (o provide state
and local governments (and their agencies) with 911 public safety and location technology solutions. Although the contracts
themsclves represent legal, binding obligations of these governments, funding is often subject to the approval of budgets (for
example, on an annual or bi-annual basis). Although funding for these multi-year contracts is dependent on future budgets being
approved, we include the full estimated value of these large, multi-year contracts in our backlog given the legal obligations of
the customer, the critical nature of the services being provided and the positive historical experience of our state and local
government customers passing their respective budgets




There can be no assurance that our backlog will result in actual revenue in any particular period, or at all, or that any contract
included in backlog will be profitable. There is a higher degree of risk in this regard with respect to unfunded backlog. The
actual amount and timing of any revenue is subject to various contingencies, many of which are beyond our control. The acwual
recognition of revenue on contracts included in backlog may never pecur or may change because a program schedule could
change, a customer may not follow up with order details {e.g., delivery instructions), fluctuations in currency exchange rates
after an order is placed could eause our products ta become too expensive for a foreign customer, a customer’s program could
be canceled, a contract could be reduced, modified or terminated early due to changes in a customer’s priorities, funding may
not be included in future budgets, sciual indirect rates being reimbursed on U.S. government contracts may ultimately be less
than those indirect rates included in our initial proposals, or an option that we had assumed would be exercised is not exercised.
As a result of these contingencies, we may adjust our backlog if we determine that such orders are no longer firm andior
funded. In addition to adjustments from these types of contingencies, variations in backlog from time to time are attributable, in
part, to changes in sales mix, the timing of GOntTack pro]xmnls‘ the timing of contract awards, delivery schedules on specific
contracts, new bookings obtained through ar due to di s or other restructuring type activities, A
large majonity of the solutions in our satellite ground infrastructure technologies product line within our Satellite and Space
Communications segment operate under short lead times. Backlog in both our Satellite and Space Communications segment
and Allerium segment has been, and could be, highly influenced by the nature and timing of orders received from federal, state
and local governments and defense-relaied agencics, causing such erders to be subject to wnprediciable funding, deployment
and technology decisions by such customers. As a result, we helieve our backlog and orders, at any point in time, are not
necessarily indicative of the total sales anticipated for any future period.

For more informatien about risks pertaining to our backlog, see the discussion of our Transformarion Plan discussed above, as
well as those risks outlined in fiem {4 — Risk Faciors under Pari { of this Form 10-K_

Research and Development

We have established leading technology positions in our fields through internal and funded rescarch and di 7
activities.

Internal research and development expenses are reported as research and development expenses for financial reporting purposes.
and were $17.4 million, $24.1 million and $48.6 million in fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, representing 3.5%, 4.5%

and %.8% of total consolidated net sales, respeetively, for these periods. C funded rescarch and P activitics
relate to the ion of our basic to customer i which is under contracts and
is reflected in net sales with the related costs included in w;l of sales. Certain of our government customers also contract with
us from time (o time (0 conduct research on ions software, equi and systems, During fiscal 2025, 2024

and 2023, we were reimbursed by customers for such activities in the amounts of $22.% million, $23.0 million and $14.0
million, respectively,

In addition 1o the recent increases in customer-funded research and development activities, in fiscal 2025 and 2024, we also
experienced an increase in engineering efforts related io cost o fulfill coniract assets and intemal use software. In both fiscal
2025 and 2024, we capitalized $2.9 million for cost 1o fulfill contract assets. In fiscal 2025 and 2024, we capitalized $3.9
million and 53.8 million, respectively, for internal use software. As a result of these trends and the impact of reductions in force
actioned in fiscal 2025 and 2024, our research and development expenses for financial reporting purposes significantly
decreased as compared to historical periods.

During fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, we incurred $0.3 million, $4,1 million and $3.8 millian, respectively, of stratcgic emerging

costs for next satellite to advance our solutions offerings to be used with new broadband
satellite constellations. A significant portion of these costs related to our steerable antenna operations in Basingstoke, United
Kingdom, which we wound down in fiscal 2025, Future costs, if any, will be reported as part of our ongoing research and
development activitics and not added back to our Adjusted EBITDA,

Intellectual Property

tnological i

We rely upon trade secrets, technical k how, and, with Trespect to certain key
technologies, patents to develop and maintain aur competitive position. The products we sell require significant engineering
design and ing expertise. For ilities that are not protected by patents or licenses, we generally
rely on the expertise of our emp! and our learned in both the design and manulaciure of our products and the
delivery of our services.

Some of our key Satellite and Space Communications segment technology is protected by patents that are significant to
protecting our proprietary technology. We have been issued several U.S. patents relating to forward error correction technology
that is wtilized in our Turbe Product Code or TPC enabled satellite medems, We do not expeet that upon expiration of these
patents, our future results will be negatively impacted.

‘We have dozens of patents worldwide relating to wireless location services, text GPS ephemeris data,

public safety data routing, electronic commerce and other areas, To-date, our strategy has been 1o avoid offensive and defensive
patent litigation and focus on building i ips with other through direct licensing, cross licensing,
and other forms of agreements. We do not believe that any single patent or group of patents, patent application or patent license
agreement is material to our operations.

We have filed additional parent applications for certain apparatus and processes we believe we have invented covering key
features of location services, wireless text alerts, SMS Center, mobile-originated data and E911 network software, There is no
assurance that any patent application will result in a patent being issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or other patent
offices. nor is there any guarantee that any issued patent will be valid and enforceable. Additionally, foreign patent rights may
or may not be available or pursued in any technology area for which LS, patent applications have been filed,

Almost all the products and services we sell to the U.S. government inelude technology and other technical know-how that we
have internally developed. In past instances where we have provided purpose rights, to our ge. the ULS.
government has not exercised any of these rights, To the extent that we have provided or will provide government-purpose
ights in the future, we believe that given the rapidly changing nature of our technology, our future success will depend
primarily an the technical competence and creative skill of our persannel, rather than any contractual protection

Competition
Our busi arc highly petil and arc ch veed by rapid il | change. Some of our competitors are
larger, have signi y greater financial, marketing, research and development, technological and operating
resources and broader product lines than we have. Other MES are ping new ies and the shift towards open
standards such as IP-based satellite ne[works will likely result in increased A signifi i
breakthrough by others, including new our exisiing i and our could have a material adverse
cffeet on our business. Our future suceess depends on, among other things, our ability 1o keep pace with such changes and
developments and to respund to the increasing variety of users and

d o

Some large def: b have s or divisions that compeie against us in one or more business segments.
In addition, new and potential competitors are always cml:rg.mg Certain of our customers, such as prime contractors who
cumrently outsource their and ing to us, have g i in our product arcas
and could choose o replace our products with Wudun.ts Lhey develop. In some cases, we partner or leam with companies (both
large and mid-tier) to compete against other teams for large defense programs. In some cases, these same companies may be
among our competitors.

Listed below, in alphabetical order, arc some of our competitors in each of our two business segments:

Sarelfite aned Spuce Ce jons — Ad h Co., Lid., A Ine. (acquired by Fromgrade Technologies,
a portfolio company of Veritas Capital), Agilis Satcom, AMERGINT Technologies, Inc. (acquired by ARKA),
Amkom Design Group Inc., AnaCom, Inc., Codan Limited, Communications and Power Industries (also referred to as
"CPI"), Datum Systems, Inc., dB Control Corp. (a subsidiary of HEICO Corp.), Gilat Satellite Networks Lid.. General
Dynamics Corporation, Hughes Network Systems, LLC (a subsidiary of EchoStar), Kratos Defense and Security
Solutions (Including Kratos RT Logic and Avtec Systems, Inc.), L3Harris T ies, Inc., Mission Mi

Technologics, LLC, ND Satcom GmbH, Novelsat LTD, Paradise Datacom Ltd. (a subsidiary of Teledyne
Technalogies Ine.), Raytheon Technologies Corporation, Safran Defense and Space, Ine., ST Enginevring iDirect, Inc.
(i Imlm;, Newtec), Starlink Services, LLC (a wholly owned >ubsulury of SpaceX), Terrasat Communications Inc.,

Inc., Ulira i and C and ViaSat, Inc.




Allerium ~ AT&T Inc., Atos, Axon Enterprise, Inc., Bandwidth.com, Carbyne, Central Square Technologies, 8x8, Inc.,
Everbridge, Inc. (acquired by Thoma Bravo), Hexagon AR, Immersive Labs, INdigital (acquired by Novacap),
Intersec, Intrado Life & Safety, Inc., Invictus Apps, Ine, d'bva FREPARED (acquired by Axon), LM Eriesson, Lumen
Technologies, Ine. (formerdy CenturyLink, Inc.), Mobilaris AB, Mobile Arts AB, Motorola Selutions, Inc., NGA911,
NexiNav, Inc., Nokia Networks (a subsidiary of Nokia Corporation), Polaris Wireless, RapidDeploy Inc_ {acquired by
Motorola Solutions), RapidSOS, Rave Mobile Safety (acquired by Motorola Solutions), Sinch AB (Inteliuent),
Synergem Technologics, $58, TomTom NV, Versaterm Public Safety Ine., WestTel and Zetron.

We believe that competition in all our markets is based primarily on technology innovation. product performance, reputation,
defivery times, customer support and price. Due to our proprietary know-how, we believe we can develop, produce and deliver
products and services on a cost-cfiective basis faster than many of our competitors.

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability

We recognize the need for driving corpor ibility within our our supplier network and in our

ities. To drive this bility, we will continue to target effective corporate governance, ethical hehavior in the
waorkplace and social responsibility, while also updating and enhancing this focus with inftiatives, such as: refreshing the roles
and respansibilities of the committees of our Board of Directors to ensure oversight of compliance, risks, and best practices;
and enhancing our company-wide People Strategy to comtinue to foster and promote workplace talent and employee
engagement.

Human Capital

Our employees and our culture arc regarded as keys to our suceess to refain top talent, boost productivity and align with our
L'Ump.my'.s on. Qur comprehensive people ﬂrd\.eg)' continues 1o focus on developing a meaningful plan o enhance our

experi and promote peopl policies. We are passionate about building impactful employee engagement
lhrough a variety of programs, initiatives, and other opportunities. As part of this strategy, we are providing a foundation for a
warkplace where employees feel they belong, their views are valued, and they are empowered to pursuc opportunities that drive
their professional passion. Our Peuplu: Strategy is also focused on meeting our <tmt:glr_ recruitment initiatives, developing nmi

Lalent, petitive benefits and wellness programs, and the i of our employ
hea!dn safety and wellness.
Enstering Engagemen|
We believe that a positive, welcoming environment leads to greuter i and ion 1o the ization which
[oster a sense of proactive ing, a key for a impact. At the heart of our approach is the

intentional act of bringing people together across social, cultural and experiential gaps. By creating opportunities for
provocative thinking and meaningful experiences, we are able to challenge assumptions that disrept our innate habits of
thinking and behaving, We strive for an environment where all employees feel that they belong, are sccepted, included,
respected and supported as individuals.

We expect our employees and contractoers to foster authentic connections and cultivate hospitable spaces. Our policy promotes
equal employment opportunitics without discrimination or harassment on the basis of race, color, national origin, religion, sex,
age, disability, or any other status protected by law, Our senior leadership team drives these efforts across the enterprise 10
cultivate a strong culture of inclusivity.

At least once per month we organize an event or where emp ane to participate to celebrate our
waorkforee and our communities. Events include National Pet Day, Men's Health Awareness, Breast Cancer Awareness Month,
and Autism Awarencss Manth, umong others. In fiscal 2025, we also commemorated "Honor Week™ by spotlighting our
veteran empl and ing their ace lish

Our recent progress coupled with leadership style changes has inspired a reinvigorated corporate culture that emphasizes
transparency, empowerment and accountability, in which employees are increasingly taking pride in contributing to our
collective success, which has enhanced Tnoralc. cmp\uycc retention and pe'rﬂ:mlarwc‘ We are working to bulld stronger
employee connections through several new . Strong is the key to providing the for an
engaged workforce. Company news, employee opportunities, company initistives and events are cmnmunica!ed through our
company-wide intranet and monthly segment town hall meetings. We also implemented company-wide town hall meetings, at
least quarterly, which are led bv our Chief Executive Officer and senior leadership team. These meetings have been well-
received by ion and a feeling of inclusion and a forum to “have a voice.” We
continued our "Meet the Tear" series, profiling one employee each monith in a monthly asticle released on our intranst and we
also launched the “MORE” program (which stands for "Moments of Recognition Every Day") to showcase our appreciation for
our employees’ contributions and successes, Specifically, MORE provides an opportunity to publicly recognize Employee and
Manager of the Month winners (winners are personally notified by our CEQ each month), service awards and other segment
success celebrations.

Developing and Retuining Talent

To meet and execute our strategic business goals, we are committed 1o ensuring that our employees find their careers at
Comtech filled with purpose, growth and fulfillment. We are focused on sourcing. attracting and retaining top talent, including
those with engineering, science and technical backgrounds. We continuously review the skillsets required 10 meet our
customers’ needs and reflect this review in our recruitment efforts. To promote this initiative, we use a variety of recruiting
platforms aimed st attracting talent of various backgrounds and cultures and professional connections,. We aim 1o create
personalized development plans during our talent, promotion and succession planning.

‘We vilue employee development at all career stages and performance levels. We continueusly invest in programs, benefits and
resourees {0 foster the personal and professional growth of our colleagues., We provide ongoing training and career
development opportunities by offering courses through Comtech University, our online learning management system, and offer
Jub-specific training o promote and develop advancement within the organization and o enhance skills. In fiscal 2025, we
added several required trainings 1o provide awareness of and foster compliance with key Company policies,

We vvlluc exceptional emplayees who make # difference to the communities where we operate. In addition to spatlighting
ac through our channels, we recognize emplayees who go the extra mile with our annual
"Abuve and Beyond” award showeasing volunteerism in local communities,

At July 31, 2025, we had 1,385 employees (including temporary employees and contractors), 8200 of whom were enpaged in
production and production support, 323 in research and development and other engineering support and 242 in marketing and
administrative funetions, including sales, accounting and finance, tax and information technology. None of our U.S, employees
are represented by a labor union. Of our total employees, 281 are based owtside of the U.S., including 159 in Canada and 93 in
India. We believe our employee relations are good,

Safery and Wellness

‘We strive to maintain a robusi health, safety and wellness program to ensure a healthy work environment, promote workforce
m«hcncy and enhance business value. We to wdentify of for and
Teview and monitor our performance with safety cnmmmcea at our local <:Ie< Local safery committees identify snfely programs
and ensure completion of all training and target learning objectives.

All employees and their households have aceess 1 an employee assistance program, as well as a health advocate program w
help with all aspects of benefits, family life, financial concerns legal issucs and transition to retirement, Assistance is available
365 days per year, 24 hours per day. This year employees had an opportunity 1o participate in several wellness events as a
company-wide challenge.

We rigorously review our benefit and compensation plans to maintain competitive packages that reflect the wellness needs of
our workforee and the marketplace as part of our financial wellness initiatives. These programs include a 401¢k) plan,
comprehensive health packages and wellure henefits, among many others. We support pay equity for all employees within the
same geographic area, experience level and performance standards. To support this initiative, at the start of fiscal 2025, we
rolled out our job architeeure program to provide simplicity and clarity on roles (levels, titles, scope), mobility (visibility into
potential carcer paths), alignment (of roles with ional goals and objecti and equity (a k designed to
support fair compensation practices).




Envivonment

We are committed to reducing our environmental impact across our value chain, |nc|udm§, in the dmgn of our pmducn.
operation of our facilities and procurement of matcrials. We arc also itted to with the various
global i | ions that are li to our business segments, including with the respect 10 the waste and
emissions generated at our facilities. Our Board of Directors is responsible for the oversight of our environmental efforts, and
the management of climate-related issues is overseen by our Chiel Legal Officer.

We seck to increase efficient usage of building space and we offer our employecs incentives to promote greener commuting
options through rideshare programs.

We are committed to providing a workplace which values the health, safety, and well-being of our ey and
visitors to our facilities, complying with Environment, Health and Safety ("EHS") legal requirements, and mlmm\zlru, EHS
risk. In fiscal 2025, we continued 1o support our EHS goals of engaging employees at all levels of the organization in the
prevention of work-relaied injuries and illnesses, reducing environmental impacis and fostering a culture of continuous
improvement.

L.S. Government Contracts and Security Clearances

The U.S. government operales on an October-to-September fiscal year. Generally. in February of each vear, the President of the
United States presents to the U.S. Congress ("Congress") the proposed budget for the upcoming fiscal year and from February
through September of each vear, the appropriations and authorization commitiees of Congress review the President’s budget
proposals and establish the funding levels for the upcoming fiscal year, Once these Jevels are enacted into law, the Exceutive
Office of the President administers the funds to the agencies. Thereafter, we can receive orders pursuant to sole-source or
competitively awarded coniracts, which we describe below.

The U.S. government may be unable to complete its budget process before the end of any given government fiscal year and
when the fiscal budget is not approved in a timely manner, the U.S. government is required cither to shut down or be funded
pursuant 1o a "continuing resolution” that authorizes agencies of the U.S. govemment to continue operations but does not
authorize new spending initiatives, either of which could result in reduced or delayed orders or payments for products and
services we provide.

Sole-source contracts are generally awarded to a single contractor without a formal ition when @ single is
deemed 1o have an expertise or technology superior to that of competing contractors or when there is an urgent need by the U3,
government that cannot wait for a full competitive process. Potential suppliers compete informally through research and
development and marketing cfforis. Competitively-bid contracts are awarded based on a formal praposal evaluation established
by the procuring agency and interested prepare hids, Competitively-bid contracts are awarded after a formal bid and
proposal competition among suppliers

The U.S. povernment has a stated policy direction to reduce the number of sole-source contract awards across all procuring
agencics, In addition, the U.S. government is increasing the use of multiple-award 1DIQ contracts to increase its procurement
options. |mo contracts allow the U.S. government to select a group of eligible contractors for the same program. When the
government awards [DIQ contracts 1o multiple bidders under the same program, a company that has already competed to be
selected as a participant in the program must subsequently compete for individual delivery orders. As a result of this U.S.
government shift toward multiple award 1DIQ contracts, we expect to face greater ion for future ULS. go
contracts and, at the same time, greater opportunities for us w participate in program arcas that we do not currently participare
in.

A; a U S, and suby , we are subject 1o a variety of rules and regulations, such as the Federal

("FAR"). Individual agencies can aﬂsn hme acquisition regulations. For example, the DoD implements
‘hc FAR through the U5, Defense Federal Acquisiti y known as "DFARS"). For certain
Federal government entities, the FAR regulates the phases of any product or service acquisition, including: acquisition
planning, competition requiremanls, contractor qualifications, protection of source selection and vendor information, and
acquisition procedures. In addition, the FAR addresses the allowability of supplier costs, while Cost Accounting Standards
address how those costs can be allocated to contracts, The FAR alse subjects suppliers to audits and other government reviews.
These reviews cover issues such as cost, performance and accounting practices relating to our contracts, The government may
challenge a supplier's costs and fees or require corrective actions which can delay programs and inerease our costs. Suppliers
are also required to comply with the National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual for the handling of classified
materials and programs and is administered by the Defense Counterintelligence and Security Agency ("DCSA™), Suppliers who
do not comply with these various regulations may lose and/or become incligible for facility security clearances and/or
participation in elassified and non-classified programs.

Under firm fixed-price contracts, we perform for an agreed-upon price and we can derive benefits from cost savings, but bear
the risk of cost ovemms Our cost- reimbursable type contracts typically provide for reimbursement of allowable costs incurred
plus a iated fec. Cost-pl fee onders typically provide for sharing with the U8, povemnment savings acerued
from orders performed for less than the target costs and costs incurred in excess of targets up to a negotiated ceiling price
{which is higher than the target cost), and for the supplier to carry the entire burden of costs exceeding the negotisted ceiling
price,

In fiscal 2025, $151.3 million or 30.3% of our consolidated net sales were 1o the U.S. gn\'crnmtn( {including sales to prime
contractors (o the US. government). OF this amount, firm fixed-price and contraets (including fixed-fee,
incentive-fee and time and material type contracts) accounted for §96.7 million and $54.6 nullmn. respectively.

Regulatory Matters

In addition to the rules and regulations that pertain 0 us as a ULS. g and , we are also subject
1o -a variety of local, state and federal governmental regulations,

‘Our products that arc incorporated into wircless communications systems must comply with various government regulations,
including those of the FCC. Our manufacturing facilitics, which may store. handle, emit, generate and dispose of hazardous
substances that are used in the manufacture of our produets, are subject to a variety of local. state and federal regulations,
including those issued by the Environmenial Proiection Agency. Our products are also subjeci to European Unien directives
related to the recycling of electrical and electronic equipment.

Our international sales are subject w US. and foreign regulations such as the Arms Export Control Act, the International
Emergency Economic Powers Act ("IEEPAT), the International Traffic in Arms Regulations ("ITAR"), the Export
Adminisiration Regulations ("EAR") and the trade sanctions laws and regulations administered by the U8, Department of the
Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control {"OFAC"), the Department of Commerce ("DoC"} , the Department of State and
their forcign counterparts as well as other applicable laws reluting to trade, export controls and foreign corrupt practices, the
violation of which could adversely affect our operations. We must comply with all applicable export control laws and
regulations of the U.S. and other countries. Certain of our products and systems may require licenses from U.S. government
agencies for export from the U.S. or other countries, and some of our products are not permitted to be exported. We cannot be
certain that we will be able to obtain necessary export licenses, and such failure would materially adversely affect our
aperations. 1f we are unable 1o receive appropriate export authorizations in the future, we may be prohibited from selling our
products and services internationally, which may limit our sales and have a material adverse effect on our business, resulis o’
operations and financial condition. In addition, in certain cases, U.S. and foreign export controls also severely limit unlicensed
technical discussions, such as discussions with any persons who are not U.S. citizens or permanent residents. As a result, in
cases where we may need an export license, our ability to compete against a non-U.8. domiciled foreign company thut may not
be subject to the same U.S. laws may be materially adversely affected. In addition, we are subject to the FCPA and other local
laws that generally bar bribes or unreasonable gifis 1o foreign governments or officials. Violations of these laws or regulations
could result in significant sanctions, including disgorgement of prafits, fines and criminal sanctions against us, our officers, our
directors or our emp , MaTe anerous , more extensive debarments from export privileges or loss
of authorizations needed to conduct aspects of our mtemmmna\ business. A violation of any of the regulations enumerated
above could materially adversely affect our business. financial condition and resulis of operations. Additionally, changes in
regulatory requirements could further restrict our ability to deliver services to our international customers or negatively impact
our business, including the addition of a country to the list of sanctioned countrics under the IEEPA or similar legislation.
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In the past, we have self-reported violations of export control laws or regulations to the U.S. 1 of State, D of
Defense Trade Controls ("DDTC"), DoC, OFAC and their foreign counterpans, In addition, we have made various
commitments to 1.5, government agencies that oversee trade and export matters that we will maintin certain policies and

inelu a compal ide Office of Trade Compliance and conducting ongoing internal assessments
and reporting any future violations to those agencies.

Our financial reporting, corparate governance, public disclosure and compliance practices are governed by laws such as the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Dodd-Frank Act of 2010, and rules and regulations issued by the SEC. The SEC has adopted rules
which require. among other things, public companies to conduct certain inquiries to determine whether or not Conflict Minerals
(as that term is defined in the SEC rules) that are necessary 1o the functionality of their manufactured produsts or their product's
production processes originated in a Covered (‘cunrry (a5 Thar term is defined in the SEC m\es) and ultimately file a report with
the SEC. Conflict Minerals are widely used in many ind including the tel industry and almost all of our
products include component parts purchased from third-party suppliers and we must rely heavily on information received from
suppllcrs lo determine the origin of Ehosc materials, We Jnve |mplcmc.mm a due diligence program consistent with the

for Economic Co-op and D to eolleet information concerning the country of origin
vf(nnﬂlcl Minerals and in that regard, have adopied a pull:y that requires our supplicrs (both public and privaie) to commit o
a code of conduct relating to the responsible sourcing of mmerals and to establish a policy to reasonably assure that the
products they manufacture do not contain Conflict Minerals that eriginated in a Covered Country. Efforts to comply with this
SEC rule have resulted in additional costs to us and, we believe, 1o our suppliers. As such, the availability of raw marterials used
in our operations could be negatively impacted and‘or raw material prices could increase. Further, if we are unable to certify
that pur products are conflict free, we may face challenges with our customers, which could place us at a compet:
disadvantage and could harm our reputation.

Laws and regulations have been enacted that atfect companies conducting business on the Intemet, including the European
Gieneral Data Protection Regulation ("GDFR"). The GDPR imposes certain privacy related requirements on companies that
receive or process personal data of residents of the European Union that are currently different than those in the U.S. and
include significant penalties for non-compliance. Similarly, there are several legislative proposals in the U.S.. at both the federal
and state level, that could impose new obligations in areas al‘f&ctmg crur business, such as liability for personal data protection.
In addition, some couniries are considering or have passed | data i i or Tequi
local storage and processing of data or similar requirements that could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our
services. Our costs to comply with the GDPR as well any other similar laws and regulations that emerge may negatively impact
our business.

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS

The following describes major risks to our business and should be considered carefilly. Any of these factors could significantly

and negatively affect our business, prospects, financial condition, or operating reswlts, which conld cause the trading prices of

our eguiiy securities io decling. The risks described below are not the only risks we may face. Addiional risks and uncertainties
not presently known fo us, or visks that we currently consider immaterial, could also negatively affect us.

Summary of Risk Factors

The following is a summary of the principal risks that could significantly and negatively affect our business, prospects.
financial conditions, or operating results, For a more complete discussion of the material risks facing our business, please see
below:

Global Risks
= New and ongoing challenges relating to current supply chain constraints, including for satellite ground station and
troposcatter components, and impacts from inflation and any new or increased twriffs on imports and other trade
restrictions, could adversely impact our revenue, gross margins and financial results,

*  If global economic business and political it eri as to the current i L it could have
a material adverse impaci on our business outlook and our business, operating resulis and financial condition.

*  We have significant operations in locations which could be materi
terrorist attack and government T thereto or
business.

lly and adversely impacted in the event of a
i (including natural disasters) to our

0

«  Ongoing instability and conflicts in global markets, including in Ukraine, the Gaza Strip, Israel, Lebanon and other
countries in the Middle East and Asia, and the attending possibility of economic sanctions, have created and may
continue to create cconomic and political disruption that could adversely impact our tevenue, gross margins and
financial results.

= Wemay fail to realize all of the anticipated benefits of our sirategic and operational initiatives, or those benelits may
take longer to realize than expected

= Owr transformation plan may require a substantial portion of the time and atiention of our management team, which
may have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations, and we may face increased levels of employee

attrition.

Business Risks
= Owr cash and liquidity projections may not materialize as anticipated.

= Owr business outlook is difficult to forceast and operating results are subject to significant fluctuations and are likely to
be valatile.

= Owr backlog is subject to cusiomer cancellation or modification and such cancellations or modifications could resuli in
a dechine in sales and increascd provisions for excess and obsolete inventory.

= Owr efforts to inveice and collect unbilled accounts receivable may be unsuccessful.

= Comraet cost growth on our firm fxed-price contracts exposes us to reduced profitability and the potential loss of
future business and other risks.

= Owr business is highly dependent on the budgetary decisions of our government customers,
*  Owr contracts with the U.S, government are subject to unique business, commercial and government audit risks,

*  Owr dependence on sales to international customers exposes us to unique business, commercial and export compliance
audit risks.

A change in our relationship with our large wircless carrier customers could have a material adverse effect.

= A change by wireless carrier partners in the pricing and other terms by which they offer our products to their end-
customers could have a material adverse affect

= Disputes with our subcontractors or key suppliers or their inability to deliver on a timely basis, could cause delays in
our shipments.

= Our estimates regarding future warranty obligations may change based on a variety of factors, impacting future cost of
revenue.
*  We face a number of risks relating to the expected long-term growth of our business.

*  Loss of our executive officers or other key personnel or other changes to our management team could disrupt our
operations and growth plans or harm our business,

= We must service the debt and maintain compliance with various covenants under a credit facility that imposes
restrictions on our business.

= Divestitures of portions of our business in the course of carrying eut our transformation plan and reshaping our product

portfolio could prove difficult to carve out, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value or adversely affect operating
results or the market price of our common stock.
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= Ourinvestments in recorded goodwill and other intangible assets have been impaired and may be further impaired as a
result of future business conditions, a deterioration of the global economy or if we change our reporting unit structure
for any reason.

Cyberseeurity Risks
* We could be negatively impacted by a system failure, breach, amack or intrusion of our IT networks or those we
aperate for certain customers, or third-party data center facilities, servers and related systems,
*  The measures we have implemented o secure information we collect and store or enable access o may be breached.
Legal, Regulatory and Litigation R
*  Changes in US, federal, state and local and foreign tax law could adversely affect our business and financial

condition.

+ Our LLS. federal, state and local and foreign tax returns are subject to audit and a resulting tax assessment or settlement
would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

+ We may be subject to environmental liabilities.

= The success of our business is dependent on compliance with FCC rules and regulations and similar foreign, state and
local laws and regulations.

*  Regulation of the mobile communications industry and VelP is evolving, and unfavorable changes or our failure 1o
comply with existing and potential new legislation or regulations could harm our business and eperating results.

*  Ongoing compliance with the provisions of securities laws, related regulations and financial reporting standards could
unexpectedly materially increase our costs and complianee related expenses.

+  Indemnification provisions m our contracts could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of
aperations, financial position, or cash flows.

* Weare, from time to time, and could become a party to additional litigation or subject to claims. Additionally, we may
hecome subject to government investigations, which may have an adverse effect on our financial condition,

*  Protection of our imellectual property is limited and pursuing infringers of our patents and other intellectual property
rights can be costly.

+ Third partics may claim we arc infringing their infellectual property rights and we could be prevented from sclling our
products, or sufter significant litigation expense, even if these claims have no merit.

Competitive Risks
All of our business activities are subject 10 rapid technological change, new entramts, the introduction of other
distribution models and long development and testing periods, each of which may harm our competitive position.

= Our business is highly competitive, we are reliant upon the suceess of our partners, and some of our competitars have
significantly greater resources than we do, which could result in a loss of customers, market share and/or market
acceptance.

* We rely upon various third-party companies and their technology to provide services to our customers.,

*+  Because our software may contain defects or errors, and our hardware products may incorporate defective components,
our sales could decrease if these defects or errors adversely affect our reputation or delay shipments of our products.

2

Risks Related 1o our Common Stock

= Owr stock price is volatile,

= Future issusnces of our shares of common stock could dilute a stockholder's ownership interest in Comtech and reduce
the market price of our shares of comman stock

*  Actions of activist stockholders could impact the pursuit of our business strategies and adversely affect our results of
operations, financial condition and/or share price,

+ Provisions in our corporate documents and Delaware law could delay or prevent a change in control of Comiech.
Global Risks

Mew and ongoing challenges relating to current supply chain constraints, including for satellite ground station and
troposcatier componenis, and impacts from inflation and any new or increased tarifls on imporis and other trade
restrictions, could adversely impact our revenue, gross margins and financial results.

The global supply ehain for certain raw materinls and components, including those used i aur sarellite ground station and

has d i strain in recent periods. The constrained supply environment has adversely
affected, and could further affect, availability and lead times of raw materials and components, thereby impeding our ability to
meet customer demand in circumstances where we canmot timely secure supply of components that meet our quality standards.
Even when raw materials and components are available, they ofien come with higher prices reflecting an imbalance between

supply and demand, as well as inflationary pressures affecting global markets,

The effects of inflation and lsbor challenges have caused, and we expect will continue to cause further delays in the supply
chain. Despite our attempts to mitigate the impact on our business, constrained supply chain conditions have and are expected
10 comtinue 1o adversely impact our cosis of goods sold and may impact the timing and amount of revenue we realize. In our
Tecent past, we experienced disruptions in our supply chain relating to larer-than-expected delivery of certain key compoenents
from several suppliers that adversely impacted our revenucs. In addition, supply chain issues have affected the quality of the
components we receive, which in some cases caused such components (0 not meet our specifications.

In addition. the U.S, recently implemented further changes to trade policies. including adding new or modifying existing tariffs
on imperts, in some cases significantly, The impact of these tanfTs is subject to a number of factors, including the effective date
and duration of such taniffs, changes in the amount, scope and nature of the tariffs in the future, any retalintory responses to
such actions that the target countries may take and any mitigating actions that may become available. Although some of these
tariffs have been paused or reduced. there is significam uncertainty as trade negotiations are ongoing and oulcomes are
unpredictable. Tariffs and any retaliatory actions, if |mplamen[ed could significantly inerease the cost of our producls and
result in lower demand for our products, delivery delays, and of erders by cu The y in the trade

may also to broader ic.and Financial masket weakness and volakilty, such 43 isflgtionsry
pressures affecting interest rates and volatility in the stock market affecting the price of eur common stock. While we continue
10 evaluate the potential impact of the new tarifts on our business, given the volatility and uncertainty regarding the scope and
duration of such tariffs and other aspecis of U.S. and foreign government trade policies, their uliimate impact on our operations
and financial results remaing uncertain,

We obtain centain components and subsystems from a single source or a limited number of sources. Some of our single source
suppliers, particularly those that provide satellite ground station and tropescatier components, have in the past reported o us
that they are having disruptions in their respective supply chains. These single source components, which include items such as
RF filters and custom fiber connectors are in limited supply with very long lead times. In some cases, we have now depleted our
stock inventory and we are an waiting lists to obtain sdditional components. In order to ship certain items in the future, we must
abtain additional components to produce certain finished goods, We continue to seek new supplicrs and inventory elsewhere. In
light of current challenges in the supply chain, we may not be able to qualify alternate suppliers for our components timely, or
atall.
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Heading into fiscal 2026, we have a significant portion of our anticipated revenues in funded backlog. However, if shipments
from our backlog are delayed. we are unable to perform as expected on orders accounted for over lime, or we are unab]e W
obtain expected orders or components, we may not achieve our business outlook. The d supply chain

and their related challenges could result in, among other things, future shortages, increased material costs or use of cash,

engineering design changes, late delivery penalties and delays in new produet introductions, each of which could adversely

impact our revenue, gross marging and financial results. There can be no assurance that the impacts of any or all the

aforementioned conditions will not continue, or worsen, in the future.

I global economic business and political conditions deteriorate as compared to the current environment, it could have a
material adverse impact on our business outlook and our business, operating results and financial condition,

Many of the end-markets for our products and services may be significantly impacted by other issues that result in adverse
global economic conditions. For example. many of our international end-customers are in emerging and developing countries
that are subject to sweeping economic and political changes, Many governments around the world are under pressure te reduce
their spending. From time to time, global oil and natural gas prives have been volatile and have significantly impaired the
ability of certain of our government customers in the oil and gas producing regions of the world to mvest in telecommunications
pmduus and infrastructure. Additionally, from time to time, the relative strength of the ULS. dollar against many international

has ively impacted the ing power for many of our international end-customers because most of our sales
are denominated in U8, dollars. We generate significant gales from many emerging and developing couniries and any such
reduced purchasing power of our customers could adversely impact our sales and backlog,

If credit in financial markets outside of the U.S. remains difficult to obtain, our international customers and suppliers may find
it difficult to obain financing, which could result in a decrease in, or cancellation of, orders for our products and increased
fransaction costs (e.g,, insurance, performance bonds). Volatility of financing conditions may cause our customers io be
reluctant to spend funds required to purchase our solutions and could cause their prajects to be postponed or canceled. In
addition. if an adverse economic environment and lack of fnancing results in insolvencies for our customers, it would adversely
impact the ity of our accounts i andior inventories which would, in turn, adversely impact our results of
operations,

We believe that the current global economic business environment is unstable and sudden negative changes could result in the
immediate wppressinn of end-market demand for many of our products such as satellite ground station 1echnologies and other
short lead-time pmducls‘ Tlle timing, impact, severity and duration of these conditions are difficult i predict. If U.S. or global
cconomic d or political di become unstable, or additional economic sanctions are imposed on
some of our end-customers, it could adversely impact our busincss in a number of ways. In the past, our businesses have been
negatively affected by uncertain economic enviromments in the overall market and, more specifically, in the

icati sector. Our have reduced their budgets for spending on telecommunications equipment and
systems and in some cases posiponed or reduced the purchase of our products and systems. In the future, our customers may
again reduce their spending on telecommunications equipment and systems which would negatively impact our business. [f this
t would adversely affect our outlook, net sales, profitability and the recoverability of our asscts, including intangible
ch as goodwill.

We have significant operations in Arlxnna. Florida, California, Washington State, Maryland and other locations which
could be i and in the event of a terrovist attack and government responses thereto or
disruptions natural to our business.

Temorist attacks, the US. and other governments' responses thereto, and threats of war could adversely impact our business,
results of operations and finaneial condition. For example, our 911 hosted location-based services and satellite teleport services
operations depend on our ability to maintain our computer equipment and systems in effective working order. and to protect our
systems against damage from fire, natural disaster, temorist antack, power loss, telecommunications failure, sabotage,
unauthorzed access (0 our system or similar cvents.

Any unanticipated interruption or delay in our operations or breach of security could have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. Our propenty and business interruption insurance may not be adequate to
compensate us for any losses that may eceur in the event of a terrorist attack, threat, system failure or a breach of security,
Insurance may not be available to us at all or, if available, may not be available to us on commercially reasonable terms.
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We currently, and intend to continue to, operate a high-vol hnol f ing center located in Arizona. A terrorist
attack or similar future event may disrupt our operations or those of our customers or suppliers and may affect the availability
of materials needed to manufacture our products or the means to transpont those materials 1o manufacturing facilities and
finished products to customers. If 2 natural disaster or other business interruption occurred with respect 10 our high-volume
technology manufacturing center, we do not have immediate access to other manufacturing facilities and, as a result, our
husiness, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. The loss of our facility in Anzona
would have a negative impact on our production capability and we would incur unexpected costs and lost revenue associated
with our inability to meet our contractual commitments,

‘We design and manufacture our over-the-horizon microwave equipment and systems in Florida, where major hurricanes have
oceurred in the past, and amplifiers in Santa Clara, Califomia, an area close w major carthquake fault lines, Additionally,
certain of our Allerium segment activities are conducted in Washington State near a fault line, We maintain operations n
Maryland near a U.S. Navy facility which may be more prone to a terrorist attack. Our operations in these and other locations
{such as in our high-volume technology manufacturing center located im Arizona), could be subject to natural disasters or other

ptions, including hrri does, typhoons, sunamis, floods, earthquakes, fires, water shortages, other
extreme weather conditions, medical cpidemics, acts of terrorism, power shortages and blackouts, telecommunications failures,
and other natural and man-made disasters or disruptions.

We cannot be sure that our systems will operate appropriately if we experience hardware or software failures. intentional
disruptions of service by third parties, an act of God or an act of war, A failure in our systems could cause delays in transmitting
data, and as a result we may lose customers or face litigation that could involve material costs and distract management from
operating our business.

In the event of any such disaster or other disruption, we could i di OF interruptions 1o our aperations of the
aperations of aur suppliers, distributors, resellers or customers; destruction of facilities: and'or loss of life, all of which could
materially increase our costs and expenses and adversely affeet our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Omgoing instability and conflicts in global markets, including in Ukraine, the Gaza Strip, Israel, Lebanon, and other
countries in the Middle East and Asia, and the possibility of have created and may
continue to create econemic and political disruption that could adversely impact our revenue, gross margins and
finaneial results.

The U.S. government and other nations have imposed signifi an mast © * ability to do business in
1t is not possible to predict the broader or longer-term consequences of this conflict, which could include further

by regional i i litical shifts, adverse effects on macrocconomic conditions, security conditions,
Eteeg Sickange vites uod Fildveial midrkatd, Suck goo.politicsl iastability nd could have a negalive impact on
our ability to sell to, ship products to, collect paymcn!s from, and supporl customers in certain regions based on trade
restrictions, embargoes, export control law restrictions, and logistics restrictions including closures of air space, and could
inerease the costs, risks and adverse impacts from these new challenges, We may also be the subject of increased cyber-anacks
ag a result of the conflic,

The conflict between Russia and Ukraine impacted our sales pipeline and continues to have repercussions for our business. As a
result of the economic sanctions against Russia, we stopped aceepting new orders in Russia and wound down our Russian
operations in fiscal 2024, We intend to repatriate proceeds from former operations in Russia as permitted by law; however, our
ability to do sa may be negatively impacted by continuing sanctions against Russia, as well as by the laws within Russia.

As a result of this conflict, from time to time since February 2023, we believe daat certain customers (including the LS.
d

government, Ukraine and neighboring i paused andd of satellite and troposcatier
communication systems, and instead began hasi fighti i it has bccum-: difficult to predict
the timing or dollar amount of our contract awards in the region. ¥, funding for opy with other customers

that we expected (o book and ship has also been shified w other programs and/or temporarily delayed as a result of changes i
defense spending priorities.
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. Government's budget deficit, as well as a breach of the debt ceiling, could have an adverse impact on our
operations.

Our snles o government customers are highly dependent on the ULS. defense budget, which in turn is driven by an annual
pprop by Congress. These iations rarely align with the performance period of our contraces: for instance, most of
our government contracts are only partially funded at inception, Dol budgets are driven by factors that are outside our contral
(such as economic conditions, administration policy shifts within the Executive branch and geopolitical events). Any one or
combination of these factors may adversely impact our operations, resulting in a decline of sales and operating income,

Transformation Plan Risks

We may fail to realize all of the anticipated benefits of our strategic and operational initiatives, or those benefits may
take longer to realize than exp

We are continuing to execute a plan to transform Comtech through the exploration of sirategic altematives for our various
businesses and pmduct limes, 1hc pursuit of ﬁlrtlu:r ]'\ol“fo\lc-sh)lp\ng oppartunitics to enhance profitability, efficiency and focus,

and the af ives to both achieve profituble results from operations, as well as to align
our go-forward cost structure with our future state business. There can be no assurance that any of these initiatives will result in
outcomes on terms aceepiable to us or ai all. Even if any of these initiatives were completed, there can be no assurance as io the
timing of completing these activitics. Moreover, we may not realize any or all of the anticipated benefits from our pursuit of
these initiatives, and related transactions could in fact adverscly affect our business. Our ability to realize the anticipated
benefits of our transformation plan will depend, to a large extent, on our ability o continue to focus on, and to achieve, more
predictable growih related 1o our remaining business. Some of the anticipated benefits may not occur for a significant period of
time. In addition, we may retain certain liabilities or obligations related to any disposed businesses that may arise under contract
or law, or may have difficul ing our rights, or otherwise, against the buyer, The outcome of these
initiatives and the reluted transactions may not enhance long-term stockholder value as anticipated. Further, our transformation
plan could result in near-tenm restructuring charges and a material impairment of our goodwill and/or intangible assets, among
other things.

Many of these factors will be outside of our control and any one of them could result i increased costs, including restructuring
charges, decreases in the amount of expected revenues and diversion of management’s attention, which could sdversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operati In addition, the process of such transformation plan, including
divesting assets, carries an inherent risk of market fluctuations and economic uncertainties that could undermine the value we
expect to realize.

Our transformation plan may require a substantial portion of the time and attention of vur management team, which
may have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations, and we may face inereased levels of employee
attrition.

Or management team has spent, and continues to spend, a significant amount of time and effort focusing on our trans formation
plan. This diversion of attention may have an adverse effect on the conduet of our bu 55, and, as a result, on our financial
condition and results of operations, particularly if the time it takes o complete our rnnsiormalwn plan is protracted. During the
pendency of the ion plan, our employces may face and inty, and we may experience
increased levels of emplayee attrition. A loss of key personnel or material erasion of employee marale could have a materially
adverse effect on our ability te meet customer expectations, thereby adversely affecting our business and results of operations
The failure to retain or attract members of our management team and other key personnel could impair our ability to execute
our strategy and implement operational initiatives, thereby having a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations. Likewise, we could experience losses of customers who may be concerned about our long-term viability.

Business Risks

Our cash and liquidity projections may not materialize as anticipated.

In fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, we reported operating losses of $13%.1 million, $79.9 millien and §14.7 million, respectively,
and net cash used in operating activities of S8.3 ion, $54.5 million and $4.4 million, respectively. At July 31, 2025 and
November 7, 2025 (the date closest 1o the issuance date), total oustanding bormowings under our Credit Facility were $133.9
million and $135.0 million, respectively. Of such amounts, $17.6 million was drawn on the Revolver Loan at both dates.
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At July 31, 2025, October 31, 2025 and November 7, 2025, our available sources of liquidity totaled 347.0 million, $51.0
million and $50.3 million, respeetively, which includes qualified cash and cash equivalents of $37.4 million, $41.4 million and
540,7 million, respectively, and the remaining available portion of the Revalver Loan of $9.6 million as of each such date,

As of the issuance date, we expect cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from both operating and financing activities to be
our principal sources of liquidity. We also believe these sources of liquidity will be sufficient 1o fund our operating and cash
commitments for investing and financing activities over the next vear beyond the issuance date,

During fiscal 2025 and through the issuance date, we have taken the following actions, and implemented the Following plans, to
improve our operational and financial performance, enhance our liquidity and financial condition and ability to meet our
financial covenants contained in our credit facilities:

+  Engaged in portfolio-shaping ities to enhance

leguey solutions that were not contributing meaningfully to net sales and of gross profits;

and focus, including the elimination of

= Prioritized efforts to complete low or no margin non-recurring engingering contracts in order 1o accelerate our
migration to higher volume and higher margin manufacturing related orders with improved cash conversion cyeles;

*  Developed and launched new products and services around differentiated technology and solutions;

= Improved operating profitability by entering into, or renegotiating, sales or service contracts with more favorable
pricing and payment terms;

= Reduced our cost structure 1o bemer align operating expenses with revenue expectations, including facility and
= SEBET i
and

+  Through new leadership and improved accountability and process disc the
organization, reduced our investments in working capital (e.g.. accounts membl.e and m\eull.ory) as well as capital
expenditures. and

= Through a scrics of capital injections, aggregating $100.0 million in the form of subordinated debt, and amendments

our credit Facilitics: (i) significantly reduced senior debt and related cash interest payments due under our Credit
i (i} increased the available portion of our Revolver Loan: (iii) deferred the scheduled repayment of a portion
of the Term Loan and the scheduled payment of ceriain fees due under the Credit Facility; (iv) suspended testing of
our Net Leverage Ratio, Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and Minimum EBITDA covenants under our credit facilities
until Janwary 31, 2027; and (v) reduced the minimum quarterly average liquidity requirement under our credit
facilities.

Our ability to meet future anticipated liquidity needs over the nexi year bevond the issuance date will largely depend on our
ability to execute on our operational strategy, generate positive cash inflows from aperations, maximize our borrowing capacity
under our Credit Facility and or sccure outside capital.

Based on the foregoing, over ihe nexi vear bevond the issuance date, we believe that we will: (i) be able o generate sufficient

positive cash inflows and maximize our borrowing capacity under our Credit Facility to continue as a going concern, and (i)

comply with the cavenants contained in our credit facilitics. However, our ability fo do so may also be affccted by general

economic, financial and other factors which are beyond our control. As such, there can be no assurances that our plans will be
ul or that our proj will materiali
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Our business outlook is difficult to forecast and operating results are subject to significant fluctuations and are likely to
be volati

Histworically, cur business outlook is difficult to forecast and backlog (sometimes referred to herein as orders or beokings), net
siles and operating results may vary significantly from peried to peniod due to a number of factors including: the impact of
strategic altematives and portfolio reshaping; sales mix; fluctuating market demand; price competition; delayed collections
from customers; new product introductions by us or our compelitors; customer bankrupteies; changing customer parinering
procurement strategies; fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; unexpected changes in the timing of delivery of
or 3 the financial I and impact of isitions or i L new i
political instability; regulatory developments; changes in income tax rates or tax credits; the price and expected volatility of our
stock {which will impact, among other items, the amount of stock-based compensation expense we may record); perceptions of
our financial condition and ability 1o continue as a going concern; general global economic conditions, and the impact of natural
disasters or global pandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

We have expericnced, and will experience in the future, significant fluctuations in hookings, net sales and operating results,
from period to period. For example, & sudden change in global ecanomic or political conditions could have an immediate
impact on a large portion of our net sales, a large amount of which are derived from products such as satellite ground station
technologies, amplifier products and mission-critical technologies that generally have short order and lead times. Similarly,
sales of certain of our public safety and location technologies are subject to sudden changes in wireless carrier procurement
strategies, inchuding decisions to sole-source such solutians or to perform such solutions internally. As a result, bookings and
backlog related to these solutions are sensilive to short-u ions in customer demand.

In addition. a large portion of our consolidated net sales are derived in part from large U5, federal and state government
programs or large foreign government opportunitics that are subject to lengthy sales cycles (including funding requirements)
and are therefore difficult to predict.

Our backlog is subject to customer or and such ar could result in a
decline in sales and increased provisions for excess and obsolete inventory.

We currently have a backlog of orders, mostly under contracts that our customers may modify or terminate. Almost all of the
contracts in our backleg {including firm orders previously received from the LS. government) are subject 1o cancellation a1 the
convenienee of the customer or for default in the event that we are unable o perform under the contract. For some contracts,
where we are a subcontractor (and not the prime contractor), the US. povernment could terminate the prime contractor for
convenience without regard for our performance &s a subcontractor,

In some cases, such s contracts received from large 1S, based telecommunication companics, our backlog is computed by
multiplying the most recent month’s contract or revenue by the months remaining under the existing long-term agreements,
which we consider 1o be the best available information for anticipating revenue under those agreements. Also, a significant
portion of the backlog from our LLS. commercial customers relates 1o large, multi-vear contracts to provide state and local
governments (and their agencies) with public safety and location technolagy solutions. Funding of these contrscts is often
subjeet 1o the approval of budgets (for example, on an annual or bi-annual basis). Although funding for these multi-year
contracts are dependent on future budgets being approved, we include the full estimated value of these large, multi-year
conteacts in our backlog given the critical nature of the services being provided and the positive historical experience of our
state and local government customers passing their respective budgets.

There can be no assurance that our backlog will result in actual revenue in any particular period, or at all, particularly during
periods of economic instability. Nor can there be any assurance that any contract included in backlog will be profitable. The
actual amount and timing of any revenue is subject 1o various contingencies, many of which are beyond our control. The actual
recognition of revenue on coniracts included in backlog may never occur or may change because a program schedule could
change; a customer may not follow up with order details (e.g., delivery instructions), fuctuations in currency exchange rates
after an order is placed could cause our products to become oo expensive for a foreign customer: a customer’s program could
be canceled. a contract could be reduced, modified or terminated early due 1o changes in a customer’s priorities: funding may
not be included in future budgets; scival indirect rates being reimbursed on U.S. government coniracts may ultimaiely be less
than those indirect rates included in our initial proposals; ar an option that we had assumed would be exercised is not exercised.
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We record a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based on historical and projected usage trends and other factors,
including the consideration of the amount of hacklog we have on hand at any particular point in time. If arders in our backlog
are canceled or modified, our estimates of future product demand may prove te be inaccurate, in which case we may have
understated the provision reguired for excess and obsolete inventory. In the future, if we determine that our inventory is
overvalued, we will be required 1o recognize such costs in our financial statements at the time of such determination. Any such
charges could be materially adverse to our results of opetations and financial condition.

Our efforts to invoice and collect unbilled accounts receivable may be unsuceessful.

As of July 31, 2025, we had $90.7 million of contract assets recorded in Accounts Receivable, Ner on our Consolidated Balance
Sheet, commonly referved Lo as unbilled receivables. Under LS. generally aceepted accounting principles, such contract assets
generally result from timing differences between {a) when we must recognize revenue on contracts based on our activities o
satisty performance obligations related to products that have no alternative use and for which we have the right to payment in
the event of a contract termination, and (h) when we can invoice our customers under the terms of those associated contracts
{i.¢., which is often based on our i of a mil such as an ce test or physical delivery of o
product). Unbilled receivables remain at risk for collection due to several factors, including but not limited o our inability w
meet invoicing milestones, customer contracts being terminated for default or actual indirect rates on cost reimbursable
contracts ultimately being less than those rates estimated for revenue recognition purposes.

Contract cost growth on vur firm fixed-price contracts, including most of our government contracts, cost reimbursable
type contracts and other contracts that cannot be justified as an increase in contract value due from customers exposes
us to reduced profitability and the potential loss of future business and other risks.

A substantial portion of our products and services are sold under firm fixed-price contracts. Firm fixed-price contracts
inherenily have more risk than flexibly priced coniracts, particularly if' they invelve non-recurring engineering efforts that are
not yet proven. This means that we bear the risk of ip g ing. supply or ather problems, price
increases or other increases in the cost of performance. Future events could result in either upward or downward adjustments o
1those estimates which could negatively impact our profitability. Operating margin could be materially adversely affected when
contract costs that cannot be billed 1o the customer are incurred. This cost growth can occur if initial estimates used for
calculating the coniract price were incorrect, if estimates to complete increase or if we encounter unaniicipated growth in
rescarch and development activity to support our firm fixed-price development contracts. To a lesser extent, we provide
products and services under cost reimbursable type contracts which carry the entire burden of costs exceeding a negotiated
contraet ceiling price. Also, if contract costs grow beyond our of our customer’s expectations, we may not be awarded future
aniicipaied orders from customers relaied w itheir longer-term production needs.

and productivity of labor, the nature and complexity of the work 1o be performed, the effect of change orders, the availal
materials, the effect of any delays in performance, availability and timing of funding from the customer, natural disasters, and
the inability to recover any claims included in the estimates to complete. A significant change in an estimate on one or more
programs could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our business is highly dependent on the budgetary decisions of our government customers, including the U.S,
government (including prime contractors to the U.S. government), and changes in the L.S. government’s fiscal policies
or budgetary priorities may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

During our fiscal vears ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, sales 1o the U5, government (including sales to prime contractors
o the LS, government) were $151.3 million, $182.3 million and $172.0 million, or 30.3%, 33.7% and 31.3% of our
consalidated net sales, respectively. In addition, 12.1% of our existing backlog consists of orders related 1o LS. government
contraets and our Business Outlook depends. in part, on significant new orders froms the US. government, which undergoes
extreme budgetary pressures from time to time.
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We rely on U.S. government spending on our communication salutions, and our receipt of future orders depends in large part
on continued funding by the U.S. government for the programs in which we participate, These spending levels are not generally
correlated with any specific economic cvele, but rmhc'r follow the cydc uf‘genml publlc poliey and polll!cal support for this
type of spending. Government contracts are upon the of appropriations and
Congress” failure to appropriate funds, or Congress’s actions to reduce or delay spending on, or reprioritize its spending away
from, LS. government programs which we participate in, eould negatively affeet our results of operations. Because many of
the items we sell to the LS, government are included in large programs realized over a period of several years, it is difficulr, if
not impossible, to determine specific amounts that are or will be appropriated for our products and services, As such, our
assessments relating to the impact of changes in LS. government spending may prove o be incorrect.

Further. elections have introduced increased regulatory and economic uncertainty, including shifis in the spending priorities of
the ULS, presidential administration and Congress and what challenges budget reductions will present for us and our industry
generally, For example, in Janwary 2025, President Trump announced an exceutive order establishing the Department of
Government Efficiency. or "DOGE," to reform federal government processes and reduce expenditures. The US. government
has and may continue to implement initiatives focused on efficiencies. affordability and cost reductions. such as those pursued
by the DOGE, which may impact the availability of funding for U.S. government customers as a result of the elimination of
departments and personnel, Changes in federal policy by the executive branch and regulatory agencies may vecur over time
through the new presidential administration’s and/or Congress’s policy and personnel changes, which could lead to changes
involving the defense industry. However, the nature, timing and economic and political effects of such potential changes remain
highly uncertain, Any future changes in U.S. policy and the response of the U.S, 1o global geopolitical developments could
affect us in substantial and unpredictable ways, At this time, it is unclear whether and how any furre changes or uncertainty
surrounding future changes will adversely affect our operating environment and, therefore, demand for our products, our
business, financial condition and results of eperations.

The federal debt limit in the U5, continues to be actively debated as plans for long-term national fiscal policy are discussed,
The outcome of these discussions, now influenced by the new presidential administration and changes in Congress following
the 2024 electians, could have a significant impact on defense spending broadly and programs we support in particular
Continued uncertainty around the approval by Congress of future budgets and/or increases in the debt ceiling of the LS. ona
timely basis could delay or result in the loss of contracts for the procurement of our produets and services and we may be asked
or required i0 continue 1o perform for some peried of time on certain of our U8, government contracts, even if the .S,
government is unable to make timely payments, A decrease in U.S. government spending, the climination or curtailment of a
material program in which we are involved. or changes in payment patterns of our customers as a result of changes in ULS,
government spending could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In October 2023, the U.S. federal government entered a shutdown due to a lapse in appmpnmwns lcsuhlug fmm a failure by
Congress to pass a budget or continuing resolution. The shutdown has led to the of
opetations and services, delays in contract awards and renewals and interruptions in agency wnmummumx aml decision-
making processes. Consequently, the ongoing U.S. federal government shutdown has further heightened uncenainty. Prolonged
or repeated shuidowns may resuli in delayed coniract awards, delayed payments and adverse impacis on our results of
operations and or cash flows. We may experience related supply chain delays, drwptlons or mhl:r problems associated with
financial constraints faced by our \np‘plu:n and All of the s and factors could have a
malenal :ui‘am: efreu on our business, results of operations and fnancial condition. Additionally, cost cutting, efficiency
ion, other ility analyses, and changes in budgetary priorities by our governmental customers,
including 1hc U.S. government, could adversely impact our operating segments. We are unable to predict the impact these or
similar events could have on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows, which could disrupt program
exeeution and impact the timing of payments for government customers.

Owur contracts with the LS, government are subject to unique business, commercial and government audit risks.

We depend on the US. government for a significant portion of our revenues. Our contracts with the U.S. government are
subject 1o unique business and commercial risks, ineluding;

«  protest following an award by an unsuccessful bidder. resulting in a stop-work onder:
+  unexpected contract or project lerminalions or suspensions;

. i order i i delays or

«  higher than expected final costs, particulatly relating to software and hardware development. for work performed
under coniracis where we commit io specified deliveries for a fixed-price; and

k]

+  unpredictable cash collections of unbilled receivables that may be subject lo acceptance of contract deliverables by the
customer and contract close out procedures, including government audit and approval of final indirect rates.

Although we take steps to mitigate our risk with respect to contracts with the U.S. government, we may not be ablc to do 50 in
every instance for any of the following ressons, among others:

= OurUS contracts can easily be inated by the U = Our ULS, government contracts and
subcontracts can be mmunatod by the U.S. government for its convenience or upon an event of default by us.

Termination for T could provide us with little to no recourse related to: our potential recovery of
costs incurred or costs o ed, potential expenses and ical profit on work completed prior o
termination.

*  Our US. ontracts are subject to funding by the U.S. Congress - Our ULS contracts are
conditioned upon the continuing approval by Congress of the necessary funding. Congress usually appropriates funds
for @ given program on a fiscal year basis even though contract performance may take more than one year.
Consequently, at the beginning of & major program. the contract may not be fully funded, and additional monies are
normally committed to the contract only if, and when, appropriations are made by Congress for future fiscal vears,
Delays or changes in funding can impact the timing of awards or lead to changes in program content. We obtain
certain of our US. governiment contracts through a competitive bidding process. There can be no assurance that we
will win additional contracts or that actual contracts that are awarded will ultimately be profitable.

*  Failure to comply with government can result i adverse ¢ for us - As a supplier to
the ULS. government, we must comply with including those ung security.
practices and classified information. Failure 10 comply with these regulations and practices could result in fines being
imposed against us, ¢ivil or criminal penalties, termination of contracts, our suspension for a period of time from
cligibility for hidding on, or for award of, new government contracts, or other adverse consequences. If we arc
disqualified as a supplier to government agencies, we would lose most, if not all, of our US. government cuslomers
and revenues from sales of our products would decline significantly.

c = :
perform sensitive government work - Certain ol‘ our U5, government contracts reguire our meh.vym 10 maintain
various levels of security clearances, and we are required to maintain certain facility security clearances. If we cannot
maintain or obtain the required security clearances for our facilities and our employees, or obtain these clearances in a
timely manner, we may be unable to perform certain U.S. govemnment contracts. Further, loss of a facility clearance, or

an employee’s failure to obtain or maintain a security cléarance, could result in a U.S. govemment customer
terminating an existing contract or choosing not to renew a contract. Lack of required clearances could also impede our
ability to bid on or win new U.S. government contracts. This could damage our reputation and adversely afTect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, all of cur U.S. government contracts can be audited by the Defense Contract Audit Agency ("DCAA") and other
U.S. government agencies, and we can be subject to penalties arising from post-award contract audits (sometimes referred to as
a Truth in Negotiations Act or "TINA" audit), cost audits in which the value of our contracts may be reduced or increased costs
o implement corrective actions. If costs are found to be improperly allocated to a specifie contract, those costs will not be
reimbursed, and any such costs already reimbursed would be required to be refunded. Although we record contract revenues
based upon costs we expect to realize upon final audit, we cannot predict the outcome of any such future awdits and
adjustments, and we may be required to materially reduce our revenues or profits upon completion and final negotiation of
audits. Ncgah\c audit hndmgs could also result in termination of a contract, forfeiture of profits, suspension of or refund of
s, fines and ar from LS. government contracting or subcontracting for a period of time,




Our dependence on sales to international customers exposes us to unique business, ial and export
risks.

Sales lur use by international cusmmers {including sales o U.S, companies for inclusion in products that will be sold io

j] I 21.0%, 21.5% and 24.0% of our consolidated net sales for the fiscal years
cended July 31, 2025, 2024 zmd 2023, rﬁpa:tlu:ly. and we expeet that international sales will continue to be a significant portion
of our consolidated net sales for the foreseeable future. These sales expose us o certain risks, including barriers to trade,
declining trade relations, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates (which may make our products less price-competitive),
political, legal, social and economic instability, exposure (o public health epidemics, availability of suitable expon financing,
tarift regulations and other U.S. and forcign regulations that may apply to the export of our products. Some of our husiness
partners also have international aperations und are subject to the risks described above. Even if we are able to successfully
manage the risks of international eperations, our business may be adversely affected if our business partners are not able 10
successfully manage these risks. Although we take steps to mitigate our risk with respect to international sales, we may not be
able to do so in every instance for any of the following reasons, among others:

* Wemay not be able to continue o structure our international contracts (o reduce risk - We attempt to reduce the risk of
doing business in foreign countries by seeking subcontracts with large systems suppliers, contracts denominated in
U.S. dollars, advance or milestone payments and irrevocable letters of credit in our favor. However, we may not be
ahle to reduce the economic risk of doing business in foreign countries in all instances, In such cases, billed and
unbilled receivables relating to international sales are subject to increased collectability risk and may result in
significant write-offs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition. In addition, foreign defense contracts generally contain provisions relating to termination at the convenience
of the government,

¢ We rely ona limited number of ales agents - In some ttries, we rely upon one of o small number of
sales agents, exposing us o risks relating 1o our contracts with, and related performance of, those agems, We attempt
o reduce our risk with respect to sales agents by establishing additional foreign sales offices where it is practical and
by engaging, where practicable, more than ene independent sales representative in a territory, It is our policy to require
all sales agents to operate in compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. Vielations of any of these laws,
rules or regulations, and other business practices that are regarded as unethical, could interrupt the sales of our
products and services, result in the cancellation of orders or the ination of customer ionships, and could

damage our reputation, any of which developments could have a material adverse effeet on our business, resulis of
aperations and financial condition.

es - Certain of
aur produtlc and svslcms mny rcqulrv: i\ccnv:s fmm U s gowcrnml:nl agencies ﬁ:\r export from the LS., and some of
aur pmdmt-. are not permitted to be exported. In addition, in certain cases, LS. export controls also severely limit
technical di: ions, such as i with any persons who are foreign nationals. As a result, in cases.
where we may need a license, our ability (0 compete against a non-U.5, domiciled foreign company that may not be
subject to the same U.S. laws may be materially adversely affected. U.S. laws and regulations applicable to us include
the Arms Export Control Act, the IEEPA, the ITAR, the EAR and the trade sanctions laws and regulations
administered by the U.S, Treasury Department’s OFAC. We are also subject to similar restrictions in other countries.
Additionally, changes in regulatory requirements which could restrict our ability to deliver services to our international
customers, incleding the addition of 2 country to the list of sanctioned countries under the IEEPA or similar legislation
could negatively impact our business. For the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, we conducted no
husiness with states designated as sponsars of terrorism.

. wi ¢ F i = We are subject to the FCPA and other foreign laws
prohibiting eorrupt payments to government officials, which generally bar bribes or unreasonable gifts to foreign
governments or officials. Violations of these laws or regulations could result in significant sanctions, including
disgorgement of profits, fines, criminal sanctions a&umsl us, our officers, our directors, or our emp]oyeLs more
anerous compliance requirements, more extensive ds from export privil or loss of auth needed
to conduct aspects of our international business. A violation of any of the regulations enumerated above could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, These laws also require that we
keep accurate books and records and maintain internal controls and compliance procedures designed to prevent any
such actions. Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed w ensure complisnce with these laws
and lati there can be no that our emp agents, or will not commit acts.
that violate these laws for which we may be ultimately held rcsponslblc.
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*  We must maintain_a_company-wide Office_of Trade Compliance - In the past, we have self-reported violations of
export contral laws or regulations to the LLS. Department of State, Directorate of Defense Trade Controls ("DDTC"),
Department of Commerce ("DoC”), OFAC and similar regulatory awthorities in the jurisdictions where we have
operations, including His Majesty's Reverue & Customs ("HMRC™) in the U.K. We have a pending sel f-disclosure
with the DDTC regarding expoits of certain varants of our modems, as further described in "Notes to Comsalidated
Financial Statements - Nove (14){a) - Ce and Co ncies - Legal Proceedings and Other Matters - U.S.
Expart Maner™ included in "Pari Il - frem 8 Financial Starements and Supplementary Date," included in this Form
10-K. In additien, we have made various commitments to U.S. government agencics that oversee trade md export
matters and have committed that we will maintain certain pol; and p il including maintaini P
wide Chief Trade Compliance Officer and Office of Trade Compliance and conducting ongeing internal .nsessmcnm
and reporting of any future violations to those agencies, Even though we take precautions to avoid engaging in
ransactions that may violate U.S, expont control laws or regulations and their foreign counterpants, including trade
sanctions, those measures may not be effective in every instance, I it is determined that we have violated export
control laws or regulations or trade regulations in any jurisdictions, civil and criminal penalties could apply, and we
may suffer reputational harm.

*  We are subject to future export compliance audits - We continue to implement policies und procedures to ensure that
we comply with all applicable export control laws and regulations. We may be subject to future compliance audits that
uncover improper or illegal activities that would subject us to material remediation costs, civil and criminal fines and/
or penaliies and/or an injunction. In addition, we could suffer serious reputational harm if’ allegations of impropriety
were made against us. Each of these outcomes could, individually or in the aggregate, have a matenial adverse cffect
on our business, results of operations and financial condation. The absence of on n
other countries may adversely affect our competitive position. In addition, in order to ship our products into and
implement our services in some couniries, the products must satisiy the technical requiremenis of that particular
country. If we were unable to comply with such requirements with respect to a significant quantity of our products, our
sales in those countries could e restricted, which could have a material adverse cffect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition

- W i it i i = The U.S. has continued to
adjust its trade policies in recent years, including adding new or modifying existing tariffs on imports, in some cases
significanly, and other restrictive trade poli Although some of these farifs have been puused or reduced, there is
significant unceriainty as trade negotiations are ongeing and outcomes are unpredictable. Our inability to effectively
manage the negative impacts of U.S. and foreign trade policies, including, in connection with our business with
customers outside of the U.S. or with newly sanctioned entities could adversely affect our business and financial
results,

A change in our relationship with our large wireless carrier customers could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial cond

Although we have a long history of providing services to many of our wircless carrier partners, a change in purchasing or
procurement strategies by a wircless carrier partner could result in the loss of business from that partner. Additionally, from
time to ime, we routinely perform services without 2 multi-period contract while we negotiate new and extended contract terms
and pricing. These negotiations are complex and may take long periods of time. Even when we successfully negotiate a multi-
period contract, our wireless carrier contracts provide for terminations with notice and provide a mechanism for the wireless
carrier to rencgotiate lower fees and/or change services. Fee pressure from these carriers is constant and ongoing. Thus, even
when we obtain a multi-period contract term, our revenues could be suddenly and materially reduced.

From time io time, itrs offer that has fu similar w ours for free, under different business models.
Competition from such free offerings may reduce our revenue and harm our business. 1f our wireless carrier partners or our
ition can offer such to their subscribers or customers for free, they may clect to cease their relationships with

us, alter or reduce the manner or extent 1o which they market or offer our services or require us to substantially reduce our
subscription fees or pursue other business sirategies that may not prove successful for us and could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition,




If our wireless carrier partners change the pricing and other terms hy which they offer our products to their end-
customers or do not continue to provide our services at all or remegotiate lower fees with us, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be suddenly and materially adversely affected.

We generate a significant portion of our revenue from customers that are wireless carriers. In addition, a portion of our revenue
is derived from subscription fees that we receive from our wireless carrier partners for end-users who subseribe 1o our service
on a standalone basis or in a bundle with other services. Future revenue will depend on the pricing and quality of those services
and subscriber demand for those services, which may vary by market, and the level of subscriber turnover experienced by our
wireless carrier partners, If subscriber tummover increases more than we anticipate, our financial results could be materially
adverscly affected.

Poor performance in or disruptions of the services included in our advanced communication solutions could harm our
reputation, delay market acceptance of our services and subject us to liabilities (including breach of contract claims brought by
our customers and third-party damages claims hrought by end-users). Our wircless carrier agreements and certain customers
reguire us to meet specific including i uptime or be subject to penalties.

If we are unable to meet contractual requirements with our wireless carrier partners, they could terminate our agreements or we
may be required to refund a portion of monthly subscriptions fees they have paid us.

Disputes with our subcontractors or key suppliers or their inability to deliver on a timely basis, could cause delays in
our shipments,

Our subcontractors and key suppliers are essential members of our team. Nevertheless, we may occasionally have commercial
disputes with them (e.g.. over the quality, timeliness or cost of their products or payment patierns in connection with rendered
goods and services). Suppliers may also mkc steps 10 revise paymenl terms (e.g., by requiring payment in advance of delivery
or payment mil ) that may neg y impact the timing of required for the assembly of our
products or services rendered in support of our programs, Additionally, our subcontractors and suppliers may experience
financial d ties which may impact their ability to execute against their contractual commitments and delay or otherwise
disrupt deliveries. In such instances, we may not receive the components or subsystems for which we have contracted. Taken
together, each of the risks ser forth herein may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition

External events outside our control may disrupt our supply chain. Natural disasters, pandemics, extreme weather conditions,
legislative or regulatory changes may all impact the performance of our supplier base, Our subcontractors and suppliers may
alse, i tarn, be unable to maintain the quality of the materials they receive from their respective suppliers,

Our relianee on a single partner o source critical parts (ie., where we are unable to develop a critical redundant source of
supply) may impair our ability to produce and deliver our products. This negative impact could be even greater where we are
required 1o comply with sourcing requirements within our U5, government contracts regarding the purchase of counterfeit or
otherwise non-compliant parts or materials. In some ms:sncn, where we rely on supplier certifications of compliance with
these laws and an improper or ine may adversely impact our production capability.

Our estimates regarding future warranty obligations may change based on a variety of factors, impacting future cost of
revenue.

The solutions we provide customers are complex. We cannot ensure that our extensive testing of our solutions will detect all
defects. Quality issues reported by our customers for products covered under warranty could adversely impact our reputation
and negatively affect our operating results. If signifi warranty obli arise due to reliability or quality issues arising
from such defects, our reputation and operating results could be negatively impacted.

‘Stratesic Growth Risk

‘We face a number of risks relating to the expected long-term growth of our business. Our business and operating results

may be negatively impacted if we are unable to manage this growth,

Our business is uniguely subject to certain risks related 1o its long term growth, These risks include;

= We may not be ultimatel 1 in activities - Carrying out our transformation plan, including

portfolio reshaping, is 2 complex undertaking. Managing the restructuring of multiple production facilities and their
attending employee populations is difficult and may negatively impact business prospects in the short and long term.
Additionally, in the course of evaluating our portfolio, we may determine that one or both of our reporting units has an
estimated fair value below its camrying value and conclude that goodwill in such reporting unit is impaired.

+  The loss of key technical and'or management personnel in the course of restructutis ‘.E.MCQU}Q _adversely affect our
business - Carrying oui our transformation plan, including porifolio reshaping, will require the continued contribuiions
of key technical and management personnel. The management skills that have been appropriate for us in the past may
not continue to be sppropriate if we grow and diversify. Filling new positions may be difficult in the current
competitive labor market. Moreover, many of our key and L(-chmcal management personnel would be difficult 1o
replace and are not subject to pl oar We currently have research and
development employees in areas that are located a great distance away from our US. headquarters and some work out
of their respective homes. Managing remote product development opcrations is difficult and we may not be able to
manage the employees in these remote centers successfully. Our expected growth and future success v.:i] :Inpemi in
large part, upon our ability to atract and retain highly qualified i i sales and
Competition for such personnel from other jes, academic instituti entities and olher
organizations is intensc. Although we believe that we have heen successful to date in recruiting and retaining key
personnel, we may not be successful in attructing and retaining the personnel we will need to grow and operate
profitably, especially in the current competitive labor marker.

W o lc to improv 1 wii icipats - The future growth of
our business may place significant demands on our managerial, operational, production and financial resources. In
order to manage that growth, we must be prepared to improve and expand our management, eperational and financial
systems and controls, as well as our production capabilities. We alse need to continue to recruit and retain personnel
and train and manage our employes base. We must carefully manage research and development capabilities and
production and inventory levels to meet product demand, new product introductions and product and technology
transitions. If we are not able w timely and effectively manage our growth and maintain the quality standards required
by wur existing and potential customers, it could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. Additionally, in light of various factors including but not limited to our announced transformation
plan, we have postponed or re-prioritized certain initiatives {e.g.. our drive toward a common company-wide ERP
tool}, which may result in certain inefficiencies or increased costs in the future.

* Our markess are highly competirive and there can be no asswranes thar we can continig o compere effectively - The
markets for our p'rodwcts are highly competitive, There can be no assurance that we will be able o continue o compete
successfully on price or other terms, or that our competitors will not develop new technologies and products that arce
more effective than our own. We expeet the DoD's increased use of commercial off-the-shelf products and
wmwnen[i in military i will new il 1o ener the market. Also, although the

ion of next i i services is in its early stages in many developing countries, we
believe competition will continue to intensify as businesses and foreign governments realize the market potential of
such services, Many of our competitors have financial, technical, marketing, sales and distribution resources greater
than ours. We continue (o see requests for proposals from large wireless carriers for sole-source solutions and have
responded 1o several such requests. In order to induce retention of existing customer contracts and ebiain business on a
sale-source basis, we may ultimately agree to adjusi pricing on a retroactive basis, If our sole-source proposals are
rejected in favor of a competitor’s praposal, it could result in the termination of existing contracts, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.




* We may not be able to obtain sufficient components to meet expected demand - Our dependence on component
furnished as key suppliers and the core manufacturing expertise of
aur high- mlumc technelogy manufacturing center located in Arizona exposes us to risk, Although we obtain cenain
components and subsystermns from a single source or a limited number of sources, we believe that most components.
and subsystems ane available from alternative suppliers and subcontractors. During the past several vears, as a result of
averall increased industry-wide demand, Jead times for many components have increased as well as freight costs. In
addition, threats of or actual tariffs, disruptions in shipping vessels having access to normal trade rowtes andior
unexpected port closures could limit our ability to obtain certain pants on a cost-effective basis, or at all. A significant
interruption in the delivery of such items could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. Similarly, if our high-volume technology manufacturing center located in Arizona is unable to
produce sufficient product or maintain quality, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
aperations and financial condition.

+ Our ability 1o maintain affordable credit insurance may become more difficult - In the normal course of our business,
we purchase credit insurance to mitigate some of our domestic and international credit risk. Although credit insurance
temains generally available, upon renewal, it may become more expensive to obiain or may not be available for
existing or new customers in certain international markets and it might require higher deductibles than in the past. If
‘we acquire 4 company with a different customer base, we may not be able to obtain credit insurance for those sales. As
siuch, there can be no assurance that, in the future, we will be able to obtain credit insurance on a basis consistent with
our past practices,

Loss of our executive officers or other key personnel or other changes to our management team could disrupt sur
operations and growth plans or harm our business,

We depend on the elTorts of eur executive ofTicers and certain key personnel. Any unplanned tumnover er owr failure to develop
an adequate succession plan or business continuity plan for one or more of our executive officers, including our Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQ™), or other key positions could have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition,

On January 13, 2023, we announced that Mr. Kenneth Traub was appeinted to serve as our President and CEQ, in addition 1o
his role as our Chairman. The loss or limited availability of the services of one or more of our executive officers or other key
personnel, or aur inability to recruit and retain qualified executive officers or other key personnel in the future, could, at least
remporarily, have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition, Leadership transitions can be inherently
dnﬁ'l-cul[ to manage, and an inadequate transition may cause disruption to our busincss and growth plans, including to our

Lationships with our and employees.

We have indebtedness outstanding under a Credit Facility and Subordinated Credit Facility, and may incur substantial
additional indebtedness in the future, We may not be able to service our debt obligations in the future and we must
maintain complianee with various covenants that impoese restrictions on our business.

On June 17, 2024, we cntered into & senior eredit facility with a syndicate of lenders, which was subsequently amended on
October 17, 2024, March 3, 2025 and July 21, 2025 (the "Credit Facility™). The ('red;l Facility consists of a term loan and an
asset-based revolver loan. As of July 31, 2025 and N ber 7, 2025, total ing under the Credit Facility
were $133.9 million and $135.0 million, respectively. See Notes to Consolidared Financial Statements - Note (8) Credir
Facility included in Pare 11 - lem 8. Firancial Siatements and Supplementary Data for more information,
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On October 17, 2024, we entered into a subordinated credit facility with the existing holders of our convertible preferred stock,
which was subsequently amended on March 3, 2025 and July 21, 2025 (the “Subordinated Credit Facility™). As of July 31, 2025
and November 7, 2025, total borrowings outstanding under the Subordinated Credit Facility were $100.1 million and $101.5
million, respectively. Such amount does not include the $25.7 million make-whole amount associated with the 365.0 million
portion of the Subordinated Credit Facility. See Notes ta Ce icdeuted Financia! - Note (9) Subordi ! Credit
Facitity included in Part 1 - ftem 8. Financial Staiements and Supplementary Data for more information

If we do not have sufficient funds to repay our debt obligations when due, either at maturity or sconer under certain
circumstances, it may be necessary o refinance our debt through additional debt or equity linancings. If, at the time of any such
refinancing, prevailing interest rates or other factors result in higher interest rates on such refinancing, increases in interest
expense could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, if we are
not able to obtain favorable terms pursuant to any such refinancing, the size of our credit facilities could be reduced, more
restrictive covenants could be imposed on our business and features of our credit facilities could otherwise be aliered or
eliminated.

Our credit facilities contain various affirmative and negative covenants that may restrict our ability o, among other things,
ingur additional indebtedness, permit liens on our property, change the nature of our business, transact business with affiliates
andfor merge or consolidate with any other person or sell or convey certain of our assets o any one person. We anticipate
maintaining eompliance with the terms and financial covenants in our credit facilities for the foreseeable future: however, there
can be no assurance that we will be able to meet these covenants.

Further, our ability t comply with covenants, terms of and conditions on our credit facilities may be affected by events beyond
aur control. Failure to comply with covenants could result in an event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could accelerate
our repayment obligations and permit the agents under our Credit Facility to enforce on the collateral pledged to the secured
parties thereunder. The Subordinated Credit Facility includes a cross-default provision, whereby a default under the Credit
Facility constitutes a default under the Subordinated Credit Facility, Our substantial debt obligations could impede, restrict or
delay the implementation of our business strategy or prevent us from entering into transactions that would otherwise benefit our
business. For example:

= we may he required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on our
indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flows for other purposes, including but not limited to
business development efforts, capital expenditures, dividends (to the extent applicable) or stralegic acquisitions;

= ifwe are not able to generate sufficient cash flows to meet our substantial debt service obligations or w fund our other
liquidity needs, we may have to take acuans Etbcl’l ag selling assets or raising additional equity or reducing or delaying
capiial i sirategic i and joini ventures, restructuring our debi and other capital-

intensive activitics;

= we may not be able o fund future working capital, capital investments and other business activities;
= wemay not he able to make certain other distributions;

+  we may become mare vulnerable in the event of a downtumn in our business or a worsening of general ceonamic or
industry-specific conditions; and
= our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry may be limited, thereby placing us

at a competitive 12 o our that have less indebied,

Moreover, we may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future to fund acquisitions or to fund other activitics for
general business purposes. 17 additional new debt is added to the current or planned debt levels, or if we are unable to obtamn
financing on favorable terms, the related risks thar we now face could intensify. A substantial increase in our indebsedness
could also have a negative impact on our credit ratings. In this regard, failure 1o maintain our credit ratings could adversely
affeet the interest rate available to us in future financings, as well as our liquidity, competitive position and aceess to capital
markets, including for bonding requirements. Any decision regarding future borrowings will be based on the facts and
circumstances existing at the time, including market conditions and our credit ratings.




Divestitures of portions of our business in the course of carrying out our transformation plan and reshaping our
product portfolio could prove difficult to carve out, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value or adversely affect
operating results or the market price of our common stock.

As part of our transformation plan, we are exploring strategic alternatives for our various business and product lines, including
the potential sale or divestiture of assets or businesses.

Future divestitures may result in the use of significant amounts of cash, increases to amortization expense and future write-offs
of assets including intangibles, Divestiture related activities also involve risks that include failing to;

= abtain competitive bids for our assets:

»  accurately forecast the financial impact of the ion, including. ing charges and i
+ support products and services, rescarch and . sales and ing and other of during the
pendency of disposition activity;
*  retain key management personnel and other key employees; or
* retain customers.
Divestiture activity could also:
+  divert management's attention away from the operation of our businesses;
= result in signifi goodwill and i bl ite-offs in the event a d it patively impacts our future results

of operations and or cash flows;

* increase expenses, including ion expenses i with the
+  result in contract termination labilities with customers and or vendors; or
»  result in insolvencies of the entities being divested.

There can be no assurance that our transformation plan, including our pursuit of strategic altematives, will be successful within
the anticipated time frame, or at all. There can also be no assurance that such activity will not adversely affect our business,
results of operations or financial condition.

Our investments in recorded goodwill and other intangible assets could be impaired as a result of future business
conditions, a deterioration of the global economy or if we change our reporting unit structure for any reason.

As of July 31, 2025, goodwill recorded on our C Balance Sheet £204.6 million. Additionally, as of
July 31, 2025, net intangibles recorded on our Conmsolidated Balance Sheer agpregated 51731 million. See Nowes 1w
Consolidated Financial Siwtements - Note §13) Long-lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Now (16) - Intangible Assets
included in Pars If - Item 8. Financlal Statements and Supplementary Data for more information, including a discussion of
recent impairments recognized in our Satellite and Space Communications segment.

el
For purposes of reviewing impai and the y of goodwill and other intangible assets, our Satellite and Space
Communications and Allerium segments cach constitute a reporting unit, as such term is defined by Financial Accounting

Stundards Board ("FASE") Standards Codification ("ASC") 350", - Goodwill and Other,” and we must
make various assumptions in determining their estimated fair values. We may, in the future, change the way we define our
reporting units, which would require us to perform a goodwill impairment test and possibly record impairment charges,

Tn accordance with FASB ASC 350, "Jnsangibles - Goodwill and Other," we perform a goodwill impairment analysis at least
annually {in the first quarter of each fiscal year), unless indicators of impaitment exist in interim periods. IF we fail the
q of goadwill {"q "1, we would be required to recognize an impairment
loss equal to the amount that a reporting unit's carrying value exceeded its fair value; however, any loss recognized should not
exceed the towl ameunt of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit,

On August 1, 2025 (the first day of fiscal 2026), we performed our annual quantitative assessment using market participant
assumptions to determine if the fair value of each of our reporting units with goodwill exceeded its carrying value, Ultimately,
based on our quantitati Iuation, we de d that our Satellite and Space Communications and Allerium reporting units
had estimased fair values in excess of their camrying values of at least 19.9% and 7.3%, respectively, and concluded that our
goodwill was not impaired and that neither of our two reporting units was at risk of failing the quantitative assessment,

It is possible that, during the remainder of fscal 2026 or beyond, business conditions {both in the U.S. and internati ly)
could deteriorate from the current state, our current or prosp could ially postpone, reduce or even forgo
purchases of our products and services to a greater extent than we currently anticipate, or our common stock price could further
fluctuate. A significant decline in our customers' spending that is greater than we anticipate or a shift in funding priorities may
also have a negative effect on future orders, sales, income and cash flows und we might be required to perform o quantitative
assessment during fiscal 2026 or bevond. 1f assumed net sales and cash flow projections are not achieved in future periods. our
common stock price significantly declines from current levels, and Jor we complete certain actions related to our transformation
plan, our Satellite and Space Communications and Allerium reporting units could be at risk of failing the quantitative
assessment and goodwill and intangibles assigned to the respective reparting units could be impaired,

In any event, we are required to perform the next annual goodwill impairment analysis on August 1, 2026 (the start of our fiscal
2027). If our assumptions and related estimates change in the future, or if we ¢hange our reporting unit structure or other events
and circumstances change (¢.g., a sustained decrease in the price of our common stock (considered on both absolute terms and
relative to peers)), we may be required to record impairment charges when we perform these tests, or in ather future periods.

Net fitangibies with Finite Lives

Similar w0 goodwill, we also assess the recoverubility of the camying value of our long-lived assets, including identifiable
intangible assets with finite useful lives, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of an asset or asset group to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of an asset or asset group to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset
or asset group, If the carrying amount of the asset or asset group exceeds its estimated fuwre cash flows, an impairment charge
is recognized in the smount by which the carrying amount of the asset or asset group exceeds the fair value of the asset or asset
group. Based on our fiscal 2025 assessment, we helieve that the carrying values of our net intangible assets were recoverahle as
of July 31, 2025, Any impairment charges that we may recard in the furure could be material to our results of operations and
financial condirion.




Cybersecurity Risks

We could be negatively impacted by a system failure, lack of or failure of redundant system components, security
breach through cyber-attack, cyber intrusion or otherwise, by other significant disruption of our IT networks or those
we operate for certain customers, or third-party data center facilities, servers and related systems. If any such events
we may have to reimburse our customers for damages that they may have incurred, pay contract penalties, or
provide refunds.

We face risks of cybersecurity threats ranging from. ransomware and denial-of-service, 1o antacks from more advanced and
persisient, highly organized adversaries, including nation state actors, which sarget the defense industrial base and other critical
infrastructure scetors, Our cybersecurity management team, also referred to as “InfoSce,” manages our overall information
security strategy, InfoSee partners elascly with our Technology, nnovation & Cyber Committee of the Board of Directors 1o
oversee and manage cybersecurity-related risks. More tactically, we routinely audil our systems and practices against the
DFARS and Cybersecurity Maturity Model Certification ("CMMC")} program, DoD s cvtuwcunw requirements for handling
government contracts and Controlled Unclassified Information ("CUI™), resp h . similar to all panies in
our industry, we are under constant cyber-attack and are subject to an ongoing risk nf security breaches and disruptions of our
IT networks and related systems, including third-party data center fucilities, whether through sctual breaches. eyber-attacks.
(including ransomware) or cyber intrusions via the Internet, malware, computer viruses, attachments to e-mails, persons inside
our organization or persons with access to systems inside our organization. We also maintain dambases with private information
regarding our customers and our emplayees. Actual security breaches or disruption, particularly through eyber-attack or cyber
intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists, have increased in recent vears and have
become more complex. Our IT networks and systems, as well as third-party data cemter facilities, have been and. we believe,
will continue to be under constant atiack. We face an added risk of a security breach or other significant disruption to certain of
our equipment used on some of our customers' IT networks and related systems which may involve managing and protecting
information relating to public safety agencies, wireless carriers as well as national security and other sensitive government
funetions. Many of our systems have, or are required to have, system redundancies and back-up: in some cases, we may not
have sufficient redundancy and/or redundancy and/or back-ups may fail. We may incur significant cosis w prevent and respond
to system failures, failure of redundant system components, actual breaches, cyber-attacks and other systems disruptions.

As a communications company, and panticularly as o government contractor and a provider of public safety and location
technologies (including 911 hosted systems), we face a heightened risk of a security breach or disruption from actual breaches,
cyber-attacks and other threats to gain unauthorized access to our and our customers’ proprietary or classified information on
our IT networks, third-party data center facilities and related systems and to certain of our equipment used on some of our
customers’ 1T networks and related systems. These types of information, IT networks and related systems are eritical w0 the
operation of cur business and essential (o our ability to perform day-to-day operations, and, in some cases, are critical 1o the
operations of certain of our customers. There can be no assurance that our security efforts and measures will be effective or that
actual security breaches or disruptions will not be successful or damaging. Techniques used in such breaches and cyber-attacks
are constantly evolving and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, and in some cases are designed not 1o
be detected and, in fact, may not be detected. In some cases, the resources of foreign governments may be behind such attacks.
Accordingly, we may be unable to anticipate these techni or to impl adequate security barriers or other preventative
measures, and thus it is virtually impaossible for us to entirely mitigate this risk.

A security breach or ather significant disruption (including 25 a result of a lack of redundancy andor failure of such
redundancy) involving these types of information, 1T networks and related systems could. ameng other things:

*  Disrupt the proper functionality of these networks, data center facilitics and systems and therefore our operations and’
or those of certain of our customers;

*  Result in the unauthorized access to, and du[ru(:uon. loss, thefl, misappropriation or release ni proprietary.
confidential, sensitive or otherwise valuable & of ours or pur ncluding and
trade secrets, which others could usc to compete against us or for disruptive, destructive or otherwise harmful purposes
and eutcomes;

+  Compromise national security and other sensitive government functions;

+ Require significant management attention and resources to remedy the damage that results and delay progress on other
business objectives;

* Reguire us to make payments 1o our customers 1o reimburse them for damages, pay them penalties or provide refunds;
and

«  Damage our reputation with our customers {particularly agencies of the U.S. government) and the public generally.

In addition, the cost of continually defending against cyber-amtacks and actual breaches has increased in recent years and future
cosis and any or all of the foregoing could have a maierial adverse effect on our business, resulis of operations and financial
condition. For example, as vulnerability standards evolve, our customers may attempt to pass along development and
certification costs to us even following the deployment of our products, which may negatively impact our financial
performance.

The measures we have implemented to secure information we collect and store or enable access to may be breached,
which could cause us o breach agreements with our partners and cxpose us to potential investigation and penalties by
authorities and potential claims for contract breach, product liability damages, eredits, penalties or termination by
persons whose information was disclosed.

We take reasonable steps to protect the security, integrity and confidentiality of the information we collect and store and 10
prevent unauthorized access to third-party data to which we enable access through our products, but there is no guarantee that
inadvertent or unautherized disclosure will not occur or that third parties will not gain unawthorized access despite our efforts, 1T
such wnauthorized disclosure or access does occur, we may be required to notify regulators, customers and persons whose
information was disclosed or aceessed under existing and proposed laws. Because the technigues used to obtain wnauthorized
access, disable or degrade service, or sabolage systems ﬁhangt Frequently and are often not recognized until launched against a
target, we may be unable to these Il adequate pi measures. In the event of such
disclosure, we also may be subject to claims of breach of contract, investigation and penalties by n:gulalory authorities and
patential claims by persons whose information was disclosed. If there is a security breach or if there is an inappropriaie
disclosure of any of these types of information, we could be exposed 1o investigations, litigation, fines and penalties.
Remediation of and liability for loss or misappropriation of end user or employee personal formation could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Even if we were not held liable for such event, a
security breach or inappropriate disclosure of personal, private or confidential information could ham our reputation and our
relationships with current and potential customers and end users, Even the perception of a sccurity risk could inhibit market
acceptance of our products and services. We may be required to invest additional resources to protect against damage caused by
any actual or perceived distuptions of our services, We may also be required 1o provide information about the location of an end
user's mobile device to government authorities, which could result in public perception that we are providing the government
with intelligence information and deter some end users from using our services. Any of these developments could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condat

Legal, § ; and Litigation 1

Changes in U.S. federal, state and local and foreign tax law could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The laws, rules, and regulations dealing with U.S. federal, state and local and foreign income laxation are constantly under
review by persons invelved in the legislative process and by the Internal Revenue Service and the U.S. Treasury Department, as
well as similar agencies of international governments. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have immediate and‘or

could y affect us or holders of our common stock. In recent years, many changes have been
m.ul: L] upplu.ubIL tax laws, such as those caused by the reeent enactment of the One Big Br:mlhﬁll Bill Act in the U5,
{"OBBBA"), and changes are likely 1o continue 1o occur in the future. It cannot be predicted whether, when, in what form, or
with what effective dates, new fax laws may be enacied, or regulations and rulings may be enacted, promulgated or issued
under existing or new tax laws, which could result in an increase in our tax liability or require changes in the manner in which
we operate in order to minimize or mitigate any adverse effects of changes in tax law or in the interpretation thereof.

Dur LS. federal, state and local and foreign tax returns are subject to audit and a resulting tax assessmenl or snllemenl
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of ions and financial iti
is required in determining the provision for income taxes.

The final determination of tax examinations and any related litigation could be materially different than what is reflected in
historical income tax provisions and accruals.

Our U8, federal income tox retums for fscal 2022 through 20235 are subject o potential futore Internal Revenue Service
{"IRS"} audit. None of our state income tax rewurns prior to fiscal 2021 are subject to audit. Although adjustments relating o
past audits of our federal and state income tax returns were immaterial, a tax asscssment or settlement for other periods or other
Jurisdictions that may be selected for future audit could have & material adverse effect on our business, consolidated results of
operations and financial condition.
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We may be subject ta environmental liabilities.

We engage in manufacturing and are subject 1o a variety of local, staie and federal laws and regulations relating to the storage,
discharge, handling, emission, generation, manufacture and disposal of toxic or other used to

our products. We are also subject to the Restriction of Hazardous Substance ("RoHS") durccuv: which restricts the use of lead,
mercury and other substances in electrical and electronic products. The I':ulure to comply with current or future environmental
requirements could result in the i i of ial fines, i i alteration of our manufaciuring
processes, cessation of operations or reputational damage that could have a mmenal adverse effect on our business, resulis of
operations and financial condition. In addition, the handling, treatment or disposal cF hx?ardnus substances by us or our
predecessors may have resulted, or could in the future result, in ination requiring i or jation, or lead to
other liabilities, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The success of our business is dependent on compliance with FCC rules and regulations and similar foreign, state and
local laws and regulations.

Many of our products are i into wireless systems that must comply with various U.S. government
regulations, including those of the FCC, as well as similar state, local and international laws and regulations. As a result, our
business faces increased risks including the following:

*  We must obwin various licenses from the FCC - We operate FCC licensed teleports that are subject (o the
Communications Act of 1834, as amended. or the FOC Act, and the rules and regulations of the FOC. We cannot
guarantee that the FOC will grant renewals when our existing licenses expire, nor are we assured that the FCC will not
adopt new or modified technical requirements that will require us to incur expenditures 1o modify or upgrade our
cquipment s a condition of retaining our licenses. We may, in the future, be required 1o seck FCC or other
government approval if foreign ownership of our stock exceeds certain spec eriteria. Failure to comply with these
policies could result in an order to divest the offending foreign ownership, fines, denial of license remewal and/or
license revocation proceedings against the licensee by the FCC, or denial of cemain conwacts from other ULS,
government agencics.

+ Weare d dent on the ion and ility of fi pectrum - Adverse regulatory changes related to the

1l and i ity of frequency spectrum and in the military standards and specifications that define the

cument satellite networking environment, could materially harm our business by: (i) restricting development efforts by

us amj our customers, (i1} making our current products less altractive or ohsolete, or (iif) increasing the opportunity for

. The inei demand for wireless communications has exerted pressure on regulatory bodies

worldwide to adopt new standards and reassign bandwidth for these products and services, The reduced number of

available frequencies for other products and services and the time delays inherent in the government approval process

of new products and services have caused, and may continue to canse, our customers to cancel, postpone or reschedule

their installation of communications systems mcluding their satellite, over-the-horizon microwave, or lerrestrial line-

of-sight microwave communication systems. This. in wen, could have a material adverse effect on our sales ot
products o our customers, Changes in, or our failure to comply with, applicable laws and lations could i

adversely harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

= Qur future growth is d il in_part, on ing NG-911 products - The FOC requires, among other
things, that certain location information be provided to network operators for public safety answering points when a
subscriber makes a 911 call. Techical failures, greater regulation by foderal, state or forcign governments or
regulatory authorities. time delays or the significant costs associ with ping or installing improved location
technology could slow down or siop the deployment of our mobile location products. If deployment of improved
location technology is delayed, stopped or never occurs, market acceptance of our products and services may be
materially adversely affected. Because we rely on some third-party location technology instead of developing all of the
technology ourselves, we have little or no influence over its improvement. The technology emplayed with NG-911
services generally antici a migration o int protocel ("IP”) based ication. Since many are
proficient in IP-based communication protocols, the barriers 1o entry o providing NG-911 products and services are
lower than for traditional switch-based protocols. If we are unable to develop unique and proprietary solutions that are
superior to and/or more cost effective than other market offers, our 911 business could get replaced by new market
entrants, resulting in a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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«  Under the FCC's mandate, our 911 business and emerging 988 ities are on_state_and _local
governments - Under the FCC's mandate, wireless carriers are required to. prmlrlc 911 services only if state and local
governments request the service, As part of a state or local government's decision to reguest 911, they have the
authority to develop cost recovery mechanisms. However, cost recovery is no longer a condition to wireless carriers’
obligation to deploy the service. I state and local governments do not widely request that 911 services be provided or
we become subject to significant pressures from wireless carriers with respect to pricing of 911 services, our 211
business would be harmed and future growth of our business would be reduced,

The 988 Suicide & Crisis Lifeline has seen both growth and challenges as it continues to be rolled out across the ULS.
The U.S. federal government has allocated funding to thi tiative, earmarked for expanding services, including
regional call centers and crisis intervention teams. This funding is aimed at distributing emergency-type
communications more efficiently, by providing a direct response for mental health crises. Some states, like Michigan,
California and Washington, have launched their own versions of 988 services with additional state and federal support.

However, despite these efforts, the system is still far from fully opmmzed. (.hal]em,es include saffing shumges.
particularly for behavioral healih professionals, and the need for tech p , like % o
better conneet callers with the appropriate local services. Some states are alsa exploring sustainable Funding models,
such as implementing 988 surcharges similar 1o those used for 911 services, 1o ensure long-term viability,

At the U.S. federal level, the 988 Implementation Act introduced in 2023 secks to expand access further by requiring
health insurance plans o cover crisis services and addressing gaps in care for populations like those an Medicare. This
law is expected o enhance the reach and effectiveness of the lifeline by building out a more comprehensive mental
health response inff tailored to each ity’s needs.

Despite these advancements, experts note that the system will take vears to fully optimize as it contends with hoth
logistical and workforce challenges across the country. Some local initiatives, like those in Mi n,
seeing increased call volumes and struggling o keep pace with demand, particularly for youth mental health
services,

Overall, the 988 lifeline is seen us a critical step in improving mental health responses, but it faces significant hurdles
in achieving full efficacy in the coming vears. If deployment of those funds is delayed, stopped or never occurs, our
future prospects may be negatively impacted.

Regulation of the mobile communications industry and VoIP is evolving, and unfavorable changes or our failure to
comply with existing and petential new legislation or regulations could harm our business and operating results.

As the mobile communications industry continues 1o evolve, we believe preater regulation by federal, state or foreign
governments or regulatory authorities is likely and we face certain risks including:

= We must adhere to existing and potentially new privacy rules - We believe increased regulation is likely in the area of
datn privacy, and laws and regulations applying to the solicitation, collection, processing or use of personal or
consumer information could affect our customers’ ability to use and share data, potentially reducing our ability to
utilize this information in the resale of certain of our products. In order for mobile location products and services to
function properly, wireless carriers must locate their subseribers and store ion on each s *s location.
Although data regarding the location of the wireless user resides only on the wireless carrier's systems, users may not
feel comlbriable with the idea that the wireless carrier knows and can track their location. Carriers will need to obtain
subscribers’ permission to gather and use the subscribers’ personal information, or they may not be able to provide
customized mobile location services which those subseribers might otherwise desire, If subscribers view mobile
location services as an annoyance or a threat to their privacy, that could reduce demand for our products and services
and have a material adverse effect on our business, resulls of operations and financial condition.
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Over the past several years, there have been a number of laws and regulations enacted that affect companies.
conducting business on the Internet. including the European General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR"). The
GDPR imposes certain privacy related requirements on companies that receive or process personal data of residents of
the European Union that are currently different than those in the U.S. and include significamt penalties for non-
compliance. Similarly, there are a number of state privacy laws, as well as legislative proposals in the U.S., at both the
federal and state level, that could impose new obligations in areas affecting our business, such as liability for pelsom]
data protection. In addition, some countries are considering or have passed legislarti ! ing data p
requirements or requiring local storage and processing of dwta or similar requirements that could increase the cost and
complexity of delivering our services. Our costs to comply with the GDPR as well any other similar laws and
tegulations that emerge may negatively impact our business.

In addition, privacy legislation may regulate the use of anificial intelligence and machine learning within our product
development, testing, deployment, or other business functions, including the use of algorithms and automated
processing, in ways that could materially affect our business, or which may lead to significant increases in the cost of
compliance.

*  We may face increased costs in with health and safety for mobile devices - If
wireless handsets pose health and safety risks, we may be subject 10 new regulations and demand for our products and
services may decrease. Media reports have suggested that certain radio frequency emissions from wirgless handsets
may be linked to various health concerns, including cancer, and may interfere with various electronic medical devices,
including hearing aids and pacemakers, Concemns over radio frequency emissions may have the cffect of discouraging
the use of wireless handsets, which would decrease demand for our services. In recent years, the FCC and foreign
regulatory agencies have updated the guidelines and methods they use for evaluating radio frequency emissions from
radio equipment, uding wireless handsets. In addition, interest groups have requested that the FCC investigare
claims that wircless technologies pose health concerns and cause interference with airbags, hearing aids and other
medical devices. There also are some safety risks associated with the use of wircless handsets while driving. Concerns.
over these safety risks and the effect of any legislation that may be adopted in response to these risks could limit our
ability to market and sell our products and services, which could negatively impact our business, consolidated results
of operations and financial condition.

»  The regulatory environment for VoIP services is developing - The FCC has determined that VoIP services are not
subject o the same regulatory scheme as traditional wireline and wireless services, If the regulator
environment for Voll* services evolves in a manner other than the way we anticipate, our 911 business would be
significantly harmed and future growth of our business would be significantly reduced. For example, the regulatory
scheme for wircless and wircline service providers requires thase carricrs o allow service providers such as us to have
aceess o certain dutabases that make the delivery of a 911 call possible. No such requirements exist for VolP service
providers, so carriers could prevent us from continuing to provide VoIP 911 service by denying us access to the
required databases.

Ongoing compliance with the provisions of securities laws, related regulations and financial reporting standards could
unexpectedly materially increase our costs and compliance related expenses.

Because we are a publicly traded company, we are required to comply with provisions of securities laws, related regulations and
financial reporting standards. Because securities laws, related regulations and financial reporting standards perta
business are relatively complex, our business faces increased risks including the following:

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related SEC rules, we are required to I‘umnh a report

of "5 of the of our internal controls as part of our Form 10-K. Our independent
registered public accountants are required to attest to and provide a separate opinion. To issue our report, we document
our internal control design and the testing processes that support our evaluation and conclusion, and then we test and
evaluate the results. See Pare I - ftem 94 Controls and Pracedures for information related to the material weaknesses
that we identified as of July 31, 2025. There can be no assurance that we will be able to remediate the material
weaknesses that we have identified, or maintain all of the controls necessary for continued compliance. There likewise
can be no assurance that we will be able o retain sufficient skilled finance and accounting personnel, especially in
light af the increased demand for such personnel smong publicly traded companies.

= Stock-based c mmpensnupn,'m:r:g_muLsgngargg_c_ng[ﬂygga_mg_g_lwtmr y_.pgk Since our inception, we have used
stock-based awards as a packages. We believe that stock-
based awards dircctly motivate our emp w0 imize long-term wvalue and, through the use of long-
term vesting, encourage employees to remain with us, We apply the provisions of ASC 718, Compensarion - Stock
Compensation, which requires us to record compensation expense in our statement of operations for employee and
director stock-based awards using a fair value method. We adopted FASB ASU No. 20016-09 which modified certain
aspeets of ASC 718, including the requirement to recognize excess tax benefits and shortfalls in the income statement.
The ongoing application of this standard will have a significant effect on our reported earings, and could adversely
impact our ability to provide accurate guidance on our future reported fnancial results due 1o the variability of the
factors used to estimate the value of stock-based awards (inclueding long-term performance shares which are subject to
the achievement of three-year goals which are based on several performance metries). The ongoing application of this
standard could impact the future value of our common stock and may tesult in greater stock price volatility, To the
extent that this accounting standard makes it less attractive to grant stock-based awards o employees, we may incur
increased cash compensation costs, change our equity compensation strategy or find it difficult to attract, retain and
motivate employees, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

khald

Also, as further discussed in Notes io Consolidated Financial Statements - Nole (1) - Summary of Sigeificant Avcounsing and
Reparting Policies included in Part {1 - ltem 5 Financial Siatements and Supplementary Data, included in this Form 10-K, the
accounting rules and regulations that we must comply with are complex and are comtinually changing in ways that could
materially impact our ﬂnancl.\i statements, We must comply wnh these new reles on a go-forward basis. Because of the
uncertainties af the estimates, jud, and iated with new accounting standards, as well as with any future
guidance or interpretations related 1o them, we may incur additional costs and cannot provide any assurances that we will be
able 1o comply with such complex rules,

Our costs to comply with the ioned and other continue o increase and we may have to add additional
accounting staff, engage consultants or change our internal practices, standards and policies which could significantly increase
aur costs to comply with ongoing or future requirements. In addition, the Nasdag Stock Market LLC ("Nasdag") routinely
changes its requirements for companies, such as us, that are listed on Nasdaqg. These changes {and potential future changes)
have increased and may increase our legal and financial compliance costs, including making it more difficult and more
expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance or maintain our current liability coverage. We believe that
these new and propesed laws and regulations could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain gualified members of our
Board of Directors, particularly to serve on our Audit Commitee, and qualified executive officers.

Our has that our controls and procedures were not effective as of July 31, 2025 due to
material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, If we are unable to maintain an effective system of
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately
report our financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and
adversely affect our business and financial results,

After ion with our i it public ing firm, we that we did not design and maintain an
effective contral environment commensurate with our financial reporting requirements based on the eriteria in the COSO
framework, as we lacked a sufficient complement of resources with an appropriate level of knowledge and experience o
establish effective process and controls. This control environment material weakness conributed to other marerial weaknesses
within our system of internal control over financial reporting st the contral activity level, where we did not design and
implement effective control activities, including controls related to: revenue, inventory, other assets, contract lisbilities, and
complex accounting matters and transactions {including debt, convertible preferred stock and related embedded derivatives).
Deficiencies in control activities contributed to misstatements and the potential for there to have been material misstatements
within these areas.
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An intemnational component of our Allerium segment also had ineffective controls. Specifically, we did not design and maintain
effective general information technology contrals ("GITCs™) and business process controls in the following areas: (i) user access
controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and to adequately resirict user and privileged access to financial applications,
programs and data (o appropriate company personnel; (i) program change management controls 1o ensure that changes to information
:en.hnu]upf (“IT") programs and data affecting financial applications and underlying accounting records are properly identified, tested,
and th of dutics; and (111) business process controls to ensure that journal entries
were not amended prior to posting, as the l:nn:rpn\c resource planning (“ERP"} system which the international component operates
did not restrict approvers from changing journal entries prior to posting. While no material misstatements were identified with respect
o this inernational component in fiscal 2023, these deficiencies impact control activities over all financial statement sccount balances,
classes of transactions and disclosures and contributed 1o the potential for there to have been material misstatements within the
Such accounted for 5.7%, 4.1% and 3.3% of our consolidated tolal assets and
76%, 59% and 4.6% of our consolidated net sales as of and for the three fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023,
respectively

A material weakness is a deficiency, or & combination of deficiencies, in internal contral over financial reporting, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented
or detected on a timely basis.

It we identify any new material weaknesses in the future, any such newly identified material weakness could limit our ability to
prevent or deteet @ misstatement of our accounts or discloseres that could result in a material misstatement of our annual or
interim financial statements. In such case, we may be unable to maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding
timely filing of periodic reports in addition to spplicable stock exchange listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in
our financial reporting and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to
date, or any measures we may take in the future, will be sufficient to avoid potential future material weaknesses.

Indemnification provisions in our contracts could have a material adverse effect on our conselidated results of
operations, financial position or cash Mows.

In the ordinary course of business, we include indemnification provisions in certain of our customer contracts. Pursuant to these
agreements, we have agreed w indemnify, hold harmless and reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by
the |ndemnmed party, including but not limited to losses related to third-pamy intellectual property claims, Some customers
seck i ion under their il with us for claims and other costs associated with defending lawsuits
alleging infringement of patents through their use of our products and services, and the use of vur products and services in

combination with products and services of other vendors.

In some cases, we have agreed to assume the defense of the case. In others, we will negotiate with these customers in good faith
because we believe our technology docs not infringe the cited patents or due to specific clauses within the customer contractual
amangements that may or may not give rise to an indemnification obligation. It is not possible to determine the maximum
potential amount we may spend under these agreements due (o the unique faets and circumstances involved in each particular
agreement

Our related to i on arc hmcd on estimates and assumptions that have been decmed
reasonable by management, but that prove (o be i ori and events and ci may
occur that might cause us to change those estimates and assumptions. Therefore, it is possible that an unfaverable resolution o[
one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements in a future period.

We are, from time to time, and could become a party to additional litigation or subject to claims, including product
liability claims, current and former employee claims, government investigations and other proceedings that could cause
us to incur unanticipated expenses and otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

We are, from time 1o time, involved in commereial disputes and civil litigation relating to our businesses.

Our agreements with cestomers may require us to indemnify such customers. Direet claims against us or claims against our
customers may relate to defects in or non-conformance of our products, or sur own acts of negligence and non-performance
Occasionally. we are called upon also to provide information in connection with litigation invelving other parties or
government investigations, Product liability and other forms of insurance are expensive and may not be available in the fuwre,
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We cannot be sure that we will be able to maintain or obtain insurance coverage at acceptable costs or in sufficient amounts or
that our insurer will not disclaim coverage as to a future claim. In many cases, we are unable to abtain insurance and are self-
insured, Any such claim, including any out of pocker payments we are required 1o make and the costs of the defense against
such claim, could re in material costs and have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

For additional information related to these lawsuits, see Noves 1o Consolidated Financial Staremenis - Nore (14)a) -
& i and Contingencies - Legal Py 5 and Other Mawers included in Pary I - ftem & Financial Staements and
Supplementary Data, included in this Form 10-K_

Protection of our intellectual property is
rights can be costly.

ited and pursuing infringers of our patents and other intellectual property

Our businesses rely, in large part, wpon our proprietary scientific and engineering k how and p i We
rely an a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, trade seeret and unfair cnmpctllmn laws, resirictions in
licensing provis and various other £ o protect our property and

related proprietary rights, but these legal means provide only limited m:ledmn We cannot guaraniee that our issued and
acquired patents will be upheld if challenged by another party. Additionally, with respect to any patent applications which we
have filed, we cannot guarantce that any patents will be issued as a result of these applications.

The departure of any of our key management and technical personnel, the breach of their confidentiality and non-disclosure
obligations to us or the failure 1o achieve our intellectual property objectives could have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. Our ability to compete successfully and achieve future revenue growth will
depend, in part, on our ability to proteet our proprictary technology and operate without infringing upon the rights of others. We
may fail 10 do so. In addition, the laws of certain countries in which our products are or may be sold may not protect our
products or intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S.

Our ability to protect our intellectual property rights is also subject to the terms of future government contracts. We cannot
assure you that the federal government will not demand greater intellectual property rights or restrict our ability to disseminate
intellectual property. We are also a member of standards-setting organizations and have agreed to license some of our
intellectual property to other members on fair and reasonable terms to the extent that the license is required 1o develop non-
infringing products.

Pursuing infringers of our praprietary rights could result in significant litigation costs, and any failure to pursue infringers could
resull in our competitors utilizing our technology and offering similar products, potentially resulting in loss of 2 competitive
advantage and decreased revenues. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary nights, existing patent, copyright, trademark
and trade secret laws afford only limited protection. In addition, the laws of some foreign countrics do not protect our
proprictary rights w the same extent a5 do the laws of the LS. Protecting our know-how is difficult especially after our
employees or those of our third-party contract service providers end their employment or engagement. Attempts may be made
1o copy Or reverse-engineer aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Accordingly,
we may not be able to prevent the misappropriation of our technology or prevent others from developing similar technology.
Furthermare, pelicing unauthorized use of aur produets is difficult and expensive, Litigation may be necessary in the future o
enforce our intellectual property rights or o determine the validity and scope of the proprictary rights of others. The costs and
diversion of resources could significantly harm our husiness. If we fail to protect our intellectual property, we may not receive
any return on the resources expended to ereate the intellectual property or generate any competitive advantage based on it

=3

Third parties may claim we are infringing their intellectual property rights and we could he prevented from selling our
producis, or suffer significant litigation expense, even if these claims have no merit.

Our competitive position is driven in part by our intellectual property and other proprictary rights. Third partics, however, may
claim that we, our products, operations or any products or technology we obtain from other parties are infringing their
intellectual property rights, and we may be unsware of intellectual property rights of others that may impact some of our assets,
technology and products.
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From time to time our are parties to of 1 property infringement claims based on our customers’
incorporation and use of our products and services, which may lead to demands from our customers for us to indemnity them
for costs in defending those allegations, Any litigation regarding patents, trademarks, copyrights or intellectual property rights,
even those without merit, and the related indemnification demands of our customers, can be costly snd time consuming, and
divert our management and key persomnel from operating our business. The complexity of the technology invalved, and
inherent uncertainty and cost of intellectual property litigation increases our risks. If any third party has a meritorious or
successful claim that we are infringing its intellectual property rights, we may be foreed to change our products or enter into
licensing arrangements with third parties that may include payment of a ressonable rovalty, which may be costly or impractical,
This also may require us to stop selling our products as currently engineered, which could harm our competitive position. We
also may be subject to significant damages or injunctions that prevent the further development and sale of certain of our
products or services and may result in a material loss of revenue.

From time fo time, there have been claims challenging the ship of o software against companics that
incorporate open-source software into their products. As a result, we could be subject to suits by parties claiming ownership of
what we believe to be open-source software. Some open-source licenses contain requirements that we make available source
code for modifications or derivative works under the terms of a particular open-source license or other license granting third
parties certain rights of further use, If we combine our proprictary software produgts with open-source software in a ceriain
manner, we could under certain of the open-source licenses, be required to release our proprietary source code. Open-source
license terms may be ambiguous and many of the risks associated with usage of open-source software cannot be eliminated, and
could if not properly addressed, negatively affect our business. If we were found 1o have inappropriately used open-source
software, we may be required to release our proprietary source code, re-engineer our pmttucrs and client applications,
discontinue the sale of our products or services in the event incering cannat be lished on a timely basis or take
other remedial action that may divert resources away from our development efforts, any of which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We may face infringement claims in connection with our use of artificial intelligence and machine learming within our product

pment, testing, and dep or ather business functions. Such claims may arise in the context of bath third-party
litigation and regulatory exposure from use of third-party content contained in results from large-1 ge models or
other algorithmic results or outcomes that are utilized in our products or services without required attribution or permission.
Such claims, if successful, may combine 1o {a) make it mere costly for us to apply artificial intelligence and machine leaming
within our business, (b) lead to regulatory fines or penaltics, (¢} result in payments of monctary damages, or (d) require us to
alter our product offerings or business practices.

Competitive Risks

All of our business activities are subject to rapid technological change. new entrants, the introduction of other
distribution models and long development and testing periods each of which may harm our competitive position, render
our product or service offerings obsolete and require us to continuonsly develop technology undior obtain licensed
technology in order to compete successfully.

We are engaged in business activitics characterized by rapid technological change, evalving industry standards, frequent new
product announcements and enhancements. and changing customer demands. The introduction of products and services or
future industry standards ying new ies and could render any of our products and services obsolete
or non-competitive. The emergence of low Earth orbit ("LEO") satellite operators such as Starlink, OneWeb and Project
Kuiper, have driven significant changes in the way communications equipment is procured, and may further disrupt our
markets. The i of optical » including from satellite to satellite and satellite to ground, as
well as potential offerings for satellite / cellular direct connectivity. may impact our future business. The successful execution
of our business strategy is contingent upon wireless network opemur: launching and maintaining mobile location services, our
ability to maintain a skilled P and 1g team, our ability to create new network software products.
and adapt our existing pmducls to rapidly changing technologics, mdnstry standards and customer needs. As a result of the
complexities inherent in our product offerings, new technologies may require long development and testing periods,
Additionally, new products may not achieve market accepiance or our competitors could develop aliernative technologies that
gain broader market acceptance than our products, If we are unable to develop and introduce technologically advanced products
that respond to evolving industry standards and customer needs, or if we are unable to complete the development and
introduction of these products on a timely and cost effective basis, it could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition or could result in our technology becoming obsolete.
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New entrants seeking to gain market share by introducing new technology and new products may make it more difficult for us
1o sell our products and services and could create increased pricing pressure, reduced profit margins, increased sales and
marketing expenses, or the loss of market share or expected market share, any ofwhu:h could have a mawrla! adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and financial condition. For example, many are o new and
the shift towards open standards will likely result increased competition and some of our products may becomse
commoditized as a result

Our Allerium segment provides various technologies that are wtilized on mobile devices. Applications from competitors for
location-based or text-based messaging platforms may be preloaded on mobile devices by original equipment manufacturers, or
OEMs, or offered by OEMs directly. Increased competition from providers of location-based services which do not rely on a
wireless carrier may result in fewer wireless carrier subseribers electing to purchase their wireless carrier’s branded location-
hased services, which could harm our business and revenue, In addition, these location-based or text-based services may be
offered for free or on a one-time fee basis, which could force us to reduce monthly subscription fees or migrate (e a one-time
fiee model to remain competitive. We may also lose end users or face erosion in our average revenue per user if these
competitors deliver their products without charge to the consumer by generating revenue from advertising or as part of other
applications or services,

Our expected growth and aur financial position depend on, among other things, our ahility to keep pace with such changes and

developments and to respond to the inereasing variety of users and We may not
have the financial or technological resources to keep pace with such charLgm and devu lopments or be suceessful in our research
and development and we may not be able w identify and respond 10 technologi made by our ina

timely or cost-cffective fashion, Any delays could result in increased costs of d:bclu[ﬂnml or redireet resources. from other
projects. In addition, we cannot provide assurances that the markets for our products, systems, services or technologies will
develop as we currently anticipate. The failure of our products. systems, services or technologies 1o gain market acceptance
could significantly reduce our net sales and harm our business,

Our business is highly competitive, we are reliant upon the success of our partners, and some of our competitors have
significantly greater resources than we do. which could result in a loss of custemers, market share and/or market
acceptance.

Our business is highly competitive. We will continue to invest in research and development for the introduction of new and
enhanced products and services designed to improve capacity, data processing rates and features. We must also continue to
develop new features and to improve functionality of our software, Rescarch and development in our industry is complex,
expensive and uncertain, We believe that we must continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to research and
development efforts 1o maintain our competitive position. If we continue to expend a significant amount of resources on
research and development, but our efforss do not lead to the successful introduction of product and service enhancements more
quickly than our itors that are itive in the our business, results of operations and financial condition
could be materially adversely affected,

Several of our potential competitors are substantially larger than we are and have greater financial, technical and marketing
resourees than we do. In particular, larger competitors have certain advantages over us which could cause us to lose customers
and impede our ability m atlr\ac! new customers, ineluding: larger bases of financial, technical, marketing, personnel and other
TesnUTCes; more bl ips with wireless carriers and government customers; more funds 1o deploy products and
sérvices: and the ability 1 lower prices of {or not charge any priee for) competitive products and servioes hecanss they ars
selling larger volumes. Furthermore, we cannot be sure that our competitors will not develop competing products, systems,
services or technologies that gain market acceptance in advance of our products, systems, services or technologies, or that our
wrnpcmors MII not develop new rvmducts‘ systems, services or technologics that cause our existing products, systems, services
to become ¥ or ohsolete, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our Allerium segment provides publie safety and location technologies to various state and local municipalities and 1o a large
extent, we are reliant on the success of our wireless partners and distributors 1o meet our growth objectives, In some cases, our
wireless partners may have different objectives, or our distributors may not be successful, We intend 1o continue to work with

artriers and expand our direct and indirect sales and distribution channels in this area. If we are not successful in doing so,
‘we may not be able to achieve our long-term business goals.
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We rely upon various third-party companies and their technology to provide services to our customers and if we are
unable to ahtain such services at reasonable prices, or at all, our gross margins and our ahility to provide the services of
our wircless applications business could be materially adversely affected.

We rely on various third-p: panies and their in our business. Risks from our reliance with these third parties
include:
* The loss of mapping and third-party content - The wireless data services provided 1o our customers are dependent on

real-time, continuous feeds from map data, points of interest data, teaffic informarion, gas prices. theater. event and
weather information from vendors and others. Any digraption of this third-party content from our satellite feeds or
backup landline feeds or other disruption could result in delays in eur subscribers” ability to receive information, We
obtain this data that we sell to our customers from companies owned by current and potential competitors, who may
act in a manner that 1s not in our best interest. [T our suppliers of this data or content were o enter into exclusive
relationships with other providers of location-based services or were to discontinue providing such information and we
were unable to replace them cost effectively, or at all, our ability to provide the services of our wircless applications
husiness would be materially adversely affected. (ur gross margins may also be materially adversely affected if the
cost of third-party data and content increases substantially.

*  Third-party data centers or third-party nctworks may fail - Many products and services of our advanced
communication solutions, in particular our public safety and location technology solutions, are provided through a
combination of our servers, which are hosted at third-party data centers, and on the networks, as well as within the data
centers of our wireless carrier pariners. Our business relies to a significant degree on the efficient and uninterrupted
operation of the third-party data centers, customer data centers, and cloud providers we use. Network failures,
disruptions or capacity constraints in our third-party data center facilitics or in our servers maintained at their location
could affect the performance of the producis and services of our wireless applications and 911 business and harm our
reputation and our revenue. The ability of our subscribers (or those of our customers) to receive critical location and
business information requires timely and uninterrupted connections with our wireless network carriers. Any disruption
from our satellite feeds or backup landline feeds could also result in delays in our subseribers” ability to receive
information,

¢ We must integrate our technologies and routinely upgrade them - We may not be able to upgrade our location services
platform to support certain advanced features and functionality without obtaining technology licenses from third
parties, Obtaining these licenses may be costly and may delay the introduction of such features and functionality, and
these licenses may not be available on commercially favorable terms, or at all. Problems and defays in development or
delivery as a result of issues with respect to design, technology, licensing and patent rights, labor, learning curve
assumptions, or materials and components could prevent us from achieving contractual obligations. In addition, our
products cannot he tested and proven in all situations and are otherwise subject to unforeseen problems, The inability
10 offer advanced features or functionality, or & delay in our ahility to upgrade our location-based services platform,
may matedally adversely affect demand for our products and services and, consequently, have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

+ We rely upon "open-: " software - We have incorporated some types of'opeﬂ source software into our products,
allowing us o enhanee certain solutions without incurring sub I rescarch and devel costs. Thus
Far, we have encountered no umanticipated material problems arising from our use of open-source software. However,
as the use of open-source software becomes more certain op could become
competitive with our proprietary technology, which could cause sales of our products 1o decline or force us 1o reduce
the foes we charge for our products, which could have a material adverse effeet on our business, results of operations.
and financial condition.

Because our software may contain defects or ervors, and our hardware prmim:ls may |ncorpnrlu defective components,
our sales could decrease if’ these defecis or errors adversely affect our r or delay shi of our p

Products as complex as ours are likely to contain undetected errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new
versions are released. Software products, such as our 911 call handling software solutions, must meet stringent customer
technical requirements and we must satisfy our warranty obligations to our customers. Our hardware products are also subject
1o warranty obligations and integrate a wide variety of components from different vendors.
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Our products including software may not be ernor or defect free after delivery to customers, which could damage our reputation,
cause revenue losses, result in the rejection of our products or services, divert development resources and inerease service and
warranty costs, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

¢ )
‘Our stock price is volatile,

The stock market in genesal and the stock prices of technology-based companies, in particular, experience extreme volatility
that often is unrelated to the operating performance of any specific public company. The market price of our common stock has

fluctuated significantly in the past and is likely to fluctuate significantly in the futre as well. Factors that could have a
significant impact on the market price of our stock include, among others

such as isitions and divestin by us and our competitors!
integrate and manage acquisitions or unwind and manage divestitures;
+  our issuance of p dilutive equity or equity-type securities;

+ our issuance of debt or refinancing our debt;

= our ability to successfully access equity and debt capml markets;

«  future ing us or our

*  sharcholder activism invalving our common stock, board of directors or corporate governance;
*  receipt or non-receipt of substantial orders for products and services;

*  quality deficiencies in services or products;

*  results of technological innovations and new commercial products;

*  changes in our own outlook or recommendations of securities analysts;

*  government regulations;

+  changes in the status or outcome of government audits;

+  proprietary rights or product or patent litigation;

= changes in U.S. povernment policies;

+  changes in economic conditions generally, particularly in the markets we serve;

*  changes in securities marker conditions, generally:

«  changes in prevailing interesi rates;

= changes in the staius of litigation and legal matiers {including changes in the status of export matters);
«  cyber anacks;

*  energy blackouts;

= acts of terrorism or war,

«  inflation or deflation;

= rumors or allcgations regarding our financial disclosures or practices;

+ ourability to timely file documents required by the SEC within preseribed time periods: and

+ plobal pandemics.

Shortfalls in our sales or earnings in any given period relative to the levels expected by securities analysts could immediately.
significantly and adversely affect the rading price of our common stock.

Future issuances of our shares of common stock could dilute a stockholder's ewnership interest in Comtech and reduce
‘the market price of our shares of common stoek.

In uddition to potential issuances of our shares of common stock associated with acquisitions, in the future, we may issue
additional securities to raise capital. We may also acquire interests in other companies by using a combination of cash and our
comman stock o just our common stock. We may also issue securities convertible into our common stock. Any of these events
may dilute a stockholder's ownership interest in Comtech and have an adverse impact on the price of our common stock.




Actions of activist stockholders could impact the pursuit of our business strategies and adversely affect our results of
operations, financial condition and/or share price.

Our Board of Directors and ex i value input from investors, regularly engage in dialogue with
our stockholders, and are committed 1o acting in the best interests of all of our stockholders. However, there is no assurance that
certain sharcholders will not conduct activist campaigns that may not align with our business strategies or what the Board of
Directors believes the best interest of all of vur stockholders, and may be costly 10 us and distracting o our Board of
Directors and executive management.

In September 2024, shareholders Fred Komnberg, Michael Porcelain and Oleg Timoshenko (the "Investor Group") noeminated
eight candidates o stand for election at our fiscal 2024 annual meeting of stockholders, On November 17, 2024, we entered into
a Cooperation Agreement with the Investor Group, the terms of which are described in the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on Nevember 18, 2024. In September 2025, we provided notice to the Investor Group regarding our mn:nn:m to
renominate Michael Hildebrandt at our fiscal 2025 annual meeting of sto 5. thus ing the C it
until 30 days prior o the direcior nomination deadline for our fiscal 2026 annual meeting of stockholders,

Provisions in our corporate documents and Delaware law could delay or prevent a change in control of Comtech,

We have taken a number of actions that could have the effect of di delaying or p @ merger, on or
divestiture invalving Comtech that our stockholders may consider favorable.

For example, the employment contract with our CEO and agreements with other of our executive officers provide for
substantial payments in certain circumstances or in the event of a change of control of Comtech, In the future, we may adopt a
stockholder rights plan which could cause substantial dilution to a stockholder, and substantially increase the cost paid by a
stockholder who attempts to scquire us on temms not approved by our Board of Directors.

In addition, we are subject 1o the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, an anti-takeover law, In
general, this statute provides that, except in certain limited circumstances, a corporation shall not engage in any "business
combination" with an “interested stockholder” for # period of three years afier the date of the transaction in which the person
became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a preseribed manner. A "business
combination” includes mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder.
Subject 10 cerain exceptions, for purposes of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, an "interested
stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates, owns, or within three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation's
voling stock, This provision could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of Comtech.

ITEM IB. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Nane.
ITEM IC. CYBERSECURITY

Cybersecurity Risk Management Strategy and Program

We identify and assess material nsks from cybersecurity threats predominantly through the work of our Information Security
(“InfoSec”) team as part of our enterprise risk management (“ERM”) process. Our ERM process is designed to identify and
evaluate the full range of significant risks to Comtech. As part of our ERM program, our and

identify and manage enterprise risks on an annual cyele. The process consists of s d reviews, dit i and
planning, and includes risks identificd by aur eyhersecurity functions

The cybersecurity ERM process is administered by InfoSec with input from each business segment and function. InfoSec
continually moenitors material cybersceurity risks facing Comtech, including eybersecurity threats and threats to our internal
systems, our products, services and programs for customers, and our supply chain. Our cybersecurity risk management team has.
extensive experience leading for global i BEFOSS. and defense,
and works directly with our CEQ, Chief Financial Officer, Execumc Viee President ("EVP") of Systems and 1T Controls, and
other members of senior team to assess cyb y threats as part of our ERM process,
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To manage and remediate cybersecurity risks identified as part of our ERM process and to manage emerging cybersecurity
threats in real time; we have implemented a Managed Detection and Response system that supports the Security Operations
Center. We are a member of the DoD Defense Industrial Base Collaborative Information Sharing Environment and the National
Defense Information Sharing and Analysis Center. These organizations share real-time cybersecurity threat information and
hest practices in protecting, detecting and recovering from cybersecurity threats.

AS @ EOVEMIMENt CONMEACIOT, We must wrnp]y with extensive cybersecurity regulations, including the DFARS refated 1o
ion and reporting cybersceurity incidents to the Dol). The policies and
umlmk we have implemented to date reflect our adherence to these requirements and have been assessed by external
organizations, including industry partners.

During fiseal year 2023 and through the date of this filing, based on the information available, we did not identify any risks
from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous eybersceurity incidents {as such terms are defined in ltem
106(a) of Regulation S-K}, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business
strategy, results of operations or financial condition. Please see Cybersecurity Risks under Item LA - Risk Factors under Part 1
of this Form 10-K for more information about risks to us from eybersecurity threats,

Enterprise Cybersecurity

Our enterprise cyhersecurity program aligns with the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST") standards,
among others, and includes provesses and controls for the deplovment of new IT systems by us and controls over new and
existing systems operation. We monitor and conduct regular testing of these controls and systems, including vulnerability
management through active discovery and festing to regularly assess patching and configuration status. In addition, we require
our employees and contract workers to complete annual cybersecurity fraining, and we regularly conduct simulated phishing
and cyber-related communications.

Cyberseeurity for US. Government Authorized Systems

Our i i y systems used in with progtams for the U.S. government align with the NIST standard
and meet the requirements of 32 CFR Pari 117 (National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual or "NISPOM") and
other applicable U.S. government guidance, The program includes authorizations and assessments of new and existing T
systems by our customers. We monitor use on these systems, including vulnerability management through patching and
configuration. In addition, we restrict user aceess and require authorized users o complete additional user and cybersecurity
training.

Third Party Service Providers

We engage third party service providers io expand the capabilities and capacity of our eybersecurity program, including for
design, monitoring and testing of the program's risk prevention and protection measures and process execution, inluding
incident detection, investigation, analysis and tesponse, eradication and recovery.

Management of Third-Party Risks

Our suppliers, subcontractors and third-party service providers are subject to cybersecurity obligations and controls as aligned
with DFARS and U.5. Federal A lations ("FARS") i We are making strides to ensure suppliers,
subcontractors and third-party service providers are knowledgeable and aligned with DFARS and FARS requirements. W are
also developing an enhanced program for our suppliers, subcontractors, and third-party service providers w agree
cybersecurity-related contractual terms and conditions of purchase to ensure their commitment to the mandates. Many of these

contractors, suppliers or third parties are also subject to regulator in mandatory clauses,
including those contained in the DFARS and FARS, which obligate adherence to a generally accc'pwd cybersceurity
framewuork, such as NIST, and of their @ of £ ity controls as a condition of

contract award or during contract performance. Finally, we require these third parties to notify us of cybersecurity incidents that
impact us.




Program Assessment

We continuously evaluate and seek o improve and mature our eybersecurity processes and controls. Our evbersecurity program
is regularly assessed through management self-evaluations and ongoing monitoring procedures to evaluate our program

. including through active discovery and testing to validate patching and configuration.
Additionally, InfoSec regularly assesses our program effectiveness through audits of our entities, systems, and processes to help
maintain compliance with policies. As cybersecurity threats are continuously evolving, we also periodically engage with third
partics to perform maturity assessments of our program to identify potential risk arcas and improvement opportunitics. This
includes assessment of aur overall program, policies and processes, & with regulatory requi and an overall
assessment of key vulnerabilities. We use these o supy our own of the overall effectiveness of
our program and target improvement areas. Several external organizations also evaluate our enterprise cyberseeurity program,
including the U5, Defense Contrzet Management Agency ("DCMA") and Cybersecurity Maturity Model Cenificate or
"CMMC" Third Party Assessment Organization. Morcover, some of our products are audited or reviewed for regulatory
compliance certification pursuant to the relevant DoD risk management framework.

Board Oversight and Management's Role

Our Board of Directors has primary oversight ibilities for ise cy ity risks. The T I
and Cyber Commitice of the Board of Dircctars also reviews risks in with its oversight of
v and fance risks, Our risk team leads our enterprise cybersecurity program and is

[or assessing and erpri: security risks.

Our cybersecurity risk management team regularly updates the Technology. Innovation and Cyber Committes and Board of
Directors on cybersecurity risks as they relate to our and hnology systems and our suppliers and
purtners, as well as provides regular updates on enterprise cybersecurity incidents and key defenses and mitigation strategies.
Our cybersecurity risk management team regularly reviews and manages enterprise cybersecurity risks, controls, program
policy and processes, including training, oversees policy and program development, implementation, and updates, and informs
senior leadership on cybersecurity-related issues and activities affecting the organization. Additionally, our eybersecurity risk
management team regularly monitors and leads efforts w address and remediate, as appropriate, emterprise cyvhersecurity events,
threats, and activities, including with respect to incidents, protection vulnerabilities, software update needs and lifecycle status,

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We consider our facilities 10 be well maintained and adequate for current and planned produetion requirememts. All of our
manufacturing facilities, including those that serve the military market, must comply with stringent customer specifications. We
emplay formal quality management programs and other raining programs, including the International Standard Organization’s
quality procedure registration programs.

Historically, we have not owned any material propertics or facilities and have relied upon a strategy of leasing. We do not
currently own any material properties. The following table lists our primary leased facilities at July 31,2025

Location Property Type Square Footage Lease Expiration
lite Communicati
Chandler, Arizona A Manufacturing and Engincering and 146,000 July 2036
Corporate Headguarters
Orlando, Florida B Manufacturing and Engineering 99,000 April 2026
Hampshire, UK C  Manufacturing and Engineering 56,000 November 2030
Santa Clara, Califomia D Manufacturing and Engincering AT.000 April 2026
Cypress, California E Support, Engineering and Sales 28,000 July 2030
Tempe, Arizona A Manufacturing and Engineering 20,000 January 2027
Various facilities F  Support, Engincering and Sales 16,000 Various
Plano, Texas E  R&D and Engineering 12,000 September 2030
Suaint-Laurent, Canadu G Manufacturing, Engineering, Sales 12,000 June 2029
and General Office
436,000
Allerium f merly, Terrestrial and
Seattle, Washington H  Network Operations, R&D, 30,000 Oclober 2033
Engincering and Sales
Stoughton, Massachusetts 1 Network Operations 19,000 March 2030
Annapolis, Maryland J  Support, Engineering and Sales 17.000 July 2026
Gatincau, Canada K Network Operations, R&D, 17,000 November 2035
Engineering, Sales and General Office
Gatineau, Canada. K En?m:nmmd ey 15,000 April 2028
98,000
Lomarate
Melville, New York L General Office 9,600 August 2027
Annapolis, Maryland J General Office and Common Aress 2,000 July 2026
11,600
Total Square Footage T sdseon
A To support our long-term business goals, we entered a 15-vear lease for a 146,000 square foot high-volume technology

manufacturing facility in Chandler, Arizona, In fiscal 2023, we completed the relocation of certain of our satellite
ground infrastructore production facility operations to this new facility, which reduced our Tempe, Arizona footprint to
20,000 sguare Feet through January 2027. The Chandler. Arizona facility utilizes state-of-the-art design and production
techniques. including analog, digital and RF microwave production, hardware assembly and full-service engineering.
In fiscal 2024, this location became our new corporate headquarters,

B Our Satellite and Space Communications segment engineers and our he-horizon
troposcatter systems and mission-critical satellite equipment in a leased facility in Orlando, Florida.




C. Our Satellite and Space Communications segment leases a fz ing facility in | i B ke, UK.,
where we previously manufactured high precision full motion fixed and mobile X/¥ satellite Lraekmg antennas. In
fiscal 2025, we wound down such aperations and are exploring options for an early termination of this one remaining
facility lease.

D, Our Satellite and Space C segment fi certain i ina leased ing facility
located in Santa Clara, California,

E. Our Satellite and Space Communications segment muintains office space in Cypress, California and Plano, Texas,
tespectively, used primarily for R&D), engineering, sales and customer support.

F. Our Satellite and Space Communications segment leases an additional four facilities, three of which aggregate 13,000
square feet and are located in the ULS, with the remaining facility aggregating 3,000 square feet located in India. All
arc primarily utilized for engincering, sales, software development, customer support and general office use.

G. Our Satellite and Space Communications segment maintains office space in Saint-Laurent, Canada, used primarily for
sales, engineering, manufacturing and general office use.

H. Our Allerium segment maintains office space in Seattle, Washington, used primarily for servicing and hosting our
VolIP and VoWiFi E911 and NG-911 services, and related emerging technologies.

L Our Allerium segment maintains office space in Stoughton, Massachusetts used primarily for servicing certain of our
state and local municipality NG-911 customers,

L Our Allcrium scgment maintains office space in Annapolis, Maryland used primarily for the design and development
of pur software-based systems and applications and netwaork operations for our Allerium segment,

K Our Allerium segment maintains office space in Gatineau, Canada that is utilized for network operations, R&D,
engineering, sales of our public safety and location technology solutions and general office use. Our facility in
Gatineau, Canada was subject to expropriation by the City of Gatineau and we expect to exit this facility in January
2026, As a result, we eniered into a new lease agreement for an aliernate Faility in July 20235,

L Our Unallocated segment maintains general office space in a building complex located in Melville, New York for
certain company-wide functions,

The terms for all of our leased facilities arc generally for multi-year periods and we believe that we will be able to renew these
leases or find comparable facilities elsewhere,

As part of our environmental related initiatives, we were able o reduce our wial company-wide square footage of our various
[acilities for a total four-year reduction of 307,000 sq. [ or 36.0%.

1
In the first quarter of fiscal 2026, our Allerium segment entered an 11.000 square foot, 6-year lease in Broomfield, Colorado.
This facility is used primarily for network operations, R&D, engineering. sales and general office space.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Informatien ing legal dings is i d herein bs' reference to the Nores w Cansolidated Financial Stawements -
Nate (14 ){a) - € i and Conti - Legal P and uher Manters included in Part If - Ttem 8. Financial
Statements and Sugplenventary Data of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Mot applicable.
PART 11

ITEM 5 MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Return

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return o the
S&P 500 Index and the Nasdag Telecommunications Index for each of the last five fiscal years ended July 31, assuming an
investment of $100 @t the beginning of such period and the reinvestment of any dividends (10 the extent applicable). The
comparisons in the graphs below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, future
performanee of our common stock

COMPARISON OF 5§ YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"

Among Cumm Telecommunications Corp., the S&P 500 Index
the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index
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Copynght® 2025 Standard & Poor's, a division of S4P Global. All rights reserved.

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC ("Nasdag"} under the symbol "CMTL.”




Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Nane,

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2025, On September 29, 2020, our
Board of Directors authorized a $100.0 million stock repurchase program, which replaced our prior program. The stock
repurchase program has no time restrictions and repurchases may be made from time to time in open-market or privately
negotiated transactions, or by other means in accordance with fideral securitics laws, We had approximately 29.4 million shares
of Common Stock owtstanding as of July 31, 20235,

Approximate Number of Equity Security Holders
As of November 4, 20235, there were approximately 760 holders of our common stock. Such number of record owners was
determined from our stockholder records and does not include beneficial owners whose shares of our commen stock are held in

the name of various security holders, dealers and clearing agencies.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview of Business

We are a leading provider of satellite and space communications technologics, terrestrial and wireless network solutions, Next
Generation 911 ("NG-911") and emergency services and cloud native capabilities, This includes the critical communications
infrastructure that people, businesses, and governments rely on when durable, trusted connectivity is required, no matter where
they are - on land, at sea, or in the air - and no matter what the circumstances ~ from armed conflict to a natural disaster. Our
solutions are designed to fulfill our custcnners noods for secure mreicss i in the most ing env

|nclud111g those where i are or prohibitive, and in miss ritical and other
scenarios where performance is crucial. Over the long-term, we anticipate future growth in our end markets due to a trend of
increasing demand for global voice, video and data usage in recent years, in addition w the growth of emergency
comimunication networks and related applications, We provide our solutions to both and g

‘We manage eur business through twe reportable operating segments:

= Satellite rmd Space Communications - is organized into four technology areas: satellite modem and amplifier
ies, cybersecurity training (formerly, known as government services) and space
COMPOnENts, 'I'h]s segment offers customers: satellite ground infrastructure technologies, services and system
integration that facilitate the transmission of voice, video and data over GEO, MED and LEO satellite constellations,
including traveling wave tube power amplifiers, sutellite modems, VSAT platforms and frequency converters; over-
the-horizon microwave solutions that can transmil digitized voice, video, and data over distances up w 200 miles using
the lloposphcre and diffraction; advanced cybersecurity training in support of U.S. government and certain commercial
and and pro and supply chain management of high reliability Electrical, Eleetronic and

Electromechanical ("EEE") parts for satellite, launch vehicle and manned space applications.

= Allerium {formerly, Terrestrial and Wireless Networks) - is organized into three service areas: next generation 911 and
call delivery, call handling solutions, and trusted location aud messaging solutions, This segment offers customers:
SMS text to 911 services; next ion 911 solutions, p g emergency call routing, location validation, policy-
based routing rules, logging and kegumy functionality; Emergency Services [P Network transport infrastructure for
¥ services and support of next generation 911 services: call handling applications for
PSAPs: wireless emergency alerts solutions for network operators: and software and equipment for location-based and

text messaging serviees for various applications, including for public safety, commercial and govemment services,

Our Quarterly Financial Informaion
Quarterly and period-to-period sales and of ing results may be si; v affected by, among other things, short-term or
long-term contracts with our for bad debt, impai af long-lived assets (including goodwill) and
changes in the estimated fair value of derivative instruments and warrants, In sddition, our gross profit is affected by a variety
of Factors, including, among other things, the mix of products, systems and services sold, production efficiencies, provisions for
excess and obsolete inventories, estimates of warranty expense, price competition and general economic conditions. Our gross
profit may also be affected by the impact of any cumulative adjustments to contracts that are accounted for over time. Our
contrats with the U.S. government (or prime contractors to the U.S, government) can be terminated for convenience at any
time and orders are subject 1o unpredi funding, dep! and wechnology decisions by our customers, Some of these
contracts are indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity ("IDIQ") contracts and, as such, the LS. government is not obligated w
purchase any equipment or services under these contracts. We have, in the past, experienced and we continue 1o expect
significant flucruations in sales and operating results from quarter-to-quarter and period-to-period due to these factors. As such,
comparisons between periods and our current results may not be indicative of a trend or future performance,

Please see the " Transformation Plan™ section discussed above, as well as disclosures in Jtem {4 — Risk Factors under Part | of
this Form 10-K for more information about risks pertamning to our business and those factors that can influence our future
results,




Critical Accounting Policies
We consider eertain accounting policies 1o be critical due o the estimation process involved in each,

Revenue Recognition. In accordance with FASB ASC 606 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers {("ASC 606"), we record
revenue in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for poods or services
promised to See Nores to C e Financial Staremenis - Note (1)(d) - Revenue Recogwition included in Parr If
- dtem 8, Financial and Suppl v Pata (which ion is incorporated herein by reference) and Pare 17 -
Tteen 94, Conirols und Procedures, included in this Form 10-K, for further information.

A cost-to-cost measure of progress is pnm.:p.dly used 1o account hrr contracts in our Satellite and Space Communications
segment and, o a lesser exient, certain loca d and i contracts in our public safety and location
technologies praduct line within our Allerium sepment.

For over time contracis using a cosi-io-cosi measure of progress, we have an estimate at completion ("EAC") process in which
management reviews the progress and execution of our performance obligations and caleulates an cstimated contract profit
based on total estimated contract revenue and cost. Since certain contracts extend over a long period of time, the impact of
revisions in revenue and/or cost estimates during the progress of work may impact current period earnings through a cumulative
adjusiment. Additionally, if the EAC process indicates a loss, a provision is made for the toial anticipated loss in the period that
it becomes evident. Contract revenue and cost estimates for significant contracts are generally reviewed and reassessed at least
quarterly,

We perform on a broad range of contracts whose revenue is recognized aver time, including the development of complex and
advanced customized solutions which often require the application of new technologies. Cost estimates on fixed-price
development contracts and early stags ion contracts are i more uncertain as 1o future events than on
marture, full-rate production contracts, As a result, for fixed-price development contracts and early stage/low-rate production
coniracts, there is typically more variability in those cstimates and greater financial risk associated with unanticipated cost
growth, Risks include, but arc not limited to: technical engincering risks related 1o the underlying technologics being
developed; schedule risks related o completing performance obligations timely: and customer risks related to changing
specifications.

The estimation of contract revenue, cost and progress toward completion requires the use of judgment, which can be affected by
any number of factors over time and which may cause cur actual results to differ materially from those estimates, as facts and
circumstances change or become known to us, Changes in estimates ean oceur for a variety of reasons including, but not limited
to: changes i the availability, productivity and cost of labor; the effect of change orders on contract scope; the resolution of
engineering risks at lower or higher costs than anticipated; the availability and cost of material components and subeontracts, as
well as the performance of our o | the impagt of changes in our customers’ schedules:
and changes in indirect cost allocations, such as overhead,

The impact of grass favorable and unfavorable changes in contract estimates on reported gross margin is presented in the table
below:

Fiseal Years Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023
Gross favorable changes 5 11,439,000 11,802,000 7.421,000
Gross unfavorable changes (19,67 1.000) {20.744.000) 51000
Net changes 3 (&732,00_[1 (8.942.000) (4,03!1000!

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill. As of July 31, 2025, total goodwill recorded on our Consolidated
Balance Shect aggregated $204.6 million (of which $30.5 million relates to our Satellite and Space Communications segment
and $174.1 million relates to our Allerium segment). Additionally, as of July 31, 2025, net intangibles recorded on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet aggregated $173.1 million (of which 341.2 million relates 1o our Satellite and Space
Communications segment and $131.9 million relates to our Allerium segment). For purposes of review impairment and the
recoverahility of goodwill and other intangible assets, our segments each constitute a reporting unit and we must make various
assumptions in determining their estimated fair values. Sec Notes to Consalidated Financial Statements - Note (15} - Long-Tived
Assets, including Goodwill and Note (16) - Inungible Assers included in Part I - lem 8. Financial Swtements and
Supplementary Date (which discussion is incorporated herein by reference). included in this Form 10-K, for further
informatien. Ongoing and future actions supporting our transformation strategy could result in a material impairment of our
goodwill andfor intangible asscts.

Provision for Warranty Obligations. We provide warranty coverage for most of our products, including produets under long-
term contracts, for & period of at least one year from the date of shipment, We record a lisbility for estimated warranty expense
based on historical claims, product failure rates and other factors. Costs ussocisted with some of our warranties that are
provided under long-term contracts are incorporated into our estimates of total contract costs. There exist inherent risks and
uncertainties in estimating warranty expenses, particularly on larger or longer-term contraets. If we do not accurately estimate
our warranty eosts, any changes 10 our original estimates could be material to our results of operations and financial condition,

Acceunting for Income Texes. Our deferred tax assets and liabilities are d based on between
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and applying enacted tax rates expected to be m effect for the year in
which we expect the differences to reverse. Our provision for income taxes is based on domestic (including federal, state and
local)y and intemational statutory income tax rates in the tax jurisdictions where we operate, permanent differences between
financial reporting end tax reparting and available eredits and incentives, The 1.5, federal govemment is our most significant
income tax jurisdiction.

For tax posmone taken or expected o be taken in 4 tax retum, we aceount for unrecngmzcd rax henefits usmg a “more-likely-

than-not” threshold for financial and We may d upon review by the applicable
taxing authority and positions taken by us may not be sustained, We recognize all or a portion of the benefit of meome tax
positions in our GAAP results only when we have made a that it is " likely-th (" that the tax position

will be sustained upon examination, based upon the technical merits of the position and other factors. For 1ax positions that are
determined as "more-likely-than-not” 1o be sustained upon examination, the tax benefin recognized is the largest amount of
henefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. We recognize potential interest and penaltics
telated to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets,
we consider all positive and negative evidence, including past financial performance. timing and judgments aboeut future taxable
income and fax planning strategies, Valuation are i when , 10 reduce net dererred ax assets
the amount "more-likely-than-not" expected to be realized. We i Iy evaluaie additional facts positive and
negative evidenee in determining our ability to realize these deferned tax assets. Significant judgment is required in determining
income tax provisions and tax positions. The ultimate outcome of tax exposures and risks involves significant uncertainties. 1T
actual outcomes differ materially from these estimates. they could have a material impact on our results of operations and
financial condition.

Our U.S. federal income tax retums for fiscal 2022 through 2025 are subject to potential future Internal Revenue Serviee
("IRS") audit. None of our state and foreign income tax returns prior (o fiscal 2021 are subject to audit. Future 1ax assessments
or settlemenis could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated resulis of operations and financial condition.

Capitalzed Engincering Costs, We gencrally cxpense ul escarch snd development cosis. Rescarch and development xpenscs
include payroll, emp benefits, stock-be ion expense, and other personnel-related expenses associated with
product development. Ramnch and development expenses also include third-party development and programming costs. Costs
incurred internally in researching and developing sofiware 1o be sold are charged to expense unul :cchnologlal feasibility has
heen established for the software, Judgment is required in de g when technologi asibility of a product is
established. Technological feasibility for our advanced communication software solutions is generally reached after all high-
risk development issues have been resolved through coding and testing. Generally, this vccurs shortly before the products are
released 1o cusiomers and when we are able o validate the marketability of such product. Once technological feasibility is
established, all software costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers. To date, costs
capitalized related to software developed for the purpase af sclling o third partics was not material, but could increase in the
future.

As it relates to software developed for the purpose of internal-use (e.g., hosted "SaaS" applications within our Allerium
segment), costs capitalized primarily consist of direct labor and third-party vendor costs associated with creating the software.
Software development projects generally include three stages: the preliminary project stage (all costs are expensed as incurred),
the application development stage (cerain costs are capitalized and cerain costs are expensed as incurred) and the post-
implementation/operation stage (all costs are expensed as incurred). Cosis capitalized in the application development stage
include costs related to the design and implementation of the selected software components, software build and configuration
infrastructure, and software interfaces, Capitalization of costs requires judgment in determining when & project has reached the

Is stage, the ion of time spent in the application development stage, and the period over which we
expect 1o benefit from the use of that soflware. During fiscal 2025 and 2024, internal-use sofiware cosis capitalized were 539
million and $3.8 million, respectively. Capitalized internal use sofiware costs are amortized once the software is placed in
service on the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the software, which is generally three years,
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Provisions for Excess and Obsolete Inventory. We record a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based on historical and
projected usage trends, Other factors may also influence our provision, including decisions to restructure or exit a product line,
technological change and new product development. These factors could result in a change in the amownt of excess and
obsolete inventory on hand. Additionally, our estimates of future product demand may prove to be inaccurate, in which case we
may have understated or overstated the provision required for excess and obsolete imventory. In the future, if we determine that
our inventory was overvalued, we would be required to recognize such costs in our financial stements at the time of such
determination. Any such charge could be material to our results of operations and financial condition. Sce Nows 1
Consolidated Financial Statements - Note ¢1)(f) - Inventories included in Pari I - Ttem 8. Financial Statemenis and
v Daia (which 0N is incory herein by and Part I - frem 94 Controls and Procedures,

recorded in our first quarter of fiscal

included in this Form 10-K, for further {including a of pi
2028 i with certain di i products and within our Satellite and Space Communications segment),

Affowance for Doubiful Accounts. We perform credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit limits based upon
customer payment histery and current creditworthiness, as determined by our review of our customers’ current credit
infermation. Generally, we will require cash in advance or payvment secured by irrevocable letters of eredit before an order is
accepied from an international customer that we do not do business with regularly, In addition, we seck 1o obtain insurance for
certain domestic and international customers.

We monitor billing events, collections and payments from our customers and maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts
based upon our historical experience and any specific customer collection issues that we have identified, In light of ongoing
tight credit market conditions and high interest rates, we continue o see requests from our customers for higher credit limits
and longer payment terms. We have, on a limited basis, approved certain customer requests. Also, we can from time to time
experience significant increases in the overall level of contract assets (i.e. unbilled receivables) related to larpe. lonp-term
contracts with cemain ULS, govemniment, domestic and international customers, We continuously mORitor our accounts
receivable credit portfolio.

Except as discussed in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Note (4) - Accounts Receivable included in Part ] - ltem
& Financial Statements and Supplenentary Data (which discussion is incorporated herein by reference), included in this Form
10K, our overall credit losses have historically been within the allowances we esiablished, However, we may not be able to
accurately predict our foture eredit loss experience. Measurement of eredit losses requires consideration of histarical loss
experience, including the need to adjust for changing business conditions, and judgments about the probable effects of relevant
observable data. including present i itjons such as deli rates and the financial health of specific customers,
Fuiure changes io the estimated allowance for doubtful aceounis could be material io our resulis of operations and financial
condition,

Derivative Instruments and Warrane Liabilities. We evaluate our fnancial instruments, including our Credit Facility,
Subordinated Credit Facility, Convertible Preferred Stock and warrants 1o issue our common stock pursuant to the terms of such
instrumenis, (o determine if such insiruments are derivatives or contain features that qualify as embedded derivatives, Such

considers a g ive and q of whether the host instrument is more debt or cquity-like, and if
embedded derivatives should be bifurcated from the host instrument and/or combined for accounting purposes. For derivatives
that are accounted for as liabilities, the derivative is initially recorded at its estimated fair value and is then re-valued at each
reporiing date, with changes in its estimated fair value reported in our Consolideied Financial Starements. To estimate such fair
values, with the assistance of a third party valuation expert, we primarily use Monte Carlo simulation models, on a with and
without basis, or Black-Scholes option pricing models, cach adjusted for instrument-specific terms. Due to the nature of our
derivative instruments and warrant liabilities, we must use Level 3 inputs for estimating fair value, which are unobservable
inputs developed using the best available information under the circumstances. Level 3 inputs are supported by litde or no
market activity, are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities and reflect our assumptions related to how market
participants would use similar inputs to price the asset or liability. Accordingly, our cstimates and assumptions could prove to
be inaccurate. Also, changes in such estimates and assumptions from period to period could be material to our results of
operations and financial condition. See Notes o Consolidated Financial Statements - Notw (1)(j) - Fair Value Measurements
and Financial Instruments included in Pary [T - ftem 8. Financial and Supy rv Dara (which di ion is
incorporated herein by reference), for further information.
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Results of Operations

The following tahle sets forth, for the perinds indicated, certain income and expense items expressed as a percentage of our
consoliduted net sales:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,

2005 2024 2023
Gross margin 256 % 291 % 335 %
Selling, general and administrative expenses 287 % 228 % 218 %
Research and development expenses 3.5% 45% 8.8 %
Amortization of intangibles 43 % 39 % 39 %
Impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill 159 % 11.9 % ="
CEOQ transition costs 0.4 % 0.5 % 1.7 %
Loss on business divestiture —% 02% — %
Proxy solicitation costs 0.5 % — % — %
Operating loss (27.8)% (14.8)% 2%
Interest expense and other items. 33% 38 % 29 %
Loss before benefit from income taxes (311 (18.6)% (5.60%
Net loss (31.1)% (18.5)% (4.9)%
Net loss atributable to commeon stockholders (40.9)% (25.1)% 6.2)%
Adjusted EBITDA (a Non-GAAP measure) A% 8.5 % 9.7 %

For a definition and explanation of Adjusted EBITDA, see Mem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - Comparison of Fiscal 2025 and 2024 - Adjusted EBITDA.
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Fiscal 2025 Results and Business Outlook

Owr financial performance for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2025 includes:

Consolidated net sales of $499.5 million, compared to $540.4 million in fiscal 2024, reflecting: (a) the completion of
certain legacy centracts to deliver next-generation troposcatter terminals to the U.S. Marine Corps and Army; (b) the
divestiture of our high power solid state amplifiers product line in November 2023; (c) the wind down of our sicerable
antennas product line in the UK and (d) the disc of eertam | in orders in our Satellite and Space
Communications segment in order o focus on opportunities through which we can provide a more differentiated
solution at higher margins: offser. in part. by growth in our! (x) Allerium segment, driven by our next-generation 911
emergency communications solutions; and {y) Satellite and Space Communications satellite ground infrastructure
solutions, reflecting the ongoing shift back to higher volume production contracts as certain legacy non-recurring
engineering contracts draw nearer to completion;

CGross margin was 25.6%, compared w 29.1% in fiscal 2024, reflecting, in addition to product mix changes, an $11.4
million non-cash charge in our first quarter of fiscal 2025 related to the write down of certain inventories as a result of
restructuring activities within our Satellite and Space Communications segment; our quarterly gross profit, both in
dollars and as a percentage of consolidated net sales, improved i fiscal 2025,

achieving a 31.2% gross profit pereentage in our fourth quarter:

GAAP net loss attributable 1o common stockholders was $204.3 million and included, among other things: a $79.6
million non-cash impairment charge related Lo long-lived assets, ineluding goodwill; $48.9 million of net non-cash
adjustments and paid-in-kind dividends related to our Convertible Preferred Stock: $27.9 million in amortization and
write-offs of deferred financing costs, debt discount, accreted interest and interesi paid-in-kind related 1o our senior
and subordinated credit facilities; $21.7 million of intangible asset amortization; a $16.1 million non-cash charge 1o
fully reserve for an unbilled receivable contract asset; $15.6 million of restructuring costs; the $11.4 million non-cash
inventory charge discussed above: 2.7 million of proxy selicitation costs; and 52.1 million of CEO transition costs;
offset, in part, by a $38.5 million non-cash benefit resulting from the remeasurement of warrants and derivatives: our
quarterly GAAP net loss atiributable to common siockholders improved sequentially throughout fiscal 2025, due
primarily to improved operational and financial per which ulti ly posi us to achicve positive
GAAP operating income in our fourth quarter;

GAAP EPS loss of $6.95 and Non-GAAP EPS of $2.41;

Adjusted EBITDA (a Non-GAAP financial measure discussed below) was negative $2.0 million, compared to
Adjusted EBITDA of pusitive $45.7 million in fiscal 2024; we experienced sequential quarterly improvements in
Adjusted EBITDA throughow fiscal 2023, with improvements from negative $30.8 million in our first quarter to
positive $13.3 million in our fourth quarter:

New bookings (also referred to as orders) of $372.7 millien, resulting in an annual book-to-bill ratio of 0.75x (a
measure defined as bookings divided by net sales); bookings in the third quarter included a $36.4 million debooking
related to the low margin U.S. Army GFSR contract that was protested by and ultimately awarded 1o the incumbent in
May 2025; as part of our ion plan, we have refi d and prioritized our sales efforts to target higher
margin opportunitics in which we have greater differentiation;

Backlog of 3672.1 million as of July 31, 2025, compared to $798.9 million as of July 31, 2024 and $708.1 million as
of April 30, 2023; new bookings and backlog do not yet include the $130.0 million plus, multi-year contract extension
awarded to us by a U.S. domestic top tier mobile network operator in November 2025;

Revenue visibility of spproximately $1.1 billion as of July 31, 2025, We measure this revenue visibility as the sum of
our $672.1 millien of funded backlog, plus the total unfunded value of certain multi-year contracts that we have
received and from which we expect future orders; and

Cash flows used in operating activities of $8.3 million, reflecting ial quarterly imp fiscal
2025 from negative $21.8 million in our first quarter to positive $11.4 million in our fourth quarter; excluding $23.0
million in aggregate payments for restructuring costs, including severance, proxy solicitation costs and CEO transition
costs, fiscal 2025 cash flows provided by operating activities would have been $14.7 million; also, fiseal 2025
aperating cash flows include $29.6 million of total eash paid for interest related o debt obligations and income taxes,
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As of the issuance date, we that we have i the doubt regarding our ability Lo continue as a going
concern, which was first diselosed in December 2023, As discussed throughout this Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July
31, 2025, such determination i our i impraved i and financial performance over recent fiscal
quarters; the cumulative amendments 1o our senior and subordinated credit facilities (which among other things, provide for a
long-term financial covenant holiday through January 31, 2027); our enhanced liquidity position; and considering our
projections of future operating cash flows.

Non-GAAP financial measures discussed above are reconciled to the most dircetly comparable GAAP financial measures in the
table included in the below section ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operaiions - Camparison of Fiscal 2023 and 2024.

Other Key Business Developments and Updates
Savellite and Space Communications

Our Satellite and Space Communications segment continues to focus on addressing performance, thoughtfully evaluating the
product portfolie and implementing initiatives to improve margins and cash flow generation.

During fiscal 2025, we have revamped this segment with new and our product portfolio
around differentiated technology and solutions; imp d ibility and process d including impl ion of
robust approval processes; remegotiated customer contract terms and pricing; aligned product management and program
‘management; climinated legacy products and services that were not contributing meaningfully to related segment net sales and
or gross profits and launched new products as this segment transitions from low or no margin non-recurring engineering
contracts to higher volume manufacturing ordess.

As an update to our recent performance, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2025, we were awarded a mix of orders which span
across multiple product lines and included, among others:

= additional funding of approximately S10.3 million from a major US. prime contractor in support of NASA's Orion
Produetion and Operations Contract ("OPOC™), commanly known as the Artemis project;

+  incremental funding of approximately $74 million for continued. ongoing trining and support of complex
Y ity jons for U.S. g :

= S2.8 million in funded orders calling for the supply of Very Small Aperture Terminal (“VSAT™) equipment and related
services for the U.S. Army {given the award of the follow on "VSAT IV" contract to a competitor, we do not expect
material contributions from our legacy contract going forward);

= over 2.0 million in funded orders for high power Ka band traveling wave tube amplifiers for use in a satellite
constellation designed to provide high speed intemer access 1o rural areas of the ULS.;

= approximately $2.0 million in funded orders from a long-term, existing international customer for the procurement of’
EEE space parts and services;

= approximately $2.0 million in funded orders from the U.S. Navy for satellite ground infrastructure solutions,

= over $1.0 million in funded orders related to an international customer’s replacement of an cxisting air traffic control
network: and

= over $1.0 million in funded orders for satellite ground infrastructure solutions intended for use in the SES mPower
satellite constellation.
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In fiscal 2024, we won a highly competitive 348.6 million contract to deliver next-generation Enterprise Digital Intermediate
Frequency Multi-Carrier (“EDIM”) modems for the U.S. Amy's satellite communications ("SATCOM") digitization and
modernization programs. The advanced, software defined EDIM madem is intended to: support multiple satellite providers;
become one of the primary madems used for U.S. military SATCOM, eventually replacing the Enhanced Bandwidth Efficient
Modem ("EBEM™); and provide the U.5, Army, Navy and Air Foree with a digitized, hybrid satellite network architecture, We
are progressing with our efforts on this contract and pleased to have recently secured incremental funding from the customer for
additional work, as well as funding for initial production quantities 1o be delivered following the completion of final acceptance
testing, currently anticipated in fiscal 2026.

During fiscal 2025, we began deliveries of initial produetion units 1o our prime contractor in support of a next-generation
satellite modem contract and will be moving into full production during fiscal 2026, as the program transitions from a muli-
year lie\clupmx:nl period into a production-ordented stage. A second next-generation product with the same prime contractor has
alse in and is also expected to begin production deliveries in fiscal 2026, These are
mpackant - rilestones: for e S&S: segrment, as they adiréss the- longawaiet: igition: o |GWATsAN. BOGECArTng
engineering effors to higher volume production with improved operating margins and faster cash conversion cycles.

In our troposcatter product line, throughout most of fiscal 2024, we experienced elevated levels of receivables due to the timing
of our performance on and billings and collections related to ccnﬁm iargc L S, government and international eustomer
contracts, During principally the first half of fiscal 2025, we of ne: terminals
related to our US. Marine Corps and Army end user contracts, ing o a 6% reduction in our
consolidated receivables, net as of July 31, 2025, In December 2024, however, we received notice from our prime contractor to
stop work associated with the ULS. Marine Carps conteact. Such contract was subsequently terminated. We have initiated
litigation against the prime contractor in order to enforce our rights and recover $13,7 million of total receivables related to this
contract as of July 31, 2025, While we believe that we have meritorious claims, some or all of such receivables could be at risk
of not being collected. Future results of operations related to our troposcatier solutions product line depend, in part, on the
nature, timing and amount associated with resolving this matter,

In Scpwmtm 2025, as part of our cost savings p\ans. we made the decision w migrate certain production capabilities and
| functions o our I ing in Chandler, Arizona. Such initiative is expected to be completed in fiscal
2026, result in increased manufacturing efficiencies, allow us to further optimize our facilities footprint and result in recurring

annualized cost savings of approximately $3.0 million.

Allerium

With strategic wins in the U.S., Canada and Australia. we believe Comtech's position as a trusted leader in 911, NG-211 and
public safety applications positions us increasingly well when it comes 1o delivering similarly sophisticated solutions for other
types of emergencies, New emergency requesting devices, such as "wearables," vehicles, smart speakers and Al capable
cameras, and new delivery methads, such as through satellite networks, are expected to drive innavation and growth within the
public safety market over time.

As an update 1w our recent performance, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 20235, we were awarded a mix of orders which span
across multiple product lines and included, among others:

¢ over 320.0 million of incremental. multi-year funding related to the continued deployment of NG-911 solutions for the
State of Ohioy

»  more than $4.5 million of initial funding related 1o the deployment of our NG-911 call handling solutions for a new
customer in South Ausiralia;

» over $5.5 million of incremental funding 1o migrate additional counties onto our NG-%11 solutions deployed in the
State of South Carolina;

+in excess of 320 million of funding to provide emergency location-hased solutions e a mobile network operator
located in Canada,

+ approximately $2.0 million of incremental funding in support of an NG-911 emergency communications platform in
the Northeastern region of the U.S.;

+ various funded orders, aggrepating approximately $2.0 million, to provide new features and seeurity enhancements for
wireless emergency alert and other location-based solutions provided to a top tier mobile network operator; and
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= over $1.5 million of incremental funding from a NG-1 1 customer in the Southeastern region of the 1.8

Subsequent to year end. in November 2025, Allerium secured a multi-year contract extension from its largest customer — a
leuamg telecommunications company in the U.S. known for its network rellai:ﬂl[y and security, Thls contract award is valued
in excess of $130.0 million and is for a scalable service, The Allerium's o helping carriers
and public safety critical and optimize service reliability with confidence.

During fiscal 2023, we launched the rebranding of our Terrestrial and Wireless Networks segment 1o "Allerium,” a fusion of
“all” and “continuum,” Allerium is a name we believe symbolizes the seamless connection, collaberation, reliability and
empowerment that we are focused on delivering to public safety professionals and essential service providers, Allerium reflects
a brand rooted in experience, driven by innovation and built for those who protect our communitics. This rebrand serves to
clarify our go-to-market strategy under a single identity, which we believe reaffirms our commitment 1o delivering successful
outcomes when it matters most. The rebrand strengthens market recognition, enhances customer trust and positions the business
for sustained growth. Allerium underscores our focus on leng-term value creation by improving brand equity. expanding
customer reach and enabling more efficient go-to-market exceution. It also increases visibility within key public safety and
network markets, sectors defined by trust, reliability and innovation. While the rebrand has changed, our mission has not: to
serve those who protect our communities. with technology that performs when every connection counts.

el wd Other Matters, i Jr &

Ve itea] St

On July 21, 2025, we entered into the third amendment 1w the Credit Facility which, among other things: (i) suspends, until the
four-quarter period ending January 31, 2027, testing of the Net Leverage Ratio, the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and the
Minimum EBITDA covenants; (i} altered the interest rate margins applicable to Term Loans; (iii) delayed the scheduled
repayment of a portion of the principal of the Term Loans; (iv] delayed the scheduled repayment of fees duc pursuant to the
secorud amendment to the Credit Facility; (v) reduced the Minimum EBITDA requirements; (vi) reduced the minimum quarterly
Average Liquidity requirement {from $17.5 million to 515.0 million). (vii) permits us o engage in the sale or disposition of’
certain properties and assets (the “Specified Permitted Individual Disposition™) approved by the administrative agent, subject to
the conditions to use net cash proceeds from such sale to repay outstanding principal amounts of the obligations under our
) permitted partial repayments, without premium, of approximately $28.5 million of the outstanding Term
ion of the outstanding Revolver Loans; (ix) permanently reduced commitments under the Revolver Luun
Facility by 52.1 million; and (x) required us to adopi management incentive and retention arrangements for key personn
connection with the contemplation of our strategic altematives.

We also amended the Subordinated Credit Agreement on July 21, 2025, which, among other things; (i) provided for the
incurrence of a $35.0 million incremental facility, the net proceeds of which were used to pay certain ransaction costs, fees and
expenses incurred in connection with amendments to our credit facilities and to prepay, without premium, portions of the
outstanding Term Loans and Revolver Loan under the Credit Facility, as discussed above; (iih suspends, until the four-quarter
periad ending January 31, 2027, testing of the Net Leverage ratia, the Fixed Charge Coverage ratio and the Minimum EBITDA
covenants: (ifi) modified the interest rate applicable o the subordinated term loans: (iv) reduced the Minimum EBITDA
requirements, (v) reduced the mum quarterly Average Liquidity requirement (from $17.5 million to $15.00 million); {vi)
permits us to engage in the Specified Permitted Individual Disposition approved by the subordinated agent {subject to the same
Tequirement with respect to the application of net cash proceeds from such Specified Permitted Individual Disposition as
discussed sbove under the third nm:nvdmem to the Cmdn Facility); and {\-l} required us to adopt management incentive and
relention for key § in with the of our strategic alternatives (also as discussed
abave under the third amendment to the Credit Facility). Interest on the $35.0 million shall be paid-in-kind quarterly. in arrears,
by capitalizing and adding the unpaid and accrued amount of such interest to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the
incremental priority subordinated credit facility on the last business day of each quarter. Unlike the existing subordinated term
loans, the incremental priority subordinated credit facility is not subject to any make-whole premium.

Collectively, we helieve these actions provide us with enhanced financial flexibility, as we continue to transtorm our Company
and pursue strategic alternatives. Sce Part I, - frem 8. Financial Siarements and Supplementary Data - Notes w Consolidated
Financial Statements - Note (8) - Credit Facility, Note (9) - Subordinated Credis Facility and Note (17) - Convertible Preferred
Srock for further information.
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In August 2025, as part of our engoing board refreshment initiatives, our Board of Directors (the “Board™) appointed Mr. Lloyd
A. Sprung as an independent director, Mr. Sprung’s extensive corpoarate finance. capital markets and restructuring experience
qualifics him to serve on the Board. Mr, Sprung’s appointment also satisfies our obligation to appoint an independent director
mestually agreed to by us and our lenders under the Credit Facility.

Business Quilook

While business conditions and our operational and fnancial performance have improved over the past several quarters, the
operating environment remains largely unpredictable due to many factors, including but not limited to our ongoing
transformation plan and the actions we may take, as well as those other matters as discussed throughout this Form 10-K. in our
Note Abour Forward-Looking Statements in this Form 10-K and in Parr [, frem [A. Risk Facrors, Such conditions and factors
have caused and could cause variability in our financial resulis from period o peried.

Additional information related to our Fiscal 2025 Results and Business Outlook and a definition and explanation of Adjusted
EBITDA is included in the below section ftem 7, Managemcnt 's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of
Operartions - Comparison of Fiscal 2025 and 2024,

Comparison of Fiscal 2025 and 2024

Net Sales. Consolidated net sales were $499.5 million and $540.4 million for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively, representing a
decrease of 340.9 million, or 7.6%. The decrease reflects significantly lower net sales in our Satellite and Space
Communications segment offset, in part, by higher net sales in our Allerium segment, as further discussed below.

Net sales in our Satellite and Space Communications segment were $269.3 million for fiscal 2025, as compared to $324.1
million for fiscal 2024, a decrease of $54.8 million, or 16.9%. Related segment net sales in fiscal 2025 primarily reflect the
anticipated lower net sales of our solutions icy 1 i terminals o the U.S. Marine
Corps and Army and COMET terminals to an international customer), EEE space components and antennas (including those
related to the CGC Divestiture initiated in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2024) and high-power solid state amplifiers related to the
PST D (which was in ! wber 2023), offset, in part, by higher net sales of our SATCOM solutions
(primarily satellite ground infrastructure solutions and VSAT and similar equipment sales to the U.S. Army}, More broadly, net
sales in this segment reflect a favorable change in the mix of products and services sold relative to the prior year period. Net
sales in fiscal 2025 reflect the discontinuation of certain low-margin business in order to focus on opportunities in which we can
provide a more differentiated solution at higher margins, as well as an ongoing shift back to higher volume production orders in
our satellite ground infrastructure solutions produet line, as certain legacy low or no margin non-recurring engineering contracts
draw nearer o completion. Our Satellite and Space C ications segment rep 1 53.9% of consolidated net sales for
fiscal 2025, as compared to 60.0% for fiscal 2024, Our book-to-bill ratio (a measure defined as bookings ded by net sales)
in this segment for fiscal 2025 was 0.62x, which includes & $36.4 million debooking associated with the ULS, Army GFSR
contract that was protested and ultimately awarded to the incumbent (see Fiseal 2025 Highlights and Business Outlook above
for further information).

Allerinm
Net sales in our Allerium segment were $230.3 million for Gscal 2025, as compared to §216.3 million for fiscal 2024, an
increase of $14.0 million, or 6.5%. Related segment net sales for fiscal 2025 reflect higher sales of our NG-911 emergency
communication, call handling and location-based solutions, Our Allerium segment represented 46.1% of consolidated net sales
for fiscal 2025, as compared 10 40.0% for fiscal 2024. Our book-to-bill ratio in this segment for fiscal 2025 was (.89x,

o year end, in Ny 2025, we were awarded a large, multi-year contract extension from a ULS. domestic
muobile network operator, valued in excess of SI30.0 million,

Bookings, sales and profitability in both segments can fluctuate from period-to-period due to many factors, including

predi funding, depl and decisions by our customers and changes in the general business
environment. Period-to-period fluctuations in bookings are normal for our segments. As such, period-to-period comparisons of
our results may not be indicative of a trend or future performance, Also, we announced that we are exploring strategic
alternatives for our businesses. Accordingly, future results of aperations can be impacted by the timing and outcome of such
initiatives, There can be no assurance that the exploration of strategic altematives will result in a transaction or other straegic
changes or outcomes.
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Geography and Customer Tipe
Sales by geography and customer type, as a percentage of related sales, for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025 and 2024 are as
follows:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Satellite and Space
o o

Allerium C
U.5. government 350 % L2% 1.1 % 303 % BIT%
Domestic 134 % 0.0 % BI.4 % 48.7 % 448 %
Total U.S. 685 % 91.2% 90.5 % 790 % TRS %
International 31.5% 29.5% B8 % 9.5 % 21.0 % 21.5 %
Total 100.0 % 1000 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

Sales to U.S. government customers include sales to the U.S. DoD, intelligence and civilian agencies, as well as sales directly to
or through prime contractors, Domestic sales include sales to commercial customers, as well as to U.S. state and local
governments, For fiscal 2025 and 2024, except for the U.S. govemment, there were no customers that represented more than
10% of consolidated net sales. International sales for fiscal 2025 and 2024 (which include sales to 118, domestic companies for
inclusion in products that are sold to international customers) were $105.1 million and $115.9 million, respectively. Except for
the U.S., no individual country (including sales to U.S. domestic companies for inclusion in products that are sold to a foreign
country) represented more than 10% of consolidated net sales for fiscal 2025 and 2024,

Gross Profit. Gross profit was §127.9 million and $157.2 million for fscal 2025 and 2024, respectively, a decrease of $29.3
million. Gross profit, as a percentage of consolidated net sales, for fiscal 2025 was 25.6%, as compared to 29.1% for fiscal
2024, Our gross profit (both in dollars and as a percentage of consolidated net sales) reflects: (i) overall product mix changes, as
discussed above; (ii) & non-cash charge of $11.4 million related 10 the write down of certain inventories as a result of
restructuring activities within our Satellite and Space Communications segment; (iii) higher expected costs at completion, as we
advanced a non-recurring engineering related project in our Satellite and Space Communications segment (and with an
international customer) through development and wward production: and (iv) the expensing of weork in process inventory
related to certain loss comracts in our satellite ground infrastructure product line. Excluding the non-cash inventory-related
«charge, our gross profit, as a percentage of consolidated net sales, for fiscal 2023 would have been 27.9%, a decrease from the
29.1% reported in fiscal 2024 In the second half of fiscal 2025, we experienced sequential improvements in our margins (hoth
in dollars and as a percentage of consolidated net sales), with gross profit for each of the third and fourth quarters exceeding
30.0% of net sales. Also, gross profit (both in dollars and as a percentage of consolidated net sales) in fiscal 2024 was
influenced by a large, high margin sale of COMET terminals to an international customer, which did not repear in fiscal 2023,
Gross profit, as a percentage of related segment net sales, s further discussed below.

Our Satellite and Space Communications segment's gross profit. both in dollars and as a percentage of related segment net
sales, for fiscal 2025 decreased significantly in comparison to fiscal 2024, The gross profit percentage in the more recent period
Tefleets changes in products and services mix, as well as other segment related items, as discussed above,

During fiscal 2025, we have revamped this segment with new and
around differentiated technology and solutions: impt ility and process ipli including il
robust approval processes; renegotiated customer contracis terms and pricing; aligned product management and program
‘management; eliminated legacy praducts and services that were not contributing meaningfully o related segment net sales and
or gross profits and launched new products as this segment transitions from low or no margin non-recurming engincering
contracts o higher volume manufacturing orders. As evidenced by the improvement in our gross profit percentage for this
segment in the second half of fiseal 2025, we believe our margins in this segment will continue 1o benefit from these initiatives,
and other actions we may take, over time.

our product portfolio
I of

Our Allerium segment's gross profit, both in dollars and as a percentage of related segment net sales, for fiscal 2025 increased
in comparison to fiscal 2024, The gross profit percentage in the more recent period reflects changes in products and services
mix, as discussed above, Such gross margins also reflect the continued adoption of our solutions by new customers, as well as
the migration of more PSAPs onto our NG-911 core services and platfarms, as we progress through initial deplayments of our
solutions to nunthly recurring revenue streams.
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Included in lidated cost of sales are for excess and obsolete inventory of $16.2 million and $2.8 million, for
fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. As discussed in [tem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operaions - Critical Accounting Policies - Provisions for Excess and Obsolere Invenory, we regularly review our
imventory and record a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based on historical and projected usage trends. As discussed
above and in Netes to Consoliduted Financial Statemenis - Note (5] - Imventories included in Part Il - Jtem 8. Financial

and St A Data, in ion with our to transform our Company, during the fiest quarter of
fiseal 2025, we recorded a non-cash charge of $11.4 million within Cosr af Sales on our Consolidaied Statement of Operarions
related to the write down of inventory sssociated with approximately 70 products within our satellite ground infrastructure
product line that were discontinued. Such non-cash charge also included the write down of inventory associated with the CGC
Divestiture that was no longer considered salable during the period.

Our consalidared gross profit, as a percentage of consolidated net sales, depends on the volume of sales, sales mix and related
gross profit for each segment, and therefore is inherently difficult to forecast. Our consolidated gross profit, as a percentage of
consolidated net sales, may also be impacted by the timing and outcome of actions we may ke related to our transformation
sirategy

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. S:]lml,. general and administrative expenses were $143.5 million and $123.2
million for fiscal 2025 and 2024, resp Asap of net sales, selling, general and administrative
expenses were 28, 7% and 22.8% for fiscal ZIJ"S and 2024, respeciively. Although higher on a year-over-year basis, in fiscal
2025, we implemented actions to reduce overall spending on gencral and administrative activitics, primarily in our Satellite and
Space Communications and Unallocated segments. As a result, throughout fiscal 2025, we achieved sequential reductions in
our consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses each quarter.

During fiscal 2025, we determined that an unbilled receivable contract asset related to an international customer and reseller of
our troposcatier technologics was at risk of not being inveiced or eollected, principally due to the customer's near-term ability 1o
secure certuin opportunities in its pipeline, As a result and considering that we vffered a price concession (i.e., variable
consideration) 1o our customer in the first quarter of fiscal 20235, we reversed $1.6 million of cumulative revenue and associated
unbilled receivable contract assets related to this transaction, and recorded a non-cash charge to fully reserve for the remaining
$16.1 million unbilled receivable contract asset within our allowance for doubtful accaunts,

Also, during fiscal 2025 and 2024, we incurred $15.6 million and §12.5 million, respectively, of restructuring costs within
selling, general and administrative expenses. primarily to ine our operations and improving efficiency (including costs
related to legal and professional fees associated with our pursuit of strategic alternatives. the wind down of our steerable
antenna product line in the UK. initiated in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2024 and severance costs),

Excluding such provision for doubtful accounts and restructuring cosis, selling, general and administrative expenses for fscal
20235 and 2024 would have been $111.% million or 22.3% and $110.7 million or 20.5%, respectively, of conselidated net sales.
The increase in our selling, general and administrative expenses, in dollars and as a percentage of consolidated net sales,
excluding such items is primarily due to si cantly lower consolidated net sales and higher legal and professional fees and
cash-based incentive compensation, offset in part by recent divestitures (ie., PST and CGC) and lower stock-based
compensation, as discussed below.

A of stock-based ion expense recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses was $2.5 million
in fiseal 2025, as compared to $4.8 million in fiscal 2024, During fiscal 2025 we r:u:rucr] a portion of our stock-based
compensation expense related to perfi ce shares due 1o I h of fiscal 2022 and 2023
performance share goals. Stock-based compensation expense for the more recent perlod also reflects the forfeiture of awards
related to our former Chief Operating Officer and former Chief Executive Officer, whose emp were both terminated
during the more recent perind. Additionally, with respect 1 stock-based compensation expense reported in the prior year
period, we had determined to settle fiscul 2024 non-equity annual incentive awards acerued during such period with stock-based
awards in lieu of cash. Amortization of stock-based compensation is not allocated 10 our two reportable operating segments

Research and Developmenr Expenses, Research and development expenses were $17.4 million and $24,1
2025 and 2024, respectively, representing a decrease of $6.7 million, or 27.8%. As a percentage of consol
research and development expenses were 3.5% and 4 5% for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively.
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For fiscal 2025 and 2024, research and development expenses of $5.6 million and $12.9 million, respectively, related to our
Satellite and Space Communications segment, and $11.6 million and $10.6 million, respectively, related to our Allerium
segment, The ining research and P expenses of $0.2 million and $0.6 million in fiscal 2025 and 2024,
respectively, related to the ion of stock-based

‘Whenever possible, we seek customer funding for research and development to adapt our products to specialized customer
requirements. During fiscal 2025 and 2024, customers reimbursed us $22.8 million and 323.0 million, respectively, which is not
reflected in the reported research and development expenses but is included in net sales with the related costs included in cost of
salles.

In addition to increases in customer-funded research and development activities in recent years, in fiscal 2025 and 2024, we
also an increase in efforts related to cost to fulfill contract assets and internal use software, for which
we capitalized $6.8 million and $6.7 million. respectively. As a result of these trends, a more focused prioritization of resources
across various programs and the impact of prior reductions in force announced in fiscal 2023, our internal research and
development expenses for financial reporting purposes has significantly decreased more recently as compared to historical
periads.

During fiscal 2025 and 2024, we mcuned $0.3 million and $4.1 million, respectively, of strategic emerging technology costs in
our Satellite and Space C segment for next satellite technology 1o advance our solutions offerings o
he used with newer hroadband satellite constellations. As a result of our decision to cease operations related to our steerable
antenna produet line in the UK., we do not expect to incur similar strategic emerging technology costs in the fisture,
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af relating to assets with finite lives was $21.7 million for fiscal 2025 (of
which 37.2 million was for the Satellite and Space Communications segment and $14.5 million was for the Allerium segment)
and 821.2 million for fiscal 2024 (of which £6.7 million was for the Satellite and Space Communications segment and $14.3
million was for the Allerium segment). The increase in our Satellite and Space Communications segment's amortization during
the more recent period reflects the impact of our decision to wind down our steerable antenna product line in the UK.

Impairment of Lomg-lived Assers, including Goodwill. Based on lower-than-expected financial performance during the first
quarter of fiscal 2025 within our Satellite and Space Comimunications segment, and other factors, we determined that we were
required to perform an interim quantitative goodwill impairment test as of October 31, 2024. Based on our quantitative
evaluation, we determined that our Satellite and Space Communications reporting unit had an estimated fair value below irs
carrying value and concluded that our goodwill in this reporting unit was impaired. As a result, in the first quarter of fiscal
2025, we reeognized a $79.6 million non-cash gaodwill impaimment charge in our Satellite and Space Communications
reporting unit. In addition to testing goodwill for impairment, we also assessed the recoverability of the carrying values of our
other long-lived assets in this segment. including idemtifiable intangible assers with finite useful lives, Based on our evaluation,
we determined that the fair values of such assets were not impaired, We performed cur next quantitative goodwill impairment
test as of August 1, 2025 (ie., the start of our fiscal 2026) and determined that our Satellite and Space Communications and
Allerium reporting umits had estimated fair values in excess of their carrying values and concluded that our goodwill as of such
date was not impaired. See Notes fo Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I - liem 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Dara included in this Form 10-K for further information,

Praxy Solicitation Costs. During fiscal 2025, we incurred 52.7 million of proxy solicitation costs (including legal and advisory
fiees) in our Unallocated segment as a resull of a now-settled proxy contest. There were no similar costs in fiscal 2024,

CEQ Transition Costs, During fiscal 20235 and 2024, we recorded 32,1 million and $2.9 million, respectively, relaied to CEO
transition costs. Such Unallocated expenses primarily represent legal expenses related to a former CEO, severance related o
another former CEOQ, third party CECh search firm expenses and expenses related to a sign on bonus for our current CEO.

Loss on Business Divestiture, In connection with the PST Divestiture, during fiscal 2024, we recorded a $1.2 million loss in
our Unallocated segment due o the acquirer not achicving certain post-divestiture cam-out criteria. Although a loss for GAAP
purposes, the PST Divestiture resulted in a gain for bax purposes. However, we completed the PST Divestiture in a tax efficicnt
manner as we utilized a portion of our capital loss carry forward which is set to expire in 2026,




Operating (Loss) Twcome, Operating loss for fiscal 2025 and 2024 was S139.1 million and 579.9 million, respectively.
Operating (loss) income by reportable segment is shown in the table below:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Satellite and Space

(8 in millions) Communications Allerivum Unallocated Consolidated
Operating (loss) income 5 (1116 3 (342) § 241 $ 217 § (516) 5 (474) § (139.1) § (79.9)
Percentage of related net sales MNA NA 10.5 % 10.0 % NA NA NA NA

Our GAAP operating loss of $139.1 million for fiscal 2025 reflects: {i) a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $79.6
million; (i) $21.7 million of amortization of intangibles; (iii) Slﬁ‘ﬂ mllllon of restrecturing costs [of‘\ahlch £35.5 million, $U &
million and $9.5 million related to our Satellite and Space Co Allerium and Unall, | segments,

(iv) 53.1 million of i of stock-based comy () 32.7 million of proxy solicitation costs; (vi) 2.1 millien u[
CEO transition costs: (vii) $0.3 million of strategic emerging technology costs: and (vaii) $0.3 million of amortization of cost to
fulfill assets, as discussed above. Excluding such items, our consolidated operating loss for fiseal 2025 would have been $13.8
million,

Our GAAP operating loss of $79.9 million for fiscal 2024 reflects: (i) a non-cash goadwill impairment charge of 364.5 million;
(11} $21.2 million of amertization of intangibles; (i11) $12.5 million of resiructuring costs (of which $3.8 million, $0.6 million
and $8.1 million related to our Satellite and Space Communications, Allerium and Unallocated segments, respectively); (iv)
$6.1 millien of amortization of stock-based compensation: (v) 54.1 million of strategic emerging technology costs; (vi) 2.9
million of CEO transition costs: (vii) a $1.2 million foss on the PST Divestiture reported in our Unallocated segment: and (viii)
$1.0 million of amoriization of cost to fulfill assets, as discussed above, ing such items, our idated operating
income for fiscal 2024 would have been $33.5 million.

The decrease, excluding the above items, from 533.5 million of operating income o 513.8 million of operating loss for the
more receni period primarily reflects lower consolidated net sales and gross profii (both in dollars and as a percentage of
consolidated net sales) and higher selling, general and administrative expenses, offset in part by lower research and
development cxpenscs, as discussed above. Dperating income (loss) by reportable scgment is further discussed below.

The fiscal 2025 operating loss for our Satellite and Space C icati segment was ly impacted by the $79.6
million non-cash goodwill impairment charge in the first quarter of fiscal 2025, The decrease in our Satellite and Space
Communications scgment operating income for fiscal 2025 also reflects significantly lower nct sales and gross profit, both in
dollars and a5 u percentage of reluted segment net sales (including an $11.4 million non-cash charge related 1o the write down
of cerain inventory and impact of the PST and CGC divesti ), an ¥ non-cash goodwill
impairment charge, higher selling, general and administrative expenses {driven by a $16.1 mﬂhon non-cash charge related to an
allowance for doubtful accounts, offset in part by cost savings initiatives) and higher amontization of intangibles, offset in pant
by lower research and development expenscs, as discussed above.

The increase in our Allerium segment operating income, both in dollars and as a percentage of the related segment nel sales, for
fiscal 2025 reflects higher net sales and gross profit, offset in part by higher selling, general and administrative expenses and
rescarch and development expenscs, as discussed above.

Excluding the loss on the PST Divestiture, proxy solicimtion costs, CEO transition cosis and its respective portion of
restructuring charges in each period, Unallocated expenses for fiscal 2025 would have been $37.3 million, as compared to $35.3
million for fiscal 2024, The increase in Unallocated expenses, excluding such items, was primarily due to higher selling,
general and administrative expenses, as discussed above,

Interest Expense and Other. Interest expense was 3457 million and $22.2 million for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. The
increase during fiscal 2023 is primarily due to: higher interest rates and fees and average debt balance outstanding during the
more recent period related to our Credit Facility; accreted interest related to our Subordinated Credit Facility; the amortization
of deferred financing costs and debe discounts related to both credit facilities; and the immediate expensing of certain financing
fees related to refinancing and or amending our eredit facilities, as discussed forther in Nores ro Consolidated Finaneial
Siatements - Note (8) - Credit Facility and Note (9) - Suborcinated Credit Facility included in Part I - liem 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data. Our effective interest rate in fiscal 2025 was approximately 19.6% as compared to 12.3%
in fiseal 2024, Our current cash bormowing rate under our Credit Facility is approximately 13.9%, which reflects the benefit of
recent amendments to the Credit Facility and lower interest rates, as compared to 14.8% in the correspoending prior vear period,
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Tnterest (Income) and Other. Interest (income) and other for both fiscal 2025 and 2024 was nominal. All of our available cash
and cash equivalents are currently invested in bank deposits and money market deposit accounts which, at this time, are
currently yielding an immaterial interest rate.

Write-aff af Deferred Financing Costs and Debt Discounts. In connection with the October 17, 2024, March 3, 2025 and July
21, 2025 amendments to the Credit Facility and Subordinated Credit Facility, and in particular, the prepayments of Term Loan
principal and reduced commitments under the Credit Facility, $9.0 million of deferred financing fees and debt discounts were
immediately expensed during fiscal 2025, During fiscal 2024, in connection with the June 17, 2024 refinancing and
extinguishment of the prior credit facility, we fully expensed all $1.8 million of the remaining deferred financing costs related
10 such eredit facility,

Change in Fair Valwe of Warrants and Derivatives. During fiscal 2025 and 2024, we recorded a $38.5 million and §4.3
million non-cash benefit, respectively, due to the remeasurement of warrants and derivatives related to our Credit Facility,
Subordinated Credit Facility and Convertible Preferred Stock. The remeasurement and resulting non-cash benefit for fiscal
2025 primarily reflects a decrease in the estimated probability of events that could result in additional and/or accelerated
payments te holders of our Convertible Preferred Stock and lenders under our Subordinated Credit Facility. The remeasurement
and resulting non-cash benefit for fiscal 2024 was driven by the impact of a lower market price of our cammen stock after the
issuanee of the warrants to the holders of our Convertible Preferred Stock in January 2024, offset in part by a higher market
price of our common stock after the issuance of warrants tw certain lenders under our Credit Facility in June 2024. See Nares w0
Consolidated Financial Statements - Note (8) - Credie Facilivg, Note (%) - Subordinated Credit Faciliny and Nowe (17} -
Conversitle Preferved Siock included in Pars I - ltem 8 Financial Statemenis and Supplementary Daia for more information.

Benefit from Income Taxes, For fiscal 2025 and 2024, we recorded nominal tax benefits, Our effective tax rate (excluding
discrete tax items) for fiscal 2025 was (0.47)%, as compared to 8,1% for fiscal 2024, The decrease in the rate is primarily due w
changes in expected product and geographical mix and not providing for tax benefits on U8, and UK. related deferred tax
assets in the more recent period. For purposes of determining our (0.47)% effective tax rate for fiscal 2025, the impairment of
roodwill, the change in fair value of warrants and derivatives, proxy solicitation costs and CEO transition costs are considered
significant. unusual or infrequently oceurring discrete tax items and excluded from the computation of our effective 1ax rate,

During fiscal 2025, we recorded a net discrete tax benefit of $0.6 million primarily related to the reversal of tax contingencies
no longer required duc to the of statute of li and proxy solicitation costs. During fiscal 2024, we
recorded a net discrete tax expense of $2.7 million, primarily refated w stock-based awards and the establishment of a valuation
allowance on ULS, net deferred iax assets, partially ofTset by the reversal of tax coniingencies no longer required due to the
expiration of applicable statute of limitations.

Our U.S. federal income tax returns for fiscal 2022 through 2025 are subject to potential future IRS sudit. None of our state and
foreign income tax retums prior to fiscal 2021 are subject to audit. Future tax assessments or settlements could have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated resulis of operations and financial condition.

Stackholde

Net Loss il to Common During fiscal 2025 and 2024, consolidated net loss attributable to common
stockholders was 5204.3 million and 5135.4 million, respectively. In addition Lo those items discussed above: (i) fiscal 2025
includes $100.]1 million of net dividends related 1o our Converiible Preferred Stock, offset, in part, by a $51.2 million gain
related to the exchange of our Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock for Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock on October
17, 2024; and (i} fiscal 2024 includes: (a) $19.6 million of losses related to the cxchange of our Series A-1 Convertible
Preferred Stock for Series B Convertible Preferred Stock on January 22, 2024 (inclusive of the initial fair value of warrants
issued 1o such holders) and the exchange of our Series B Convertible Preferred Stock for Series B-1 Convertible Preferred
Stock on June 17, 2024; (b) $11.6 million of dividends related to our Convertible Preferred Stock; and (¢) $4.3 million of Series
B Convertible Preferred Stock issuance costs {consisting of third party financial advisor, legal and professional fees). For
GAAP purposes, net dividends related to our Convertible Preferred Stock reflect dividends in kind and dividends accrued
al the stated rate, as well as changes in the carrying value of such Convertible Preferred Siock due to changes in the fair value of
derivati inthe i




Adjusied EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA (both in dollars and as a percentage of related net sales) for both fiscal 2023 and 2024
are shown in the table below (numbers in the table may not foot due to rounding):

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,
2023 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Satellite and
(8 in milliensh Communications Allerium Unallocated Consolidated
Operating (loss) income S(I1L6) (542) 241 217 (51.6) (474) $(139.1) (79.9)
i of stock-hased — — - — 31 é.1 31 6.1

Amortization of intangibles 73 67 14.5 14.5 = 217 22
Impairment of long-lived assets, including

goodwill 796 645 — o — — 796 645
Depreciation 30 39 83 7.9 0.3 04 I8 122
Amortization of cost to ful fill assets 03 1.0 — — — — 03 10
Restructuring costs 55 38 0.6 0.6 95 &1 156 125
Strategic emerging technology costs 03 4.1 - 03 4.1
Proxy solicitation costs — — — 23 — 237 —
CEO transition costs — — — — 21 29 21 9
Laoss on business divestiture == = — — — 12 == 12
Adjusted EBITDA $ (15.8) 298 47.6 447 (33.7) (287) § (20) 457
Perceniage of related net sales:

Operating income NA NA 105% 10.0% NA NA MNA NA

Adjusted EBITDA NA  92% 207% 206% NA NA NA 85 %

The decrease in consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, both in dollars and as a percentage of consolidated net sales. for fiscal 2025 as
compared to fiscal 2024 primarily reflects lower consolidated net sales and gross profit (both in dollars and as a percentage of
consolidated ner sales, and including an $11.4 million non-cash charge related 1o a write down of inventoryh and higher selling,
general and administrative expenses (driven by a $16.1 million non-cash charge related 1o an allowanee for doubtful accounts),
offset in part by lower research and development expenses, s discussed above,

The decrense in our Satellite and Space Communications segment's Adjusted EBITDA reflects significantly lower net sales and
gross profit (both in dollars and as a percentage of related segment net sales, and including an 511.4 million nos-cash charge
related to inventory) and higher selling. general and administrative expenses (driven by a $16.1 million non-cash charge related
10 an allowance for doubtful accounts), offset in part by lower rescarch and development expenses, as discussed above,

The increase in our Allerium segment's Adjusted EBITIDA, both in dollars and as a percentage of related segment net sales,
reflects higher gross profit (bath in dollars and s a percentage of related segment net sales). offset by higher selling, general
and administrative expenses and higher research and development expenses, as discussed above.
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Reconciliations of our GAAP lidated results to the corresponding Non-GAAP measures are shown in the tables below
(numbers and per share amounts in the tables may not foot due to rounding). Non-GAAP results refleet Non-GAAP provisions
for (benefits from) income taxes hased on year-to-date results, as adjusted for the Non-GAAF reconciling items included in the
tables below. We evaluate our Non-GAAP effective income tax rate on an ongoing basis, and it can change from time to time.
Our Non-GAAP effective income tax rate can differ materially from our GAAP effective income tax rate. In addition, due w
the GAAP net loss for the period, Non-GAAP net income per diluted common share for fiseal 2024 was computed using
weighted average diluted shares outstanding of 29,132,000, respectively.

Fiscal 2025
Net Loss. Net Loss
Antributable Income per
Operating 1 Common Diluted

(% in millions, except for per share amounts) Luoss Common Share

Reconciliation of GAAP 1o Non-GAAP Earnings:

GAAP measures, as reported $0139.1) 5204.3) 3 (6.95)
Adjustments to reflect redemption value of convertible preferred stock o 100.1 340
Change in fair value of warrants and derivatives (38.5) (1.32)
Gain on extinguishment of convertible preferred stock - (51.2) (1.74)
Impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill 79.6 79.6 271
Amortization of intangibles 217 20.8 0.71
Restructuring costs 15.6 14.9 0.51
A ization of stock-based i 31 kR | 011
Proxy solicitation costs 23 25 0.09
CEO transition costs 2.1 20 0.07
Strategic emerging technology costs 03 03 0.01
Amortization of cost to ful fill assets 0.3 03 a1
et discrere tax benefit — (0.3) (001

Non-GAAP measures S (138) 5 (70.8) s (241)

Fiscal 2024

Net {Loss)
Income Met {Loss)
Operating  Auributable Income per
(Loss) to Common Diluted
{5 in millions, except for per share amountsy Income Common Share
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Earnings:
GAAP measures, as reported 5 (79.9) S(135.4) 5 {4.700
Loss on extinguishment of convertible preferred stock — 196 0.68
i 1o reflect ion value of ible preferred stock — 159 0.55
Change in fair value of warrants and derivatives - (43) (0.15)
Impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill 64.5 638 221
‘Amortization of intangibles 212 16.4 0.57
Restructuring costs 12.5 97 0.34
Amortization of stock-based compensation 6.1 48 0.17
Strategic emerging technology costs 4.1 iR 0.13
CEO transition costs 29 22 0.08
Loss on business divestiture 13 1.2 0.04
Amortization of cost to fulfill assets 1.0 1o 0.03
Net discrete Lax expense 4.1 0.14
Non-GAAP measures $




Our Adjusted EBITDA is a Non-GAAP measure that represents eamings (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation,
amortization of intangibles, impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill, amortization of cost to fulfill assets,

ization of stock-based ion, CEO transition costs, change in fair value of warrants and derivatives, proxy
solicitation costs, restructuring costs, strategic emerging costs. (for ion satellite ) and write-
off of deferred financing costs and debt discounts, and in the recent past, acquisition plan expenses, change in fair value of the
convertible preferred stock purchase option liability, COVID-19 related costs, facility exit costs, strategic alternatives expenses
and other and loss on business divestiture, These items. while periodically affecting our results, may vary significantly from
period to period and may have a disproportionate effect in a given period, thereby affecting the comparability of results,
Although closely aligned, our definition of Adjusted EBITDA is different than EBITDA {as such term is defined in our Credit
Facility and Subordinated Credit Facility) utilized for financial covenant calculations and also may differ from the definition of
EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA used by other companies and therefore may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used
by other companies.

Adjusted EBITDA, as well as adjusted operating income (loss), net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders and net
income (loss) per diluted common share, as presented in the above tables, are nom-GAAP measures. These Non-GAAP
measures are frequently requested by investors and analysts. We believe that investors and analysts may use these Non-GAAF
measures along with other information contained in our SEC filings, including GAAP measures, in assessing our performance
and comparability of our results with other companies. Our Non-GAAP measures reflect the GAAP measures as reported,
adjusted for certain items as described herein and also excludes the effects of vur outstanding convertible preferred stock.

These Non-GAAP financial measures have limitations as an analytical tool, as they exclude the financial impact of transactions
necessary to conduct our business, such as the granting of equity compensation awards, and are not intended to be an altemnative
to financial measures prepared in sccordance with GAAP. These measures ure adjusted as described in the reconciliotion of
GAAP 10 Non-GAAP measures in the tables presented herein, but these adjusiments should not be consirued as an inference
that all of these adjustments or cosis are unusual, infrequent or non-recurring. Non-GAAP financial measures should be
considered i addition to, and not as a substitute for or superior to, financial measures determined in accordance with GAAP.
Investors are advised to carefully review the GAAP financial results that are disclosed in our SEC filings, As we have not
provided future Non-GAAP financial guidance or targets, there is no need to reconeile our business outlook to the most direetly
comparable GAAP measures. Furthermore, even if guidance or targets had been provided, items such as stock-based
compensation. adjustments to the provision for income taxes, amortization of intangibles and interest expense, which are
specific items that impact these measures, have not yet occumed, arc out of our control, or cannot be predicted at this time. For
example, quantification of stock-based compensation expense requires inputs such as the number of shares granted and market
price that are not currently i i 2 i 1o the Non-GAAP forward looking metrics would not be
available without unreasonable effort and such ilabl iling items could significantly impact our financial results.

Comparison of Fiscal 2024 and 2023
A detailed discussion of fiscal 2024 items and year-over-year comparisons between 2024 and 2023 that are not included in this

Form 10-K can be found in Part If - ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Coudition and Results of
Operations - Comparison of Fiseal 2024 and 2023 in our Anmual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2024,
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents were $40.0 million and $32.4 million at July 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, For fiscal 2023,
our cash flows reflect the following:

= Net cash used in aperating activities was §8.3 million and $54.5 million for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. The
significant period-over-period improvement reflects favorable changes in net working capital requirements, due
primarily to improved ility and process discy a5 well as the timing of and progress toward completion
on contracts accounted for over time, including related shipments, billings and collections. These activities allowed us
to reduce billed receivables, contract assets {i.e., unhilled receivables) and inventory levels in fiscal 2025. Also, as a
result of our enhanced liquidity, driven by our imp and financial pel e aver the course of
fiseal 2025 and recent amendments to our credit faciliries, operating cash flows in the more recent period reflect our
concerted efforts to reduce accounts payable in order to improve vendor relations and position ourselves to negotiate
more favorable payment terms.

Operating cash flows include cash payments for interest and raxes of $27.7 million and $1.9 millien, respectively, for
fiscal 2025, and $18.1 million and $4.9 million, respectively, for fiscal 2024,

Operating cash Mlows in fiscal 2025 and 2024 also include $23.0 million and 516.0 million, respectively, in aggregate
payments for restructuring costs, including severance, proxy solictation costs, CEOQ ransition costs and strategic
emerging tech costs for i hnol

satellite .

*  Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2025 was $8.6 million and primarily reflects capital expenditures in our
Allerium segment to build-out cloud-based computer networks and internal use software applications, as well as
capital i and building impi i ion with our leased facilities. Net cash provided by investing
activities in fiscal 2024 was $20.1 million and includes $33.2 million of net cash proceeds from the PST Divestiture,

= Net cash provided by financing activities was 524.4 million and $47.8 million for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively
and primarily reflects the following:

*  During fiscal 2025 we: (i) entered into a Subordinated Credit Facility agreement, as amended, with existing
holders of our Convertible Preferred Stock and received proceeds of $100.0 million: (ii) made partial term
loan repayments of $56.7 million and net revolving loan repayments of §14.9 million under our Credit
Facility; and (iii) paid $4.5 million in deferred financing cosis and debt discounis.

*  During fiscal 2024, we: (i) entered into the Credit Facility agreement, as amended, received term loan
proceeds of $157.1 million and repaid in full the outstanding borrowings under our prior credit facility; (i)
made $48.8 million in total term loan repayments; (iii) made revolving loan net repayments of $85.3 million;
{iv) paid financing costs of $10.3 million in connection with our credit facilities; (v) received an aggregate of
$43.2 million in net proceeds related to the issuance of our Series B Convertible Preferred Stock; (vi) and
paid $4.3 million in related issuance costs (consisting of third party financial advisor, legal and professional
fees).

+  During fiscal 2025, we also received $2.8 million from the City of Gatineau, a province in Quebec, Canada,
to fund the relocation of our existing leased facility to a new location.

The Credit Facility, Subordinated Credit Facility and Convertible Preferred Stock are discussed below and in Nores o
Consolidaied Financial Starements - Note (8) — Credit Facility, Note (%) - Subordinated Credit Facility and Nete (17) -
Convertible Preferred Stock included in Pavt IT - fem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, ncluded in this Form
10-K (which ion is i herein by 3

Liguidit:

In fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, we reported operating losses of $139.1 million, $79.9 million and $14.7 million, respectively,
and net cash used in operating activities of $8.3 million, $54.5 million and 544 million, respectively. At July 31, 2025 and
Movember 7, 2025 (the date closest o the issuance date), total outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility was $1339
million and $135.0 million, respectively, Of such amounts, $17.6 million was drawn on the Revolver Loan at both dates,




At July 31, 2025, October 31, 2025 and November 7. 2025, our available sources of liquidity totaled $47.0° million, $51.0
million and $50.3 million, respectively, which includes qualified cash and cash equivalents of $37.4 million, $41.4 million and
$40.7 milllion, respectively, and the remaining available portion of the Revolver Loan of 39,6 million as of each such date,

As of the issuance date, we expect cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from both operating and financing activities to be
our principal sources of liquidity. We also believe these sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operating and cash
commitments for investing and financing activities over the next year bevond the issuance date,

During fiscal 2025 and through the issuance date, we have taken the following actions, and implemented the following plans, o
improve our operational and financial performance. enhance owr liquidity and financial condition and ability 10 meet our
financial covenants contained in our credit facilities:

+ Engaged in portfulio-shaping opportunities to enhance profitability, efficiency and focus, including the elimination of
legacy solutions that were not contributing meaningfully to net sales and or gross profits;

*  Prioritized efforts to complete low or no margin non-recurring engineering contracts in order to accelerate our
migration to higher volume and higher margin manufacturing related orders with improved cash conversion eyeles;

¢ Developed and launched new products and services around dif] i and solutions;

*  Improved operating profitability by entering into, or renegotiating, sales or service contracts with more favorable
pricing and payment terms;

*  Reduced our cost structure to better align operating expenses with revenue expectations, including facility and
I i ion and optimizati

* Through new ip and improved and process discipl the
reduced our in working capital (¢.g., accounts receivable and mvcnlory\. as well as capital
expenditures; and

+ Through a series of capital injections, aggregating S100.0 million in the form of subordinated debt, and amendments.
tor our credit facilities: (i) significantly reduced semior debt and related cash interest payments due under our Credit
Facility: (i) increased the available portion of our Revolver Loan: (iii) deferred the scheduled repayment of a portion
of the Term Loan and ihe scheduled paymeni of cenain fees due under the Credit Facility; (iv) suspended testing of
our Net Leverage Ratio, Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and Minimum EBITDA covenants under our credit facilitics
until January 31, 2027; and (v) reduced the minimum quarterly average liquidity requirement under our credit
facilities.

Our ability to meet future anticipated liguidity needs over the next vear beyond the issuance date will largely depend on our
ability to exceute on our aperational strategy, generate positive cash inflows from operations, maximize our borrowing capacity
under our Credit Facility and or seeure outside capital. Our ability to do so may also be affected by general cconomic, financial
and other factors which are beyond our contral.

Based on the foregoing, over the next year beyond the issuance date, we believe that we will: {i) be able to generate sufficient
positive cash inflows and maximize our borowing capacity under our Credit Facility to continue as a going concem, and (i}
comply with the covenants contained in our credit facilities.

Our material cash requirements are for working capital. debt service ing interest), capital expendi 1ax payments,
facilitics lease payments and dividends related to our Convertible Preferred Stock, which are payable i kind or in cash under
certain circumstances.

Our material cash requirements could increase bevond our current expectations due to factors such as: (i) an inability to meet
our current obligations under our credit facilities as they become due, or lo obmm future waivers or amendments from the
lenders in the event i is not maintained; (i) general i  (iii) a change in the timing or amounts of
government spending priorities and or contracting decisions; (iv) larger than usual customer orders; (v) a future redemption by
the holders of our Convertible Preferred Stock; or (vi) actions we may take related to our transformation plan.

T

Also, in light of our transformation pla latives, we continue to review and evaluate our capital allocation plans.
Furthermore, we may choose to raise additional funds through equity and debt financing transactions to provide additional
flexibility or w0 pursue acquisitions. Although it is difficult in the current economic and credit environment to predict the terms
and cons ms of financing that may be available in the future, we believe that we would have sufficient access to credit from
financial institutions and/or financing from public and private debt and equity markets.

In addition to making eapital investments for owr high-volume manufacturing center in our Satellite and Space Communications
segment, we have also been making significant capital expenditures and building out cloud-based computer networks and
internal use software applications 1o support customers in our Allerium segment, We expeet capital investments for these and
ather initiatives o continue in fiscal 2026,

Our investmen policy rcla:lng w0 our cash and cash equivalemts is intended to minimize principal loss while at the same time
masimize the income we receive without significantly increasing risk. To minimize risk, we generally invest excess cash and
cash equivalents in money market mutual funds (both government and commercial), certificates of deposit, bank deposits, and
LS. Treasury securities. Money market mutual funds we invest in are direct obligations of the U.S. government, bank securities
guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, cemificates of deposit and commereial paper and other securities
issued by other cumpamcs While we cannot predict future market conditions or market liquidity, we believe our investment
palicies are appropriate in the current Ultimately, the availability of our cash and cash equivalents is dependent an
a well- funmcmmg ligquid market.

On September 29, 2020, our Board of Directors authorized a $100.0 million stock repurchase program, which replaced our prior
progrem The 5100.0 million stock repurchase program has no time restrictions and repurchases may be made from time (0 time

ket or privately i or by other means in accordance with federal securities laws and the terms
ot' uu.r Credit Facility. There were no repurchases of our common stock during fiscal 2025 and 2024,

In fiseal 2023, we adjusted our capital allocation plans and determined to forgo @ common stock dividend. Future common
stock dividends, if any, remain subject to compliance with financial covenants under our Credit Facility and Subordinated
Credit Facility, as well as Board approval and certain voting rights of holders of our Convertible Preferred Stock,

At July 31, 2025, we had $0.1 million of cash deposited as collaieral in connection with outstanding siandby letters of credii
guarantee future performance on certain customer contracts and no al letters of credit

Commilments

In the normal course of business, olher than as discussed below, we moutinely enter inte binding and non-binding purchase
obligations primarily covering anti of inventory and equi We do not expeet that these commitments, as
af July 31, 2025, will matcrially adverscly affect our liquidity. At July 31, 2025, cash payments due under contractual
wbligations (including estimated interest expense on our Credit Facility), excluding purchase orders that we entered into in our
normal course of business, are as follows:

Duc Within
1% in thousands) I Year
Credit Facility - principal payments 5 4.050
Credit Facility - estimated interest payments 18,316
Operating lease obligations 637

Subordinated Credit Faeility
Subordinated Credit Facility Make-Whole Amount
Contractual cash obligations




As stated above, the amounts in the above table represent cash pnymmls due under contractual obligations. Interest payments
related to our Credit Facility were d based the i at July 31, 2025, Interest related to the Credit
Facility was caleulated based an the SOFR forward curve, plus the applicable margin, and does not assume any interest paid-in-
Iund The Subordinuted Credit Faci amount includes paid-in-kind interest through July 31, 2025 on the $35.0 million
di d Credit F: y A d: Nao. 2 Priority Term Loan. The Subordinated Credit Facility Make-Whole Amount
represents $65.0 million of the outstanding Subordinated Credit Facility principal amount, multiplied by the applicable make-
whole rate for each applicable wanche as of July 31, 2025, The Subordinated Credit Facility and Make-Whele Amount are not
included in the total due within one year column given the timing of such payment is subject 1o the timing of cenain
repayments, prepayments and maturity date associated with the Credit Facility. See Part I - Trem 8. Finuncial Statements and
Supplementary Data - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Note (8) - Credic Focilily and Note (%) - Subordinased
Credit Facility for i ion related to the i under our Credit Facility and Subordinated Credit Facility,
specti (which ion is i d herein by and Nore (1) - Leases for additional information on our
lease commitments.,

As discussed further in Notes fo Consalidated Financial Statements - horr 7 C(mm 1éble Preferred Stock, included in Part
11 - ftem 8. Financial and S 4 Dara (which di i herein by refe included in
this Form 10-K, the holders oFthc Convertible Preferred Stock have the option to redeem such shares for cash: (i) in the evem
of the oceurrence of an asset sale meeting certain eriteria; (1) on or after Aprl 30, 2027 in the event of a satisfaction of the
existing Credit Facility: and (iii) in all other cases, October 31, 2028. As the Convertible Preferred Stock are not mandatorily
redeemable for cash, the redemption value of such shares are not presented in the table above,

In the ordinary course of business, we include indemmification provisions in eerain of our custemer contracts. Pursuant to these
agreements, we have agreed to indemnify. hold harmless and reimburse the indemnified party for certain losses suffered or
incurred by the indemnified party, including but not limited to losses related o third-party intellectual property claims. It is not
possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these agreements due to a history of nominal elaims and the unique
Facts and circumstances imvolved in each particular agreement.

As discussed further in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Note (14) - Commitments and Contingencies, included in
Part I - Item 8.- Financial Statements and Supplementary Dara. included in this Form 10-K (which discussion is incorporated
herein by reference), we are subject i0 a number of indemnification demands and we are incurring ongeing legal expenses in
conneetion with these matters. Our insurance policies may not cover the cost of defending indemnification claims or providing
indemnification. As a resull, pending or future clums asserted against us by a party that we have agreed 1o indemnify could
result in legal costs and damages that could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations and
financial conditien.

We entered into employment and/or change of control agreements with certain of our executive officers and certain key
employees. All of these agreements may require payments by us, in certain circumstances, including, but not limited to, a
change in control of the Company of termination of the employee.

As further di d in Notes to Ce Financial = Note (11} - Income Taves included in Part If - frem 8
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, included in this Form 10-K (which discussion is incorporated herein by
refecence), our Consolidated Balance Sheet at July 31, 2025 includes toal liabilities of S8.1 million for uncertain tax positions,
including interest, any or all of which may result in a cash payment. The future payments related to uncertain tax positions have
not been presented in the table above due to the uncertainty of the amounts and timing of any potential cash settlement with the
taxing authorities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We are required to prepare our d financial in with the Financial Accounting Standards Board
{"FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") which is the source for all authoritative US. generally accepted
accounting principles, which is commonly referred 1o as "GAAP." The FASB ASC is subject 1o updates by the FASB, which
are known as Accounting Standards Updates ("ASUs"™).

lid

As further discussed in Noves 1o Consolidated Financial Stawements — Nose ¢1)ini - Adopiion of Accounting Standards and
Updaies included in Pori I - frem 8 Financial Statemenis and Supplementary Data, included in this Form 10-K, (which
discussion is incorporated herein by reference), during fiscal 2025 we adopted:

*  FASE ASU No, 2023-07, which requires the disclosure of significant segment expenses, by reportable segment,
regularly provided to the chicf aperating decision maker (“CODM®) and included within cach reported measure of
segment profit or loss. Our adoption of this ASU mpacted our disclosures only through the retrospective
application to all prior periods presented. See Notes fo Consolidated Financial Statements - Note (13} Segment
Informarion included in Pari I - ftem 8, Financial Sarements and Supplementary Data,

In addition, the following FASB ASUs have been issued and incorporated into the FASB ASC and have not vet been adopted
by us as of July 31, 2025:

*  FASB ASU No. 2023-09, which among other things, enhances und establishes new income iax disclosure
requirements, in addition to modifying and eliminating certain existing requirements. Most notably, this ASU
requires greater disaggregation of information in the effective tax rate reconciliation, including the inclusion of
hoth percentages and amounts, specific categories and iti i for items meeting &
quantitative threshold defined by the guidance. Additionally, disclosures of income taxes paid and income tax
expense must be disaggregated by federal, state and foreign taxes, with income taxes paid further disaggregated
for individual jurisdictions that represent 5 percent or more of total income taxes paid. This ASU is effective for
fiscal years heginning after December 15, 2024 (our fiscal year bcgmnlng on August 1, 2025), wnth early adoption
permitted. We are cvalusting the impact of this ASU on our financial

+  FASB ASU No. 202403, which among other lhmgs requires |ue|e detailed d:sclmures of certain categories of
expenses (including purchases of inventory, empl ds . and ization) that are
components of existing expense captions presented on the face of the i mr:ame statement, All entities are required to
apply the guidance praspectively with an option or retrospective application. This ASU is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026 (our fiscal year beginning on August 1, 2027), and interim
periods within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027 (our interim period beginning on
August 1, 2028), with carly adoption permitted, as clarified in ASU No. 2025-01 issued January 6, 2025, The
adoption of this guidance will impact our disclosures only and we do not expect it to have 3 material impact on
our Cansolidated Financial Statements.

+  FASB ASU No. 2025-05, which among other things, provides all entities with a practical expedient that allows for
the assumption that current conditions as of the balance sheet date do not change for the remaining life of the asset
when estimating credit losses for such assets. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2025, and interim periods within those annual periods (our fiscal year beginning on August |
2026), with early adoption permitted. We are evaluating the impact of this ASU on our consolidated financial
statements and disclosures,

+ FASB ASU 2025-06, which amang other things, amends the eriteria for recognizing and capitalizing costs related
te internal-use software by replacing the previous project stage model with a principles-based framework. Under
this ASU, gosts are capitalized when management has authorized and commined o funding a software project,
and it is probable that the project will be completed and the sofiware used as intended. This ASU s effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027, and interim periods within those annual periods (our
fiscal year beginning on August 1, 2028), on either a prospective, refrospective of modified prospective transition
method. We are evaluating the impact of this ASU on our i financial and di




ITEM TA. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our carnings and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in interest rates primarily from bomowings under our
credit facilities. Based on the amount of outstanding debt under our credit facilities, a hypothetical change in interest rates by
10% would change interest expense by approximately $2.4 million over a one-year period. Although we do not currently use
interest rate derivative instruments to manage exposure [0 interest rate changes, we may choose to do so in the future in
connection with our credit facilities,

Our cammings and cash flows are also subject to luctuations due to changes in interest rates on our investment of available cash

balances. As of July 31, 2025, we had total cash and cash equivalents of $40.0 million, which consisted of cash and highly-

liquid money market deposit accounts, Many of these investments are subject o fluctuations in interest rates, which could

impact our results, Based on our investment portfolio balance = of July 31, 2023, a hypothetical change in interest rates of 10%

would have & nominal impact on interest income over & one-year period. Ultimately, the availability of our cash and cash
lents is on a well: ing liquid market.

q I

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEM

ARY DATA

Reporis of i Public A Firm, Ci lidated Financial Notes to Ce
Financial Statements and Related Financial Schedule are listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule
annexed hereto and are hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we conducted an evaluation of the effecti of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(c) and 15(d}-15{} under the Securitics and Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act™)), which have been designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information
required to be disclosed by us, in reports filed under the Exchange Act, is recorded. pm«.essed summarized and reported, within
ihe time periods specified in the SEC"s mules and forms and and to including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure,

Based on this evaluation. carried out by us under the supervision of our Chiel Executive Officer and Chiel Financial Officer,
and with the participation of cur management, we concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective, as
of July 31, 2025, as a result of the material weaknesses in our iniernal control over financial reporting discussed below.

Notwithstanding our material we have concl that the i finaneial and other financial
information included in this Form 10-K fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepied in the ULS. ("U.S. GAAP"),

A system of controls, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the
system of controls are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of
[raud, if any, within a company have been detecied. In desi and ing the di controls and procedures,
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. [n addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the
benefits of possible contrels and procedures relative to their costs.

a2

Menagement s Report an Inteenal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our Chicf Exccutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and |5d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act. Our intermal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reperting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordanee with US. GAAP. All
internal control systems, no maner how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined o
he effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation, Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadeguate
hecause of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our assessed the of our internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2025. In making this
assessment, we used the eriteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
("COS0") in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) fthe "COSO framework”). Based on our assessment, we
determined that, as of July 31, 2025, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective based on those criteria as a
result of material weaknesses deseribed below,

A matenial weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, m internal control over financial reporting, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented
of detected on a timely basis,

We did not design and maintain an effective control environment commensurate with our financial reporting requirements
hased on the crteria in the COSO framewaork, as we lacked a sufficient complement of resources with an appropriate level of
knowledge and experience to establish effective processes and controls. The control environment material weakness contributed
10 other material weaknesses within our system of internal control over financial reporting at the conrol activity level, where
we did not design and implement effective control activitics, including controls related to; revenue, inventory, other assets,
contract liabilitics and complex accounting matiers and transactions (inluding debt, convertible preferred stock and related
embedded derivatives). Deficiencies in control activities contributed to misstatements and the potential for there to have been
material misstatements within these areas.

An intemational component of aur Allerium segment had ineffective controls, Specifically, we did not design and maintain
effective general information technology controls ("GITCS”) and business process controls in the following areas: () user
access controls 10 ensure appropriate segregation of duties and to adeguately restrict user and privileged access to financial
applications, programs and data o appropriate company personnel; (i) program ch'mge management conirels o ensure that
changes to information technology (1T} programs and data affecting financial a and i ing records
are properly identified, tested, authorized and implemented with appropriate ~|cgn:5,aunn of duties; and (m] husiness process
controls w ensure that journal entries were not amended prior (o posting, as the enterprise resource planning {“ERP™) system
‘which the international component operates does not restrict approvers from changing journal entries prior 1o posting. While no
material misstatements were identified with respect o this international component in fiscal 2025, these deficiencies impact
control activities over all financial statement account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures and contributed to the
potential for there to have been material mi within the i i

Deloitte and Touche LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has performed an audit of our internal control
over financial reporting as of July 31, 2025. Deloitte’s audit reports appear on pages F-2 and F-3 of this annual report.

Changes In Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than for the material weakness related to our i i described above, which for 5.7%, 4.1%
and 3.3% of our consolidated total assets and 7.6%, 5.9% and 4.6% of our consolidated net sales as of and for the three fiscal
years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and for the on-going remediation efforts described below, there have
been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(0) and 13d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act thar occurred during our fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2025, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely w
‘materially affect, our interal contral over financial reporting.




Remediation Plan

Our remediation efforts are ongeing and we will continue our initiatives to hire and engage additional skilled resources in
program management and accounting and finance related functions, and implement and document policies, procedures and
internal controls. is o the ion of the material d bed above.

To date, management has undertaken the follewing remedial actions in conjunction with its remediation plan:

*  Reorganized and for specific internal controls over financial reporting to staff
within the finance organization whose experience aligns more closely with these responsibilities,

+ Hired more qualified staff with sufficient and exp to

our financial repoting:

*  Engaged third-p to perform a
in designing our remediation plan;

review of our accounting and reporting functions to assist

+  Designed and began impl prehensi di plan to enhance our internal control environment that
was approved by the Audit Commlm:l:.

+  Initiated and will continue the process to document, implement and redesign controls, policies, and procedures with an
appropriate level of precision to detect a material misstatement, and to retain sufficient documentation to support the
operating cffectiveness of controls over revenue, inventory, other assets, contract liabilities, debt, convertible preferred
stock and related embedded derivatives;

* While has made progress in contrels relating 1o complex accounting matters and
transactions by engaging a th\rd-pmy spoclaﬁsl with the mqu:sltc knowledge, experience and resources, the material
weakness will not d until the d controls operate for a sufficient period of time and

management had concluded, through testing, that the related controls are effective;

. We mgagud a third-party spwullqst with sufficient knowledge and experience to oversee our internal audit function;
such s T and reports dircetly to the Audit Committec; and

» With respect to our i | g and financial reporting, management initiated

and will continue to implement proper segregation of duties and enhance control activities over GITCs.

We will continue to monitor the effectiveness of our remediation plan and refine the remediation plan as appropriate. These
actions represent progress in the meaterial sses. However, they do not represent the full suite of
improvements that we plan to make in order to strengthen our internal mmml over financial reporting. Additional components
of our remediation plan include:

+  Condueting training sessions for all control owners and relevant personnel to improve documentation that supports
effective control activities, including evidence of the completeness and accuracy of information used in controls;

+ For those employees involved in the estimate at completion (*EAC™) process, conducting specialized training sessions
related to newly designed or enhanced control activities that were put in place for preparing and reviewing an EAC and
its impact on the accuracy of financial reporting; and

*  With respect 0 our i i 's and financial reporting, updating and
documenting its policies and procedures, including IT policies and procedures and the enhancement of certain contral
activitics over user aceess, change management and the review of third-party services organization reports,

of the i i material and of owr internal control environment will require a
substantial effort throughout fiscal 2026 and beyond, as necessary. We will test the ongomg operating effectiveness of the new
and existing controls in future periods. The material k cannot be i until the
applicable controls have operated for a sufficient period of time and management has cum:lu:md, through testing, that these
controls are operating effectively.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Officers
During the three months ended July 31, 2025, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading

arrangement or adopted or terminated a non-Rule 10b3-1 trading arrangement (as each term is defined in Item 408{a) of
Regulation 5-K).

T fon Bonus and Restricred Stock Awards

On November 7. 2025, the Company approved transaction bonuses for several employees, including cevtain of its named
executive officers, pursuant to which such recipients will be eligible to receive a cash bonus equal to a specified percentage of
Transaction Proceeds in connection with a Qualifying Tr i ion Proceeds payable 1o each
named executive officer are as follows: Mr, Bondi — 0.19%, Mr, Walther — 0.19%, Mr. Robertson — 0.216%, and Mr. Traub —
0,739%. The bonuses will be paid on the first scheduled payroll date following the closing of the Qualifying Transaction,
subject to applicable tax withholdings and other authorized deductions; provided that any portion of a banus attributable to
certain contingent proceeds will be paid on the sume schedule and under the same terms and conditions as apply to such
contingent proceeds {but in no event later than the fifth anniversary of the closing of the Qualilying Transaction). Each recipient
must remain in continued employment with the Company through the closing of a Qualifying Transaction in order to receive
the bonus, and will forfeit the bonus if (i) the recipient resigns for any reason or is terminated for cause prior to the Qualifying
Transaction or (i} the Company terminates the recipient’s employment without cause more than three months prior to the
Qualifying Transaction; except, that if' the Company terminates a recipient’s employment without cause within three months
prior o the Qualifying Transaction, the recipient will remain eligible to receive the bonus, In addition, Mr. Traub's agreement
provides that if the Company terminates his employment without Cause or he resigns for Good Resson an or prior to first
anniversary of the closing of the Qualifying Transaction, in licu of the lump sum cash severance payment that he would
otherwise be entitled to under his employment agreement, he will be entitled w a cash amount equal to one and a half (1.5)
times the sum of his base salary and target bonus. For purposes of the bonus, (a) "Qualifying Transaction” means the
consummation of a Specified Permitied Individual Disposition (as defined in the Company’s Credii Facility as in effect as of
November 7, 2025) on or prior to December 31, 2026, and {h) “Transaction Proceeds™ means the aggregate cash and non- cash
consideration received by the Company in connection with the Qualifying Ti ion (before deducting any

expenses, indebtedness or similar purchase price reductions set forth in the definitive agreement for such Qualifying
Transaction).

In addition, on November 7, 2023, the Company approved grants of resiricied steck unit awards under the 2023 Plan for the
fiscal year 2026, including to its named executive officers, pursuant to a form of restricted stock unit award agreement which
provides that the recipients will receive pro-rated vesting upon a terminarion without Cause (as defined in the 2023 Plan);

vided, however, that if the recipient is terminated without Cause (as defined in the 2023 Plan) at or within 12 months
following a Qualifying Transaction (as defined above) and prior to the vesting of the first vesting tranche of such award, the
recipient will instead receive vesting acceleration with respect to the first vesting tranche of the award

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Mot applicable.

PART IIL
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Certain information concerning directors and officers is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the Annual

Meeting of Swckholders (the "Proxy Statement™) which will be filed with the and Exchange Ci ion no more
than 120 days after the close of our fiscal vear.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information regarding executive compensation is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Satement, which will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission ne more than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year.




ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS
AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Infarmation regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans and certain information regarding
security hip of certain beneficial owners and is v reference to the Proxy Statement, which
will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no more than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year.

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS,
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

regarding certain rel and related is i d by reference to the Proxy Statement, which
will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no more than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding principal accountant fees and services is incorporated by reference 1o the Proxy Statement, which will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no more than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year,

PART IV

ITEM 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

{a) {1} The Registrant’s financial statements wogether with a separate index are annexed hereto.
(2} The Financial Statement Schedule listed in a separate index is annexed hereto.
(3 Exhibits required by ltem 60 of Regulation 5-K are listed below,
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Description of Exhibit

Restated Centificate of Inc ration of the Registrant, dated

August I8, 2006

Certificate of Amendment 1o the Amended and Restated

Certificate of Incorporation of Comtech Telecommunications.

Corp., dated December 28, 2021

Third Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant, dated
cptember 26, 2017

e of
ock, dated June 17, 2004

Certificate of Elimination of Series B-1 Convertible Preferred
Stock, dated October 23, 2024

2 Convertible Preferred

Plan
2000 Stock Im.m%m. Plan, Amended ind Ressated, dated.

December 15, 21

m:umf tock Option Agreement pursuant o the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan

Eern of Stock Option Agreement for Non-employes
pursuant to the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan - 2020

Form of Cash-Seuled Performance Unit Agreement pursuant ig
the 2000 Stock [neentive Plar

Form of Long-Term Perfarmanee Share Award Agreement

pursuant 1o the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan - 2018

Form of Restricied Stock Agreement (efigible for dividend
equivalents) for Non-employee Directors pursuant to the 2000
Stock Incentive Plan - 2009

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (cligible for dividend
cqm\aknh) for \nu employes Directors pursuant 1o the 2000

Stock Incentive Plan - 2022

Eoom of Restricied Stock Unit Agreament for Employees

pursuant to the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan - 2017

Incorporated

Exhibit 3{a)(i) to the Registrant™s 2006
Form 10-K

Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed December 30, 2021

Exhibit 3{a)(ii) 1o the Registrant’s 2017
Form 10-K

Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K
filed June 18, 2024

Exh\bn J(E)U) 1o the Registrant's 2024
rm 10-K

Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed October 18, 2024

Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrants Form 8-K,
filed March 4, 2025

Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant™s Form 8-K,
filed March 4, 2025

Exhibit 4.1 1o the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed March 4, 2025

Appendix B to the Registrant’s Proxy
Staterment, filed November 18, 2022

Appendix A to the Registrant’s Proxy

Statement, filed November 18, 2022

Exhibit IO(fi7) to the Registrants 2005

Form 10-K.

Exhibit 10{d}3) to the Registrant’s 2020

Form 10-K

Exh\bn 10{e}(2) to the Registrant's 2023
Form 10-K

Exhibit 10(fN2) to the Registrant's 2019
Form 10-K.
Exhibit 10{g)2) to the Registrant's 2019
Form 10-K

Exhibit 10{g)(4} to the Registrant's 2022
Form 10-K

Exhibit 10(h)1) to the Registrani’s 2017
Form 10-K
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for Employees pursuant Lo the 2000 Stoek Incentive Plan

1i2y*  Form of Share Unit Agreement (eligible for dividend equivalentsh
for Employees pursuant to the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan - 2018
Ogr* i W
Executive Officers and Centain Other Executive
1kp 1)*  Form of Change-in-Contrul / it {Tier 1)
10k)(2)*  Form of Change-in-Control Agreement {Tier 2) between the
Registrant and Certain Named Exceutive Officers (other than the
CED) and Certain Other Execitive Officers
(k3% of Char 1 igr 2 1 thy
Registrant wnL u]'\m cutive Officers. utllei than the
CEO) and Certamn Othes Officers (California
Emplovees)
k¥41*  Form of Change-in-Control Agreement {Tier 2) between the
1ki(31*  Form of Change-in-Control Agreement {Tier 2) between the
& o i i gl
CEQ) and Certain Other Executive Officers (California
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and Certain Non-Executive Officers
10415* and Transition A t, dated ber 30 2019
o1} ;. o1 of, 72024, 4 .
Tel Corp. and the lenders samed therein
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Exhi (Naa) to the Registrant’s 2016
Form 10-E

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 10-0),
filed June 3, 202

Exhibit 104h)(7) to the Registrant's 2022
Form 10-K

Exhibit 10(h)(8) to the Registrant's 2022
Form 10-K

Exhibit 10{i}3} to the Registrant’s 2023
Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q,
filed December 9, 2013

Exhibit 10(j){2) to the Registrant’s 2018
Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.1 1o Registrant’s Form 8-K, filed
on March 8, 2007

Exhibit 1011} to the Registrant’s 2022
Form 10-

Exhibit 10{1}2) to the Registrants 2022
Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed June 7, 20017

Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed June 7, 2017

istrant’s Form 8-K.,
fled June’." 20!?w

Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed June 7, 2017

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 10-0),
filed December 4, 2019

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed Jsmc 18,2024
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October 17, 2024, by and among Comiech Telecomn
Corp,, 8 - i '

Management Company LLC, as term loan agent, and Wingspire
Capital LLC, a5 revolving agen

Subordinated Credit Agreement, dated as of October |7, 2024, by

and among Comtech Telecommunications Corp., as borrower,

Mational Association, us agent
2 ik =

Waiws
March 3. 2025, by and among Comtech Telecommunications

Corp,, as borrower, the lenders named thercin, TOW Asset
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Capita LIC

Ve

Waiver and Amendmant msmmmtm
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Subscription and Exchange Agreement. dated as of (‘kluhcr 17
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the Investors named therein

xehange A-m.unenl dalwl

I.he !meswrs named therein
Eorm of Voting Agreement.

stratt shts ated s rch 3. 2023,
and amoeng Comtech Teleconumunications Corp. and the
Investors named therein

Cooperation. MmMﬂDmLﬁM ll‘;..ilﬂ.ﬂ..ﬂ]ll@llﬂ.

Comtech Telecommunications Cs

mumwmmamﬁmmmmmmﬂmm
GP, LLC, Quterbridge Bartleby Fund. LP. Outerbridge Bartleby
GP, LLC, and Rory Wallace

Employment Agreement, dated December 31, 2021, between

Poreelain, dated August 9, 2022
ent with Ken Peterman, dat
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September 12, 2022
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Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form £-K,
filed October 18, 2024

Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed October 18, 2024

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form §-K,
Tiled March 4, 2025

Exhibit 10.2 1o the Registrant’s Form §-K,
filed March 4, 2025

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8K,
filed July 22, 2025

Exhibit 102 1o the Registrant’s Form 8K,
filed July 22, 2025

Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 8K,
filed October 18, 2024

Exhibit 10.3 1o the Registrant's Form 8-K,
filed March 4, 2025

Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed March 4, 2005

Exhibit 10,5 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K.,
filed March 4, 2025

Exhibit 10,1 to the Regiswrant’s Form 8-K,
filed December 21, 2021

Exhibit 10.1 10 the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed January 5, 2022

Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 10-0),
filed March 10, 2022

Exhibit 10,1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K,
filed August 10, 2022

Exhibit 101 to the Registrant’s Form 8K,
filed September 13, 2022
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0.2 to the Regisirant’s Form 8-K,
13,2022

Esxhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed September 13, 3022

Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed Sep 13, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Ta the stockholders and the Beard of Directors of
Comtech Telecommunications Corp.
Chandler, Arizona

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Comtech Telecommunications Corp. and subsidiaries (the
"Company") as of July 31, 2025 and 2024, the related i af i ible preferred stock and
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 2025, and the related notes and the
schedule listed in the Index at ltem 15 (collectively referred to us the “financial statements™). In our opinion, the financial
staremcnts present fairly, in all marerial respects, the finaneial position of the Company as of July 31, 2025 and 2024, and the
results of its operations and itz cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 2025, in conformity with
sccounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOBY), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Intemal
Control - Integrated Framewark (2013) issued by the Commitice of $ponsaring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and
our report dated November 10, 2025, expressed an adverse opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
becanse of material weaknesses.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in secordance with the U.S. federal seeuritics laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in sccordance with the standards of the PCAOB. These standards require that we plan and perform the

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error

or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material of the financial

whether due to error or fraud. and performing procedurcs that respond to those risks, Such procedures included cxamining, on a

test basis, evidence regarding the amoums and disclosures in the financial statements, Our audits also included evaluating the
ing les used and signifi estimates made by as well as evaluating the overall p ion of the

financial statements. We belicve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

Critical Audit Matters

The critical awdit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or diselosures that are
material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially lengi jective, or complex
communication of eritical audit matters does not alier in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the eritical audit matters or on the
accounts or disclosures (o which they relate.

Net Sules — Over Time Accounting Using the Cost-to-Cost Measure for Specific Ideniified Material Contracis — Refer to Note
1 to the financial statements

Critical Auaitr Marer Description

The Company’s determination of revenue recognition for specific identified material contracts accounted for over time involves
estimating the total costs needed to complete the specific identified contracts and updating those estimates throughout the life of
those specific identified contracts, This requires management to make significant estimates related 1o forecasts of future costs for
the identified specific contracts. Changes in these estimates for the identified specific contracts could have a significant impact on
the Company’s results of operations,

Given the significant judgment and estimates used in management’s projections, auditing the Company’s estimates at completion
and estimates to completion involved especially subjective judgment.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s determination of revenue recognition for specific identified material contracts
aceounted for over time included the following, among others:

«  We tested the effectivencss of the controls sver the development of the initial contract cost to complete estimate and
moenitoring of estimates at completion and estimates to completion
«  Foreach specific identified material contract selected, we performed the following:

*  Evaluated whether the contract was properly included in management's caleulation of ever time revenue based
on the terms and conditions of each contract, including whether continuous transfer of control to the customer
accurred as pragress was mude toward fulfilling the performance obligation.

= Compared the transaction prices to the consideration expected to be received based on current rights and
obligations under the comtracts and any modifications that were agreed upon with the customers,

»  Confirmed certain items with the customer, such as contract amount, approved change orders, invoices
received, payments made, liquidated damages, if any, and amounts owed to the Company,

*  Tested management’s identification of distinct performance obligations by evaluating whether the underlying
goods, services, or both were highly interdependent and interrelated.

*  Evaluated the estimates of total cost and profit for the performance obligation by:

= Performing a retrospective review by comparing the estimated margins at contract inception to the
actual margins as of year-end in order 1o assess management’s ahility to accurately estimate costs.

= Inguiring and corroborating the cstimates to complete and the estimates at completion with the Project
Manager {i.e., someone autside of Fi /A ting) to ant variances in eosis
and completeness of the estimates at completion and estimates to completion.

= Testing the estimates to complete through a combination of rests of detwils, in which we selected
individuval costs within the estimate (o complete and obtained supporting documentation, and where we
developed an expectation of the estimate to complete and compared it to the recorded balunce.

= Tested the accuracy and completeness of costs incurred during the current fiscal year. This testing included
agreeing labor costs to employee timesheets and agreeing the labor rate 1 either rates agreed upon with the
customer in the contract or rates from the Company's payroll records,

*  Tested the ical accuracy of '8

of revenue for the performance obligation,

Goodwill - Refer to Note 15 te the financial statements
Critical Audit Marer Desceiption

The Company’s evaluation of goodwill for impairment involves the comparison of the fair value of each reporting unit to its
carrying value. The Company used a combination of a market approach and the income approach, also known as the discounted
cash flow ("DCF") method, to determine the present value of cash flows to estimate fair value. In the DCF, the future cash flows
for the Company’s reporting units were projected based on their estimates, at that time. of future revenues, operating income and
other factors (such as working eapital and capital expenditures). Changes in these assumptions could have 4 significant impact on
cither the fair value, the amount of any goodwill impairment charge, or bath, Given the Satellite and Space Communications
segment’s financial performance in the first guarter of fiscal 2025, and considering triggering events within this segment prior 10
the issuance of the first quarter fiscal 2025 financial statements, the Company determined that they were required to perform
another quantitative impairment test on an interim basis as of October 31, 2024, Following the same approach as outlined above,
ultimately, based on the guantitati the Compeny ined that the carrying value of the Satellite and Space
Communications reporting unit exceeded its fair value and recognized a goodwill impairment loss of $79.6 millien in the first
quarter of fiscal 2025, The poodwill balance was 5204.6 million as of July 31, 2025, of which §174.1 million was allocated to the
Allerium Reporting Unit (formerly, Terrestrial and Wireless Networks) and $30.5 million was allocated to the Sarellite and Space
Communications Reporting Unit (“Satellite and Space Communications™). The fair value of Allerium exceeded its carrying value
by 7.3% as of the measurement date and. therefore, no impairment was recognized. The fair value of the Satellite and Space
‘Communications reporting unit exceeded its camying value by 19.9% as of the measurement date and, therefore, no impairment
was recognized.




We identified goodwill for Allerium and Satellite and Space Communications as a eritical audit matter hecause of the significant
Judgments made by management to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit and the differences between their fair value and
carrying value. This required a high degree of auditor judzment and an increased extent of effort, including the ne to imvolve
our fair value specialists, when performing auwdit 0 evaluaie ihe of s estimaies and
assumptions related o selection of the discount rate and forecasts of future revenue and operating margins.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related wo the discount rate and forecasts of fullm: revenue and operating margins used by management o
estimate the fair value of Allerium and Satellite and Space C included the following, among others:

= We tesied the i of contrals over s goodwill , including those over the
determination of the fair value of the reporting units, such as controls related to management’s selection of the discount
rate and forecasts of future revenue and operating margins.

= We evaluated management’s ability to accuratcly forecast future revenues and operating margins by comparing actual
results 10 management’s historical forecasts.

+ We evaluated the reasonablencss of management's revenue Farecasts and forecasts of operating margins by comparing
the forecasts to:

*  Historical revenues and operating margins.
+  Internal communications to management and the Board of Directors,

*  Forecasted information included in Company press releases as well s in analyst and industry reports for the
Company and certain of its peer companies.

= With the assistance of our fair value we evaluated the

(2) discount rate hy:

of the (1) valuation methodology and

+  Testing the source underlying the
of the calculation.

of the discount rate and the mathematical accuracy

D

ping & range of independent estimates and those to the discount rate selected by management,

«  Assessing the concluded fair value of the sum of the aggregate reporting units relative to the business enferprise
s a whole based on market prices as of the impairment wssessment date.

Debt - Refer to Naotes 8 and 9 to the Financial Statentents
Critical Audit Matter Deseription

The Company has current and long-term debt of $4.1 million and $210,0 million, respectively, as of July 31, 2025, Debt is
recorded at initial fair value, which normally reflects the proceeds received by the Company, net of debt issuance costs, Debt is
subsequently stated at amortized cost. Debt issuance costs, discounts and premiums are generally amortized to interest expense
using the effective interest method, over the term of the debr. Debt issuance costs related o a recognized debt liability are
presented as a direct deduction of the carrying amount of that debt, consistent with debt discounts. Debi issuance costs related 1o
the Company's revolving facility are deforred and recorded as an asset. Debl issuance casts paid fo lenders related to & recognized
debr liability are netted against the proceeds from the related debt while debr issuance costs paid to third parties are expensed as
incurred. Debt instruments are also evaluated by the Company for the existence of features that must be separated and aceounted
for as a derivative. During the year ended July 31, 2023, the Company emered into various debt transactions that involved
issuance of new debt and modification of existing debt.

We identified the sccounting for debt and the related debt runspctions, as @ eritical audit matter because of the complexity
involved in (i} cvaluanng the accnunlmg for the new debt agreements or debt amendments including whether such transactions
resulted in a debt or and the impact on debt issuance costs, and (i) evaluating the
existence of and accounting for features embedded in new or amended debr agreements that must be separated and sc:ountrd for
as a derivative, Thls required an increased extent of cﬂ'nn due to the potential itude and Ip of the debt

ncluding the of our with and skills in the relevant technical accounting puidance
required when performing audit procedures to address these manters.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the accounting for debt and related debt transactions included the following. ameong others:

*  We tested the effectiveness of controls over debt including those over the application of relevant technical accounting
guidance to complex and significant debt transactions,

*  We evaluated and tested 's debt i or extingui: analysis by

+  Testing the accuracy and including aceuracy, of analysis.

- Evaluanng managcmem s analysis over nnmhcl the debt transactions met the conditions to be treated as a debt
or by it against the relevant technical accounting guidance.

*  We evaluated the conclusions resched by management on its analysis of the terms in the new or amended debt
agreements to evaluate the existence of features in the new or amended debt agreements that must he separated and
accounted for as a derivative by:

*  Reading the terms for all debt agreements to evaluate the existence of features in the new or amended debt
agreements that must be separated and accounted for as a derivative.

. 's analysis identifying the existence of and accounting l'or the features in the new or

amended debt agreemenis that must be separated and | for as a by it against the
relevant technical accounting guidance.

Liguidity - Refer to Note 1 ta the financial statenents
Critica! Audhi Master Description

The Company's ability 1 meet future anticipated liquidity needs over the next yeur beyond the issuance date of the financial
statements will largely depend on their sbility to cxecute on their operational strategy, generate positive cash inflows from
aperations, maximize the Company’s borrowing capacity under the Credit Fac The Company's ability to do so may also be
affected by general economic, financial and other factors which are beyond their control. Based on the foregoing, over the next
year beyond the issuance date of the financial statements, the Company believes that they will: (i) be able to generate sufficient
positive cash inflows, maximize their borrowing capacity 1 continue as a going concern, and (i) comply with the covenants
contained in their credit facilitics.

To assess the Company's ability 10 meet obligations as they come due and assess future compliance with debt covenants for at
Teast twebve maonths from the issuance date of the financial statements. the Company has forecasted future financial results which
requires significant judgment and estimation,

Auditing managements disclosure regarding liquidity and going concern, specifically the judgments and estimates in the
Company’s forecasted finaneial results involved especially subjective judgment and significant audit effort.

How the Critical Audic Matter Was Addressed in the Awdit

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s evaluation and disclosure of liquidity and going concern included the following,
among others:

*  We tested the effectivencss of internal controls over the Company's going concern evaluation, including the inputs,
estimates and assumptions used in their forecasted financial results.

*  We evaluated the Company’s forecasted financial results and ability to meet obligations as they come due for at least
twelve months from the issuance date of the financial statements by:

*  Tesling management's key assumptions, including ability 1o achieve forecasted results through executing on the
Company's operational strategy.

«  Obtaining the Company's amended debt agreements and assessing whether the terms were appropriately
considered when concluding on the Company's debt covenant compliance.

- Comparing the Company's forecasted future financial results to (1) historical results and previous forecasts, (2)
intemal communications to management and the Board of Directors, (3) historical variances in forecasted
balances against actual results including for the first two months of fiscal year 2026 and (4) macroeconomic
factors,




*  We evaluated the completeness of the Company's future obligations, including whether such obligations were consistent
with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Jericha, New York
November 10, 2025

We have served as the Company s auditor since 2015,

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGIS'

“RED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of

Comtech Telecommunications Corp.,

Chandler, Arizona

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial mporlm& of Comtech Ty icati Corp. and idiares (the
“Company”} as of July 31, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, because of the effect of the
material weaknesses identified below on the achievement of the objectives of the contrel eriteria, the Company has not mainined
effective internal control over financial reperting as of July 31, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) sssued by COSO.

We have alse audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial starements and financial statement schedule as of and for the vear ended July 31, 2025, of
the Company and our report dated November 10, 2025, expressed an ungualified opinion on these fnencial statements and
financial statement schedule,

Basis for Opinion

The Company's 18 for effective internal control over financial reporting and for ils
assessment of the effectivencss of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Repon
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control aver
financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required ko be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities Jaws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

‘We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting. assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, testing and cvaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances, We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control ever Financial Reporting

A company’s intemal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accardance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over finaneial reporting includes these policies and procedures that
{1} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the ransactions and dispositions of
the asscts of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in aceordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unautharized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a material effect on the fnancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

af any of =5 to future periods arc subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Material Weaknesses

A material we-xknm is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in mternal control over financial reporting, such that there

isa ility that a material mi of the company®s annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis.




The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management's assessment:

The Company did not design and maintain an effective control environment commensurale with their financial reporting
requirements based on the criteria in the COSO framework, as the Company lacked a sufficient complement of resources with an
appropriate level of knowledge and experience to establish effective process and controls. The control environment material
weakness contributed to other material weaknesses within the Company 's system of internal control over financial reporting at the
control activity level, where the Company did not design and implement effective control activities, including controls related o

revenue, inventory, other assets, contract labilities, and complex ing matters and (including debt, ibl
preferred stock and related embedded derivatives),
An international component af the Allerium segment (the i i ) had i ive controls. the

Company did not desiga and maintain effective general information technology controls (“GITCs™) and business process comro]s
in the following arcas: (i) user access controls 1o ensure appropriate segregation of duties and o adequately restrict user and
privileged access to financial applications, programs and data to appropriste company personnel; (i) program change
managemen! contruls to ensure that changes to information technology (“IT™) programs and data affecting ﬁnnncna] apphwnuns
and underlying accounting records are properly identified, tested, and with 7 of

duties; and (iil)} business process controls o ensure that journal entries were not amended prior to posting, as the ¢||lerpr\se

resource planning (“ERP™) system which the international component operates does not restrict approvers from changing journal

entries prior o posting, These deficiencics impact contral sE[lvl(!tS over all financial statement account balances, classes of
and di: within the 3

These material were in the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the
consolidated financial stasements, and financial satement schedule, as of and for the year ended July 31, 2025, of the Company,
and this report does not affect our report on such financial statements.

s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Jericho, New York
November 10, 2025

COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consalidated Balance Sheets
As of July 31, 2025 and 2024

Assels 2025 2024

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 3 40,019,000 32,433,000
Agcounts recefvable, net 144,337,000 193,595,000
Inventories, net 6%, 955,000 93,136,000
Prepaid expenses and edher current asseis 16,375,000 15,387,000

Total currem assets 270,186,000 336,551,000
Property, plant and equipment, net 43,410,000 47,328,000
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 30,812,000 31.590.000
Goodwill 204,625,000 284,180,000
Intangibles with finite lives, net 173,105,000 194,828,000
Diefersed financing costs, nel 1,967,000 3,251,000
Other ussets, net 16,790,000 14,706,000

“Total assets 5 740,835,000 913,434,000

Liukilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equiry
Curreat liabilities:
Accounts paysble 3 15,965,000 42,477,000
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 58,423,000 62,245,000
Current portion of credit facility, net 4,050,000 4,050,000
Operating lease liabilitics, current 7,250,000 7,869,000
Contract liabilitics 62,546,000 65,834,000
Iiterest payable 15,000 1,072,000

Total current liabilities 158,249,000 183,547,000
Mon-current partion of eredit facility, net 114,414,000 173,527,000
Non-current portion of subordinated credit facility, net 95 588.000 —
Operating lease liabilities, -current 29,376,000 30,258,000
Income taxes payable, nen-current 1 %18, 000 2,231,000
Deferved tax labifiy, net 4,619,000 0,193,000
Long-term contract liabilities 21,005.000 21,035,000
Warrant and derivative liabilitics 5,254,000
Other liabilities 4,060,000

Total liabilites 115,000
Commitments and contingencies { See Note 14}
Conventible preferred stock, par value $0.10 per share: authorized and issucd 178,151 shares o
July 31, 2025 (redemption valuc of 153,000, which includes acercd dividends of
$1.520,000) and authorized and issucd 171,827 sharcs at July 31, 2024 {redemption value of
$180.076.000, which inchudes accrued dividends of $1,341.000) 189,535,000 180,076,000
Stockhelders” equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.10 per share; authorized and unissued 1,821,819 and 1,828,173
shares at July 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively = =
Common stock, par value $0.10 per share, autherized 100,000,000 shares; issued 44,443,626

shares and 43,766,109 shares at July 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively 4,444,000 4,377,000
Additional paid-in capital 48,722,000 640,145.000
Retained {deficit) eamings 6,895,000} 193,580,000

546,271,000 T4E,102,000
Less:
Treasury stock, at cost (15,033,317 shares ot July 21, 2025 and 2024) (441,845,000} (e B9, 000)
Total stockholders™ equity 104,422,000

Total lisbilitics. convertible preferred stock and stockhalders’ equity 5 7ADE35000
See accompanying notes o consolidated financial stements.
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COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Fiscal Years Ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023

Cash flows from opeating aetivities;
Net loss.
Adjustments to reconcile net boss to net cash used in operating activitics:

Depreciation and amortization of propenty, plant and equipment
Amertixation of intangible assets with finite ives

Amartization of stock-based compensation

Amortization of cost to fulfill aseets

Paickin-kind imterest under term loan

Amortization of deferred financing costs, debt discount and acereted inteest
related to subordinated credit fucility

Amortization of defirmad financing costs and debt discount related 10 credst
faseility
‘Write-oft of deferred financing costs and debt discounts
Change in fair value of warrants and derivatives
CE transition costs nelated to equity-chassified stock-hased awands
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock purchuse option liability
Loss om business divestimure
Changes in other linbilities
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts and contract assets
Provision for excess and obsolete inventory
Deferred income tax benefit
Impeirment of lang-lived assets, including goodwill
‘Changes in assets and liabilities, net of «ffects of divestitures:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Comract libilities
(Other liabilities, non-current
Interest payable
Incume taxes payable
Net cash used in operating acti

tics

Cash flows from investing sctivities:

Proceeds from business divestimre, net
Purchases of property. plant and cquipment
Net cash {used in} provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities;

Proceeds from subardinated credit faciliny

Cantribution for eonstrueting long-lived assets

Proceeds from term loan

Repayinent of term loan

et (payments) borrowings under revolving laans

Payment of deferred financing coses and debt discount

Proceeds from issuance of convertible prefeered sinck

Payment of converiible preferred stock issuance costs and fees.

Cash dividends paid on common stock

Remittance of employees’ statilory tax withholding for stock awards

Proceeds from issuance of employes stock purchase plan shares

Payment of shelf regissration costs

Bepayment of principal smounts under finenee lease and other obligations
Net cash provided by financing activities

F=12

2028 2024 2023
S (1553020000 (SRURSODD)  (26,809000)
11,798,000 12,159,000 11,022,000
21,723 000 21,154,000 21,396,000
3,120,000 096,000 10,107 000
261,000 960,000 030,000
5.528.000 137,000 -
BAG0.000 - et
2968000 3988000 1852000
H977,000 1,832,000 -
(38.498,000) (4.273,000) —
= — 3,764,000
— 1,199,000 =
(4, 110,000) £4,133,000)
310,000 89,000 48,000
17,608,000 1,422,000 61,000
16,202,000 2,501,000 471,000
(1.700,000) (29000000 (6,060,000)
79.555.0000) 4,525,000 -
33,150,000 (39,708,000)
7.8, 000 3, (14,885,000
(1.161,000) 4,282,000 1.656,000
(2.074,000) ATLT.000)  (3,336,000)
(15,194,000) {18,930.000) 20,362,000
(8,964,000 735,000 71,000
(3,31%,000) 2,755,000 10,184 100
(12,000) 14,000 (324,000
(1,057,000) {206,000) 1,197,000
{3R0,000) (2,261 000) 1,673,000
(8.292.000) (54:495,000) {4:433,000]
-_ 33,725,000 -_—
(B.565.000) {13.083.0000 (18.311.000)
(R.565.000) 20,142,000 (I8,311L000)
1600000000 - —
2814,000 — —
— 157,140,000 —
(S6.746.000)  (4BE0DOD0)  (LSTS.000)
(14,859000)  (E5,300,000)0 36,500,000
(4.345.000) {14,254 000 (3,809,000
- 43,200,000 —
(726,0001) (4,272,0000
(158 000) (2680000 (B.661.000)
(1.248,000) (LEISO00)  (2869,000)
118,000 254,000 470,000
(207.000) (20,000} (01000
= = 4,000
24,443,000 47,523,000 20,051,000
{Continued)

COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP.

AND SUB!
e

SIDIARIES
of Cash Flows

Fiscal Years Ended July

Net increase (decrease] in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and eash equivalents at end of ycar

Cash paid during the year for.
Interest

Ingome baxes, net

Non-cash investing and financing activitics:
Ad 10 reflect o value

Term loan amendment fees paid-in-kind

Accrued term loan amendment fee

Accrued additions to property, plant and equipment
lssuance of restricted stock

Acerued remittance of employees statutory tax withholdings for
e units

Cash dividends declared on common stock bul unpaid, including
acerual of dividend cquivakeats

Accrued deferred financing costs
Acerued shelf negistration costs

Unpaid convertible prefered stock issuance costs

See accompanying notes to co

prefisred stock

31,2025, 2024 and 2023

2023 024 223
§ 7586000 13472000 (2,693,000
32,433,000 18,961,000 21,654,000

5__ 40,019,000 32.433,000 18.961.000

27, 00 18,097,000 11,914,000

5 1,876,000 4877000 361,000

5 9, 558.000 IS!QOI} (100 57 Dﬂ?g!z

: 5,815,000 — —
2,809,000

5 317.000 961,000 993000

$ 6,000 = 9000
= —
fully-vested
3000 424,000 1,204,000
(reversal)
5 (42,000 (107.000) 3!5.D£r
] — 1114000 -
3 = 170,000 =
§ = TT000 =
=5

nsolidated financial statements.
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COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Swnmary of Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies

(a)

]

(€1

Pringiples of Consoli
The i lil ﬂnsncml include the accounts of Comiech Telecommunications Corp. and
its. subsbdlanei ("C‘omlech " Mwe" "us" or "owr"), all of which are wholl d. Al i Pty
balances and ions have been elimi in

Nature of Business

We design, produce and market innovative products, systems and services for advanced communications solutions, We
conduct our business through two reportable operating segments: Satellite and Space Communications and Allerium
(formerly, Terrestrial and Wireless Networks),

Our business is highly competitive and characterized by rapid technological change. Our growth and financial position
depends on our ability to keep pace with such changes and developments and 1o respond to the sophisticated
requirements of an increasing variety of methods and devices used o transmit and receive secure wireless
communications, among ather things. Many of our competitors arc substantially larger, and have significantly greater
financial, marketing and operating resources and broader product lines than our own, A significant technological or
sales breakthrough by others, including smaller competitors m m:'w t.om‘pnmes could have a material adverse effect on
our business. In addition, ceriain of our have bilitics in our product arcas and could
choose 1o replace our products with their own.

International sales expose us to certain risks, including barrices to trade, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates (which may make our products less price competitivel, political and economic instability, availability of suitable
export financing, export license requirements, Laril! regulations, and other United States ("U.S.%) and foreign
regulations that may apply to the export of our products, as well as the generally greater difficulties of doing business
abroad. We attempt to reduce the risk of doing business in foreign countries by seeking contracts denominated in U.S.
dollars, advance or milestone payments, credit insurance and imrevocable letters of credit in our favor,

Liguidity

In fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, we rcporicd operating losses of $139,008 000, S$79800.000 and $14.660,000,
respectively, and net cash used in operating activities of 58,292,000, 554,495,000 and 54,433,000, respectively, At
July 31, 2025 and November 7, 2025 {the date closest to the issuance date), total outstanding borrowings under our
Credit Facility was $133,9001 000 and $135,000,000, respectively, OF such amounts, $17,641,000 was drawn on the
Revolver Loan at both dates.

At July 31, 2025, October 31, 2025 and November 7, 2025, our available sources of liquidity totaled $46,972,000,
S50.988.000 and SS0284.000. respectively, which ncludes qualified cash and cash equivalents of $37.363.000,
$41.379,000 and $40,675,000, respectively, and the remaining available portion of the Revolver Loan of $9,609,000 as
of each such date.

As of the issuance date, we expect cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from both operating and financing

activities to be our principal sources of liquidity. We also believe these sources of liquidity will be sufficient ro fund
our operating and cash commitments for investing and financing activities over the next year beyond the issuance date.

F-14

COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued
Dwring fiscal 2025 and through the issuance date, we have taken the following actions, and implemented the following

plans. fo improve our operational and fnancial performance, enhance our liquidity and financial condition and ability
to meet our financial covenants contained in our eredit facilities:

+  Engaged in porifolio-shaping ies 1o enhance [ efficiency amd focws, including the
elimination of legacy solutions that were not contributing mesningfully 1o net sales and or gross profits;

+  Prioritized efforts to complete low or ne margin non-recurring engineering contracts in order to accelerate our
migeation to higher volume and higher margin manufacturing related orders with improved cash conversion
cycles:

+  Developed and launched new products and services around differentiated rechnology and solutions;

+ Improved operating profitability by entering inte, or remegotiating, sales or service contracts with more
favorable pricing and payment terms;

+  Reduced our cost strueture to better align operating expenses with revenue expectations, including facility and
headeount rationalization and optimization;

+  Theough new leadership and improved ility and process discij the
organization, reduced our investments in working capital (e.g., accounts receivable and inventory), as well as
capital expenditures; and

* Thiough a scries of capital injections, aggreguting $100.000,000 in the form of subordinated debt, and
amendments to our credit facili antly reduced senior debt and related cash interest payments
due under our Credit Facility: (ii) increased the available portion of our Revolver Loan: (iii) deferred the
scheduled repayment of a portion of the Term Loan and the scheduled payment of certain fees due under the
Credit Facility; (iv) suspended testing of our Net Leverage Ratio, Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and
Minimum EBITDA covenants under our credit facilities until January 31, 2027; and {v) reduced the minimum
quarterly average liquidity requirement under our credit facilitics.

Our ability to meet future anticipated liquidity needs over the next year beyond the issuance date will largely depend
on our ahility 1o execute on our operational strategy, generate positive cash inflows from operations, maximize our
borrowing capacity under our Credit Facility and or secure outside capital. Our ability to do so may also be affected by
general economie, financial and other factors which are beyond our control.

Based on the [uw:goxm,. over the next year beyond the issuance date, we believe that we
sufficient positive cash inflows and maximize our borrowing capacity under aur Credit Fac
comply with the covenants contained in our credit facilities,

(i) be able to generate
ty Lo continue as & going
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COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Motes to Consolidated Finaneial Statements, Continued

(d) Revenue Recognition

In accordance with FASB ASC 606 - "Revenue fram Comraces with Customers” ("ASC 606"), we record revenue in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for goods or services promised
customers. Under ASC 606, we follow a five-step model we: (1) identify the contract with our customer: (2) identify
our performance obligations in our contract; (3} determine the transasction price for our contract; {4) allocare the
wansaction price 1o our performance obligations; and (5) recognize revenue using one of the following two methods:

. Chver rinee - We recognize revenue using the over time method when there is a continuous transfer of control
to the customer over the contractual period of performance. This generally occurs when we enter into a long-
term contract relating to the design, or of eomplex i ar
platforms to a buyer’s specification {or to pm\:de services related 1o the performance of such contracts) for
which we have determined there is no aliemative use, as defined in ASC 606, Continuous transfer of control
is typically supported by contract clauses which allow our customers to unilaterally terminate a contract for
convenience, pay for costs incurred plus a reasonable profit and ake control of work-in-process. Revenue
recognized over time is generally based on the extent of progress toward completion of the related
performance obligations. The selection of the method to measure progress requires judgment and is based on
the nature of the products or services provided. In cenain instances, typically for firm fixed-price contracts,
we use the cost-to-cast measure because it hest depicts the transfer of control to the customer which accurs as
we [ncur costs on our contracts, Under the cost-to-cost measure, the extent of progress toward completion is
mensured based on the ratio of costs incurred o date to the wtal estimated costs at completion, including
warranty costs, Revenues, including estimated fees or profits, are recorded proportionally as costs are
incurred. Costs to fulfill generally include direct Tabor, materials, subcontractor costs, other direct costs and
an ellecation of indireet costs. When these contracts are modified, the additienal geods or services arc
aenerally not distinct from those already provided, As a result, these modifications form part of an existing
contract and we must update the transaction price and our measure of progress for the single performance
whligation and recognize a cumulative catch-up to revenue and gross profits,

A cost-to-cost measure of progress is principally used to account for contracts in our Suluihlc and Space

Communications scgment and, to a lesser extent, certain | hased and
contracts in our public safety and location technologies product lines within our Allerium segment.

For over time contracts using a cost-to-cost measure of progress, we have an estimate at completion ("EAC™)
process in which management reviews the progress and execution of our performance obligations and
calculates an estimated contract profit based on wotal estimated contract revenue and cost, Since certain
contracts extend over a long period of time. the impact of revisions in revenue and‘or cost estimates during
the progress of work may impact current period carnings through a cumulative adjustment. Additionally, if
the EAC process indicates a loss, a provision is made for the weal ancicipated loss in the perind that it
becomes evident. Contract revenue and cost estimates for significant contracts are generally reviewed and
reassessed at least quarterly.

For service-based contracts in our Allerium segment, we also recognize revenue over time. These services are
typically recognized as a series of services performed over the contract term using the straight-line method, or
based on our customers” actual usage of the networks and plarforms which we provide

«  Point in sime - When a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, we must record revenue using the
point in time accounting method which generally results in revenue being recognized wpon shipmeni or
delivery of a promised good or service to a customer. This generally oceurs when we enter into short term
contracts or purchase orders where items are provided to customers with relatively quick tum-around times,
Modifications 1o such contracts andior purchase orders, which typically provide for additional quantities or
serviees, are accounted for as a new contract because the pricing for these additional quantities or services are
Based on standalone selling prices,
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COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

Point in time accounting is principally applied to contracts in our satellite ground infrastruciure product line
{which mcludes satellite modems and traveling wave tube amplifiers), The contracts related to these product
lines do not meet the requirements for over time revenue recognition beeause our customers cannot utilize the
equipment for its intended purpose during any phase of our munufacturing process: customers do not
simultaneously receive andlor consume the benefits provided by our performance; customers do not control
the asset {i.c.. prior to delivery, customers cannot direct the use of the asset, sell or exchange the equipment,
efe.); and, although many of our contracts have termination for convenicnce clauses and/or an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date, our performance ereates an asset with an alternative use
through the point of delivery.

In determining that our equipment has alternative use, we considered the underlying ing process
for our products. In the early phases of manufacturing, raw materials and work in process (including
subassemblies) consist of common parts that are highly fungible among many different types of products and
customer applications, Finished products are either configured 0 our standard configuration or based on our
customers” specifications. Finished products, whether built to our standard specification or to a customers’
specification, can be sold to a variety of customers and across many different end use applications with
minimal rework, il needed, and witheut incurring a significani economic loss,

When identifying a contract with our customer, at inception, we consider approvals and commitments from both
parties, if the rights of the parties are identified, if the payment terms are identified, if it has commercial substance, the
transaction price to which we are entitled and if collectubility is probuble.

When identifying performance obligations, we consider whether there are multiple promises and how o account for
them. In our contracts, multiple promises are separated if they are distinct. both individually and in the context of the
contraet, If multiple promises in a contract are highly interrelated or comprise a serics of distinet services performed
over time, they are combined into a single performance obligation. In some cases, we may also provide the customer
with an additional service-type warranty, which we recognize as a separate performance obligation. Service-type
warranties do not represent a significant portion of our consolidated net sales. When service-type warranties represent
a separate performance obligation, the revenue is deferred and recognized matably over the extended warranty period.
Our contracts, from time-to-time, may also include options for additional goods and services. To date, these options
have not represented material rights to the customer as the pricing for them reflects standalone selling prices. As a
result, we do not consider aptions we offer to be performance abligations for which we must allocate a portion of the
transaction price. [n many cases, we provide assurance-type warranty coverage for some of our products for a period
of at least one year from the date of delivery.

When identifying the transaction price, we typically utilize the contract’s stated price as a staring point. The
transaction price in certain arrangements may include estimated amounts of variable consideration, including award
fees, incentive fees or other provisions that can cither increase or decrease the transaction price. We estimate variahle
consideration as the amaount to which we expect to be entitied, and we include estimated amounts in the transaction
price to the extent it is probable that a ificant reversal of FEVEnUE rec will not occur when the
estimation uncertainty is resolved. The estimation of this variable consideration and determination of whether to
include estimated amounts in the ransaction price are based largely on an assessment of our anticipated performance
and all information {e.g., historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably availuble w us.

When allocating the contract’s transaction price, we consider cach distinct performance obligation. For contracts with
multiple performance obligations, we allocate the contract’s transaction price o each performance obligation using our
best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinet gand or service in the contract, We determine standalone
selling price based on the price at which the fon is sold sey . I the standalone selling price is
not observable through past i we esiimate the selling price taking inio sccount available
information such as market conditions, including geographic or regional specific factors, competitive positioning,
intemal costs, profit objectives and internally approved pricing guidelines related to the performance obligations.
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COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

Most of our contracts with customers are denominated in ULS. dollars and typically are either firm fixed-price or cost
reimbursable type contracts (including fixed-fee, meentive-fee and time-and-material type contracts). In almost all of
our contracts with customers, we are the principal in the arrangement and report revenue on a gross basis. Transaction
prices for contracts with U8, domestic and international customers are usually based on specific negotiations with
cach customer and in the case of the U.S. government, sometimes based on estimated or actual costs of providing the
gonds or services in with i Sales by geography and customer type, as a percentage of
consolidated net sales, are as follows:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023
LS. povernment 303 % 33.7 % 313 %
Domestic 48.7 % 448 % 47 %
Total United States 79.0 % 783 % 6.0 %
International 21.0 % 215 % 24.0 %
Taotal 100,0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

Sales 10 LS, government customers include sales to the US, Department of Defense ("DoD7), intelligence and
civilian agencies. as well as sales directly 1o or through prime contractors. Domestic sales include sales 1o commercial
customers, as well as to LS. state and local governments. For fiscal 2025 and 2024, except for the LS. government,
there were no custemers that represented more than 10% of consolidated net sales. For fiscal 2023, included in
domestic sules are sales o a top tier mohile network operator, which were 1006% of consolidated net sales
International sales for fiseal 2025, 2024 and 2023 (which include sales to U.S. domestic companies for inclusion in
products that are sold to international customers) were $105,095,000, $115,924,000 and $132,117,000, respectively.
Except for the US.. no individual country (including sales to U.S. domestic companies for inclusion in products that
are s0ld to a foreign country) represented more than 10.0% of consolidated net sales for fiseal 2025, 2024 and 2023,

The following tables our di of revenue i with i reviewed by our Chief
Operating Decision Maker ("CODM”) for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, We believe these
categories best depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by
economic factors which impact our business. Sec Note (13) - "Segment lnformation” for more nformation related to
our segments.

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2025
Satellite and Space

Communications Allerium Toal

Cieographieal region and customer Lype

U.5, government 5 148,411,000 2910000 § 151,321,000

Domestic 35,956,000 207,156,000 243,112,000

Total United States 184,367,000 210,066,000 394,433,000

Intermational 4,898,000 20,197,000 105,055,000

Total H 269,265,000 230,263,000 § 499,528,000
Contract ype

Firm fixed-price $ 213, 167.000 230263000 S 443 430,000

Cost reimbursable 56,098.000 — 56,415,000

Total 5 268,263,000 230,263,000 § 499528 000
Transfer of control

Point in time 5 147,859,000 1,886,000 S 149,745,000

Over time 121,406,000 228,377,000 349,783,000

Total $ 269.265.000 230.263.000 § 499.528.000
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(ieographical region and customer type
U.S. government
Domestic
Total United States

International
Total
Contract type
Firm fixed-price
Cost reimbursable
Total
Transter of control
Point in time
Ohver time
Total

Geagraphical region and eustomer type
U.S. govermnment
Damestic
Total United States

Intemational
Total

Firm fixed-price
Cost reimbursable
Total

Transfer of control
Paint in time
Orver time
Tatal

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2024

Satellite and Space
Communications Allerium Taotal
H 179,816,000 2504000 8 182,320,000
48,793,000 193,366,000 242,154,000
228,609,000 195,870,000 424,479,000
95,460,000 20464000 115,924,000
$ 324,069,000 216,334,000 § 540,403,000
scoe . e
s 275,428,040 216334000 § 491,762,000
48,641,000 - 45,641 000
3 324 068000 216334000 § 540.403.000
—— = e
5 135,070,000 L578000 § 136,648,000
188,999,000 214,756,000 403,755,000
5 324,069 000 216,334,000 § 540,403,000
Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2023
Satellite and Space
C icati Allerium Total
5 168411000 567,000 5 171,978,000
56,568,000 189,331,000 245,899,000
224.979.000 192,898,000 417877000
112,777,000 19,340,000 132,117,000
5 337.756.000 212.238.000 § 549.994.000
— —
5 ZHR A2 000 212238000 S SO0, 720,000
49,274,000 — 49,274,000
3 337,756,000 212,238,000 § 549,904,000
— = =
b3 197 808 000 2968,000 S 200,776.000
139,948 000 204,270,004 349,218,000
3 337.756.000 212.238.000 3 549.994.000
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The timing of revenue billings and i resulis in i  unbilled and contract
liabilities on our Comsolidated Balance Sheets. Under typical payment terms for our contracts accounted for over time,
amounts are billed as work progresses in sccordance with agreed-upon contractual terms, cither at periodic intervals
(.., monthly) or upon achievement of contractual milestones. For certain contracts with provisions that are intended
o protect customers in the event we do not satisfy our performance obligations, billings occur subsequent o revenue
recognition, resulting in unbilled receivables. Under ASC 606, unbilled reccivables constitute contract assers, Except
for certain unbilled receivables (see Note () - “dccounts Receivable”), there were no material impairment losses
recognized on contract assets during the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, On large long-term
contrscts, and for contracts with international customers that do not do business with us regularly, payment terms
typically require advanced payments and deposits. Under ASC 606, payvments received from customers in excess of
revenue recognized to-date results in a contract lishility. These contruct lisbilities are not considered to represent a
significant financing component of the contract because we believe these cash advances and deposits are generally
used to meet working capital demands which can be higher in the carlier stages of a contract. Also, advanced payments
and deposits provide us with some measure of assurance that the customer will perform on its obligations under the
contract, Under the typical payment terms for our contracts accounted for at a point in time, costs are accumulated i
inveatory until the time of billing, which generally coincides with revenue recognition. OF the current contract liabs
balance of 363,834,000 at July 31, 2024 and $66,351.000 at July 31, 2023, $54,686,000 and $48.902,000 was
recognized as revenue during fiscal years 2025 and 2024, respectively.

We recognize the incremental costs to obtain or fulfill a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization
period of the asset is one year or less; otherwise, such costs are capitalized and amortized over the estimated life of the
contract. During fiscal year 2025 and 2024, incremental costs to obtain or fulfill contracts with an amartization period
ereater than one year were 52,887,000 and 2,863,000, regpectively.

Commissions payable to our internal sales and mark or that are i | to the
acquisition of long-term customer contracls nre mmmmd aml amanmed consistent w:lh the pattern of revenue
wmgnmun through cost of sales en our Co af Operations. C: payable that are not

to the of long: contracts are expensed as incurred in selling, general and administrative
expenses on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. As for commissions payable 10 our third-party sales
reprosentatives related to large long-term contracts, we consider these types of commissions both direci and
ineremental eosts to obtain and fulfill such contracts. Therefore, such commissions are included in total estimated costs
at completion for such contracts and expensed over time through cost of sales on our Consolidated Statements of
Operarions.

performance oblig represent the price of firm orders for which werk has not been
performed as of the end of a fiscal period. Remaining performance obligations, which we refer o as backlog, exclude
unexercised contract options and potential orders under indefinite delivery / indefinite quantity ("IDIQ") contructs. As
of July 31, 2023, the aggregate ameunt of the ransaction price allocated 10 remaining performance obligations was
S6T2,053.000 {which represents the amount of our consolidated funded backlog). We estimate that a substantial
portion of pur remaining performance obligations at July 31, 2025 will be completed and recognized as revenue during
the next twenty-four month pericd, with the rest thereafter. During fiscal 20235, revenue recognized from performance
whligations satisfied, or patially satisfied, in previous periods (for example due w changes in the transaction price)
was not material,

Qur cash eq) are sh , highly liguid it that are both readily convertible fo known amounts of

cash and have insignificant risk of change in value as a result of changes in inferest rates. Our cash and cash
equivalents, as of July 31, 2025 and 2024, amounted to $40,019,000 and $32,433,000, respectively, and primarily
consist of bank deposits and money market deposit accounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
Cash equivalents are carricd at cost, which approximates fair valuc.

Au July 31, 2025, cash and cush equivalents includes 391,000 of cush deposited us collateral in connection wi
outstanding standby letters of credit to guarantee future performance on certain customer contracts.

n
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Inventories

Owr inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, the latier of which is defined as the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less ibly predictable costs of letion, disposal and
transportation. Our inventories are reduced to their estimated net rw]lmblc value by a charge to cost of sales in the
period such excess costs are determined. Our inventories are principally recorded using either average or standard
costing methods.

Work-in-p i r yand finished goods inventory reflect all sccumulated production
costs, which are comprised of direct pmdu(llﬁn costs and overhead, and is reduced by amounts recorded in cost of
sales as the related revenue is recognized. Indirect costs relating to long-term contracts, which include expenses such
as general and administrative, are charged 1o expense as incurred and are not included in our cost of sales or work-in-
process (including our contracts-in-progress) and finished goods inventory.

Our machinery and equipment, which are recorded at cost, are depreciated or amortized over their estimated useful
lives (three to eight vears) under the siraight-line method. Capitalized internal use sofiware costs are amortized once
the software is ready for its intended use under the straight-line method over the estimated uscful life of the software,
which is generally three vears. Capitalized internal use software is considered ready for its Jnlended use after all
substantial testing is completed. Capitalized values of s and leasehold imp: ler leases are
amortized over the life of the leasc or the estimated life of the asset, whichever is less

Goedwill represents the excess cost of a business acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired. In
accordance with FASB ASC 350 “furangibles - Goodwil! and Cvker™ goodwill is not amortized, We periodically, at
least on an annual basis in the first quarter of each fiscal vear, review goodwill, considering factors such as projected
cash flows and revenue and eamings multiples, to determine whether the carrying value of the goodwill is impaired. 1f
we fail the quantitative assessment of goodwill impairment, we would be required to recognize an impairment loss
equal to the amount that a reporting unit's carrying value exceeded its fair value; however, any loss recognized should
not exceed the total amount of goodwill allecated to that reporting unit. We define our reporting umits to be the same as
our pperaling segments.

We performed our annual goodwill impairment assessment for fiscal 2026 on August 1, 2025 (the first day of our
fiscal 2026). See Naote (13) - "Long-lived Avsets. including Goodwill” for additional mformation. Unless there are
future indicators that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of @ reporting unit is less than its carrying value, such
as a significant adverse change in our future financial performance, our next impairment assessment for goodwill will
be performed and completed in the first quarter of fiscal 2027. Any impairment charges that we may record in the
future could be material w our results of eperations and financial condition,

We assess the recoverability of the carrying value of our other long-lived assets, including identifiable intangible assets
with finite usetul lives, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be recoverable. We evaluate the recoverability of such assets based upon the expectations of undiscounted
cash flows from such assets. If the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash flows were less than the carrying
amount of the asset, a loss would be recognized for the difference between the fair value and the carrving amount,

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the futre tax l 10 diff between the financial statement carrying amounis of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, Deferred tax assels
and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enuctment date.
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In assessing the need for a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, we consider all positive and negative evidence,
meluding past fnancial performance, timing and judgments about future taxable income and tax planning strategies.
Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce net deferred tax assets wo the amount "more-likely-
than-not" expected to be realized,

We measure and sceount for uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax retums in accordance
with the provisions of FASE ASC 740-10-25 "fncome Tumv" which prescribes a two-step evaluation process for tax
positions. The first step is recognition based on a ion of whether it is likely-th that a tax position
be sustained upon examination, mcluding resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the
technical merits of the position. The second step is to measure a tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not
threshold. The tax position is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being
realized upon ultimate settlement, 1T a tax position does not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the
benefit of that position 15 not recognized in the financial statements. Our policy is to recognize potential interest and
penaltics related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense,

wil

Earmings Per Share

Our basic earnings per share ("EPS") is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares (including
wvested but unissued stock units, share units, performance shares and restricted stock umits {"RSUs")) outstanding
during each respective period, Our diluted EPS reflects the dilution from potential common stock issuable pursuant o
the exercise of equity-classified stock-based awards, warrants issued to our lenders in connection with entering the
Credit Facility, seetlement of escrow arrangements related to our acquisition of UHP Networks Inc. ("LUHP") and the
assumed conversion of Convertible Preferred Stock dilutive, oulsm.ndmg durmg eacll r\.spu.uw period. The
warrants contingently issuable to our preferred sharcholders upen & & resp series of O

Preferred Stock are not reflected m luted EPS. Pursuant to FASB ASC IGD "Eummg: er Shave,” shares whose
issuance is upon the of certain are included in diluted EPS based on the number of
shares, if any, that would be issuable if the end of the reparting periad were the end of the contingency period. When
calculating our diluted earings per share, we consider the amount an employee must pay upon assumed exercise of
stock-based awards, the amount of stock-based compensation cost attributed o future services and not yet recognized
and the amount a holder must pay upon assumed exercise of warants,

There were no repurchases of our common stock during the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, See Note
(18} - "Steckhelders ' Equin™ for more information.

Weighted average stock options, RSUs and restricted stock outstanding of 1,161,000, 1,050,000 and 972,000 shares
for fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, were not included in our diluted EPS calculation because their effect
would have been anti-dilutive.

Our EPS calculations exclude 583,000, 534,000 and 385,000 weighted average performance shares outstanding for
fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, as the performance conditions have not yet been satisfied. However, the
for EPS ions for each resp pericd is reduced by the compensation expense related to these

awards.

Weighted average common shares related to wamrants issued in connection with entering the Credit Facility on June
17, 2024 of 13890040 and 174,000 for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively, were not included in our diluted EPS
calculation hecause their effect would have been anti-dilutive,

Weighted average common shares of 98,000 and 260,000 related to our acquisitton of UHP in March 2021 were not
ineluded in our diluted EPS caleulation for fiscal 2024 and 2023, respectively, beeause their effect would have been
anti-dilutive. As of July 31, 2024, all of the shares held in escrow related 10 the UHP acquisition were settled.

Weighted average common shares of 24,340,000, 13,531,000 and 4,570,000 underlying the assumed conversion of
Convertible Preferred Stock, on an if-converted basis, were not included in our diluted EPS caleulation for fiscal 2025,
2024 and 2023, respectively, because their effect would have been anti-dilutive. As a result, the numerstor for our
basic and diluted EPS caleulation for fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023 is the respective net loss attributable o common
stockholders.
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The following Lable ¢s the and used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations:
Fiscal Years Ended July 31,
2025 2024 2023
MNumerator:
Met loss S(155,302,000)  (99.985,000)  (26,899,000)
Gain (lossh on extinguishment of convertible
preferred stock 51,179,000 (19,555,000) =
Convertible preferred stock issuance costs (4,349,000
Dividend on convertible preferred stock (100,128,000 _ (11.551,000) (1.007.000)

Met loss attributable o common stockholders §(204.251 .I)Oﬁi 135 440,000, (33 906,000
Denominator:
Denominator for basic and diluted calculation 29;405@00 28.799.000 28.002;000
As discussed further in Note (17} = "Convertible Preferred Stock," such shares of preferred stock represent a
“participating security” as defined in ASC 260. As a result, our EPS caleulations for fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023 were
based on the two-¢lass method, Given the net loss anributable to common stockholders for fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023,
there was no impact of applying the two-class method to our reported basic or diluted earnings per common share.

Eair Walye and Finaneial

Using the fair value hierarchy described in FASB ASC 820 "Fair Value Measurements and fisclosures,” we valued
our cash and cash equivalents using Level | inputs that were based on quoted market prices. We believe that the
carrying amounts of our other current financial assets (such as accounts receivable) and other current liabilitics
{including accounts payable, acerued expenses and the current portion of long-term debi) approximate their fuir values
due 1 their short-term maturities, Additionally, the carrying amount of the non-current portion of our Credit Facility
approximated its fair value due to the variable interest rates and pricing grid related to such debt,

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs developed using the best available information under the circumstances, Level
3 imputs are supported by little or no markel activity, are significant to the fair value of the assets or labilities and
reflect our assumptions related to how market participants would use similar inputs to price the asset or liahility.

As further discussed in Mate (8) - "Credit Facility," we used Level 3 inputs to value the warrants issued to lenders in
cannection with our Credit Facility, As of July 31, 2025, we determined the fair value of such warranis based on the
Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following estimates: exercise price of SO.10, risk free rate of 4.0%,
volatility of 63.0%, and expected life of 5.9 years. We also used Level 3 inputs to value the combined embedded
derivative liability associated with our Credit Facility. As of July 31, 2025, we determined the fair value of the
combined derivative liability using a with-and-without seenario-based discounted cash flow method. which
reflected our estimatcs regarding the probability and timing of events that eould resublt in additional payments of
interest and/or fees to such lenders as stated in our Credit Facility.

As further discussed in Note (9) - "Subordingied Credit Faeilipy,” we used Level 3 inputs o valug the make-whaole

amount and combined embedded derivative liability asseciated with our Subordinated Credit Facility. As of July 31,

2025, we determined the fair value of the combined embedded derivative liability using a with-and-without scenario-

based discounted cash flow method, which reflected our estimates regarding the probability and timing of events that

could result in additional payments of interest and/or accelerated payments of principal and make-whole amounts to

such lenders as stated in our Subordinated Credit Facility. The calculated fair value of the debt outstanding under the
d Credit Facility il its carry value as of July 31, 2025,
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As further discussed in Nove (77} "(uvwrmh!r Preferved Stock," we used Level 3 inputs to value the warranis

issuable and combined 7 liability associated with our Convertible Preferred Stock. As
of July 31, 2025, we determined the fair vllue of Converible Preferred Stock warrants using the Monte Carlo
simulation model with the following assumptions: expected life of 6.0 years; risk free rate of 4.0%: expected volatility
of 65.0%; and dividend vield of 0%. As ul' July 31, 2025, we determined the fair value of the combined embedded

derivative liability wsing & with-and based di d cash flow method, which reflected our
estimates regarding the probability and timing of events that could result in additional and/or accelerated payments to
our preferred or the sion of the C ible Preferred Stock into common stock, pursuant to the

terms of our Convertible Preferred Stock.

As of July 31, 2025 and 2024, other than the finzncial instruments discussed above, we had no other significant assets
or liabilities included in our Consolidaied Balance Sheets recorded at fair value, as such term is defined by FASB ASC
820

Use of Esii

The of financial in eonformity with sccounting principles generally accepted in
the Umled Suates of America reguires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount
of asscts and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses during the reported period. We make significant
estimates in many areas of our accounting, including but not limited 1o the following: liquidity and geing concern
asscssments, revemue recognition related to contracts accounted for over time, stock-based compensation,
recoverability of long-lived assets (including poodwill), provision for excess and obsolete inventories, allowance for
doubtful accounts, wamanty obligations and income taxes {including valuation allowances related to deferred tax
assets), Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Comprehensive Income

In aceordance with FASB ASC 220 "Comprehensive Income,” we report all changes in equity during a period, except
those resuliing from investment by owners and distribution 0 ewners, for the period in which they are recognized.
Comprehensive income is the total of net income and all other non-owner changes in equity {or other comprehensive
income) such as unrealized goinslosses on securities classified us available-for-sale, foreign currency translation
adjustments and minimum pension liability adjustments. Comprehensive income (loss) was the same as our net income
(loss) in fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023,

(m) Reclassifications

(n

1o conform 1o the

Certain reclassifications have been made w previously reported idated financial
fiscal 20235 presentation.

¢ w_——

We are required to prepare our i financial in dance with the Financial Accounting
Standards Board ("FASB™} Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") which is the source for all authoritative U.S,
senerally accepted accounting principles, which are commonly referred to as "GAAP" The FASB ASC is subject 1o
updates by the FASB, which are known as Accounting Standards Updates ("ASUs").

During fiscal 2025, we adopted:

+  FASB ASU No. 2023-07, which among other things, requires the disclosure of significant segment expenses, by
reportable scgment, regularly pravided to the chicf operating decision maker (*CODM™) and included within
each reported measure of segment profit or less. Our adoption of this ASU impacted our disclosures only
through the retrospective application to all prior periods presented. See Note (13) - “Segment Information” for
more information.
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During fiscal 2025, the following FASE ASUs have been issued and incorporated into the FASB ASC and have not
yet been adopied by us as of July 31, 2025:

& FASB ASU No. 2023-09, which among other lhmgs. enhances and establishes new income tax disclosure

. in addition 1o ifying and eli ing certain existing requirements. Most notably, this ASU

requires greater disaggregation of information in the effective tax rate reconciliation, including the inclusion of

hoth percentages and amounts, specific categories and additional information for reconciling items meeting a

quantitative threshold defined by the guidance. Additionally, disclosures of income taxes paid and income tax

expense must be disaggrepated by federal, state and foreign taxes, with income taxes paid further disaggregated

for individual jurisdictions that represent 5 percent or more of total income taxes paid. This ASU is effective for

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 (our fiscal year beginning on August 1. 2025), with carly

adoption permitied, We are evaluating the impact of this ASU on our consolidated financial statements and
disclosures.

*  FASB ASU No, 2024-03, which among other things, requires more detailed disclosures ol'\,emm calegorlcs of
expenses (including purchases of inventory, employee , and that are
components of existing expense captions presented on the face of the i mcom: statemnent, All entities are required
to apply the guidance prospectively with an option for retrospective application. This ASU is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026 (our fiscal year beginning on August 1, 2027), and
interim periods within annual reporting periods beginming after December 15, 2027 (our interim period
beginning on August 1, 2028), with early adoption permitied, as clarified in ASU No. 2025-01 issued January 6,
2025. The adoption of this ASU will impact our disclosures onty and we do not expect it to have a material
impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements,

+  FASB ASU No, 2025-05, which among other things, provides all entities with a practical expedient that allows
fior the assumption that current conditions as of the balanee sheet date do not change for the remaining life of
the asset when estimating credit losses for such assets. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning afier December 15, 2025 and interim perinds within those annual periods {our fiscal year beginning
on August 1, 2026), with ear]y adupm:m permitted, We are evaluating the impact of this ASU on our

lidated financial

+  FASB ASU 2025-06, which among other things, amends the criteria for recognizing and capitalizing costs
related to imternal-use software by remaclng the previous pm]ecl s:agc modal with a prmclpbcs ~hased
framewark. Under this ASU, cosis are when and d i funding a
software project, and it is probable that the project will be complcn:d and the wﬁ-war: used as intended. This
ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning afier December 15, 2027, and interim periods within
those annual periods (our fiscal year beginning on August 1. 2028), on either & prospective, retrospective or
modified prospective transition method. We are evaluating the impact of this ASU on our consolidated financial
statements and disclosures

(2) CEO Teansition Costs and Related

CEQ transition-related costs are expensed in our Unallocated segment and relate to the following:

Eiscal 2025 - On October 28, 2024, the Board appointed John Ratigan as our President and Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ"). On Qctober 31, 2024, Kenneth H, Traub was appointed as an independent member of the Board, On
November 26, 2024, Mr. Traub was appointed Executive Chairman and Mark Quinlan resigned from his position as
Chairman while remaining as & member of the Board. Also on November 26, 2024, Licutenant General (Retired)
Bruce T. Crawford, was appointed Lead Independent Direetor, On January 13, 2025, the Board appointed Mr. Traub
as President and CEOQ in addition to his curmment role as Chaimman, replacing Mr. Ratigan effective immediately.
Pursuant to his scparation agreement and relcase, Mr. Ratigan resigned from his position as President and CEO and as
a member of the Board, CEQ transition costs of $2,117,000 incurred during fiseal 2025 consisted of net legal expenses
refated o a former CEO, severance related 1w Mr. Ratigan, third party CEO search firm expenses and expense related
ta Mr, Traub's sign-on banus,
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Fiscal 2024 - On March 12, 2024, Ken Peterman, our former Chairman of the Board, President and CEO, was
terminated for cause and the Board of Directors appointed Mr. Ratigan as interim CEQ and Mr. Quinlan as Chairman
of the Hoard of Directors, Prior to the changes, Mr. Ratigan served as our Chief Corporate Development Officer and
Mr. Quinlan served as a member of our Board of Directors, Upon termination of his employment, Mr, Peterman was
deemed to have resigned from his position as Chairman of the Board of Directors and as o director pursuant to his
employment contract. CEO transition costs of $2,916,000 incurred during fiseal 2024 primarily consisted of legal
expenses.

Fisgal 2023 - On August 9, 2022, our Board of Directors appointed Mr. Peterman as our Chairman of the Board,
President and CEO. Tmns;lmn costs related to his predecessor, our former President and CEC. Michael D. Porcelain,
pursuant © his with the Company, were $7.424,000, of which $3.764,000 related to the
acceleration of unamortized stock based compensation, with the remaining $3,660,000 related o his severance
payments and henefits upon termination of employment. The cash portion of the transition costs of 33,660 000 was
paid to Mr. Poreelain in October 2022, Also, in connection with Mr. Peterman entering into an employment agreement
with the Company, effective as of August 9, 2022, we incurred a 51,000,000 expense related to a cash sign-on bonus,
which was paid fo Mr. Peterman in January 2023

(3) Business Divestitures

PST Divestiture - On 7. 2023, we the i of cur solid RF microwave high power
amplifiers and control components product line, which was included in our Satellite and Space Communications
segiment., pursuant to 4 stock sale agreement entered into on October 11, 2023 (the "PST Divestiture"). The final sales
price for this divestiture was $35.459,000 of which we received $33,277.000 in cash proceeds, net of transaction costs,
Based on the carrying amouni of net assets related to the PST Divestiture, we recognized a GAAP pre-tax loss of
S1.199. 004 in fscal 2024,

CGC Divesiture - In fiscal 2024, we performed an evaluation of cur Satellite and Space Communications segment's
product portfalio to identify opportunities to further divest, separate and/or rationalize non-core businesses or facilities.
Consistent with this effort, in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2024, we made the decision to exit our operations in
Basingstoke, United Kingdom (the "CGC Divestiture"). During fiscal 2023, we reversed 34,157,000 of net sales and
S1.403,000 of related accrued contract costs, respectively, to account for the termination of various revenue contracts

ith customers, all of which was recorded in the first quanter of fiscal 2025, During fiscal 2023, we expensed
S3AR5.000 in restructuring charges related 1o the wind-down of such operations. In addition w such restructuring
charges, we also recorded a 52,948,000 write-down related to inventory no longer considered salable in the first
quarter of fiscal 2025, While anticipated to improve our futute profitability, actions related to the CGC Divestiture
may result in additional near-term restructuring charges.

14) Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consists of the following at July 31, 2025 and 2024:
2025 2024
i from | and i i $ 57,713,000 53,108,000
Unbilled receivables from commercial and international customers 65,987,000 72,540,000
i from the U.S. g and its agencics 15,610,000 20,682,000
Unbilled receivables from the ULS. government and its agencies 20,683,000 51,197.000
Total accounts receivable 163,993,000 197,527,000
Less allowsnee for doubtful accounts 19,156,000 00
Accounts receivable, net § ]M‘SJTEOGD 95;95 D00

Unbilled receivables as of July 31, 2025 relate 1o contracts-in-progress for which revenue has been recognized, but for
which we have not yet earned the right to bill the customer for work performed to-date. Under ASC 606, unbilled
receivables constitute contract assets.
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Duwring the fiscal year ended July 31, 2025, we reversed ive revenues and contract i due
10 changes in estimates of revenue and costs for certain contracts. With respect to such changes in estimates, we:

+  determined that an unbilled receivable contract asset in the amount of 17 685,000, related to an international
customer and reseller of our troposcatter technologies, was at risk of not being invoiced or collected,
principally due to a change in our customer's near-term ahlllly 10 SECUre COrain opporunities in its pipeline,
As a result, and considering that we offered o price {i.e.. variable ideration) 1o our customer in
the first quarter of fiscal 2025, we reversed $1.551,000 of cumulunvc revenue and associated unbilled
receivable contract assets related 1o this transaction, and recorded a non-cash charge 1o fully reserve for the
remaining 516,134,000 unbilled receivable contract asset within our allowance for doubtful accounts;

+ reversed 34,157,000 of cumulative revenue and 53,003,000 of associated unbilled receivable contraci assets
as a result of terminating certain customer contracts during the first quarter of fiscal 2025 in connection with
the CGO Divestiture;

+ reversed 33,030,000 of cumulative revenue and $2.324 000 of associated unbilled receivable contract assets
dwe to an increase in our estimates of engineering activities, budgeted time and related costs to complete a
development project that commenced in fscal 2023 in our Satellite and Space Communications segment and
with an intemnational customer; and

+  reversed 32 286,000 of cumulative revenue and $2.234,000 of associated unbilled receivable contract assets
duc to higher expected costs at completion identificd during fiscal 2025, as we advanced certain nonrecurring
engineering related projects in our satellite ground infrastructure produet line through development and
toward production.

After adjusting for those amounts identified above, and excluding unbilled receivables related to the U.S. Marine
Corps contract discussed below, management estimates that a substantial portion of the remaining contract assets not
yet billed at July 31, 2025 will be hilled and collected in one year. Accounts receivable in the table above excludes
$824.000 of long-term unbilled receivables presented within "Cther assets, net” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as
of July 31, 2024

As of July 31, 2025, the U.S. government and its agencies) and two domestic wp tier mobile network operatars
represented 23,1%, 14.5% and 10.5% of net accounts receivable, respectively, There were no other customers which
accounted for greater than 10.0% of net accounts receivable.

As of July 31, 2024, the U 8. government (and its agenciesk, an international customer and reseller of our troposeatier
related technolugics and a domestic top tier mobile network operator represented 36.7%, 11.4%, and 11.0% of net
accounts receivable, respectively, There were no other customers which accounted for greater than 10.0% of net
accounts receivable

In our troposcarter product ling, throughout most of fiscal 2024, we experienced elevated levels of receivables due 1o
the timing of our performance on and billings and collections related 1o centain large US. government and
international custemer contracts, During principally the first half of fiscal 2025, we maintained deliveries of next-
generation troposcatter terminals related to our ULS. Marine Corps and Army end user contracts, contributing o a 26%
year-over-year reduction in our consalidated receivables as of July 31, 2025 In December 2024, however, we received
a notice from our prime contractor 1o stop wark associated with the U5, Marine Corps contract. Such contract was
subsequently terminated. We have initiated litigation against the prime contractor in order to enforce our rights and
recover $15,701.000 of total receivables related o this contract as of July 31, 2025, While we believe that we have
meritorious claims, some or all of such receivables could be at risk of not being collected, Future results of operations
related o our troposcatter solutions product line depend, in part, on the namre, timing and amount associated with
resalving this matter.
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(5) Inventories

Inventories consist of the following at July 31, 2025 and 2024

2025 2024
Raw materials and components. 5 64022000 72,820,000
Waork-in-process and finished goods 31,356,000 38,587,000
Total inventories 95,378.000 FIEAOT.000
Less reserve for excess and obsolete inventories 26,423,000 18,271.000
Inventaries, net 5 68,955,000 93.136.000

Asaf July 31, 2025 and 2024, the amount of inventory directly related to long-term contracts {including contracts-in-
progress) was 52,612,000 and $2.86%,000, respectively, and the amount of inventory related to contracts from third-
party commercial customers wha outsource their manufacturing to us was $1,583,000 and $2,204,000, respectively,

As discussed in Note (1)fc) - Summary of Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies — Liquidity, in conneetion
with our initiatives to transform our Company {e.g., reevaluating our business plans to identify opportunities to focus
future investment on our most strategic, high-margin revenue opportunities). during the first quarter of fiscal 2025, we
recorded a non-cash charge of 511,369,000 within Cost of sales on our Consolidated Statement of Operations. Such
non-cash charge primarily related to the write down of inventory associated with approximately 70 products within our
satellite ground infrastructure product line that were discontinued. As discussed in Mote (3} - Business Divestitures,
such non-cash charge also included the write down of inventory assoctated with the CGC Divestiture, which inventory
was determined during the first quanter of fiscal 2025 10 no longer be salable.

During fiscal 2025, we also cxpensed 1,082,000 of work in process inventory related to certain loss contracts in our
satellite ground infrastructure product line accounted for under the point in time revenue recognition model.

(6) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment cansist of the following at July 31, 2025 and 2024:
2025 2024

Machinery and equipment $ I3B67R000 142,405,000
Internal-use software 33,595,000 28,869,000
Leasehold improvements 17,608,000 17,175,000

189,971,000 188,449,000
Less ation and izati 146,561,000 141,121,000

Property, plant and equipment, net S 43,410,000 47,328 000

Depreciation and amortization expense on property, plant and equipment amounted 1o $11,798,000, $12,159,000 and
511,917,000 for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively,
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Acerued expenses and other current liahilities consist of the following at July 31, 2025 and 2024;

2025 2024

Accrued wages and benefits §  2L158.000 22,131,000
Accrued contract costs 6,676,000 17,267,000
Acerued warranty obligations 8.475,000 7.049.000
Accrued commissions and rovalties 4867000 3,356,000
Acerued contributions for constructing long-lived assets 2,789,000 -
Accrued legal costs 830,000 3,092,000
Other 13,628,000 7,310,000

Acerved expenses and other current liabilities § 38423000 62,245,000

Accrued contract costs represent direct and indivect costs on contracts as well as estimates of amounts owed for
invoices not yet received from vendors or reflected in accounts payable.

Accrued warranty obligations as of July 31, 2025 relate to estimated liabilities for assurance type warranty coverage
that we provide to our customers, We generally provide warranty coverage for same of our products for a period of at
leasi ane year from the date of delivery. We record a liability for estimated warranty expense based on historical
claims, produet failure rates, ci leration of o future costs o resolve software issues and other
factors. Some of our product warranties are provided under long-term contracts, the costs of which are incorporated
im0 our estimates of total coniract costs.

Changes in eur acerued warranty obligations during the fiseal years ended July 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

2025 2024
Balance ut beginning of year § 7049000 £285.000
Provisien for warranty obligations 4,172,000 1,213,000
Charges incurred 132,746,000) {1,538,000)
Adjustments for changes in estimates — (493,000)
PST Divestiture — (418,000}

Balance at end of year

i

Acerued contributions for ing I lived asscts rop our 1o utilize amounts received in fiscal
2025 from the City of Gatineau, a provinee in Quebec, Canada, to fund the relocation of our existing leased facility 1o
anew location

(8) Credit Facility

On June 17, 2024, we entered into a senior secured loan facility with a syndicate of lenders, which replaced our prior
credit facility. As further discussed below, we subsequently amended the credit facility on October 17, 2024, March 3,
2025 and July 21, 2025 (the "Credit Facili™). At July 31, 2025, the Crodit Facility consists of a remaining
$116260,000 term loan (the "Term Loan™ facility) and (i) an asset-based revolving credit facility with revolving
commitments in an aggregate principal amount of $54,750.000, subject 1o borrowing base limitations as deseribed
below (the "Revolving Loan” facility). At elosing, the proceeds were used 1o repay the prior eredit facility in full and
for working capital and other general corporate purposes. The obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by
certain of our domestic and foreign subsidiaries (the "Guarantors"), who have granted for the benefit of the lenders, a
lien on, and first priority security interest in, substantially all of our tangible and intangible assets,
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The Credit Facility was amended on October 17, 2024 (the "First Amendment”y which, among other things: (i} waived
all defaults under the Credit Facility, specifically in connection with our Net Leverage Ratio and Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio covenants as of July 31, 2024; (ii) increased the interest rate margins applicable to the Term Loan to
12.00% per annum for Base Rate Loans and 13.00% per annum for SOFR Loans and increased interest rate margins
applicable o the Revolving Loan by 1.00% at each level: (iii} permitted the incurrence of $25.000.000 of wial
unsecured subordinated debt (as described helow): (iv) suspended testing of the Net Leverage Ratie and the Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio covenants wntil January 31, 2023, (v) provided the lenders a consent right with respect to
Revolver Loan borrowings above $32,500,000; and (vi} amended the maturity date to the carlier of: (x) July 31, 2028
or (v) M0 days prior to the earliest date that the debt under the Subordinated Credit Facility (as defined below) becomes
due and payable.

The Credit Facility was amended again on March 3, 2025 (the "Second Amendment™) which, among other things: (i)
waived all defaults under the Credat Facility, specifically in connection with our Net Leverage Ratio and Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio covenants as of January 31, 2025; (ii) decreased the interest rate margins applicable to the Term Loan
from 12.00% per annum to 9.50% per annum for Base Rate Loans and frem 13.00% per annum to 10.50% per annum
for SOFR Loans; (iii) permitted the incurrence of an additional $40,000,000 of total unsecured subordinated debt (as
deseribed below); (i) suspended testing of the Net Leverage Ratio and the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenants
umtil October 31, 2025; (v) suspended our ability to pay interest in-kind until after the interest rate margins are tested
based on net leverage ratios; (vi) permitted partial principal repayments of $27,252,000 and $9,084,000 on the Term
Loan and Revolving Loan, mp«:ﬂ\elv. and waived the prepayment fees that \hwld have been payable under the
Credit Facility with regard to such  vil) reduced under the g Loan
Facility by $3,179.000 and provided the lenders a consent right with respect to Revolver Loan borrawings above
529.321.000: (viii) reduced the minimum quarterly average liquidity requirement from $20,000,000 1o 517,500,000,
and (ix) provided the lenders the right 1o appoint n independent director 1o our Board of Directors afier May 31, 2023
{which has been satisfied as of the issuance date).

The Credit Facility was further amended on July 21, 2025 {the "Third Amendment™) which, among other things: (i)
suspends, until the four-quarter period ending January 31, 2027, testing of the Net Leverage Ratio, the Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio and the Minimum EBITDA covenants; (i} altered the interest rate margins applicable to Term Loans
{as deseribed in further detail below); (i) delays the scheduled repayment of 2 portion of the principal of the Term
Loans {as described in further detail below); (iv) delays the scheduled repayment af fees due pursuant ta the Second
Amendment; (v) reduced the minimum EBITDA requirement (as deseribed in further detail below); (vi) reduced the
minimum quarterly average liquidity requirement from 317,500,000 to $15,000,000; {vii) permils us to engage in the
sale or disposition of certain properties and assets approved by lhe Administrative Agent (the “Specified Penmued
Individual Disposition”), on the terms, and subject to w the /

Agent, so long as 63% of the net cash proceeds are applied against the outstanding prmclpal amount of the obligations
under the Credit Facility and 35% of the net cash proceeds are applied against the outstanding principal amount of the
subordinated term loans under the Subordinated Credit Facility (as defined below); and (viiiy required us to adopt
management incentive and retention arcangements for our key personnel in connection with the contemplation of our
strategic alternatives.

The Third Amendment provides that the interest rate margins on the Term Loans are 9.50% and 10.50% for Base Rate
Loans and SOFR Loans, respectively, until the first business day of the month fallowing January 31, 2027, when we

have delivered financial statements demonstrating compliance with the financial covenants under the Credit Facility, If

demonstrated. the interest rate margins revert to: (i) for Base Rate Loans, a margin ranging from 7.50% to 9.00% and
(ii} for SOFR Loans, a margin rnging from 8.50% to 10.00%, in each case, hased on whether our Net Leverage Ratio
during the applicable determination period ranges from less than $1.75x to greater than or equal to 3.25x, respectively.
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The Third Amendment defers $3,037,500 of scheduled term loan repayments otherwise due on July 31, 2025 until: (x)
the maturity of the Credit Facility, or (¥) January 31, 2026, in the case that we had not filed by December 31, 2025,
cither (i) a Form 10-K annual repart accompanied by an opinion of our independent registered public accounting firm
free from any “going concem™ or like qualification or exception with respect to our consolidated financial statements
for the relevant fiscal year ended, or (i) a Form 10-Q quarterly report that included footnote disclosure {with which
our ind: N red public ing firm would not disagree) in the financial statements accompanied therehy
that affirmatively included management's assessment that there is no longer a substantial doubt about our ability to
continuc as a going concern. With the filing of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2025, we have
determined that the $3,037,500 will be due upon the maturity of the Credit Faeility,

Under the Third Amendment, once financial covenant testing resumes on January 31, 2027, in addition to complying
with the minimum quarterly average liquidity requirement, we will be required to comply with: (i) a maximum Net
Leverage Ratio of 2.75x as of January 31, 2027; 2.75x as of April 30, 2027 and 2.65x as of July 31, 2027 and
thereafler; {ii) & minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of 1,30x commencing with the four fiscal quarter period
ending January 31, 2027 and 1.33x commencing with the four fiscal quarter period ending July 31, 2027 and
thereafier, and (iii) minimum EBITDA of: () $32.500,000 for the four-quarter period ending January 31, 2027; (b)
$35.,000,000 for the four-quarter period ending April 30, 2027; (¢) $37,500,000 for the four-quarter period ending July
31, 2027: and 340,000,000 for the four-guarter period ending October 31, 2027 and thereafler.

We accounted for the October 17, 2024, March 3, 2025 and July 21, 2025 amendments to our Credit Facility as debr
modifications.

At the fime of entering into the Third Amendment, and through and including the issuance date, there were no ongoing
events of default. Over the next twelve months beyond the issuance date, we belicve that it is probable we will be able
to comply with the covenants required by the Credit Facility. As a result, we have presented our debt abligations as
either current or long-term on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, based on their scheduled repayment or maturily dates.

Additionad Credit Factliey Details

In conncetion with entering the Credit Facility, the Term Loan lenders received 1435884 detachable warrants
("Lender warrants”) granted at an exercise ptice of S0.10 per common share which entitles the Term Loan lenders to
purchase 1,435,884 shares of our common stock from us t any time and from time to time after the Closing Date and
on or prior to June 17, 2031, sub}eci to certain adjustments, It the Term Loan is refinanced, the Term Loan lenders
have the right ta sell up to 50.0% of the warrants back to us for cash, at a 10.0% discount to the 30-day volume
weighted avernge price of our commaon stock, subject to certain adjustments. We determined that the Lender warrants
met the definition of a freestanding financial instrument that should be accounted for as a liability. We established an
imitial Lender warrant lial of $3,011,000 which was allocated as a discount against the Term Loan proceeds. The
Lender warrant liability is classified in "Warrant and derivative liabilivies” on the Consolidared Balunce Sheets and is
remeasured to its estimated fair value each reporting period, using Level 3 fair value inputs, until the Lender warrants
are excrcised or expire. Changes in the estimated fair value of the Lender warrant liability arc recognized in our
Consolidated Statement of Operajions as a non-cash expense or benefit, As of July 31, 2025 and 2024, the Lender
wanmant liability was remeasured 1o 53.007.000 and 54544000, respectively, resulling in a non-cash benefit of
$1,537.000 and a non-cash expense of $1,533,000 for the years ended July 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, recorded
in "Other expenses (incone) - Change in firle viclue of warrants and deri " on the Ce i of
Operations
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Additionally, we identified several i that require bifi from the Credit Facility under ASC
BE5-15 - "Embedded Dertvatives,” ("ASC 815") Certamn of these embedded features include contingent event of
default and going concem interest rate increases and/or fees, which qualify for ing as one bined embedded

derivative liability. We established an initial embedded derivative liability of 53,116,000, which was allocated as a
discount against the Term Loan proceeds. The combined embedded derivative lability is presented with the host
instrument as part of the amount eutstanding under the Credit Facility on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and is
remeasured to its estimated fair value each reporting period. using Level 3 fair value inputs, until the embedded
derivative features have zero probability of occurring or cxpire. Changes in the estimated fair value of the combined

ded derivative liability are ized in our Consolidated Siaiement of Operations as a non-cash expense or
benefit. As of July 31, 2025 and 2024, the bined embedded desivative liahility was d o $1.890,000 and
$3.041,000, respectively, resulting in non-cash benefits of $1,151,000 and $75,000, for the years ended July 31, 2025
and 2024, respectively, recorded in "Osher cxpenses fincome) - Change in fair value of warvanis and derivatives” on
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following table summarizes the activity relating o deferred financing costs and discounts under the Credit
Facility:

Deferred Financing Costs Disgount
Term Loan Revolver Total Term Loan Total
Credit facility fees 5 6,626,000 3,353,000 § 9979000 § 7486000 S 17465000
Termn loan proceeds allocated 1o lender
warrants — — — 3,001,000 3,011,000

Term loan proceeds allocated 1o
embedded derivative 3,116,000 3,116,000

Amartization (201,000) (1020000 (303,000)  (411,000) (714,000}

Balance at July 31, 2024 5 6,425,000 3,251,000 § 9,676,000 § 13,202,000 § 22,878,000
Amendment feas = 975,000 975,000 9,326,000 10,301,000
Write-off due to prepayments and

reduced commitments CL7ER,0M)  (1,707,000)  (3,495,0000  (5482,000)  (8,977,000)
Amartization {1.114,000) (612,000 (1.726,000)  (3.242,000)  (4,968,000)
Balance at July 31, 2025 § 3513 0&1 1,907, 2’0 3 35 43&& § 13.804.000 § 19,234,000

Deferred financing fees and discounts attributable to the Term Loan are amortized as interest expense over the life of
the debt through the maturity date using the effective interest method and are presented as a deduction to the non-
current borrowings outstanding under the Term Loan. Deferred financing fees atributable 1o the Revolving Loan are
capitalized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized as interest expense over the life of the debt using the
straight-line method.

The amount outstanding under our Credit Facility was as follows:
July 31, 2025 July 31, 2024

Term loan 5 116,260,000 161,663,000
Less: Unamaortized deferred financing costs related to term loan 3,523,000 6,425,000
Less: Unamortized discount related to term loan 13,804 000 13,202,000

Term loan, net 08,933,000 142,036,000
Revolving loan 17,641,000 32,500,000
Embedded derivative related to credit facility 1RSI 000 3,041,004
Amaount outstanding under credit facility, net 118,464,000 177,577,000
Less: Current portion of credit facility 4,050,000 4.050.000

5 114414.000 173,527,000
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Duwring the fiscal year ended July 31, 2025, we reclassified the combined embedded derivative liability balance as of
July 31, 2024 from "Other fiabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheels 1o conform to the current period
presentation, During the fiseal vear ended July 31, 2025, we had outstanding balances under our Credit Facility
ranging from 133,901,000 to 202,940,000,

Availability under the Revolving Loan is subject to eligibility eriteria set forth in the Credit Facility, and equal 1o a
borrowing base in an amount equal to, from time to time: (a) 85% of the net book value of billed and invoiced
accounts receivables: plus (b) 85% of the net book value of accounts receivables we have the right to bill but have not
et billed up to the lesser of (i) 12.53% of the amount calculated pursuant to the sum of clauses (a) and (b} and {ii)
515,000,000 of such accounts; plus {c) 60% of the net book value of all inventory, less {d) customary reserves. As of
July 31, 2025 and July 31, 2024, our eligible Barrowing Hase collateral, as defined under the Revolving Loan, was
$101,222,000 and 114,661,000, respectively.

Interest expense related to our Credit Facility (both current and prior), including amortization of deferred financing
cosis and debt discount, recorded during the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $34.713.000,
$22.058,000 and $14.931,000, respectively. Our blended interest rate approximated 18.51%, 12.26% and 8.8%9% for
fiseal 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively,

Interest expense related to our Credit Facility also includes an unused line foc of 0.50% per annum on the average
unused Revolver Loan commitment, with no fee payable on the 527,500,000 of the 354,750,000 commitment that is
subject to the consent right of the revolving lender and Agent.

The Term Loan is subject to 2.50% amortization per annum. The first Term Loan repayment of 3675,000 was paid on
July 31, 2024. The next Term Loan repayment of $1,012,500 was paid on July 31, 2025, reflecting the deferral of
$3,037.500 provided by the Third Amendment. Future quarterly Term Loan repayments of §1,012,500 are payable on
the last business day of each fiscal quarter, with the remaining Term Loan balance due on the maturity date.

The Credit Facility contains: {a) customary and (b} customary
conditions o drawing the Revolver Loan: (¢) tomary negative covenants, subject to negotiated exceptions,
including but not limited to: (i) liens, (if) i . (iii) indebtedness, (iv) signi carporate changes, including
mergers and acquisitions, {v) dispositions, including the disposition of assets by any Loan Party to any Subsidiary that
is mot a Loan Panty, {vi) restricted payments, including stockholder dividends, ivii) distibutions, including the

of i i T and third party i and (viii} certain other restrictive agreements;
{d) certain financial covenanls (see above); (¢ customary optional amd mandatory prepayment events; and (f)
customary events of default (subject to grace periods, as sppropriate), such as payment defaults, cross-defuults 1 other
materizl indebtedness, bankrupiey and insolvency. the occurrence of a defined change in control and the failure to
observe the negative covenants and other covenants related to the operation of our business. In addition, under certain
circumstances, we may be required to enter into amendments to the Credit Facility in connection with any further
syndication of the Credit Facility.

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings set forth for such terms in the Credit Facility, which
has been documented and filed with the SEC.

Swubsequent Event
In connection with our filing of Form 125-23 with the SEC on October 30, 2025, we entered into an agreement,

effective October 29, 2025, with our Credit Facility lenders 1o allow for an extension of time to deliver certain items
that were originally due on October 29, 2025 and October 31, 2025,
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(9) Subordinated Credit Facility

On October 17, 2024, we entered inte o subordinated credit facility with the existing holders of our convertible
preferred stock and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as agent, which provided an initial subordinated
unsecured term loan facility in the aggregate principal amount of $25,000.000 {the “Subordinated Credit Agreement™),
As further discussed below, on March 3, 2025 and July 21, 2025, we entered into amendments to the Subordinated
Credit Agreement (the "Subordinated Credit Faciliy™).

On March 3, 2025, we entered into an amendment ("Amendment No. 1") which, in addition to providing incremental
aggregate principal of 540,000,000, waived all defaults under the Subordinated Credit Facility, specifically in
connection with our Net Leverage Ratio and Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenants as of January 31, 2025 and
suspended testing of the Net Leverage Ratio and the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenants under the Subordinated
Credit Facility until October 31, 2025, The net proceeds were principally used to repay a portion of the Term Loan and
Revolver Loan on March 3, 2025, fund our general working capital needs and enabled us to negotiate the Second
Amendment to the Credit Facility, including the waiver of existing defaults,

On July 21, 2025, we entered into a second amendment {*Amendment No. 27) which, among other things: (i) provided
for the incurrence of a 535,000,000 incremental facility (as described in further detail below: (i) suspends, until the
four-guarter period ending Januury 31, 2027, testing of the Net Leverage Ratio, the Fixed Charge Coverage Rutio and
the Minimum EBITDA covenants in the Subordinated Credit Facillity; (iii) modified the interest rate applicable to the
subordinated term loans {as described in further detail below): (iv) reduced the minimum EBITDA requirement (as
deseribed in further detail below); (v) reduced the minimum quarterly sverage liquidity requirement from $17,500,000
10 $15,000.000; (vi) permits us 1o engage in the Specified Permitied Individual Disposition, on the terms, and subject
w 1o the i Agent (subject 10 the same requirement with respect to
the spplication of any net cash proceeds as discussed in Note (8) - Credir Faciling and (vil) requited us to adopt
management incentive and retention arrangements for its key personnel in connection with the contemplation of our
strategic alternutives (also as discussed Note (8) - Credit Facility).

Amendment No. 2 provides for an incremental priority subordinated unsecured term loan facility in the aggregate
principal amount of $35,000,000. We used the net proceeds to pay certain fransaction costs, fees and expenses incurred
in connection with amendments to our credit facilities and 1o prepay, without premium: (i) S28 481,000 of the
outstanding Term Loans under the Credit Facility, and (i) $5.775 (00 of the outstanding Revolver Loan under the
Credit Facility, As part of this prepayment, we permanently reduced Revolver Loan commitments under the Credit
Facility by 32,071,000, The interest on the $35,000,000 shall be paid-in-kind quarterly, in arrears, by capitalizing and
adding the unpaid and acerued amount of such interest 1o the ageregate outstanding principal amount of the
ineremental priority subordinated eredit facility on the last business day of each guaner. This tranche of subordinated
debt will rank senior in right of payment to the existing subordinated term loans under the Subordinated Credit
Facility. Unlike the existing subordinated term loans, the incremental priority subordinated credit facility is not subject
w any make-whole premium.

Under Amendment No. 2, the interest rate i 1o the i prierity i credit facility shall be the
greater oft (x) the highest per annum interest rate then-applicable to the Term Loans under the Credit Facility, and (y)
Term SOFR (as defined in the Credit Facility) plus 10.5%.

Under Amendment No. 2, once financial covenant testing resumes on January 31, 2027, in addition 10 complying with
the minimum quarterly average liquidity requirement, we will be required to comply with: (i) a maximum Net
Leverage Ratio of 3.30x as of January 31, 2027, 3.30x as of April 30, 2027 and 3.18x as of July 31, 2027 and
thereafter: (i imimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of 1.04x commencing with the four fiscal guarer period
ending January 31, 2027 and 1.08x commencing with the four fiseal quarter period cading July 31, 2027 and
thereafter and (i) minimum EBITDA of! {a) $26.000.000 for the four-quarter period ending January 31, 2027 (b)
528,000,000 for the four-guarter period ending April 30, 2027 (c) 330,000,000 for the four-quarter period ending July
31, 2027; and §32,000,000 for the four-quarter period ending October 31, 2027 and thercafter,

COMTECH TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

At the time of entering into Amendment No. 2, and through and including the issuance date, there were no ongoing
events of default. Over the next twelve months beyond the issuance date, we believe that it is probable we will be able
to comply with the required by the inated Credit Facility, As a result, we have presented our debt
obligations as long-term on the Consolidated Balance Sheer, based on their scheduled maturity dates.

The outstanding portion of debt refated to the Subordinated Credit Facility not he considered debt for purposes of
our fimancial covenant testing under the Credit Facility. However, the Subordinated Credit Facility includes a cross-
default provision, wherehy a default under the Credit Facility constitutes a default under the Subordinated Credit
Fagility,

Additional Subordinated Credit Facility Detaits

The obligations under the Subordinated Credit Facility mature 90 days afier the Credit Facility. Unlike the
$35,000,000 tranche discussed above, the other two tranches of the Subordinated Credit Facility, which aggregate
865,000,000 of principal, are subject o Make-Whole Amounts with respect (o cerlain repavments or prepayments
equal to: (i) from the respective elosing date of each tranche through {but not including) the date that is nine months
thereafier, the principal repayment amount multiphied by 33.0%; (i} from the date that is nine months after the
applicable closing date through (but not including) the date that is the second anniversary of such closing date, the
principal repayment amount multiplicd by 50.0%; (iit) from the second anniversary of the applicable closing date and
thereafier, the principal repayment amount multiplied by 75.0% plus, in the case of clause (i), interest accrued on the
principal amount oustanding at the Make-Whole Interest Rate (as defined below) starting on the second anniversary of
the applicable closing date and calculated as of any such date of determination, The Make-Wholc Interest Rate is a ratc
equal 1o 16.0% per annum, which is inereased by 2.0% per annum upon the occurrence and during the continuation of
an cvent of default under the Subordinated Credit Fa B

We identified an Jeri related 1o ion features that requires bifurcation from the Subordinated
Credit Facility under ASC 815, We established a total embedded derivative hability of $16,864,000, which was
allocated as a discount against the Subordinated Credit Facility proceeds. The embedded derivative liability is
presented with the "Non-current portion of subordinated evedit facilitv, net” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet and is
remeasured o its estimated fair value each reporting period, using Level 3 fxlr\aluc inputs. Changes in the estimated
fair value of the i liability are recognized in our €y of Operations as a hon-
cash expense or benefit. As of July 31, 2023, the embedded derivative liability was remeasured to 85753, 000. For the
fiscal year ended July 31, 2023, we recorded a non- cash benefit of §11,111,000, in "O.riw expenses fincome) - Change
in fiair value of warrants and deri * on the C af Oy

Deferred financing costs, discounts and the Make-Whole Amount are amortized as interest expense through the
Subordinated Credit Facility maturity date using the effective interest method, and are presented as adjustments to the
berrowings cutstanding under such debt. Interest expense relaed o our Subordinated Credit Facility for the fiseal year
ended July 31, 2025 was 510,876,000, which included 52,416,000 of immediately expensed financing fees related to

No. | and No. 2 due to for such as debt
The following table iles the amount ding under the Subordi d Credit Facility to its net carrying value:
Ju'! 31,2025
Subordinated credit facility s 100,144,000
Less: Unamortized deferred financing costs 1,528,000
Less: Unamortized discount 15,404 000
Plus: Accretion of make-whole amount 6,623,000
Subordinated credit facility, net - subtotal 29,335,000
Embedded dery refated to ion features 5,753.000
Amount ouisianding under the subordinaied credit facility, net 95,588,000
Less: Current portion of subordinated credie facility ==
Non-current portion of subordinated credit facility, net $ 95,568,000
F-35
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The obligations under the Subordinated Credit Facility are guaranteed by the same guamantors under the Credit Facili
and contain customary representations, warranties and afTirmative covenants, i each case substantially consistent with
the representations and warranties and affirmative covenams under the Credit Facility. The Subordinated Credit
Facility contains customary negative , subject to ated P including but not limited to: {i) liens,
(iik (iii) i {iv) signific rate changes, including mergers and acquisitions, (v)
dispositions, (vi) restricted payments, including stockholder dividends, (vil) customary optional and mandatory
prepayiment events, and (viii} certain other restrictive agreements.

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings set forth for such terms in the Subordinated Credit
Facility, which has been documented and filed with the SEC.

Subsequent Event

In connection with our filing of Form 12b-25 with the SEC on October 30, 2025, we entered into an agreement,
effective October 29, 2025, with our Subordinated Credit Facility lenders o allow for an extension of time to deliver
certain items that were originally due on October 2%, 2025 and October 31, 2025,

(10) Leases

Our leases historically relate to the leasing of facilitics and cquipment. In accordance with FASE ASC 242 -
"Leases" ("ASC 842"}, we determine al inception whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease aml whether the lease
should be classified as an operating or a financing lease. At lease we u right-of-
("ROU™ asset and lease liability based on the present value of the future lease payments over the et iatid ledse teiia.
We elected 1o not recognize & ROU asset or lease liability for any leases with terms of twelve months or less, Instead,
for such short-term leases, we recognize lease expense on a sirmight-line basis aver the lease term, Certain of our lcases
include options to extend the term of the lease or to terminate the lease early. When it is reasonably certain that we will
exercise a renewal option or will not exercise u termination option. we include the impact of exercising or not
exercising such eption, respectively, in the estimate of the lease term. As our lease agreements do not explicitly state
the discount rate implicit in the lease, we use our incremental borrowing rate ("IBR") on the commencement date to
calculate the present value of future lease payments. Such [BR represents our estimated rate of interest to borrow on a
basis over a term with the expected lease term.

Some of our leases include payments that are based on the Consumer Price Index ("CPI") or other similar indices.
These variable lease payments are included in the calculation of the ROU asset and lease lia using the index as of
the lease commencement date. Other variable lease payments, such s common arca maintena property taxes, and
usage-based amounts, are required by ASC 842 1o be excluded from the ROU asset and lease lability and cxpensed as
incurred. In addition to the present value of the future lease payments, the caleulation of the ROU asset would also
consider, to the extent applicable, any deferred rent upon adoption, lease pre-payments or initial direct costs of
obtaining the lease (e.g.. sueh as commissions),

For all classes of leased asscts, we clected the practical expedient to not separate lease components (1.¢., the actual item
being leased, such as the facility or piece of equipment) from non-lease compenents {i.e., the distinet elements of a
contract not related o securing the use of the leased asset, such as common area maintenance and consumable

supplics).

Certain of our facility lease agreements (which are classified as operating leases) contain rent holidays or rent
escalation clauses. For rent holidays and rent escalation clauses during the lease term, we record rental expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. As of July 31, 2025, none of vur leases contained a residual value
guarantee and covenants included in vur lease agreements are customary for the types of facilitics and equipment being
leased,
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The components of lease expense are as follows:

Finance lease expense:
Amoriization of ROU assets

Operating lease expense

Shori-term lease expense

Variable lease expense

Sublease income

Total lease expense

Additional information related to leascs is as follows:

Fiscal years ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023
§ — — 5,000
7480000 BA14000 10,439,000
137,000 293,000 435.000
AS60000  A3BL000 4,031,000
(28,000} (67,000) (57 uom

$ 12,158,000 13,021,000
SEERERLLL LB

Fiscal vears ended July 31,
2025 2024 2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease labilities:

Operating leases - Operating cash outflows
Finance leases - Financing cash outflows

§ 8277000 ROE3.000 10,604,000
== = 4,000

ROU assets obtained in the exchange for lease liabilities (non-cash):

Operating leases

§ 5428000 677,000 3.211.000

The Following table is a reconciliation of future cash fows relating 1o operating lease labilities presented on our

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 31, 2025:

Fiscal 2026

Fiscal 2027

Fiscal 2028

Fiscal 2029

Fiscal 2030

Thereafier
Total future undiscounted cash flows
Less: Present value discount
Lease liabilities.
Weighted-average remaining lease terms (in years)
Weighted-average discount rate

As of July 31, 2025, we do not have any material rental

(11} Ingome Taxes

14,663,000
42,940,000
6,314,000

7.60
447 %

that have not e

Laoss before benefit from income taxes consists of the following:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023
us. S (I35, 111,000)  (65374.000)  {(21.327.000)
Foreign 20271,000) (34,906,000} (9,520,000

§ (1553820000 _ (100,280.0000 _ (30.847.000)
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The benefit from income taxes included in the panying i of O consists of the
following:
Fiscal Ycars Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023
Federal - current S 673,000 377,000 (258,000)
Federal — defermed (2.345,000) (4,623,000)
State and local - current 514,000 1181000 1.412,000
State and local - deferred (834,000) (815,000)
Foreign —current 433,000 1,137,000 058,000
Foreign — deferred 1,700,000y 189,000 (622,000)
Benefit from income taxes 3 (B0,000) (295.000) 13.9438,000)

The benefit from income taxes differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. Federal income tax rate as u
result of the following:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023
Amount Rate Atiount Rale Amount Rate
Computed "expected” tax benefit $ (32,630.000) 210 % (21,059,000) 21.0% (6ATRO00) 210 %

Increase (reduction) in income taxes due to:

State and local income taxes, net of

waluation allowance and federal benefit 406,000 (0.2} 127,000y 0.1 440,000 (1.4)
Stock-based compensation LOI7.000 (0.6} LE9LOOD  {1.9) GIZO00 (2.2
Research and experimentation eredits (1,125000) 0.7 (1251,000) 12 (2.576000) R4
Foreign-derived intangible mcome

deduction — — 43,000 — (317000 1.7
Revaluation of warsants and embedded

derivatives {8,085,000) 52 (97,000 0.9 S
Nondeductible executive compensation 102,000 (.13 =__=— 1ABL000  (4.8)
PST Divestiture i = 1,384,000 (1.4) - =
Change in U.S, federal and foreign

waluation allowances 24920000 (16.0)  10TT000 (10.0) 283000 (9.2)
Foreign income tax rate differential (H08000) 05 (89,000} 0.4 (2690000 0.9
Gioodwill impairment 15,975,000 (10.3) 9,549,000 (9.5)

Cnher, net 135000 (0.1} 384,000 _(05) 442,000

Benefit from income laxes 3 (BO0M 0] % 295000) 013 % _ {3.948.000)
F=-38
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The tax effects of emporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at
July 31,2025 and 2024 are presented below:

2025 2024
Deferred tax assets:
Inventory and warranty reserves 5 T.026,000 4,685,000
Compensation and commissions 4,414,000 3,401,000
Federal, state and foreign research and experimentation eredits 18_ 134,000 17,559,000
Capitalized U 8. research and experimental expenditures 11.128.000 12,177,000
Stock-based compensation 1,505,000 2,409,000
Foreign seientific research and i i 2,006,000 1,720,000
Federal, state and forcign net operating losses 24,373 000 18,289,000
Federal and state capital losses 14,473,000 14,473,000
Lease liabilities £.435.000 8,999,000
Beferred revenue, non-current 3,390,000 4,664,000
Interest expense limitation 13,411,000 3423000
Other 7.054.000 1,278,000
Less: valuation allowance (70,973,000} (44,888,000}
Total deferred tax assets, net 44,456,000 48,189,000
Deferred Lax liabilities:

Plant and equipment {3.379.000) (4,781,000}
Lease right-of-use assets 16,757,000) (7,116,000}
Intangibles (3R, 752,000) (42,563,000)
Total deferred tax liabilities (48, 888,000) 154,460 000}

Met deferred tax liabilities 5 (4.432.000 6,271,000}

At July 31, 2025, our net deferred tax liability of $4.432,000 includes S187,000 of forcign net deforred tax assets that
were recorded as "Owher assers, net” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, At July 31, 2024, our net deferred tax
liability of $6,271.000 includes 378,000 of foreign net deferred ax labilities that were recorded as “Ovker liabilities”
in our Consolidated Balance Sheets,

Federal and State

AL July 31, 2025, we have federal research and experimentation credit carryforwards of $8.447.000 which begin 10
expire in 2032, We heve state rescarch and experimentation ercdit carryforwards of $9,048,000 which begin o expire
in 2026, We believe tha is more-likely-than-not that the benefit from these credits will not be realized. In
recognition of this risk, we have provided for a valuation allowance of §17.495,000 on the deferred tax assets reluting
ta these eredits.

At July 31, 2025, we have $962,000 of federal net operating loss carryforwards, which do not expire (but are subject to
annual deduction limitations hased on a percentage of taxable income). We have state net aperating loss carmyforwards
of §3.758,000, which begin to expire in 2026. We believe that it is more-likely-than-not that the benefit from these
carryforwards will not be realized. In recognition of this risk, we have provided for a valuation allowance of
$4,720,000 on the deferred tax assets relating to these carmyforwards.

At July 31, 2025, we have federal and state capital loss carryforwards of 14,473,000, which expire in 2026, We
believe it is more-likely-than-not that the benefit from these carryforwards will not be realized. In recognition of this
risk, we have provided for a full valuation allowance on the deferred tux assets relating to these carryforwards.
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With respect to our remaining U.S. federal and state net deferred tax assets as of July 31, 2025, we believe it is more-
likely-than-not that the benefit from such assets will not be realized. In recognition of this nsk. we have provided a
valuation allowance of $13.456,000 on these net deferred tax assets.

Foreign

At July 31, 2025, we have foreign deferred tax assets relating to research and experimentation credits of 3480,000,
which begin to expire in 2043, We have forcign deferred tax asscts relating to nct operating loss carryforwards of
519,513,000 in the United Kingdom that do not expire. We believe that it is more-likely-than-not that cerain foreign
deferred lax assets, including these net operating loss carryforwards, may not be realized. In recognition of this rsk.
we have provided for a valuation allowance of $20,829,000 on these deferred tax assets. Our foreign eamings and
profits are not material and, as such, we have not recorded any deferred tax liability on unremitted foreign earnings,

Ji ized Tax Positions

At July 31, 2025 and 2024, total unrecognized tax benefits were 58,084,000 and $8,605,000, respectively, including
interest of $240,000 and $224,000, respectively. At July 31, 2025 and 2024, $1,818,000 and $2,231,000, respectively,
of our unrecognized tax benefits were recorded as non-current income Laxes payable on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The remaining unrecognized tax benefits of $6,266.000 and $6.374,000 at July 31, 2025 and 2024,
respectively, were presented as an offset to the associated deferred tax assets on our Consoliduted Balance Sheets, Of
the total unrecognized tax benefits, $7,180,000 and 37,679,000 at July 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, net of the
reversal of the federal benetit recognized as a deforred tax asset relating to state reserves, would favarably impact our
effective tax rate. if recognized, We believe it is reasonably possible that the gross unrecognized tax benefits could
deercase by as much as $196,000 in the next 12 months due to the expiration of statute of limitations related to federal,
state and foreign tax positions,

Our policy is to recognize potential interest and penalties relating to unceriain tax positions in income tax expense, The
following table summarizes the activity related to our unrecognized tax benefits for fiscal vears 2025, 2024 and 2023
fexcluding interest

2025 2024 2023
Balance at beginaing of period 5 B3KL000 B.956,000 9,675,000
Increase related to current period 89,000 181,004 681,004
Increase related to prior periods 8,000 130,000 51000
Expiration of statute of limitations. (560,000) 622,000y 11,406,000)
Decrease related to prior periods (65,000) (264,000) (45,0000)
Balance at end of period § 7,844,000 8381000 056,000

Our LS. federal income tax retums for fiscal 2022 through 2025 are subject o patential future Internal Revenue
Service ("IRS") audit, None of our state and foreign income tax returns prior to fiseal 2021 are subject to audit, Future
ax assessments or seftlements could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations and
financial condition.

In July 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act ("OBBBA") was enacted, resulting in significant changes o U.S. tax law,
U.S. GAAP, specifically ASC 740, requires that the effects of an applicable change in tax law be recognized in the
period of enactment, Accordingly, our financial statements and footote disclosures for fiseal 2025 reflect the impact
of those provisions of the OBBBA that are currently applicable to us, such as changes o bonus depreciation rules
which resulted in an estimated increased deduction of $1.254.000. We continue to assess the potential impacts of
certain other provisions of the OBBBA which go into effect in the future and are not currently applicable to us, such as
those provisions related to changes in the tax treatment of 1S, research and experimental expenditures (and nelated
deductions) and limitations imposed on business intercst expense ions. Such provisions, once 0 us,
could materially affect our results of operations in the future,
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(12) Stock-Based Compensation

verview

In December 2023, our stockholders approved the Comtech Telecommunications Corp. 2023 Equity and Incentive
Plan (the “2023 Plan”), which replaced the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, Under the 2023 Plan,
the initial number of shares of common stock available for all awards, other than substitute awards granted in
connection with a corporate transaction, was 1,669,683 shares of common stock plus certain expired or cancelled
awards recycled back inte the 2023 Plan. Also, on November 25, 2024, our Board of Directors approved an
amendment to the 2023 Plan to increase the number of available shares of common stock authorized for issuance under
the 2023 Plan by 2,195.000 shares. Stockholders approved the amendment to the 2023 Plan at the 2024 Annual
Meeting on January 13, 2025,

We issue stock-based awards to certain of our employees and our Board of Directors pursuant to the 2023 Plan, as
amended and/or restated from time 1o time and our 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended andior restated
from time to time (the "ESPP"), and recognize related stock-based compensation in our consolidated financial
statements, The 2023 Plan provides for the granting to employees and consultants of Comtech (including prospective
employees and consultanis): {i) incentive and non-qualified stock options, (ii) restricted stock units ("RSUs"), (iii)
RSUs with performance measures (which we refer to as "performance shares™), (iv) restricted stock, (v) stock units
{reserved for issuance 1o non-employee directors) and share units (reserved for issuance 1o employees) (collectively,
“ehare units") and (vi) stock appreciation rights ("SARs"), among other types of awards. Our non-employee directors
are cligible t receive iscretionary grants of stock-based awards, subject to certain limitations,

As of July 31, 2025, the aggregate number of shares of common stock which may be issued may not exceed
15,757,500, Stack options granted may not have a term exceeding ten years or, in the case of an incentive stock award
eranted 1o a stockholder who owns stock representing more than 10.0% of the voling power, no more than five vears.
We expect to settle all outstanding awards under the Plan and employce purchases under the ESPP with the issuance of
new shares of aur common stock.

As of July 31, 2025, we had granted stock-based awards representing the right 1o purchase and/or aequire an aggregate
of 12,182,430 shares {net of 7,643,074 expired and canceled awards), of which an aggregate of 10,382,855 have been

exercised or settled.

As of July 31, 2025, the following stock-based awards, by award tvpe, were outstanding:

July 31, 2025

Stock options

Performance shares

RSUs, restricted stock, share units and other stock-based awards
Total

Our ESPP provides for the 1ssuance of up to 1,300,000 shares of our common stock. Our ESPP 5 intended to provide
our eligible emplayees the opperunity 1 acquire our commaon stock at 85% of fair market value on the first or last day
of each calendar quarier, whichever is lower. Through July 31, 2025, we have cumulatively issued 1,104,911 shares of
our commen stock to participating employces in connection with our ESPP.
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Stock-based compensation for awards issued is reflected in the following line items in our Consolldared Statements of

Operations:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023

Cost of sales 3 392,000 TTRAO00 1,110,000
Selling, general and administrative expenses 2.479.000 4777000 7,960,004
Research and development expenses 249,000 541,000 1.037.000
Stock-based compensation expense before CEO transition

costs 3,120,000 6,096,000 10,107,000
CEQ transition costs related to equity-classified stock-based

awards — = 3,764,000
Total stock-based compensation expense belore income tax

benefit 3,120,000 6,096,000 13,871,000
Estimated income tax benefit —_ (1,298.000) (2,552,00:0)
Net stock-hased compensation expense b3 3,120,000 4,798,000 11,319,000
Stock-based for lassificd awards is measured at the date of grant, based on an estimate of the

fair value of the award and is genemily expensed over the vesting period of the award. At July 31, 2025, unrecognized
stock-based compensation of §4,778,000, net of estimated forfeitures of $342.000, is expected 10 be recognized over a
weighted average perind of 1.7 years, Total stock-hased compensation :apmlmd and included in ending inventory at
both Tuly 31, 2025 and 2024 was $198,000. There are no liability-cl k-based awards ling as of
July 31, 2025 or 2024,

Stock-based compensation expense, by award type, is summarized as follows:

Fiscal Years Ended July 31,

2025 2024 2023

Stock options § 29,000 60,000 BT.000
Performance shares 2,000 480,000 973,000
RSUs, restricted stock, share units and other stock-based
awards 2,973,000 5.477,000 5,926,000
ESPP 46,000 79,000 121,000
Stock based compensation expense before CEO transition costs 3,120,000 6,096,000 10,107,000
CEQ transition costs related to equity-classified stock-based

awards > == 3,764,000
Total siock-based compensation expense before income tax

benefit 3,120,000 6,096,000 13,371,000
Estimated income tax benefit — {1,298,000) (2,552,000)
et stock-based compensation expense § 3 !10!000 4,798,000 11,319,000

During fiscal 2025, we reversed a partion of our stock-based compensation expense related 10 performance shares due
w lower-than-gstimated achicvement of fiscal 2022 and 2023 performance share goals, Stock-based compensation
expense for the more recent period also reflects the forfeiture of awards related 1o our former Chief Operating Officer
and Chicf Exceutive Officer, whose employment were bath terminated during fiscal 2025, With respect to stock-based
compensation expense reported in the prior year period, we had determined 10 sentle fiscal 2024 non-equity annual
incentive awards accrued during such period with stock-based awards in lie of cash. Also, contributing to the higher
stock-bascd compensation expense in the prior year period was our annual grant of stock-based awards to non-
executive employees. Such grants of stock-based awards to non-executive employees did not occur during fiseal 2025,

ESPP stock-hased compensation expense primarily relates to the 15% discount offered to participants in the ESPP.
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The estimated income tax benefit as shown in the above tables was computed using income tax rates expecied o apply
when the awards are settled. Such deferred tax assel was recorded net as part of our nen-current deferred tax liability
on our Consolidated Balance Sheer as of July 31, 2025 and 2024, The acwual income tax benefit recognized for tax
reporting is based on the fair market value of our common stock at the time of seftlement and can significantly differ
from the estimated income tax benefit recorded for fnancial reporting. There is no estimated income tax benefit
recognized for fiscal 2025 in light of the valuarion allowance established on all LLS. deferred tax assets.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the Plan's activity

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaiming
Awards, Average Contractual Aggregate
{in Shares)  Exercise Price  Term {Years)  Inirinsic Value
Outstanding at July 31, 2022 483480 8
Expired/canceled
Outstanding at July 31, 2023
Expired/canceled
Ourstanding at July 31, 2024
Expired/canceled
Outstanding at July 31, 2025 3.8 =
Exercisable at July 31, 2025 357 8 —
Vested and expected to vest at July 31, 2025 124470 § 2045 357 3 =

Siock options outstanding as of July 31, 2025 have exercise prices ranging from $17.88 - $28.35, representing the fair
market value of eur common stock on the date of grant, a contractual term of ten years and a vesting peniod of five
years.
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Performance Shares, RSUs, Reswicted Stock, Share Unit Awards and Other Stock-based Awards

The following table summarizes the Plan's activity relating to performance shares, R$Us, restricted stock, share units
and other stock-based awards:

Weighted
Average
Aveards Grrant Date Aggregate

{in Shares) Fair Value Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at July 31, 2022 1110750 § 19.05
Granted 1,550,851 10.79
Settled (632,267) 16.69
Camceled/Forfeited (153,204) 16.67
Owstanding at July 31, 2023 1,876,230 1321
Giranted 1,731,760 671
Settled (1,042,860) 9.37
Canceled/Forfeited (764,842) 928
Outstanding at July 31, 2024 1,800,288 1061
Granted 1.677.677 4.57
Settled (B55,870) L
Canceled/Forfeited (946,990} 6.54
Owrstanding at July 31, 2023 1675105 § 653 5 3635000
Wested at July 31, 2025 122554 S 13.03 5 266000
Wested and expected to vest at July 31, 2025 1632521 § 661 8 LSA‘IZBDL

The total intrinsic value relating to fully-vested awards settled during the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and
2023 was 2 4200000, 7 844,000 and §6, 782,000, respectively

The performance shares granted 1o employees principally vest over a three-year performance period, if pre-established
performance goals are attained, or as specificd pursuant to the Plan and related agreements. As of July 31, 2025, the
number of outstanding pcrfnnmncc shares included in the above table, and the related compensation expense prior o

of estimared p assume achi of the p i eoals at a target level,
except for performance shares granted in fiscal 2023 which reflect lower-than-cstimated achicvemnent.

RSUs and restricted stock granted 1o non-employee directors prior o August 2022 had a vesting period of five years
and were convertible into shares of our common stock generally at the time of termination, on a one-for-one basis for
no cosh consideration, or earlier under certain circumstances. Commencing in August 2022, such awards have a
vesting period of one year.

RSUs granted to employees prior to August 2022 have a vesting period of five years and are convertible inte shares of
our common stock generally ar the time of vesting, on a one-for-one basis for no cash consideration. Commencing in
August 2022, such RSUs have a vesting period of three years.

Share wnits granted prior o July 31, 2017 were vesied when issued and are convertible into shares of our commaon
stack, generally an the time of termination, on a one-for-one basis. for no cash consideration, or earlier under certamn
circumstances. Share units granted on or after July 31, 2017 were granted ta certain employees in liew of non-equity
incentive compensation and are convertible into shares of our common stock on the one-year anniversary of the
respective grant date. In July 2024 and 2023, we granted shares of our commaon stock to certain employees i lieu of
nan-equity incentive compensation.
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The fair value of performance shares, RSUs, restricted stock, share units and other stock-based awards is determined
using the closing market price of our common stock on the date of grant, less the present value of any estimated future
dividend equivalents such awards are ot entitled to receive and an applicable estimated discount for any post-vesting
transfer restrictions. RSUs, performance shares and restricted stock are entitled to dividend equivalents, as applicable,
unless forfeited before vesting occurs. Share units and other stock-based awards would be entitled 1o dividend
equivalents while the underlying shares are unissued.

Dividend equivalents are subject to forfeiture, similar to the terms of the underlying stock-based awards, and ar
payable in cash generally at the time of serlement of the underlying award, During fiscal 2025 and 2024, we reversed
42000 and $107.000 of previously accrued dividend equivalents due to forfeitures and paid out 3157000 and
$268,000, respectively. During fiscal 2023, we accrued $315,000 of dividend equivalents (net of forfeitures) and paid
out $366,000. Accrued dividend equivalents were recorded as a reduction 1w retained eamings. As of July 31, 2025 and
2024, accrued dividend equivalents were $117.000 and S316,000, respectively.

With respect to the actual setilement of stock-hased awards for income tax reparting, for the fiscal year ended July 31,
2025, we have not recognized any tax benefit or expense in light of the valuation allowance established for all U.S.
deferred tax assets. For fiscal years ended July 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded an income tax expense of $723,000
and 391,000, respectiv

Subsequent Event

In the first quarter of fiscal 2026, our Board of Directors auth { the issuance of stock-hased awards with a tatal
unrecognized compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, of approximately 36,700,000,

(13) Scgment Information

Reportuble operating segments are determined based on Comtech’s management approsch. The munagement
approach, as defined by FASB ASC 2800 "Segnient Reparting” {"ASC 280"} is hased on the way that the CODM
organizes the segments within an enterprise for making decisions about resources 1o be allocated and assessing their
performance. On Jenuary 13, 2023, the Board of Dircctors appointed Kenneth Ho Traub as President and Chief
Executive Officer in addition to his role as Chairman. Mr. Traub is our CODM for purposes of ASC 280 Our twa
reportable operating segments are described below

Our Satellite and Space (ammuwcmwm reportable operating segment is organized into four technology areas;
satellite modem and amplifier ity training (formerly, known as
government  services) and  space cumrn)m'nl% This segment offers customers: satellite ground  infrastructure
technologies, services and system integration that facilitate the transmission of voice, video and daia aver GEQ, MEQ
and LEO satellite constellations, mcludm; traveling wave tube power amplifiers, satellite modems, VSAT platforms
and fr i solutions that can transmit digitized voice, video, and data over
distances up lo 200 miles using the troposp and i ad\-anced ity training in support of LLS.

and certain c cial and supply chain management of high
reliability Electrical, Electronic and rlwmmhamal ("l—FF') pam for uw\luc. launch vehicle and manned space
applications.

Cur Allerium reportable operating scgment (formerly, Terrestrial and Wircless Networks) is organized inta three
service areas: mext generation 911 and call delivery, call handling solutions, and trusted location and messaging
solutions. This segment offers customers: Wireless/VolP 911 location and routing services 1o connect emergency calls
to Public Safety Answering Points ("PSAPS"); SMS text to 911 services: next gencration 911 solutions, providing
emergency call routing, location validation, and policy-based routing rules, logging and security functionality;

Emecrgency Services I Network transport infi for services ications and suppart of next
generation 911 services; call handling applications for PSAPs; wireless emergency alert solutions for network
operaters; and software and i for location-based and rext ing services for various applications,

including for public safety, and g services, The 2 to Allerium did not change the
composition of this reportable operating segment.
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In connection with our adoption of ASU No. 2023-07 in fiscal 2025, and considering our transformation plan and most
recent CODM's increased focus on profitability and cash Mow generation on a GAAP basis, our CODM determined o
use GAAP operating income to measure our reponable operating segments' performance and to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to each segment. Accordingly, the segment tables below have been recast on that basis

The CODM uses GAAP operating income 1o assess the results of each reportable operating scgment against their
respective plans and forecasts and, more generally, to peers and competitors in the markets in which we operate. The
CODM also uses this metric to make decisions about allocating capital and personnel resources to the segments,
evaluating which project(s) to undertake and or to prioritize, and determining the compensation of employees,

The amounts shown for segment GAAP operating income include expenses which are directly attributable to the
segment and considers both cash and non-cash expenses such as: i of i i impairment
of long-lived assets, including goodwill, amortization of cost to fulfill assets, restructuring costs and strategic emerging

logy costs (for next satellite ). Our GAAP operating income metric for cach segment docs
not include the allocation of any indirect expenses which are unrelated o the segment's operations.

Reportable operating segment information, along with & reconciliation of segment GAAP operating income to
consolidated income (loss) before income taxes is presented in the bles below:

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2025

Satellite and Space
ummunu:atg:cs Allerium Total

Net sales 3 265,265,000 230263000 § 444,528,000
Cust of sales 227,786,000 143,475,000

Selling, generul and ndministrtive 60,699,000 36,602,000

Research and development 5,590,000 570,000

Amontization of intangibles 7,254,000 14,469,000

Impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill 70,555,000 =

Segment operating (s} income T (is10.000 a0 § TR7.472,000)
Unallocated corporate expenses 46,827,000
Proxy solicitation costs 2,BEL000
CEO transition costs 2,117,000
Interest expense 45,650,000
Tntercst {income) and other 155,000
Write-ofT of deferred financing costs R.977.000
Change in fair value of warrants and derivatives (38,498,000
Loss before mcome taxes § 4155382 000
Purchases of properdy, plant and squipment 5 338,000 TAIG000 S 154,000
Unallocated purchases of property, plant and equipment 411,000
Consolidated purchases of progerty. plant and equipment B 565,000
Depreciation expense £ 300,000 10I0000 § 113000
Unallocated depreciation expense AREDO0
Consolidated depreciation expense 5 11,798,000
Total segment assets as of July 31, 2025 3 249,465,000 454,200,000 § T03,665,000
Unallocated assets as of July 31, 2025 37,170,000
Consolidated assets as of July 31, 2025 H 740,833,000
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Net sabes

Cost of sules

Sclling, general and administrative

Research and development
Amortization of intangililes

Impairmmens of lang-lived assets, meluding goodwill
Segment epersting (loss) incame

Unallocated corparate expenses

CEO transition ¢osls

Interest expense

Interest (income) and other
Write-ofT of deferred financing costs

Change in fair value of warrants and derivatives

Laoss hefore incosme taxes

Purchases of property, plunt and equipmen
Unallucated purchuses of property, plant and equipment

Consolidated purchases of property, plant and cquipment

Depreciation expenss

Unallocated depreciation expense
Consolidated depreciation expense
Total segment assets as of July 31,2024
Unallocated assets us of July 31, 2024
Consolidated assets as of July 31, 2024

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2024

Satellite and Space

Communications Allerium Total
5 324,004,000 pALIRECRE U S 540,403,000
245,346,000 137, 140,00
45,799,000 32475.000
12,916,000 10,620,004
6,685,000 14,469,000
£4,525, 000

5 (54,202,000)

3 2890,000
5 3867000
5 421,780,000

21,670,000 § 32,532,000)

4,842,000
2,916,000

3,569,000

7.927,000

456,425,000 § BTE,205,000
14,229,000
B 912,434,000
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Fiscal ¥ car Ended July 31, 3023
Satellite and Space

‘ommunications Allerium Total
Net sales 5 337,756,000 2122IR000 S 549,994,000
Cost of sales 241,544,000 123,670,000
Selling, gencral and administrative 51505000 36,920,000
Rescarch and development 22,354,000 25,241,000
Amotization of intungibles 7312.000 14,084,000
Seygment operating income 5 15,041,000 13,323,000 § 27,364,000
Unallocated corporate cxpenscs 32934000
CEO transition costs 9,090,000
Interest experise 14,961,000
Enterest (income) and other 1,226, 00K
Loss before income taxes 5 30,847,000)
Purchases of propery. plant and equipment 5 7.244.000 10075000 § 17319000
Unallocuted parchases of propenty, plant and equipment L2000
Consolidated purchases of property, plant and equipment $ 13,3 1 10060
Depreciation cxpense 3 4.121.000 7637000 5 11.758.000
Unallocated depreciation expense
Consolidated depreciation espense
Tolal scgment assets a5 of July 5 515,449,000 460,134,000
Unaflocated assets as of July 31,2023
Consolidated assets as of July 31, 2023 5 996,237 00

Unallocated expenses result from corporate expenses, such as executive compensation, acuounum. legal and other
regulatory compliance related costs and also includes all of our of

During fiseal 2023, 2024 and 2023, cur Unallocated segment incurred 89,512,000, $8,043,000 and $3.907,000,
respectively, of restructuring costs primarily focused on fegal and other expenses related to strategic aliematives and
divestiture activities. as well as other initiatives 1o streamline our operations, align our cost structure with our future
anticipated business and improve our liquidity.

During fiscal 2025, our Unallocated segment incurred 32,682,000 of proxy solicitation costs, consisting nnncupul\y or

fegal and advisory fees. In November 2024, we entered into a {the “Cx
with Frm[ Kornberg, Michagl Porcelain and Oleg Timoshenko (collectively the “Investor Group”™). Pursuant to :he
Ci L, our Board i Michael J. Hi to serve on the Board and agreed to nominate,

support and recommend Mr. Hildebrand for clection at our Fiscal 2024 Annaal Meeting of Stockholders (the "2024
Annual Meeting”). Also, we agreed not o renominate two incumbent directors for election at the 2024 Annual
Meeting and the Investor Group agreed to withdraw its nomination of candidates for election to the Board at the 2024
Annual Meeting to, instead, support our slate of directors for election. Pursuani to the Cooperation Agreement, we and
the Investor Group will cooperate 1o identify an additional candidate to be appointed to the Board at a later date as an
independen director. In September 2025, we provided notice 1 the Investor Group regarding our renomination of Mr.
Hildebrandt at the Fiscal 2025 Annual Meeting of ingly, the Ci wis
extended until 30 days prior to the nomination deadline of our Fiscal 2026 Annual M::clmg ofSI.uLkhulrkﬁ

During fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, our Unallocated sepment incurred S2.117,000, $2.916.000 and $9.090,000.
respeetively, of CEO transition costs, See Mote (2) - CEG Transivion Costs for further mformation.

Interest expense in the above tables includes scereted interest related to our Subordinated Credit Facility, the
tion of deferred financing costs and debt discounts related to both credit facilities and the immediate
expensing of certain financing fees related to refinancing and or amending our credit facilitics, Sce Note (§) - Credit
Facility and Note (%) - Subordinated Credit Factliny for further discussion.
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Intersegment sales in fscal 2025, 2024 and 2023 between the Satellite .md Space Communicalions segment and the

Allerium segment were nominal. All sales are i and are excluded from the
tables above,

Unallocated assets at July 31, 2025 consist principally of cash and cash equivalems, income taxes receivable, corporate
property, plant and equipment and deferred financing costs, The large majority of our long-lived assets ave located in
the U.S.

(141 Commitments and Contingencies

{a) Legal Proceedings and Other Matters
Former CEQ R Matter:
On M:nrch 12, 2024, we terminated Ken Peterman, our President and CEO at the time, for Cause pursuant 1o the terms
of his emp dated Sey 12, 2022 {the “Fmp ") On 21, 2024 (as

amended on December 31, 2024), Mr. Peterman filed a ¢laim with the American Arbitration Association, all:glng that
Comtech materially breached the Employment Agreement in the termination for Cause and that the termination was a
retaliation for whistlcblowing by Mr. Peterman in conncction with certain of our prior financial and accounting
practices, Mr. Peterman ¢laims he is owed direct contractual damages in an amount in excess of $6,000.000 and
consequential damages for injury to his professional reputation in excess of $35,000.000. We believe Mr. Peterman's
claims are entircly without ment and will defend ourselves vigorously in the matier. We filed a Counterclaim against
Mr. Peterman alleging that his misconduct and attempts 1o conceal the same constinuted a breach of his fiduciary
dutics.

Mr. Peterman later filed a separate administrative complaint with the Department of Labor (Occupational Safety and
Health Administration) making similar allegations and claiming that we retaliated against him in violation of the
Sarbanes-Chley Act of 2002. We |, with the assi: of an outside advisor, Mr. Peterman's
allegations that he was a whi and det llul such were not i The U.S.
Department of Labor dismissed Mr. Peterman’s administrative complaint on or about April 22, 2025, The appeal
period has now expired. Nevertheless, on July I8, 2025, Peterman filed a complaint in the USDC Seuthern District of
New Yaork, largely reciting the same claims he included in the prior Sarbanes-Oxley complaint, We promptly informed
Peterman’s attomey lha1 the suit was frivolous and sought leave of the Court to seek dismissal. Peterman’s counsel
by the lawsuit on 5, 2025,

Separately, on December 11, 2024, Mr. Peterman was indicted by the United States Attorney for the Eastern District of
New York and arrested on charges of insider trading and securities fraud. He was also charged with similar allegations
by the SEC in a civil lawsuit filed in the Eastern Distriet of New York the same day. We are not named as a defendant
in either proceeding.

LS EMM Warter

In late 2023, we mitiated an export compliance review pertaming to certun variants of our modems and deterrmned
that we potentially viclated U S, export compliance laws, Upon learning of the potential violations and due o our
commitment v comply with global export compliance laws, we immediately and voluntarily initiated a historical
review of our exports of the associated products, as well as related documentation submitted to export control
authorities, Based on such review, in February and June 2024, we voluntarily disclosed to the Directorate of Defense
Trade Controls {“DDTC") a potential misclassification of certain exports under an EAR classification and promptly
sought export licenses under the more restrictive ITAR classification for future exports pending the outcome of the
marter. At that time, we that the Tl af a loss i with such potential violations
WS remote.
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While our review is ongoing, we estimate there were approximately 70 exports for which export licenses were not
whbiained, with an estimated otal transaction value of less than $2,000,000. Our review efforts to date indicate that the
countries exporied to were: the United Kingdom, Canada, ltaly, Singapore, India, Germany, Ausiralia, Hungary,
Spain, Denmark, South Korea, Greece, Indonesia, Philippines and New Zealand, DDTC may choose to close the
muatter without penalty or to impose penaltics on us in with the abov Penaltics, if
imposed, can be the greater of twice the amount of the transaction that is the basis for the violation, or 31,271,075 per
violation, with discretionary adjustment downward by the DDTC for veluntary disclosure and other positive mitigating
factors.

On May 22, 2025, DDTC issued a Request for Information, to which we replied. The DDTC investigation remains
pending, however, in light of this request, we our prior of loss contingenci fated with
this matter and determined that we may no longer conelude that the likelihood of a loss contingency is remote. Rather,
it is now reasonably possible that a loss contingency {e.x, monetary penalties) exists related to this matter. Such
penaltics, i any, are not currently estimable by us given the carly stage of our review, as well as that of the DDTC, and
multiple positive mitigating factors that could affect the ulimate outcome, including but not limited to: the voluntary
nature of vur disclosure; our historical compliance record; the number of exports involved; the parties to whom the
units were shipped; and the nature of the potential violation(s), In parallel, we submitted a Classification Jurisdietion
("CJ") request o DDTC on July 30, 2023, in support of its initial classifications of the exports under investigation. The
] remains pending. Bascd on such determination, we have not acerued for any loss contingencies related to this
matter as of July 31, 2025,

Other Matters

In the ordinary course of business, we include indemnification provisions in certain of our customer confracts o
ndemnify, hold harmless and reimburse such customers for certain losses, including but not limited to losses related to
third-party claims of intellectual property infringement arising from the custemer’s use of our products or services, We
may also, from time to time, receive i ion requests from related to third-party claims that 911
calls were improperly routed during an emergency, We evaluate such claims as and when they arise. We do not always
agree with customers that they are entitled 1o indemnification and in such cases reject their claims. Despite maintaining
that we have properly carried out our duties, we may seek coverage under our various insurance policies; however, we
cannot be sure that we will be able to maintain or obtain insurance coverage at acceptable costs or in sufficient
amounts or that our insurer will not disclaim coverage as to such claims. Accordingly, pending or future claims
asseried against us by a party that we arc obligated to indemnify could result in legal costs and damages that could
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

There are also certain other pending and threatened legal sctions which arise in the normal course of business
Although the ultimate outcome of these matters is difficult to accurately predict, we believe that the outcome of these
other matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated finaneial condition or results of operations,

Change of Control and ifi A

We have entered into employment and/or change of control as well as ificati with
certain of our executive officers and certain key employees. All of these agreements may require payments by us, in
certain circumstances, including, but not limited 10, 4 change in control of the Company or termination of the
employee.

(15)
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The following table represents gaodwill by reportable operating segment as of July 31, 2025 and July 31, 2024;

Satellite and Space
Communications Allerium Total

Balance ns of July 31,2024 $ 110,090,000 174,090,000 § 284,180,000
Goodwill impairment (79,555,000 —  (79.555.000)
Balance us of July 31, 2025 § 5,000 174,090,000 § 204625000

In accordance with FASB ASC 350, we perform a goodwill impainment analysis at least annually (on the first day of
the first quarter of each fiscal year, or August Ist), unless indicators of impairment exist in interim periods. If we fail
the quantitative assessment of goodwill impairment (“quantitative assessment™), we would be required to recognize an
impairment loss equal 1o the amount that a reporting 's carrying value exceeded its fair value; however, any loss
recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

At July 31, 2025 and July 31, 2024, accumulated goodwill impairment losses related 10 our Satellite and Space
Communications segment totaled $128 480,000 and $48,925,000, respecti There are no i it
for our Allerium segment.

F 023 and Prior enfs

During the fourth quarter of fiscal vear 2024, our lower-than-expected financial performance in our Satellite and Space
Communications segment, default on certain eredit facility covenants and the sustained decrease in stock price since
August 1, 2023 were considered triggering events which required a quantitative impairment test as of July 31, 2024,
We performed a quantitative assessment using market participant assumptions to determine if the fuir value of each of
our reporting units with goodwill exceeded its carrying value. Ultimately, based on our quantitative cvaluations, we
determined that the carrying value of our Satellite and Space Communications reporting unit exceeded its fair value
and recognized o goodwill impairment loss of 548,923,000 in fiscal 2024, We also determined that our Allerium
reporting unit had an cstimated fair value in excess of its carrying value of at least 24.7% and concluded that our
goodwill for this reporting unit was not impaired.

Given our Satellite and Space Communications segment’s financial performance in the first quarter of fiscal 2025, and
considering triggering events within this segment prior to the issuance of our first quarter fiscal 2025 financial
statements, we determined that we were required to perform another quantitative impairment test on an interim basis as
of October 31, 2024. Ultimately, based on our quantitaty we db d that the carrying value of our
Satellite and Space Communications reporting unit exceeded its fair value and recognized another goodwill
impairment loss of 79,335,000 in the first quarter of fiscal 2025,

In ing the shove g we estimated the fair value of each of our reporting uits using a
combination of the income and market approaches. The income approach, also known as the discounted cash flow
{"DCF") method, utilizes the present value of cash Mows to estimate fair value. The future cash flows for our reporting
units were projected hased on our estimates, at that time, of future revenues, operating income and other factors (such
as working capital and capital expenditures). For purposes of conducting our impairment analysis, we assumed
revenue growth rates and cash flow projections that are below our actual long-term expectations. The discount rates
used in our DCF method were based on a weighted-average cost of capital ("WACC™) determined from relevant
market comparisons, adjusted upward for specific reporting unit risks (primarily the uncertainty of achieving projected
operating cash flows). A terminal value growth rate was applicd to the final year of the projected period, which reflects
our estimate of stable, perpetual growth. We then caleulated a present value of the respective cash flows for each
reporting unit 1o arrive al an estimate of fair value under the income approach. Under the market approach, we
estimated a fair value based on comparable companies' market multiples of revenues and camings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization and factored in a control premium., Finally, we compared our estimates of fair
walues to our total public market capitalization and assessed implied control premiums based on our common stock
price of $3.72 and $3.17 as of the dates of testing (October 31, 2024 and July 31, 2024, respestively).
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In tandem with our quantitative impairment test as of July 31, 2024 and decision in July 2024 to exit our operations in
Basingstoke, United Kingdom (which became a separate asset group, the UK. Asset Group”), we assessed the
recoverability of the carrying value of the UK. Assct Graup under the accounting standards for assets held and used as
of July 31, 2024 and determined that the undiscounted future cash flows to complete the exit of our Basingstoke
operations indicated that the carrying amount of the UK. Asset Group was not recoverable. As a result. we recorded
$15,600,000 non-cash long-lived asset impairment charge within the Satellite and Space Communications segment in
fiscal 2024, We allocated 59,925,000 of this impairment to the carrying value of Intangibles with Fintie Lives, net,
$2.651,000 ta Property, Plant & Equipment, net. $1.873.000 to Other Asvets, net and $1,151.000 to Operating Lease
Feight-of-Use Assers, net. In Tight of our quantitative interim impaimment tests as of July 31, 2024 and October 31, 2024,
we assessed the recoverability of the remaining carrying values of long-lived assets within the Satellite and Space
C ications segment. The undi future cash flows of the asset group indicated that the carrying amount of
the asset group was recoverable,

Fiscal 2026 Assessment and Forvward

On August |, 2025 {the first day of fiscal 2026), we performed our annual guantitative assessment using market
participant assumptions to determine if the fair value of each of pur reporting units with goodwill exceeded its carrying
value. In making this assessment, we considered, among other things, expectations of projected net sales and cash
flows, assumptions impacting the weighted average cost of capital, trends in trading multiples of compamable
companics, changes in aur stack price and changes in the carrying values of aur reporting units with goodwill, We also
considered overall business conditions,

In performing the quantitative asscssment, we estimated the fair value of cach of our reporting units using a
combination of the income and market approaches, as discussed above. We compared our estimates of fair values 1o
our total public market capitalization and assessed implied control premiums based on our common stock price of
52.05 as of the date of testing. Ultimately, based on our quantitative evaluation, we determined that our Satellite and
Space Communications and Allerium reporting units had estimated fair values in excess of their carrying values of at
Iast 19.9% and 7.3%, respectively, and concluded that our goodwill was ot impaired and that neither of our two
reporting units was at risk of failing the quantitative assessment,

1t is possible that, during the rematnder of fiscal 2026 or beyond, business conditions (bath in the U.S. and
internationallyy could deteriorate from the current state, our current or prospective customers could mater
postpane, reduce or even forgo purchases of our products and services to a greater extent than we currently anticipute,
or our common stock price could further flucouate, A significant decline in our customers’ spending that is greater than
we anticipate or a shift in funding prioritics may also have a negative effect on future orders, sales, income and cash
flows end we might be required to perform a quantitative assessment during fiscal 2026 or beyond. If assumed net
sales and cash flow projections are not achieved in future periods, our commaon stock price significantly declines from
cument levels, and or we complete certain actions related to our transformation plan, our Satellite and Space
Communications and Allerium reporting units could be at risk of failing the quantitative assessment and goodwill and
intangibles assigned to the respective reporting wnits could be impaired.

In any event, we are required 1o perform our next annual goodwill impairment analysis on August 1, 2026 (the stan of
our fiscal 2027). I our assumptions and related estimates change in the future, or if we change our reporting unit
structure or other events and circumstances change (e.g., a sustained decrcase in the price of our common stock
(considered on both abselute terms and relative to peers)), we may be required to record impairment charges when we
perform these tests, or in other future periods. Any impaimment charges that we may record in the future could be
material to our results of operations and financial condition.
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(16) Intangible Assels

Intangible assets with finite lives as of July 31, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

July 31,2025
Weighted Average Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Amortization Penod Amount Amorlizution Amount
Customer relationships. 202 § 294,258,000 148,863,000 § 145395000
Technologics 13.6 106,149,000 H5.439.000 20,7 10,01
Trademarks and other 16.9 31,826,000 24,826,000 7,000,000
Total § 432.233.000 259128000 § 173,105,000

July 31, 2024
Weighted Average  Giross Camrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Amortization Penod Amount Amartization Amount
Customer relationships 202 § 302,058,000 HL601000 & 160,457,000
Technologics 148 113,149 000 87,509 000 25,340,000
Trademarks and other 16.7 32,926,000 23,893 000 9,031,000
Total 5 448.133.000 253305000 § 194,528,000

The weighted average amortization period in the above table excludes fully amortized intangible assets,

Amortization expense for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 was 521,723,000, 521,154,000 and
821,396,000, respectively. Amortization expense for il scal year ended July 31, 2025 includes $1.343,000 of
accelerated amortization, recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2025, due to the impact of the CGC Divestiture. Also,
during the first quarter of fiscal 2025, we wrote-off all $15,900,000 of fully amortized intangible assets related 10 the
CGC Divestiture.

The estimated amortization expense consists of the following for the fiscal years ending July 31:

2026 19,128,000
2027 17,774,000
2028 17,774,000
2029 16,353,000
2030 14,846,000

We review net intangible asscts with finite lives for impairment when an event occurs indicating the potential for
impairment, Based on our fiscal 2025 assessment, we believe that the carrying values of our net intangible assers were
recoverable as of July 31, 2025 Based on our fiscal 2024 assessment, we recognized an impairment loss of $9.925 00§
related o et intangible assets with finite lives within our Satellite and Space Communications segment. See Nore
izl - "Summary of Significant Accounting and Reperting Policies, Long-Lived Assets”™ for more information. I
business conditions deteriorate, we may be required o record impaimment losses, andéor increase the amortization of
intangibles in the future. Any impairment charges that we may record in the future could be material to our results of
operations and financial condition.
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(17) Convertible Preferred Siock

Fiseal 2024 and Prior

On October 18, 2021, we entered into a Sub i (the “Subscripti (") with certain affiliates
and related funds of White Hat Capital Partners LP .mrl Magnetar Capital LLC l\.ullmlwc\y. the “Investors™). On
October 19, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Agreement, the Investors purchased an aggregate of
100,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, with a par value of $0.10 per share, for an aggregate purchase
price of §100.000,000. White Hat Capital Partners LP is affiliated with Mark Quinlan, who serves as & member of our
Board of Directors,

On December 13, 2023, we and the [nvestors agreed to change certain terms of the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock, effected through an Exchange Agreement, purswant o which the Investors exchanged (the “Series A
Exchange™) all 100,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding for 100,000 shares of our newly
issued Scries A-1 Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.10 per share {the “Series A-1 Convertible Preferred
Stock™), with an initial liguidation preference of $1,134.20 per share. As a result of the Series A Exchange, no shares
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock remain outstanding.

On January 22, 2024, we entered into a iption and Exchange with the Investors, relating to: (i) the
issuance and sale of 45,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.10 per share (the “Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock™), for an aggregate purchase price of 543,000,000, or 51,000 per share (the “Primary
Issuance™), (ii) the exchange of 100,000 shares of our Series A-1 Convertible Preferred Swck for 113,721.22 shares of
Scries B Convertible Preferred Stock (the *Series B Exchange™) and (i) the issuance to the Investors of 5,400 shares
of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock in liew of cash for certain expense reimbursements {(the “Series B
Reimbursement™ and, together with the Primary Issuance and the Series B Exchange, the “Series B Issuance”). As a
result of the Series B Exchange, no shares of Series A-1 Convertible Preferred Stock remain outstanding, We received
543,200,000 of cash proceeds from the Primary Issuance, net of $1,800.000 for cerlain expense reimbursements.

On June 17, 2024, in connection with entering into the Credit Facility discussed in Moie (82 « “Credit Facifiry, " we and
the Investors agreed to change certain terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. The changes altered the
preferred holders' existing consent rights and existing put nights alongside payments upon a change of control
following specified asset sales, in each case consistent with the Credit Facility. To effect these changes, we and the
Investors entered into a Subscription and Exchange Agreemems, pursuant to which the Investors: (i) exchanged, in a
transaction exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, all of the 166,121.22 shares of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding for 166,121.22 shares of our newly ssued Series B-1 Convertible Preferred
Stock, par value $0.10 per share (the *Series B-1 Exchange”), with an initial liquidation preference of $1,036.58 per
share, and (i) received 3,703.83 additional shares of Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock as a consent fee (the
"Series B-1 Fee"). As a result of the Series B-1 Exchange. no shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock remain
outstanding. We did not receive any cash proceeds from the Series B-1 Exchange,
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Fiscal 2025
On October 17, 2024, in connection with amending the Credit Facility, we and the Investors agreed to change certain
terms of the Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock. The changes: altered the date on which preferred holders can opt
to have us repurchase their Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Shares (as discussed below) in certain circumstances;
provided for increases to the dividend rate in certuin circumstances; and provided for an option for the prefemed
holders to elect to reeeive dividends in cash (to the extent permitted by law), To effect the changes described ahove,
we and the Investors entered into a Subseription and Exchange Agreement, pursuant to which the Investors: (i)
exchanged all of the 171,827.05 shares of Serics B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding for 171.827.05 shares of
our newly issued Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock, par value 30,10 per share (the “Serigs B-2 Exchange™), with
an initial liquidation preference of $1.067.87 per share, and (i) received 3.436.53 additional shares of Series B-2
Convertible Preferred Stock as o consent fee (the "Series B-2 Fee"). As a result of the Series B-2 Exchange. no shares
of Serigs B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock remain outstanding. We did not receive any cash proceeds from the Series
B-2 Exchange.

On March 3, 2025, in connrection with amending the Credit Facility and Subordinated Credit Facility (as discussed in
Note (9) - “Subordinated Credit Facility”}, we and the Investors agreed to change certain terms of the Series B-2
Convert Preferred Stock. The changes provided the Investors with & board observer right and certain information
access rights. These changes were effected through a Subscription and Exchange Agreement (the "Series B-3
Subscription and Exchange Agreement”), pursuant fo which the Investors; (i) exchanged (the “Scrics B-3 Exchangs")
all of the 175,263.58 shares of Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding for 175,263,583 shares of our newly
issued Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.10 per share, with an initial liquidation preference of
$1,104.48 per share (the per share liquidation preference of the Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock as of the date of
issuance): and (i) received 2.916.76 additional shares of Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series B-3 Fee”
and, together with the Series B Reimbursement, the Series B-1 Fee and the Series B-2 Fee, the “Additional Issuances™)
and §650,000.00 in cash as a consent fee. As a result of the Series B-3 Exchange, no shares of Series B-2 Convertible
Preferred Stock remain outstanding. We did not receive any cash proceeds from the Series B-3 Exchange.

The Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock ranks senior to the !IIMES m our common stock, with respect to the
puyment of dividends and the distri af assets upon 4 liqui fon or winding up of the Company.
Each share of Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock is entitled to a cumulative dividend (the “Dividend™) at the rate
of 9.00% per annum, compounding quarterly, paid-in-kind, or 7.75% per annum, compounding quarterly, paid in cash,

at our election (except as described below), or 6.50% per annum, in respect of any shares of Series B-3 Convertible
Preferred Stock that remain outstanding following the redemption of at least fifty percent (30%) of the Series B-3
Convertible Preferred Stoek pursuant 1o the exercise of an asset sale or change i control put right or an asset sale call
right, as deseribed below. The Dividend rate may also increase following certain events, including certain asset sules
that constitute a change in control, as set forth in the certificate of designations governing the Series B-3 Convertible
Preferred Stock (the "Series B-3 Certificate of Designations”). For any quarter in which the Dividend i3 not paid in
cash, such Dividend becomes part of the liquidation preference of the Series B-3 Convertible Prefemed Stock. In
addition, no dividend or Othﬁ distribution on our cominon stock will be d:eu]arcd or paid on our common stock unless,
at the time of such and payment, an cq dividend or dis is declared and paid on the Serics
B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Participating Dividend™), provided that in the case of any such dividend in the
form of cash, in lieu of a cash payment, such Participating Dividend will become part of the liquidation preference of
the Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock. Such Participating Dividend results in the Series B-3 Convertible Preferred
Stock meeting the definition of a "participating security™ for purposes of our earnings per share calculations, Following
the satisfaction of all obligations under the Credit Facility in full and the termination of all of commitments under the
Credit Facility (a "CA Satisfaction”), and (i) our failure to fully satisfy an exercised put right (other than a put right
exercised in connection with an Asset Sale that constitutes a change in control) or (i) beginning on or after April 30,
2027 (or later in certain circumnstances), holders of the Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to elect
ta have us pay the Dividend in cash (to the extent permitted by law),

The shares of Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock are convertible into shares of common stock at the option of the
helder thereof at any time. At any time after July 22, 2027, we have the right 1o mandate conversion of the Series B-3
Conventible Preferred Stock, subject to certain restrictions based on the price of our common stock in the preceding
thirty {30) trading days. The conversion priee for the Serics B-3 Convertible Preferred Stack is §7.99, subject fa certain
adjustments set forth in the Series B-3 Centificate of Designations.
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Holders of the Series B-3 Convenible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote with the holders of our common stock on an
as-converted basis, and are entitled 10 a separate class vole respect 1o, among other things, amendments o our
erganizational documents that have an adverse effect on the Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock, authorizations or
issuances of securities of the Company (other than certain quahiled of private oﬂenngs of up 1o §50,000,000 of shares

of commen stock), the payment of dividends, related party ions of securities of the
Company, dispositions of husinesses or assets invelving consideration having a fair wluc in excess of $75,000,000 (or
520,000,000 following a CA Satisfaction), the incurrence of certain indebted and certain d; ar

extensions of our Credit Facility on terms and conditions that, taken as a whole, (A) are materially different from the
existing Credit Facility or (B) adversely affect our ability 1o perform our obligations in connection with an optional
repurchase of the Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock, in each case. subject to the exceptions and qualifications set
forth in the Series B-3 Certificate of Designations.

Holders have the right 1o require us to repurchase their Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock (at 1.0x the liquidation
preference, plus acerued and unpaid dividends) on & date occurring either: (a) on or afier Octaber 31, 2028, () upon
the consummation of an asset sale meeting certain criteria, or (¢} on or afler April 30, 2027 following a CA
Satisfaction. We have the right to repurchase all, or less than all, of the Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock upon
the consummation of an asset sale meeting the same eriteria, other than an asset sale that would result in a change-of-
control. In addition, each holder will have the right to cause us to repurchase its Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Swock
n connection with a Change of Control {as defined in the Serics B-3 Certificate of Designations) at 1.5 {or 1.0x in the
case of Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock isswed in the Additional Issuances) the liquidation preference, plus
wecrued and unpaid dividends. Any repurchase described above would be subject to the terms set forth in the Series
B-3 Certificate of Designations.

Upor a repurchase of the Senies B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock at 1.0x the liquidation preference, we will issue cach
respective holder a warrant {a *“Warrant™). A Warrant will represent the right to acquire our common stock, as further
deseribed in the Series B-3 Subscription and Exchange Agreement. for a term of five years and six months from the
issuance of such Warrant, at an initial excreise price equal to the conversion price on the date of issuance of such
Warrant, subject to certain adjustments. We determined that our obligation fo issue a Warrant met the definition of a
freestanding financial instrument that should be accounted for as a Hability. The Warrant liability is classified in
"Warrant and Derivative Linbilities" on the Consoliduted Balance Sheets and is remeasured to its estimated fair value
each reporting periad, using Level 3 fair value inputs, until the Warrant is exercised or expires. Changes in the
estimated fair value of the Warrant are ized in our C idared af Oy fons us a non-cash expense
or benefit. As of July 31, 2025 and July 31, 2024, the Warrant liability was remeasured to $234,000 and $710,000,
resulting in non-cash benefits of $476,000 and $5.730,000, respectively, recorded in "Other expenses fincome) -
Change in fair value of warrants and fves™ on the Consalidered of Operati

We accoun

d for lhc cancellation of our Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock as an extinguishment based on a
and q of the terms of the preferred shares exchanged. We recognized a $51,179,000
ain on extmguuhmcm in the first quarter of fiscal 2023, representing the difference between the carrying value of the
Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock and the issuance date fair value of the Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock.
Az the Serjes B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock was classified as temporary equity, the gain on extinguishment was
included as an offset in d ing net loss attributable to common kholders and credited 1o retained earnings as a
return from the holders. We aceounted for the Series B-3 Exchange as a modifieation,
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We identified several ivatives that require bil ion from the Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock
{and subsequent issuance of the Senes B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock) under ASC 815, including the holders’ nght
10z (1) require us to repurchase Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock upon the consummation of an asset sale meeting
certain criteria, or in conmection with a change in control; (i} convert Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Shares into
shares of vur common stock; (iii) increase the dmdcml rate in certain circumstances: and (iv) elect 1o receive cash
dividends in certain ci When g such dded derivatives, we that the Series B-3
Convertible Preferred Stock was more akin to a debt-like host than an equity-like host. We also determined that such
features qualify for us one d derivative liability. We established an initial embedded
derivative liability of 338,832,000, which was recorded as a reduction to the initial fair value of the Series B-2
Convertible Preferred Stock and presented with "Warrunt and Derivative Liahifities™ on the Consolidated Balince
Sheets. The combined embedded derivative liability is remeasured 10 its estimated fair value each reporting period,
using Le\ml 3 faair value inpuis, Changes in the estimated fair value of the combined embedded derivative liability are

in our C of Operations as a non-cash expense or benefit. As of July 31, 2025, the
embedded derivative liability was remeasured to $14,608,000, resulting in a non-cash benefit of $24,224,000 for the
fsﬁ\ year ended July ﬂ 2025, recorded in "Ovher expenses (income) - Change in fair vaive of warrants and

ives™ on the C of O

Upon the Series B-2 Exchange. the inital estimated fair value of the Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock was
$132,310,000. We reduced the initial estimated fair value of the Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock to establish the
initial combined embedded derivative liability, as discussed above, We also adjusted the carrying value of the Series
B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock mt July 31, 2025 based on its redemption value of $204,153,000, which includes
$5,978,000 of accumulated and unpaid dividends. During the fiscal year ended July 31, 2025, as presented in the table
below, the adjustments charged against retained earnings and additional pmd in capital 1o mcmse llle canying value
of each respective Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, while to their resp values
totaled $96,258 000,

The following table presents the allocation of the initial estimated fair value of the Series B-2 Conventible Preferred
Stack to its host instrument and combined embedded derivatives on October 17, 2024:

Tnitial estimated fair value of Series B-2 Canvertible Preferred Stock 5 132,310,000
Initial estimated fair value and carrying value of combined embedded derivatives 38,832,000
Initial carrying value of Serics B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock 93 478,000

The following table presents a reconciliation of the adjusiments to increase the carrying values of the Convertible
Preferred Stock to their redemption values while outstanding;

Redemption value of Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock at July 31, 2025 s 204,153,000
Less: Carrying value of combined embedded derivatives at July 31, 2025 14.608.000
Carrying value of Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock at July 31, 2025 185,545,000
Less: Initial carrying value of Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock on October 17, 2024 93 478,000
Less: Initial carrying value of Series B-3 Fee on March 3, 2025 3,221,000

Adjustment to increase the carrying value of Series B-3 Convertible Preferred Stock
to its redemption value at July 31, 2025 and Series B-2 Convertible Prefemed Stock

(while outstanding) 92 846,000
Adjustment to increase um-r ng value of Series B-1 Convertible Prefered Stock 1o

its redemption value {while outstanding) 3412,000
Total adjustments 1o redemption values charged 1o Stockholder's Equity for the

fiscal year ended July 31, 2025 3 96,258,000

In accordance with ASC 480, Distinguishing Liohilities frww Equity, specifically ASC 480-10-599-3A(2), SEC Seaff”
: and Meas aof ble Securities, we classified the respective Series B

Comvertible Preferred Stock outside of permanenl equity, as temporary equity, since the redemption of such shares is at

the option of the holder on u fxed date or upon the occurrence of certain events that are not solely within our control.
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Commen Stock Repurchase Program
On Septerber 2%, 2020, our Board of Directors authorized a 310,000,000 stock repurchase program, which replaced ” . - -
our prior program. The $100.000,000 stock repurchase program hes no time restrictions and repurchases may be made Pigcal Voars Endid July 31, 2025, 9024 arid 2003
from time to time in ope ket or privately i or by other means in accordance with federal

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

securities laws. There were no repurchases made during the fiscal years ended July 31, 2025 or 2024, S Colia s gl:}'l]l:[lll:m'i el i
: Paid in Ci
During the fiscal year ended July 31, 2025, $89.879,000 of the adjustments to the carrying values of outstanding Balance at Charged to Transfers Balance at

Convertible Preferred Stock to their respective redemption values, while outstanding, were charged to additional paid Deseription ‘“Sp'::'l“’_‘é of ;‘“;:Q; {deductions) eod o

i ital Lt exceed th labrk it of retained i f July 31, 2025,
in capital so as not to exs e available amount of retained earnings as of July Allowance Tor doubtful ecivable:

119) Cost and Related Activitie: Year ended July 31,
2025 § 1932000 17608000 A (384.000) By S 19,156,000
In fiscal 2025, in ion with our stralegy, we i multiple in force 2004 2089000 1412000 (a (159,000 @ 1932000
our organization and in all of our segments. Inclusive of actions ral\cn in August 2023 (i, the start of our fiscal Mkt sy i =
2026), such reductions approximated 23% of vur workforce as of July 31, 2024, or approximately $47,000.000 in 20 AR 2 DS s U O gy 2 U
annualized Jabor costs. Related to these activitics, in fiscal 2025, we recorded §3,633,000 of severance costs within
selling, general and administrative expenses in our Conselldated Statements of Operaiions, After net payments of Inventory reserves:
500,000 during fiscal 2025, our severance liability s of July 31, 2024 decreased from §1,029,000 to $762,000 as of Year ended July 31
July 31, 2025, At July 31, 2025, we had i 1,385 3, compared to 1,676 as :
of July 31, 2024, As of the issuance date, we had approximately L 347 employees (including mnpomry emplovees and e R 2100 AR R T
contractors), which reflects the completion of a reduction in force within our Allerium segment in August 2025, We 024 24,639,000 2,801,000 4oy (RIE9,000) (o3 18271000
recorded severance costs of 52,616,000 and $3,872,000 during fiscal 2024 and 2023, respectively. 2023 23,121.000  ARTLOD0 o) (3333000) @) 24,659,000

Waluation allowance for deferred tax assets:

Year ended July 31,
2025 S44 898000 26413000 (E) (328,000) (&1 $70,973,000
2024 34478000 12,343,000 p) {1.933.000) (kv 44.B88.000
2023 31,227,000 4617000 g (1,366,000) (£ 34,478,000

(A) Provision for doubtful accounts. See Note (4 - “Accounts Receivable” for further discussion of the fiscal 2025 provicion,

(B) Write-off of umcollectible receivables. Fiscal 2024 reflects the PST Divestinme See Nate (3 - "Bweiness Divesrimes” for forther
discussion

(€} Pravisson for excess and cbsalete imventory. See Nove (3) - “inventaries™ for fumther discussion of'the fiscsl 2073 provi

(D) Write-ofT of inventory. Fiseal 2023 includes 32,900,000 related 10 oar decision to wind-down our Basingsioke, U.K Dpc.mllms Fiscal 2024
weflects the PST Divestiture. See Nove (31 - "Bucsiness Divestitures” fos farther discussion.

(E) Change in valustion allowance. See Note ¢#11) - “Income Taxer for further discussion.
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